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“I am very pleased to be announcing another year of significant earnings growth, with
profits before tax up more than 17% In this momentous year we have largely completed
our merger activities, driven customer satisfaction and market share to all-time highs In
virtually all of our markets, made our shops more interactive and exciting while becoming
ever more competitive with pure-play retailers, launched a new joint venture in the US,
launched a new UK mobile network, and embarked on an ambitious property plan in
the UK and lreland We also had our biggest ever trading day on Black Frniday last year.

We are far from done, though We have very ambitious plans this year which inciude |
making every one of the former Dixons stores one of the new 3-In-1 shops, introducing |
a lively and interactive new e-Commerce platform to Carphone Warehouse, opening

Europe's most modern distnbution centre in Sweden, introducing same-day delivery,

rolling out ¢ 150 new stores In the US with Sprint, delivering our honeyBee platform

to major global clients, launching our new home services division with a mandate to

become a true emergency service for customers across the UK, and continuing to

drive market share, price competitiveness and customer satisfaction everywhere

It1s likely to be busy

I am truly grateful to all of my colleagues ~ nght across the world — for their hard work
and dedication | am also very proud to be able to say that | work alongside such a
creative and dedicated group of men and women

Finally, the nation has spoken and there has been a vote to exit the EU in due course.

As you can imagine, we have been giving some thought to this Our view Is that, as the
strongest player in our market and despite the volatility that 1s the inevitable consequence
of such change, we expect to find opportunities for additional growth and further
consolidate our position as the leader in the UK market "

/\

Sebastian James
Group Chief Executive
28 June 2016

Cautionary statement

Certan stataments macde in this Annual Report and Accounts are forward looking Such statements are based on cumrent axpectatons and are
subject to a number of nsks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ matenally from any expected future events or results
refarred to In thesa forward tooking statements Unless othermse required by applicable laws, regulations or accounting standards, wa do not
undertake any obligation to update or rewise any forward looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future davelopments or
otherwise Nothing in this Annual Report and Accounts should be regarded as a profit forecast
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Strategic Report

Highlights of the year

Dixons Carphone plc is Europe’s leading specialist electrical and
telecommunications retailer and services company, emptoying over
42,000 people in 11 countries.

*

Group like-for-ike revenue up 5%

UK & Ireland like-for-like revenue up 6%

Nordics like-for-like revenue up 4%

Group pro forma Headline PBT of £447 million, up over 17%

Group pro forma Headline EPS of 29.3p

Free cash flows of £202 million

Strong balance sheet with year end net debt broadly flat year on year

at £267 million

Final dividend of 6.50p proposed, taking total dividends for the year to 9.75p

Pro forma revenue (Emiilion) Pro forma Headline EBIT (Emitllon) Headline basic EPS (pence)
Our E P store pr 0
Store numbers Qwn Franchise Total
& UK and irgland 121 - 12N
& Nordics 248 13 arg
* Southern Ewrope nz 276 593
1,836 407 2,243

Meadling and pro foma performance measures are as defined in the Performance review on page 24 Pro lorma results are presented as if the CPW Europe Acquisition

and the Merger had occurred at the start of the comparaive penods.
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Business segments

We operate four segments as follows:

Strategic Repornt

Brands Websites
UK & Ireland Currys cumys co uk
cumys 1e

+ Currys and PC World are the largest specialist electncal retaiing

and services operators in the UK & Ireland PC World peworld co uk

world e

« Carphone Warehouse 1s the largest independent e

telecommunications retailer in the UK & Ireland Carphone Warehouse  carphonewarehouse com
+ Dwons Travel operates in major UK arports and Dublin carphonewarehouse e
+ Knowhow 1s our market-leading services brand Dixons Travet dixonslravel com

I

- Geek Squad 1s the repairs and support provider for Knowhow knowhow o uk

Carphone Warehiouse Geek Squad geeksquad co uk
+ Simplfydigital s the UK's largest, and fastest growing, multi-

channet broadband, phone and TV switching platform Simplifydigital smptfydigital co uk
+ PC World Business provides computing products and services PC World Business peworldbusiness co uk

10 business to business {'B2B') customers

1

Nordics Eikjep eikjop no
= The Elkjep Group is the leading specialist electncal retailer across Elgiganten elgiganten se

the Nordics elgiganten dk
+ Elkjop, Elkep Phonehouse and Lefdal stores operate in Norway, Gigantti gigantt: fi

Elgiganten and Elgiganten Phone House in Sweden and Denmark

and Gigantt n Finland Lefdal tefdal com
+ Knowhow has been introduced n the Nordic region Fhone House phonehouse s
= InfoCare is the iargest consumer electncal repair company in the infoCare nfocareworkshop no

region, operating in Norway, Sweden, Denmark and Finland
Southem Europe Kotsovolos kotsovolos gr
« Kotsovolos ts Greece’s leading speciahst electncal retailler Phone House phonehouse es
+ Phone House s the leading independent telecommunications retaler  Geek Squad geeksquad es

n Spamn

« Geek Squad 1s the repairs and support provider for the Phone
House in Spain

Connected World Services ({CWS')

+ CWS ams to leverage the Group’s existing expertise, operating
processes and technology to provide a range of services to
businesses

« CWS organises ds services into three product towers
- Connected Retailling
- Support and Services
~ honeyBee platform

connectedwortdservices com
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Strategic Report

Chairman’s Statement

It has been a very good year for Dixons
Carphone and | am dehighted that we
have been able to achieve a strong
financial performance at the same time
as making excellent operational progress
across the Group The Board is therefore
pleased to recommend a final dvidend
of 6.50p per share to be paid on

23 September 2016

Over the past year we have largely completed the process

of mtegration and 1t has been a source of real pleasure for me
to see the progress we have made so powerfully validating
our reasons for bnnging the businesses together We have
ncreased sales and gained market share n just about every
category, business and temtory as well as reducing costs as
a resutt of the Merger | am also particufady proud that our
custormer satisfacton 1s at a record high across the board

Moreover, we have made important strategic decisions since
our merger, daveloping our propesition and discovenng new
opportumities  Our strategy of creating exciting new 3-n-1
stores with all our brands under one roof is being rolled out at
pace across the UK & Ireland and 1 have been mpressed by
the positive reaction from both colleagues and customers

Complementary acquisttions have supported areas where
we see a real opportunity to develop the business Multi-play
1s a key area of focus and our acquisition of Simplifydigital -
the UK's leading broadband, TV and home phane switching
business — helps us offer customers a fully-developed
mulb-play proposition at a tme when customers are looking
for ndependent advice across all their technology,
connectivity, media content and service needs Similarly, our
acquisttion of InfoCare in Norway makes us, at a stroke, the
leading repaw operation in the Nordics

Our Connected World Services business looks mare and more

excitmg with a very strong pipeline of global chents who are
interested 1n using the software and intellectual property
predominantly built up over 25 years in our mobile business
to mprove their own Qur Spnnt joint venture has had a very
qood start and wa are now well into the second phase,

wath three to four new stores cpening every week in key

US locations

The telecommunications markets are undergoing a penod

of mmense change and 1t 15 exciting to be serving customers
in these turbutent tmes We have already seen some
consolidation n our markets and the press ts rife with
speculation about the future structure of the UK telco market

Against this backdrop, and following the result of the
referendum on the UK's membership of the EU, | rerrind the
team every day we are successful because we add value both
to our customers - by beng the one place where people can
get choice and impartial agvice — and to our network partners,
by telling therr stones powerfully While we continue todo
these things, | have no doubt that we will continue 1o win, no
matter how our market shrits in the background

| would Iike to take this opportunity to express my gratitude to
Roger Taylor and John Gildersleeve Roger and John stepped
down from the Board at the end of 2015 having made very
significant contributions to the Group over many years and
would like to thank them most sincerely | am also pleased 1o
welcome two highly expenenced and talented new members in
Lord Livingston and Tony DeNunzio

Last, and by no means least, on behalf of the Board and our
shareholders, | would like to thank each and every one of my
colleagues at Dixons Carphone 1t goes without saying that
we would not have delivered this extracrdinary year without
you, and our future 15 all the bnghter for your hard work

and dedication

Sir Charles Dunstone
Charman
28 June 2016
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Group Chief Executive’s Statement

As we reach the end of our first full
year as a merged company, | am very
pleased to be reporting such a strong
performance It has been a very good
year for the Group, with many great
achievements against a backdrop, not
only of iIndustry change, but also the
execution of our merger This year saw
us sailing in potentially squally waters
but we have, thankfully, successfully
navigated them

Dixons Carphone has had a strong year financially, Group
like-for-lke revenues were up 5% over the year, with growth
m almost every business in the Group leadingto a 17%
increase in Group Headline pro forma PBT from £381 million
to £447 milion, towards the higher end of the guidance we
gave, resulting In an ncrease in Headline pro forma basic
EPS from 25 5p t0 29 3p

Operationally, we have also made excellent progress, with
improvements in customer propositions in all markets as well
as a number of systems and infrastructure investments to
improve efficiency Our customers have continued to respond
very well 1o our continued improvements in service, and we
end the year with our customer satisfaction and Net Promoter
Scores at all-time highs | am very pleased to see that we have
also increased our colleague engagement scores across the
Group - not a tnwial achievement when so much change s
happening across the business

Cur business i1 the UK & Ireland enjoyed an excellent year,
with hke-for-Iike revenues up 6% over the year and Headline
pro forma EBIT grew by 20% to E£365 millon This sales growth
was dnven in large part by market share gains in our inobile
phone business in the UK coupled with solid growth

n electncals This has been underpinned by solid cost control
across the business

QOur integraton has now been largely, and successfully,
completed with regard to people and physical infrastructure,
and we now are a single, fully integrated business with one
head office, one repair centre and one warehouse, and an
organusational structure that suits the size and scale of the

business across the UK & Ireland We have plenty of work to
do on our systems integration, but we are taking this ruce and
steady with significant changes to our merchandise planning
systems and customer databases planned for this year as
part of a prograrnme that we expect to take - all in - four

or five years

We continue to be very focused on pnee competitiveness and
have further improved this so that we are now at panty or
better versus our most aggressive pure-play competritors on
pretty much all of our products, all of the time We released

a free app ‘Compare Pnces' that allows customers to check
this for themselves, and we encourage our colleagues in store
to reassure customers about market prices as part of the
sales joumey As a result we believe that we are successfully
addressing the phenomenon of 'showrcoming' where
customers seek our support and advice before buying, more
cheaply, eisewhere

In January, we announced a plan to compiete our estate of
3-in-1 stores in the UK - which house a fully-fledged Carphone
Warehouse proposition — within all of our CurrysPCWorld
stores We are also taking the opportunity to roll out the best
new ideas that we have been developing in our newer stores
Our colleagues really ike working in these refurbished stores,
and our customers seem to very much enjoy shopping in them
We currently have 233 3-in-1 stores and we are rolling out the
remainder at an average rate of three per week so that we can
be finished by the hime we focus on Chnstmas This will mean
that customers from Invemess to Penzance will have the same
expenence of our shops and all of our stores will be up to date,
Iwety and in gocd condition

1D mobile operations n the UK & Ireland were launched i

May 2015 This was enabled by an innovative IT platform and
wnth a particular focus on personalising plans with flexible
tariffs and introducing shared data 1D has been very positively
receved and | am del:ighted that active customer numbers
have now passed 335,000 1D allows us to find sofutons for
customners for whom the tradisonal networks are not quite nght
and is ancther invaluable arrow i our quiver when talking to
people about their mobile needs

Mult-play 1s a reat area of focus for us this year and, following
a successful tnal earlier in the year, we launched our offer to
help our customers with all of their connectivity needs, mitially
focusing on broadband This offer s enhanced by our
acquisiion of Simplifydignal, the UK's largest broadband, TV
and home phone switching business Wae are now really the
only place where a customer can compare, discuss, choose
and switch - from a wide choice of national providers - the
broadband and TV package that 1s perfect for them, bnnging
the expertise we have in mobile connectivity to this wider
canvas |t s early days, but the response from customers

has been very encouraging so far
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Strategic Roport

Group Chief Executive’s Statement

In addtion there have been a raft of significant improvements
that we have made this year including launching our new
e-commerce web platform for Carphone Warehouse,
dramatically extending the range of white goods that we can
ship next day, and rolling cut our ‘own the kitchen' small
domestic apphance layouts with much more hfe, colour and
interest into the majonty of our larger stores and much more
It 15 hearterung to see the power of our UK business being
used by an exceilent team to generate real differences for our
customers, and very heartening to see us all reap the rewards
for thewr clanty of thinking and energy

We have done a great deal of work on our in-home and
consumer services business, Knowhow, and we will launch

a pitot of a new, highly digitally enabled and wide ranging
proposttion in Leeds later this year with a view to having a
rebranded, natiorwida launch in the New Year We believe very
passionately that customers will increasmgty want somebody
to take responsibility for keeping the dozens of devices and
apphances in their homes working, always on and upgraded
and that we are uniquely placed to do that cost-effectively

and well

Our Nordics busmness had a good year with like-for-like
reverwies up 4% over the year and 9% in the fourth quarter
and all-time record profitability in local currency We have,
however, seen a further erosion in the Norwegian Krone versus
Sterling and this has meant that our Sterling-reported profits
are down somewhat with Headhne pro forma EBIT reducing by
€7 mullion to £78 rmilion Over the last two years the Krone has
davalued significantly and, since wrtually all of our goods are
imperted, this has created some commercial challenges We
have used this change to bnng our pnces i line with our pure-
play competdtors, something that we have already done in the
UK & Ireland and thus has, | believe, been a cause of the very
strong growth m our sales

The Nordics have also seen some really encouraging
operatonal developments over the year We acquired and
successtully integrated InfoCare, the largest repair company
in the region, which gives us a base upon which to build our
services and repar proposdion A major project to extend our
automated small box warehouse at Jonkoping in Sweden

~ and create the most modem automated small-box
distnbution centre 1 Europe - 1s also well on track We have
integrated the Phone House busingss in Sweden, merging
head offices and contact centres, closing 26 stores and
co-branding all remaining stores In Norway we have
rebranded our Elljop Express stores to Elkjep Phonehouse
In both Sweden and Norway, these co-branded stores are
perforrmung well

Our Southemn European business had a good year in the face
of sigmificant political and economic turbulence - most notably,
of course, in Greece, and | am pleased that the Southem
Europe business has reported a 4% nse n ike-for-ike
revenues over the year with Headline pro forma EBIT growing
from £15 million to £17 milton

Our Greek business has increased profitabihty n 2015/16

To have achieved this aganst this year's backdrop 1s ne mean
feat and 15, of course, down to the efforts of our colleagues in
the region In Greece, despite the mounting economic cnsis,
our teams consistently demonstrated innovative thinkung,
emotional resilience, strong management and an
entrepreneunal spint This meant that Kotsovolos was able to
gain significant market share | said last year that the situation
in Greece may end up proving the aphonsm that all cnses lead
to opportunity and | am delighted that this remarkable team
has proved this to be correct 50 far

In Spamn, we have continued 1o move to a more flexible
franchise approach, and to pivot the model to offer muth-play,
sim-only and handset only, as well as a host of addtional
services while successfully retairing our market share Here,
agam, the market has much change happemng with M3A
actiity and an evolving business model reguinng us to be
mmble if we are to retain and grow our profitabiity The Phone
House team have responded magnificently to these challenges
in the best tracitions of entrepreneurship that is at the heart of
the team

1 am also particularly excited to be updating you on some
temfic progress from our Connected World Services and
Knowhow businesses While stll relatwely new areas of the
Group and in the investment stage, | see huge potential and
a strong pipeline of actvity

The joint venture between our Connected World Services
business and Spnnt continues 1o ga very well and, following a
very successful tnat, In January we signed a joint venture {'\JV9
to open up to 500 stores with Sprant in the US The Spnnt JV
has had very encouraging results 5o far but, as always, there's
no room for complacency and we are focused on developng
the opportunity further

We have signed a new and separate software agreement with
Sprint and will now be rolling out our market-leading software
platform, honeyBee, across therr entire estate We ailso have a
fast-growing pipeline of promising dISCUSSIONS with companies
n a number of diferent segments and temtories about how
honeyBee can help them

Our support and services business also had a good year The
integration of our distnbution and reparr centre to one stein
Newark means we are perfectly positioned to take advantage
of the opportuniiés in insurance suppert and reverse logistics
services Our clients are increasingly asking us for help and
support throughout a product's Iifecycte, from choosing the
nght product at the outset through to installation, connection,
and reparr Behund our end-to-end service operation we have
a comprehensive = and unigue - infrastructure, including
technical support, dehvery, nstallation, reparr and recyching
This was rewarded this year as we retained owr contract
through the re-bid process to manage RBS's mobile phone
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msurance and won a contract to undertake a sivlar actvity
for EE making us the second larges! provider of mobile phone
insurance in the UK QOur infrastructure advantages mean that
we are able to win these contracts profitably while still
representing very good value 1o our pariners

We have achieved a great deal this year and are very pleased
to be ending the year in such a strong position That said, as
ever, we are focused on delivenng even more next year and we
know that, in fully mature markets, this means fighting for each
and every customer, each and every day

Finally, the nation has spoken and we are to exit the EU in due
course Qur view IS that, as the strongest player In our market
and desprte the volatility that s the inewvitable consequence of
such change, we may be able to find significant oppertunities
for addtional growth and additional market share As you can
imagine, we have been gmng some thought to this possibility
and we bekeve that, by actng decisively and inteligently, we
can further consolidate our position as the leader in our market

My thanks go to everyone in our 42,000-strong team of
employees in 11 countnes for making the successes of the
past year possible through impressve levels of industry and
creativity 1 am constantly amazed and delighted by the
passion and commitment of the men and women who make
up the Dixons Carphone farmily, andg am very proud to work
alongside them

Sebashan James
Group Chuef Executive
28 June 2016
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Strategic Report

Strategy, KPls and Risks overview

Our markets'

Our strategic priorities?

Achievements in 2015/16°

Core retail
» Mobile phone connectivity

Continue to enhance and dnve
successful and sustamnable retaul

« Consumer electronics world

busimess models in a mutti-channel

Market share and hke-for-like revenue
growth in core markets

Largely completed the integration of
Dixons and Carphone

Rolled out 273 SWAS

Price competitiveness in the UK and
customer satisfaction scores th core
markets at record levels

Launch of the 1D mobile operations and
multi-play offering

Completion of non-core business
disposals

Consumer services —

Leverage our scale, our knowhow,
and our umqgue infrastructure to

Acquisitions of InfoCare and
Simplifydigital, bolsterting our Norcic
services and amplifying UK mulu-play
capabihties

New leadership structure in place

Capital Markets Day held in March 2016

Knowhow drive growth in new product areas
including growth n services
Connected World Develop the Connected World

Services ('CWS’)

Services model and establish it as
a matenal contnibutor to earmings

Successful trial of 15 Sprint stores,
and launched formal joint venture
with Sprint

Extension of existing honeyBee
agreement with a major US
manufacturer

New mobile phone insurance
agreements with EE and RBS

Dixons Carphone plc Annual Report and Accounts 2015/16




Plans for 2016/17°

Relevant Group KPls*

Principal risks®

Property optirisation programme
Complete SWAS roll-out

Dnwve growth in the 1D customer base
and multi-play

Launch of new Carphone Warehouse
store and online formais

Relentless focus on price and service

Complete integration programme

Headline revenue
Like-for-tike revenue
Market position

Headline EBIT

Headline profit before tax
Free cash flow

Return on capital employed

Dependence on networks and
key suppliers

Consumer environment and sustainable
business model

Greek exit from the Euro

IT systems and infrastructure
Information security

FCA regulation

Colleague retention

Business continwty plans are
not effective

Health and safety
Fraud

Impact of Brexit

Launch of tnal in Leeds

Nationwide launch in 2017,
following tnal

Headlne revenue
Market position

Return on capital employed

Consumer enviranment and sustanable
business model

IT systems and infrastructure
information secunty
Colleague retention

B8usiness continuity plans are
not effective

Fraud

Impact of Brexit

Roll-out of jont venture Sprint stores

honeyBee US extension and
implementation across Spnint estate

Further sales and support opportunities

Headline revenue
Market position
Headfne EBIT

Return on capital employed

Consumer environment and sustainable
business mode!

IT systems and infrastructure
Information secunty

FCA regulation

Colleague retention

Business continuity plans are
not effective

o W -

Our markets pages 1010 13

Strategy and busmness mode! pages 14 1o 16

Chairnan’s and Group Chuef Executive’s Slatements onpages 4107
Key Performance Indicators on page 19

Principal nsks to achieving the Group’s objectives on pages 20 to 23
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Stratag:c Report

Our markets

Qur markets

Mobile phone and connectivity and consumer electronics
are Dixons Carphone’s core retall markets, but increasingly
the Group 1S growing beyond these product markets by

1) industnalismg its existing services nfrastructure and
expanding ds offenngs 1o focus on CONSUMEF SETVICES IN the
home, and 2) continuing to expand its rapidly growing
business-to-busmess operations via the Connected World
Services division

Mobile phone connectivity

Dixons Carphone s the only nationwide independent mobile
phone retaler The Group 1s uniquely placed to offer impartial
advice over the vast array of network, handset and operating
platform propositions available in the market

This market 15 also served by MNOs, with whom the Group has
long and well-established relationships, as well as independent
and generalist retaters The MNOs will offer propositions for
their own networks, whilst ndependent and generaiist retailers
will provide a greater vanety of propositions on one or multple
networks Furthermare there are onhing-only relaiters providing
a vanety of these services

This market 15 also served by MVNOs as well as a relatively
small number of global manufacturers supplying goods to
local, regronal, national and ntemational MNOs/MVNCs
and retailers

In recent years there have been significant changes in the
landscape of mobile phone distnbution in the UK we have
seen a major market withdrawal with the exit of Phones du
and the acquisition of the EE network by BT Dunng this penod
the Group has managed to gain significant market share
particularly in the post-pay segment

The sophustication of mobile phones continues to grow rapdly,
from simple mobile devices to sophishcaled hardware with
advanced functionality There i1s a wide choice of operating
platforms and network options for customers, which makes
the Group's expert and impartial advice, smplfied by the
tablet based too), Pin Point, particularly relevant

MNOs continue to see ncreasing levels of data usage, a trend
which will continue as customers migrate to new tanffs that
include 4G access as standard As MNOs continue to roll out
thew 4G networks, qualty and speeds improve, facilitating
rmuch faster downloads and providing levels of parformance
comparable to many Wi-Fi networks, enabling a much better
platform for streaming, in particular for video content

To benefit from 4G services, customers need 4G-enabled
devices and as 4G network coverage improves, there s an
ncentive for customers to upgrade therr contracts, providing
a stimulus to the replacement cycle increasing the penetration
of 4G devices and tanff uplifts After several years of
downward pressure on ARPU, increased data usage provides
an exciing opportunity

The intemet plays an important part of customers' purchasing
joumney for mobile, with the majonity of customers researching
online before making a purchase However, online sales have
remained retatively flat in the UK at ¢ 20% of sales fora
number of years The complexity of the mobile-buying decision
means that custormers continue to value the advice avallable
within stores This preference to touch and fee! products pnor
to purchasing has restncted the penetration for mobile ontine
sales Elsewhere, in markets that are less mature than the UK,
the proportion of online sales continues to grow and
represents between 4% and 11% of total retal sales

The mobile rnarket has remamed robust dunng penods of
reduced economic actmty and whilst mobile phenes right be
considered discretionary purchases, the reality 1 that mobile
phone contracts are considered an essential element of

people's ives

Consumer electronics

The consumer electrorics retall market can be spit between
specialist electncal retallers, such as Dixons Carphone, and
general retalers which sell electronic goods as part of a wider
offenng The market can also be broken down into two distinct
distnbution channels ‘assisted” and ‘unassisted’ In the
assisted channel, specialist retallers, such as Dixons
Carphone, help customers through the buying process in the
form of product advice, add-on services, delivery and
mstallation The unassisted channel, which includes single
channel intemet retailers as well as general retailers, tends not
to offer all of these services

Specialist electncal retailers are the predorminant destination
for customers in the European consumer electromics market
Buying groups, general merchants and independents also have
a retall presence through stores and / or onine The market s
served by a relatively smalt number of global manufacturers
supplying goods lo local, regional, national and intermational
electncal retallers

We are ane of the largest specialist electncal retarhng and
services companies in Europe with leading markat shares in
the UK, Ireland, the Nordic region and Greece In each of our
markets there are varyng numbers of specialist retailers who
compele in the assisted market While we do compete against
general retailers, this 1s usually hmited to certain lower pnce
categories as these retalers do not offer the full range of
products, assisted sale or the other services we are able

to provide

We have seen some significant shifts in capacity in many of
our markets in recent years with some mass merchandisers
reducing space for electronic products, some single channel
intemet operatars de-emphasismg certain segments, as well
as some specialists exiting the market These shifts have
helpect us to gan market share and it underpins our view that
a strong service led mutt-channel operation satisfies both
customer and supplier needs while delivenng a sustainable
business as customer shopping habits continue to evolve We
believe further consolidation will occur in some of our markets
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The intemet has established itself as animportant part of the
electncal retail landscape It supports enhanced product
information as well as pnce comparability It s an essental part
of the buying process for customers, particutarly for large ticket
discretionary products However, the expert advice provided
by well-informed sales advisors within stares 1s highly valued
by customers Larger retailers, with an integrated mult-channel
offer, with scalable distnbution and systems, together with
proven after-sales service and support are Increasingiy
attractive to customers

The increase in online penetration provides us with the
opportunity to increase both the range of goods on offer and
the availability of product information Our multi-channe!
approach 1s well placed to exploit synergies between our
intemet sites and stores

Our reservedcollect service (collect@store in the Nordics),
where customers can order on the internst and collect fram a
convenient store, at a time to suit them is praving to be
ncreasingly attractive to customers Similarly, our pay&coflect
service, where custormners can access a wider range of
products than 1s typically available in their tocal store for esther
home delivery or tater collection from the store, 1s also
ncreasngly poputar

Innovation bnngs new products with improved functionality
that dnves sales growth These include 4K Ultra High Defirition
(*HD") and smart TVs, wearable technology, connected
products for the home such as heating and ighting Content,
such as social media, apps, digital media and cloud
computing, also help to dnve hardware innovation and
replacement Product sales are driven by structural shifts, such
as analogue to dignal and standard format through to Ultra HD
telewision In additon, nnovation dnves new service
requiremnents, including TV installation, data backup, computer
set up and instructional Showhow teach-ins In this
increasingly cornplex world we believe cur assisted sales
model is best placed to help customers navigate the market
and to help them choose a complete solution that best meets
ther needs

Many electronic products are predominantly discretionary
purchases However, increasing penetration of digital
technology in the home dnves faster replacement cycles as
these products become less discretionary The economic
backdrop also determines whether customers trade up or
down Accordingly, the electronics market tends to grow at a
rate that 15 at or exceeding the economy dunng years of
economic growth While the opposite can be true dunng a
downtum, this may be influenced by new innovation and an
exciting product cycle

The rapid innovation cycle may lead to prnce deflation, but also
dnves volumes as products become more affordable and
replacernent cycles accelerate For larger ticket items, the low
frequency of purchases hmits the impact of price deflaton on
total market sales as consumers typically trade up to higher
specificaton preducts Our ‘Customer Joumeys' are designed
to explain the features and benefits of the latest technology to
customers and help them understand the reasons for trading
up to these newer technologtes

The sale of white goods 1S underpinned by the replacement
cycle Due to higher costs of reparr, it often makes better
economic sense for consumers to replace white goods outnght
rather than to arrange for ther repar The sale of white goods
15 also drven by the dynamics of the housing market

as new construction, house sales and refurbishment tngger
new purchases

Consumer services - Knowhow

Everyday technology, whether smart TVs, computing, mobile
phones or kitchen apphances, 1s becoming increasingly
complicated with connectvity and inter-operability penetrating
nto more and more areas Familes are dependent on this
technology working for an ever-increasing range of
apphcations such as keeping in touch with fnends and family,
entertainment, work, finances and school homework Keeping
this home technology working and online is increasingty
becoming an essential requirement

Most homes in markets in which we operate have around ten

connected devices, and this 1s expected to grow dramatically

over the near term, creating further expected positive demand
for home technology support services

We believe the market for home technology support to be
already large, worth around £5bn in the UK alone, of which we
estimate to hold ac 10% share Despite the significant
demand and a large market, the supply of services 1s highly
fragmented

There 15 a major opportunity to grow our share of these
valuable and growing markets to more closely match our share
of product sales Our aim s for our Knowhow business to be
the digital leader in technology support

Importantly we start from a position of real strength, our
services capabilities and operating platform developed to
support our praduct sales business 1s aiready class-leading
and at real scale

We are already the UK's leading technology support business
with over 11m warmanty and msurance polcies, 700,000
mobile repairs per year, 4.2m home visits per year, 740,000
computer repairs per year; over 100,000 gas installations per
year, more than 600 skilled engineers, and over 1,500 in-store
service colleagues

We have a leading share in the sale of connected technology
through our significant multi-channet presence with strong
manufacturer and supplier relationships and a ‘cross
ecosystem’ approach in place We have Europe's largest tech
and white goods repair capability at Newark with more
techmical suppont agents than any other business providing a
nationwide sclution This s a complex business to replicate
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Our markets '

We have put in place a new leadership team dedicated to this
division and developed a commercial mode! with refreshed
and innovative praposthions that we will taunch regionally

n 2016 pner to a full roll-out n 2017

Our revised service propositions will be accessed and
delvered by customers through an increasingly digital
interface providing fnction-free and hghly responsive support
and care around the clock which 1s easily accessed at home
or on the move

We will be able to dehver our core operating pnnciples to
our customers through an ongoing and valuable dialogue
that includes providing independent / expert advice and
money-saving guidance through pnce companson

This regular, igh-quality diatogue will build customer loyalty,
and allow us 1o deliver real value and support to our customers
day and mght

Once fully executed in all core markets, we expect our services
business to provide long-term sustainable revenues in
attractive, growing markets

Connected World Services

Connected World Services ams to leverage the speciahst
skills, operating processes and technology of the business to
provide services to third parties looking to develop ther own
connected world solutions CWS already prowides managed
services to a number of major intermational businesses and has
a significant pipehne of active opporturiies The cument focus
i1 on delivenng value and growth from three specific areas -
Connected Retailing, Support and Services, and honeyBee
software
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Curment focus nvolves three specific CWS services

Proposition Services offered Unmique differentiators  Existing third
party chents
Connected  Multi-channel retall + Operational retal s Proven track record of  Sprint
Retailing consultancy and leadership transforming retal for  Samsung
operational support for Consulting on retai Best Buy Mobile and
businesses selling Spnnt
connected product and planming and execution
service propositions, -« Customer oumey design  © S'dnficant KPL
ranging from specific and management improvements
managed services achieved in sales,
through to full retail profilabiity and
partnerships customer satistaction
« Expert team with 20+
Who 1s it for? years of connected
Telco industry specialists retall expenence
- typically carriers and
retallers + Unigue and
differentiated sales and
operations platiorm
Supportand  Leverages the = Connectivity and » Wa run the largest BT
Services end-to-end capabilities brokerage mobile phone reparr RBS
?r: Dixons Carphone 0y o added services centre in Europe TalkTalk
e UK & Ireland to
provide a full suite of « Device supply - Operatethe biggest  EE
services that enable the Sal handsst sourcing
sale and support of es operations operation in Europe  Insurance
connected devices « Forward and reverse « Proven experts in this Partner
logisics complex and regulated V™8
Who is 1t for? « Software platforms mdustry
UK & Ireland Telco « Customer service - slgniﬁca.nt established
industry speciahsts -
typically carners, retallers chent base, with
and service providers long-tenm agreements
in place
honeyBee Unigue ommi-channed, - The honeyBee platform - 25 years' expenence  Spnnt
software mult-industry software consists of three pancipal of complex digital
that simpifies the modules journey INnovation Partner
dehvery and . Accenture

management of complex
cigital customer journeys
n any industry

Who 15 it for?

Any sales business that

has a complex customer
journey (e g Telco,
Financial Services, .
Travel etc)

toneyBee Sell bestin
class multi-channel,
guded sales software that
includes an ultra-efficient
media platfcrm and a
real-trme foumey analytics
and performance
management platform

honeyBee Activate
camer / service provider
activations management
platform

honeyBee Create
simplifies the process of
designing and building
complex digital customer
joumeys

Unique muth-channel
sales and operations
platform

Unique multi-country
camer activatons
platform

Revolutionary
customer joumey
development tools

* Partnership with

Accenture who brng
industry expenence,
global scate and
delwery credibility
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Strategy and business model

Dixons Carphone s Europe's leading specialist consumer
electncal and mobile phone and connectivity retarler and
services company, employing over 42,000 peoplein 11
countnes Focused on helping customers navigate the
connected world, Dixons Carphone offers a comprehensive
range of electronic and mobre products, connectivity and
expert after-sales services from the Geek Squad and Knowhow

Dixons Carphone's pnmary brands include Carphone
Warehouse, Currys and PCWorld in the UK & treland, Etkjep
and Eliqep Phonehouse, Elgiganten and Elgiganten Phone
House, Gigantt and Lefdal in the Nordic countries, Kotsovolos
in Greece, Dixons Travel in a number of UK & Izeland arports
and Phone House n Spamn Qur key service brands include
Knowhow in the UK, Iraland and the Nordics, and Geek Squad
n the UK, Ireland and Spain

Business-to-business {'B2B" services are provided through
Connected World Services (CWS"), PC World Business, Elkjop
Business and Carphone Warehouse Business Connected
World Services aimns to leverage the Group's existmg expertise,
operating processes and technology to provide a range of
services to other businesses

During the year we have bolstered our Nordic and UK
consumer services offenngs with the acquisitions of InfoCare
and Smmphiydigital and we continue to review our business
portfolio, focusing on temtones n which we are the market
teader and growing market share

This enables us to dnve the Group forward from a postion
of strength with a focus con three strategic pnonties By
focusing on these we can deliver not only a better business
for our customers and colleagues, but also better retumns for
our shareholders

The strategic pnonties are

1 Continue to enhance and dnve successful
and sustamnable retail business modelsin a
mutb-channel world,

2. Leverage our scale, our knowhow, and our umique
infrastructure to dnve growth in new product areas
including growth 1n services; and

3 Continue to develop the CWS mode! and establish
it as a matena! contnbutor to earmings

Looking at each of these in tum

1. Continue to enhance and drive
successful and sustainable
retail business models in a
multi-channel world

Our customers tell us that when buying consumer electronics
they want adwice to ensure they are making the nght choices,
particularly as these are often major purchases that customers
will own for several years The growth of the intemet has
empowered customers, providing instant access to nformation
including product knowledge and price transparency

tn mobile, we are uniquely positioned in the UK & Ireland and
the Nordics to provide independent advice and meet customer
requirements for impartiakity, comparability and flexibility,
both onhine and in-store with the Pin Pomnt tool in the UK In
consumer electranics, single channel intemet operators have
a different mode! whose principal advantage s structurally
lower costs and which have histoncally been able to offer
competitive prices versus store-based operators By focusing
on the advantages that we, as a mult-channel specialist,

can offer customers and suppliers we can elminate the cost
advantage that pure-play intemet operators have histoncally
enjoyed As aresult we are able to offer customers very
compettive pnces aganst our competitor set and stll be
rmore profitable

There are four distinct activities that we believe are the key
strengths of our mutti-channel, service-based model and which
wiil support our competitive advantage going forward

1 Work closely with supplers to hamess benefits available
10 our business model Suppliers want to ensure that
customers not only choose ther brands, but also
expenence the benefits of the latest products Asa
multi-channel operator we work with our suppliers to
ensure we can explain the benefits of these products and
demonstrate them to customers in our stores and our
suppliers support us in this work in a vanety of ways

2 Focus on camplete solutions for customers The Pin Paint
tool enables the personalisation of the mobile customer
expenence Using tablets in store, we ask customers a
few ssmple questions 1o help them find the nght deal
The tool will dentify the preferred network via its coverage
checker, handset and operaling system, check bundie
options mctuding data requirements and ensure this 1s
future-proofed In consumaenr electronics, wa do more than
simply sell the product, we will also get it working and keep
it working, as well as delvenng i, and providing peace of
mind through product support and after-sales services
The conversations our colleagues have in-store with
customers give us an opportunity to explain the benefits
of these solutions and sell more of them than our .
single-channel competition

14 Dixons Carphone ple Annual Report and Accounts 201516




3 Dnve our service proposition We need to be able to stand
shoulder to shoulder with our customers and for them to
know they can come o our stores and get knowledgeable
advice and great serwice to help them buy the nght
product They need to be confident that we will sclve therr
problem quickly and efficientty Geek Squad in the UK &
Iretand and Knowhow in the UK & Ireland and in the
Nordics offer custormers services and technical support
that can help them with their product throughout its
fetime This 15 expanded in our second strategic pnonty

4 Reduce costs The scale of our operations across stores,
ranges, logistics, distnbution, repairs and services means
that we can continually inprove processes to reduce
costs We have removed a considerable amount of cost
from the business over the last few years by making the
business simpler, easier to operate and more efficient, we
remain refentlessly focused on managing costs to make
our business more efficient One of our pnncipal pnonties
in the coming year for improving cost efficiency is the
implementation of our UK & Ireland property plan The
programme will, from 2017718, result ina ¢ £20 muhen per
annum reducton in our operating costs as a result of
fower leasing costs

Leverage our scale, our knowhow,
and our unique infrastructure to
drive growth in new product areas
including growth in services

o

We continue to expand and strengthen our proposition to
customers, our service capability and our relatronship with
suppliers to underpin and dnve even greater advantage in the
markets i which we cperate

Growing complexity and interconnectivity of products means
that customers are increasingly demanding help and support,
not just n choosing the nght product, but also installation,
connection, support and repar Our Geek Squad and
Knowhow services are at the forefront of this in the UK and we
have introduced our Knowhow services across the Nordics

We must continue to innovate new services 1o help customers
and to remain relevant to the way products and connectivity 1s
evolving Behind our end-to-end service operation we have a
comprehensive infrastructure, including technical phone
support, defivery, nstallation, repar and recycling We can
leverage this infrastructure to widen our customer base either
to customers who bought ther products through a third party
{for example, our fault&fix computer service), or for business
customers By doing this we can increase the efficiency of
using this nfrastructure and deliver even better value services
to our customers

3. Continue to develop the Connected
World Services model and establish
it as a material contributor to
earnings

Connected Retaling

We successfully completed a tnal of opening and operating
Spnnt stores in the US, resulting in the creation of a Connected
Retall joint venture and the agreement to roll cut 500 stores
over the next three years We have developed a new, more
cost-efficient in-store format with an intended roli-out of at
least three per week over the next 12 months in addition, as
part of our IP work stream we have taken over the operation

of 27 Sprint-owned stores in Miarmi and Dallas and we are
investigating opporturities to create value from OEM partners,
onhne optimisation and store productivity improvements We
have a highly expenenced team based in Kansas managing the
operahon on a day-to-day basis 1o ensure the full potential of
the agreement 1s reached We are working to identify our next
Connected Retal partner, focusing on high value markets with
competitive camer envircnments

Support and Semices

We are now the second largest third-party provider of mobile
phones insurance in the UK, reaching agreement with RBS to
provide ongoing mobile device insurance administration and
wmnning new business with EE and TalkTalk The Dixons
Carphone Merger has given us the opportunity to broaden
our scope of services stil! further, enabling us to now provide
a unique and differentiated proposition throughout the mobile
value chain With the emergence of connectivity in more
industnes, the UK market 1s contnuing to grow and increase
in complexaty As a result we have identified a strong

opportunity pipeline
honeyBee software

honeyBee, branded Pin Paint in Bixons Carphone, has been
transformational wattun our stores, processing over 250m
customer joumeys and achieving class-leading customer
satisfaction scores Work 15 now progressing to expand its use
into new categones and acress all brands Excellent progress
has also been made in secunng honeyBee software contracts
in the US, with deals signed with Spant and a leading device
manufacturer, in addition to existing agreements in the UK,
Canada and Germany The honeyBee proposition of
simplifying the delsvery and management of complex digital
customer journeys has resonated weil across several industnes
and we now have an actve pipeline in the Trave!, General
Retal and Finance sectors, alongside significant opportunities
in our mobile hearttand To achieve global scale quickly and
access new industry verticals, we have agreed a channe!
distnbution deal with Accenture that utihses theyr in-market
client teams across the world to dnve honeyBee safes in alt
relevant industnes
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Strategy and business model

Business model

Our core retail business mode!, driven by customer nsight,
compnses three pillars underpmned by a low-cost
operating model

in order to ensure we understand what products and services
our customers want, how they use the products they buy trom
us and what they think of the service they get from us, we use
extensive custormer insights This includes customer panels,
interviews, home wisits and detailed surveys We use this
nformaticn to build our ranges, Improve our stores and
services and for other business decisions This is supported
by mystery shoppers, exit surveys and custoimer feedback
During the year our UK & Ireland and Nordics businesses
continued to improve customer satisfaction metncs and
reached record hghs

Taking each of the three piflars i tum, our model can be
descnbed as follows

Multi-channel
The shopping tnp for customers 1s constantly evolving

Our objective 1s to provide our customers with a seamless
and personalsed experience where convenence, ease of
navigation and simplicity are key in attracting custorners to
shop with us whether it is online, n-stare or a combination
of both

We constantly am to develop and improve Qur customer
roumey whether via our assisted sales too! Pin Point or by
wmproving stores, making them easer to shop in, with, for
example, improved navigation, better sighage, and enabling
customers to interact with products before they buy Witten our
recently refitted stores, the TV and audio category 1s setup to
resemble a living room enabling customers to expenence the
full sensation of a large wall-mounted 4K television with
sumound speakers These joumneys are supported by product
specialists providing expert advice on the products’ features
and benefits

Our websites are an ntegral part of the customer shopping
joumey In recogniion of how customer trends are evotving we
have made 1t easier for our colleagues, in particular within our
CurrysPCWorld stores, to access products and extended
ranges In store

Our training programmes, combined with our product leaming
centres and customer joumeys, provide our colleagues with
the nght too's to understand customers’ needs and to prowide
them with the complete solution 1o properly meet those needs
We will continue to improve the training of our colleagues and
the ways in which we can make them experts in the products
we sell For example they have recently undertaken a new
trainmng programme focusing on seling mult-play

Products

Combining our customer insight with our market-leading
presance we can make sure we have the nght range of
products and services in our stores 1o suit customers’ needs
Our scale and refationships with suppliers mean that we can
work with themn to showcase the latest technology,
connactiity and praducts in our stores with areas dedicated
to key suppliers

In consumer electronics, own-brand products enable us to
offer customers greater choice and access 10 arange of
products at compettive pnces We have defined a clear 'good,
better, best' brand range mcluding Curmys and PC World
Essentials, Logik, Wantt, Advent, Gop, and Sandstrom brands
We see particular opportunities in the area of accessones and
essentals with, for example, our own range of Sandstrem
cables In addibion, we continue to focus on the roll-out of our
witchen furmiture brand, Epoq, in the Nordics

After-sates services and support

Our customers need help with therr products, whether it be
delivery and installation, help keeping therr products up and
running or reparr should things go wrong Our business in the
UK & treland sets the benchmark for our serwces infrastructure
under our Geek Squad and Knowhow brands, the latter of
which is also avallable across the Nordics

We operate the largest network of two-man delivenes in the
UK with an average of 50,000 delivenes per week enabhng us
to provide customers with the converience of next-day
delivery in a four-hour trme slot or the option of a free delivery
at a later date We reparr more than 1m handsets per year and
provide over 11m insurance or Service agreements, cary out
approximately 500,000 computing set-ups per year and take
125,000 technical support calls each week

Our Geek Squad and Knowhow teams i stores, in our call
centres as wefl as field technicians, can provide set-up and
upgrade services and online fix and backup services Our
market-leading range of help and support services ensure a
customer has the backing of expertise and support that keeps
thewr technology up and runming  Cur state-of-the-art repair
faciity in Newark 1s abie to repair and retum a laptop in seven
days QOur network of field technicians offer white goods

repair In a market we estimate to be worth around £700 rmilhion
ayear

Through ownership of the service infrastructure we can ensure
the qualtty of service delivered 1o customers This, we believe,
provides us with a significant competitive advantage in
meeting the needs of our customers, as well as a revenue
streamn not readily avariable to single channel onfine and mass
market competitors
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Our resources

« Customers

+ People

= Supphers

+ Distnbution and logistics
+ Store portfolio

« Intellectual property

- Energy

= Cash and capital

Customers

Wa are dnven to provide unparalleled expertise and senices to
help custorners and busmesses navigate the new digital era
and one of our key values1s We put the customer first, always

To deliver on this value and ¢ ensure we continue to respond
to customers’ needs, we must iisten and respond effectively
to them We have comprehensive customer research
programmes spanning a vanety of tools including exit surveys,
mystery shoppers and focus groups as well as effective data
gathenng through, for example, our ‘Happy or Not' tools
launched in our Elkiap business and now introduced to
CurrysPCWorld Within our Camphone Warehouse stores, Net
Prosnoter Scores (NPS) are integral to our intermnal reward
systern We are pleased that customer satisfaction scores
across the business are at record levels

Through this research, managed internally and reviewed daily,
weekly and monthly, we have developed a clear and detafed
understanding of what we are domg well and more mportantly
of where we can target further improvements Customers tefl
us that they need us to deliver a strong combination of ‘Value,
Choice and Service' across all our shopping channels and it is
ncreasingly clear from therr feedback that they recognise that
wa are doing this We will continue to deliver easier, more
exciing places to shop for customers whether in store, online
or a muiti-channel combination of both

listening to customers extends to how we approach the sales
process in store Our unique traimng programmes combined
with our customer joumeys are designed to ensure customers
leave our stores with a complete solution that is nght for them
Doing this 1s a key part of our ongoing strategy and delivery of
a sustainable business model, as well as enabling us to
differentiate our offer frorn competitors

By maintaining our absolute focus on the customer and
debvening what they want in a retail environment that 1s
constantly evolving, we will continue to attract new
customers and retain existing ones

People

Dixons Carphone 15 an argarvsation spanning Europe, with
over 42,000 colleagues in more than 2,200 stores, offices, call
centres and distnbution centres and one of our key pronties
has been to build one culture, one vision and one future

Qur core values support this

+ We put the customer first, always

« We stand together as one

= We act bravely, challenge convention and do the nght thing
+ We know everyone can make a difference

+ We believe anythung 1s possible

These values support a ‘cutiure of discovery’ and face head-on
the changing envirenment m which we operate QOur values
support us in cultivating a high performance environment
where each employee performs to the best of their ability,
working together to actueve to their fullest potental Our
people are key to our success and « 5 essential that
colleagues are innovative and creative, customer-focused

and great at bulding relationships

We are focused on improving every possible aspect of the
shopping joumey We want our colleagues to become famous
for service and we want 1o retain customers for ife by having
exciting new stores, with the best range at great pnces and
providing excellent after-sales support and service We are
making excellent progress, however, we can continue to
make mprovements to dehght customers and to outpace

the competition

For further details on employee related matters please see
our Corporate Responsibility Report on pages 30 to 33

Suppliers

As market leader with an excellent reputation in the consumer
electronics markets we have exceptional relationships with
supplers

In a complex multi-channel environment, suppliers trust us
with their new product refeases and stock allocations, as they
appreciate the supenor service and advice oHered by our
stores and indeed our websites, as well as the exciting
environments offered by our transformed stores i which
customers can expenence therr brands and products

We work closely with suppliers of all szes to help them deliver
the nght product for custorners, through the forecasting and
ptanmng stages to ensure we deliver the nght levels of stock
for customers at the nght time Both the mobile and electncal
retall markets are charactensed by a number of large global
manufaciurers, who account for a large proportion of our sales
However, we also source preducts from a large number of
smaller suppliers We seek to mantain strong relatonships
with all of these suppliers, not just to source the nght product
for customers, but also to ensure the Group can purchase

the appropnate level of stock on favourable terms While we
utiise the Group's scale and buying power through an
intemationa) buying team, we also maintain strong
relationships at a local level
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Our resources

We continue 1o refine our own-brand ranges to suit all budgsts
and tastes Our most notable successes have been the launch
of our own Sandstrom cables brand alongside our Essentials
ranges as key entry level products n our 'good, better, best’
Ine-up These products are sourced by the Group's teams
based in the UK, Nordics and Hong Kong in collaboration with
manufacturers in, for example, Asia

Distribution and logistics

The Group sees distnbution as one of the keys 10 success

n mamtairung highly competitive margins and delivenng
oulstanding, market-beating service to customers We operate
a centralised system of distribution centres for each of the
regions In which we operate This delivers significant
competitve advantages, ncluding reduced operating costs,
reduced supplier dehvery costs, reduced stock volumes in
store, increased flextbility as to where to deliver and when,

and a more efficient home delivery network for both us and
our customers Dunng the year we consolidated our
distnbution and repair centres with the integration of the former
mobile phone facility at Wednesbury into our Newark site

White continuing 1o reduce costs, we are also constantly
rassing the bar, both in tarms of successful delvery and
installation rates, but also the range and quality of services
we offer customers nationwide In our Nordic operations
(Jonkdpng, Sweden) and the UK (Newark}, we operate two
of the largest distnbution centres of their kind In Europe The
Jonk8iping site 1s also expanding to incorporate an up-lo-date
automated ‘small box’ operation In the UK alone we now
make 50,000 delivenes per week, mcluding serme 500,000
installations per year

Store portfolio

We operate a wide vanety of stores to suit the local customer
demographics We operate many high street locations, small,
very popular outlets m airport locations, and ‘megastores’ up
to 60,000 sq ft, in out-of-town locations

We constantly review our store portfolio to ensure we have
the nght store for customers in the most competiive locations
As part of this ongoing review and following the roll-out of
Carphone Warehouse SWAS, in the UK & Ireland we are
implementing our 3-in-1 stores across the ‘big box’ property
portfolio and when complete we will have over 300
CumrysPCWorkd Carphone Warehouse 3-in-1 stores

These stores allow us to offer the best of both worlds to
customers, attracting new footfall and often at a lower cost

In the Nordsc region as well as Greece and Spain we also
operate a number of franchise stores This amangement allows
our brands to be present in a wider range of catchments, while
increasing the volume of purchases and therefore buying
power of the Group and reducing our capital requirements

Intellectual property

Within our Connected World Services division we have
developed our proneerng muli-channel assisted sales tool
Pin Pont powered by honeyBee We are also uthising our
intellectual property to assist third parties, such as Samsung
and now Spnnt, in connected retahing

In the UK & Ireland we operate through Carphone Warehouse,
Cumrys and PC World brands, i the Nordics through our
vanous Elkjop group brands, in Greece through Kotsovolos,
and in Spain through Phone House These brands are
extremely well established and respected in therr markets The
Group also has two strong service businesses, Knowhow and
Geek Squad, aiming to delight customers from end to end
while generating significant new business opportunities

As well as our retall and service brands outlined above, we also
sell a range of own brand products such as Sandstram, Goy,
Logik, Essentials, Advent and Epoq Each of these brands
have specHic target markets defined in conjunction with our
customer research findings

Energy

Saving energy 1s good for the business, good far customers
and of course good for the envuonment See our Corporate
Responsibility Report on pages 33 to 35 for detalls of the
Group's environmental matters

Cash and capital

it remains the Group's policy 10 maintain a strong capital base
s0 as to mamntain investor, creditor and market confidence and
to sustain the future development of the business Through
careful cash management and with a focus on cost reduction
as well as efficient use of capital, management s focused

on ensunng we deliver a susiamable business with strong
cash generation

As a Group we need to make the nght chaices as to how each
dwision utlises or preserves cash, whether it 15 1in determining
ranges and stock held n store, growing mobile share with
accompanying working capttal utihisation o managing returns
and related processes
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Key Performance Indicators

Financial and operational

What we measure” ‘Why wa measuns Qur parformance
Headline The abiiity to grow revenue 1s an important measure of a brand’s appeal to 2015/16 201415
revenue** customers and iIts competitive position It 1s a key measure of the Group's £9.738m £9.750m
progress against our strategic prionty to continue to enhance and drive ! ’
successful and sustainable retail business models in a multi-channe! world
Like-for- Like-for-ike revenue enables the performance of the Group to be 2015/16 2014/15
hke revenue measured on a consistent year-on-year basis 59 6%
growth
Market In lne with the Group's strategy to be the leading spectalist electrical and Market-leading
position mobile retailer in Europe, this 15 an important measure of how well poasitions in
customaers are being engaged by the Group’s brands in each market UK & Ireland
Retailing operations should be, or be capable of becoming, the number Nordics
one speciahst electncal or mobide retader in thewr market
Greece
Headline Continued growth of Headline EBIT enables the Group to invest in its 2015/16 201415
EBIT** tuture and provide a return for shareholders It1s a key measure of £468m £413m
progress agamnst our strategic priority to continue to enhance and drive
successful and sustainable retail business models in a mulbi-channel world
Headiine Continued growth of Headline profit before tax represents a measure of 201516 2014/15
profit before  Group performance to external investors and stakeholders against our £447m £381m
tax** strategic prionties
Free cash The management of cash usage, n particular working capital employed in 2015/16 2014/15
flow™* the business, optimises resources avatlable for the Group to invest in its £202m £89m
future growth and to generate shareholder value
Retumn on ROCE 1s a key measure of the efhciency of the capital invested by the 2015/16 2014/15
Capitat Group and the long-term value created for our stakeholders 219, 20%
Employed
{ROCE)
Shareholder
What we meagure Why ws measure Cur performancs
Headline basic The level of growth in EPS prowides a suitable measure of the financial 2015/16 2014/15
earnings per  health of the Group and its ability to deliver returns to shareholders 29 3p 25 5p

share** (EPS)

each year

*  Definstions of measurement for Key Performance Indicators are given in the glossary and defiriions on pages 154 10 156
*  Headline performance measures are as defined in the Performance Review These have been reported on a pro fomma basts as f the Merger
had occurred at the start of the comparative penod
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Strategic Report

Principal risks to achieving the Group’s objectives

The Group recognises that taking nsks 1s an inherent part of doing business and that competitive acdvantage can be gained
through etfectively managing nsk The Group continues to develop robust nsk management processes, integrating nsk
management nto business decison-making The Group's approach to nsk management is set out m the Corporate Govermance
Report on pages 44 to 46 The principal nsks and uncertainties, together with their potential impacts, are set out in the tables
below along with an illustration of what is being done to mitigate them

Specific nsks and potential impacts

Pmicipal rigk Speciiic dsks Potential Impacts
1 Depandence on + The Group 1s dependent on relatonships with key supplers « Reduced revenue and profitability
:E‘Wﬁ:kr: and key 10 source products on which availabildy may be hmited + Detenorating cash flow
PP - Changes in MNO strateges in relation to the Group, or more + Reduced market share

generally, and / or thewr performance, could matenally affect the
revenues and profits of the business

Mergers between the MNOs coutd lead to a change in therr
strategies and relationships with the Group

2 Consumer envionment -
and sustainable
business model

Farlure to respond with a business model that enables the + Reduced revenue and profitatlity
business to compete aganst a bread range of compettors on + Detenorating cash flow
/ !
sernce, pnce and / or range in a changing economy . Reduced rmarket share
Failure to respond effectively to changes m the industry
economic and / or competiter landscape
Faiure 10 accommodate changes in consumer preferences

and behaviours
3 Greek exit from + Possible ext of Greece from the Euro (Grexit’) could lead to 2 - Reduced revenue and profitability
the Euro detencration in consumer confidence and disposable income + Detenorating cash flaw

resulting in a significant impact on our Greek business, Kotsovolos

4 |T systems and - Faiture 10 nvest adequately and appropnately tn [T systems and Reduced revenue and profitability
infrastructure infrastructura, or an nabibty to effectively integrate IT assets - Detenorating cash flow
across the Group constrains the Group's ability to grow and / or
adapt quickly Loss of competitive advaniage
Akay system becomes unavailable for a perod of tme * Resincted growth and adaptability
+ Reputational damage

5 Information secunty + Major loss of customer, colleague, or business * Reputational damage
sensilve data « Financial penalties
Vulnerability to attack, malware, and asscciated cyber nsks + Reduced revenue and profitability
owing to under-nvestment in people, systems, and

safeguarding processes Detenorating cash flow

» Loss of competitive advantage
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Example mitigating actions and related strategic pnonties

Exampie mitigating actions

Changa in nsk In 201615

Multi-year commercial agreements are in place with all the mgor MNOs, which closaly align interests
and dnve value for both parties

Continuing to leverage the scale of operations to strengthen relationships with key suppliers and
maintan a good supply of scarce products

This ngk has remained stable
over 201516

Strategic and business planning takes into account varying economic scenanocs with ongoing
monitonng by finance and senior executives

Close scrutiny of product performance, trading resuits competitor activity and market share

Usa of customer insight / advocacy to monitor success of mitiatives and actions

Continued focus on dnving costimprovements through cost-efficiency inthatives

Ongoing evolution of cur mutt-channel proposition

Drfferantiation from competiors through strategic partner relationships innovative proposittons, and
high quality custemer service

Working 1o leverage expertise and scale to buid partnershups with other retalers and businesses
thraugh Connected World Services

Development of consumer services

This nsk 1s unchanged as tha nature
and challenges in our business
environment are consistent with

the pnor year

A number of exit scenanos have been modetted in order 1o understand and mitigate the potential
impact on the Group's business

Review of local funding arrangements inctuding factonng of debtor recevables

Reduction in credit nsk exposure by tightening control over custemer crecht amangements

The threat of imminent Grexit has
been avertad Poblical instabrity and
economic uncertainty remain in
Greece but the situation 15 perceived
to be stabising and our local
business ¢conhnues to perform well
This nsk has decreased in ikelihood
but will remain on our sk register
under a watching bnef

Significant investment being made in {T systems and infrastructure across the Group, supported by
ngorous testing processes

Post-merger [T transiormation to align IT infrastructure to future needs of the busingss

Individual system recovery pians in place in the event of falure which are tested regulary, with full
recovery wfrastructure avalable for cnucal systems

Long-term partnerships with ‘ber 1' application and infrastructure providers established

This nsk has remained stable
over 2015/16

Implementation of a UKA! Information Secunty Improvement Plan

Investment in informaton secunty safeguards, IT secunty conirols monitoring In-house expertise
and resources

Committee compnsing semor management in UKS, set up with responsibility for oversight,
co-orghnation and monitonng of information secunty pobcy and nsk

Recrutment of a Chief Information Secunty Gfficer
Ongaing training and awareness programmes for employees
Ongotng programme of penetration testing

Our averall information secunty
position has been hardened in
respanss to increases in extemal
threats We continue to undertake
significant management effort and
nvestment to reduce this nsk
exposure
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Strategic Report

Principal risks to achieving the Group’s objectives

Specific nsks and potental impacts

Principal risk Specific ks Potential impacis
6 Financial Conduct + Faiture to manage the business of the Group in camphance with + Reputational damage
::"th;'tlfY {'FCA} FCA regulation to which the Group 15 subject in a number of areas Financial penalties
gulation including the mobile msurance operatians of The Carphone

Warehouse Limited and the consumer credit actmties of DSG
Retal Limted

AReduced revenues and profitabiity
Detenorating cash flow

- Customer compensalion
7 Colleague ratanton « The arganisational structure and related accoumabilies » Reputatonal damage
and capabihty restnct the ability to run the busness effectively and adapt + Reduced revenue and profitabylity
to market change . Detenorating cash flow

Faiture to attract, develop and retain quality and depth of
nacessary leadership and management talent

Matunng of long tenm incentive schemes may increase nsk
of higher tlumaover In senior management population

Loss of competuve advantage

8 Business continuity
plans are not effechve
and major incident
response 1s madequate

A major incident impacts the Group's ability to trade and business
continuity plans are not effective resulting In an inadeguate
incident response

Reduced revenue and profitability
Detenoratng cash flow
Reputatwanal damage

Loss of competitve advantage

9 Fraud

Payment card fraud

Manipulation or misuse of Electronic Pont of Sale system and / or
other paymen! systems

Gustomer false identity and other 'no mtention to pay’ frauds

n taking out network contracts

Reduced revenue and profitability
Reputational damage

10 Health and safety

Failura to effectively protect customers and / or colleagues from
njury or Yoss of ife

.

Employee / customer injury or loss of Ife
Reputatonal damage
Financial penalties

11 Impact of Brext

Economic uncertanty and impact on consumer confidence caused
by the decision of the UK to teave the Eurapean Union (‘Brext’)
Further adverse exchange rate volalility

Longer term changes n tax, regutation and other frameworks that
may impact owr gbility to operate across our European bustiesses

Reduced ravenue and profitability
Detenorating cash flow
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Example mitigating actions and related strategic pnonties

Exaumple mingatng actons

Change wn risk In 2015416

Board oversight and nsk managament structures actively monitor comphance

Senior management perform oversight co-grdination and monitonng of governance, ensunng
regulatory complance and adherence to policy and monitoring of mitigating actions

Internal commuttees, including a dedicated FCA compliance commuttee and control structures to
ensure appropnate compliance (g @ undertaking quality assurance procedures for samples of mobiie
phone sales) and {0 react swiltly should 1ssues anse

Ongoing nvestment in the complance team

Continuous review of the operation and etfectiveness of comphance standards and controls wih the
development of contrgl improvement plans where required

New training programmes for calleagues implemented across the retail estate

This nsk has increased over
2015/16 due to the expansion

of the FCA s regulatory regime
Mo consumer credit and a general
ncrease in regutatory focus across
our operations

Ongoing review to ensure appropnate and effective roles, responsibiities and accountabiities
Defined and standardised performance management frameworks in place, with talerd and succession
plans maintained and reward aligned to attract and retain the best talent

Store structures which provide a tlear career path for colleagues, retaining and developing the best
retal talent

Bonus plans which include compenents relating to both business and personal performance
Continued improvements in the quality of triming courses and development programmes with
spectalist focus on core busingss areas

Development of appropnate succession planning, as set out in the Norinations Commitiee Report
on pages 55 1o 56

This nsk has remaned stable
over 2015/18

Business continuity and cnsis management plans in place and tested for key business locatons
Disaster recovery plans in place and tested for key T systems and data cenlres

Cnsis teamn appointed 1o manage response to significant events

Major nsks insured

This nsk has remaned stable
aver 2015/16

Fraud prevention and detaction controls

Real-time transaction monitonng

24/7 fraud and loss prevention leams

Customer identity venficaton and credit checks for network contracts

Liarson with banks, card prowders and MNOs to entify and mitgate opporturuties for fraud
Reporting and oversight by the Audit Committee

Whistie-blowing arrangements

This nsk has remaned stable
over 2015/16

Single Group health and safety policy

Health and satety manager and team located across business units and markets
Comprehensive set of policies and standards supporting continued improvement

Risk assessment programme covenng retail, support centres distnbution and home senices
Health and safety training and devetopment framework

Health and safely inspection programme

Audit programme inctuding factory audits for own brand products and thid-party supply chains

A comprehensive intemal review

of heaith and salety processes

after the Merger has resulted w a
reassessmernit of the nsk We continus
to develap and implement policies,
procedures and practces to mibgate
this nsk

Long-term credit facilites i place
Foreign exchange hedging to mitigate wmpact of curency fluctuation
Long-term contingency planning to address wider regulatory and legislative changes

New nsk
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Performance review

Highlights 12 months to 30 Apnl 2016*
» Group like-for-like revenue® up 5% (UK & Ireland up 6% and Nordics up 4%)
* Strong profit performance
- Headline PBT™ of £447 million {2014/15 £381 milhon), up over 17%
- Headhne basic EPS™™ 29 3p (2014715 25 5p)
- Total statutory profit of £161 million (2014/15 £97 million) after Non-Headine' charges of £176 million
{2014/15 £188 million) which include a loss from discontinued operations of £18 mition (2014/15 £114 mullion)
- Free cash flows® of £202 million (2014/15 £89 million} and net debt broadly Rat year-on-year at £267 million

Final dvidend of 6 50p (2014/15 6 00p) proposed, taking total dividends for the year to 9 75p {2014/15 850p}, up 15%
year-gn-year
+ Spnnt jomt venture in the US expected to contnibute $40 mition - $50 milion of annual EBIT to the Group by 2019/20

+ honeyBee platform second major client signed

Headline results*™

Headline ravenue™ Headune profit / (foss)"
2015/16 201415 :ur:-:::;ﬂ Like for-hka* 201518 201415
Note Cmillion Emlllon % change % change £milhon Emiilion
UK & freland {5) 6,404 6,314 2% 6% 365 305
Nordics {6} 2,632 2,709 6% 4% 79 86
Southern Europe {7 550 606 5)% 4% 17 15
Connected World Services (8 152 121 26% N/A 7 7
Group 9,738 9,750 3% 5% 468 413
Net finance costs {21) (32)
Profit before tax 447 381
Tax (110} (88)
Profit after tax 337 293

“Basis of preparation — pro forma informatbon

On 6 August 2014 an all-share Merger of Carphone Warehouse and Dwong Retall took place The pnor penod information in the lghkghts and
performance revigw sections refers, unless otherwise stated, to pro farma Headhng™ information for continung businesses, reflecting the results
of both Carphone Warehouse and Dixons Retall throughout the comparative penods as if the Merger had occurred at tha start of the
comparative penod

Following the Marger, the Group changed its year end to be the Saturday clasest to 30 Apnf The 2014/15 financial year as disclosed in the
2014/15 annual report and accounts therefore comprsed the 13 months to 2 May 2015 for the Carphone Warehouse business In thrs
Annual Repont and Accounts, the pro forma pror pencd results of the Carphone Warehouse business have been restated to excluda the
results of the five weeks' trading to 3 May 2014 to enable a better year-on-year companson

A reconciliation from statutory to pro farma financiat information s provided on pages 151 to 152

Notes

(1} Headiine results exclude amortisation of acquisition intangibles Merger integration and transaction cosls, property rationalisaton costs,
acquisitron-related costs and other one-off, non-recumng items, net interest on defined benefit pension schemes and discontinued
operatons {comprising Virgin Mobile France and Phone House operations in Germany, Netherlands and Portugal} Such excluded items are
described as ‘Non-Headline' For further detals sea notes 4 and 25 10 the financia! staternents

{21 Protorma EPS for the peniod ended 2 May 2015 has been calcutated assuming the number of shares exising at 2 May 2015, adjusted for
the number of shares held by the Group ES0Ts, were n existence for the entire financial penod

{3) Change in local currency revenua reflects total revenues on a constant cumrency and pencd basis

{4) Luke-for-hke sales are defined in the glossary and definitions on pages 154 to 156

{(5) UK & lreland compnses operations in the UK and Ireland and the Dixons Travel business

{6) Nardics compnses operatans in Norway, Sweden Finland Denmark and [celand

{71 Southem Europe compnses operations in Span and Greece

{8) Connacted World Senvices compnses the Group's B2B operation which leverages the specialist skills, operating processes and technology
of the Group o prowde managed services to third parlies looking to develop ther own connected world solutions

(9) Free Cash Flow compnses cash generated from / (utiised by) continuing operations before special pension contnbutions, less net finance
expense less income tax paid and net capital expenditure
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Pro forma Headline results

The performance review below refers, unless otherwise stated,
to pro forma Headline information for continuing businesses
The basis for the preparation of this information 1s descnbed
on page 24

Group

Group Headline revenue was up 3% on a local curency basis
but broadly flat in Sterling terms at £9,738 million (2014/15
£9,750 million) Like-for-like revenue growth was 5%, reflecting
strong growth in our UK & ireland, Nordic and Greek
businesses The difference between the total revenue growth
on a local curency bass and hke-for-like 1s predominantly

due to a reduction in stores in the UK dunng the year and a
deciston to reduce low-margin wholesale activity The Group
has continued to grow market share, despite operating in a
highty competitive marketplace

Headiine EBFF was up 13% to £468 milhon {2014/15 £413
million) dnven by the strong operating performance in the
UK & Irefand and the delivery of synergy benefits related
to the Merger Headline profit before tax was £447 million
{2014/15 £381 million) reflecting 17% growth from the
improved EBIT and a lower interest charge year-on-year
following the redernption of the bonds previously held by
Dixcns Retad in August 2014

{ntegration of the two businesses s now largely complete with
a single head office in each of the countries where Carphone
and Dixons overdapped, one logistics and repair centre in the
UK and 276 Carphone Warehouse SWAS now open

UK & Ireland

Revenue in the UK & lreland increased by 1% to £6,404 mullion
(2014/15 £6,314 million} Like-for-hke revenue for the year was
up 6% refiecting mobile phone market share gains along with
good growth In electricals The difference between the tota
revenue growth and like-for-like predorminantly reflects a
reduction n stores This revenue growth combined with cost
and synergy savings has resulted in Headline EBIT increasing
20% to £365 million The business has continued to gain
rmarket share helping to dnve sales and EBIT Our purchase

of Smplfydigital - the UK's largest and fastest growing
muth-channel switching platform - leaves the business
well-positioned to benefit from growth in the mult-play market

The electncals business has delivered a very sold result with
growth in the sale of white goods offsetting weaker demand n
computng Television sales perfarmed well, especially given
the World Cup last year

The mobda business performed extremely well dunng the year
Post-pay volumes and market share have grown year on year,
with the business benefiting from additional SWAS stores, the
performance of our (D mobile operations, and market share
gans following the closure of Phones 4u in the pnor year

in January 2016 we launched a programme to roll out our
3-in-1 store concept so as to create the store estate of the
future Thus will involve merging the remaining PC World and
Cunrys stores and inserting a Carphone Warehouse in stores
that have not yet got one This programme wiil reduce our

store estate by 134 but will sigmficantty mprove the store
expenence for our customers and colleagues, and we expect
the impact on sales {o be neutral or better Given that the
programme will be implemented dunng 2016/17, we expect
that the benefit to 2016/17 earrungs will be modest, but
thereafter this actvity will contnbute approximately £30 mithon
of mcremental EBITDA

Stratepic Report

At the start of the year the Group launched 1D, a new mobile !
network focused on providing users with Increased contract

flexibility, greater access to free data roaming and

competitively pnced 4G tanffs The performance of ID in the

UK has been very postive and the business now has an active

customer base of over 335,000 subscnbers

Nordics

The Nordie business has performed well in a challenging
economic envirenment, delivering 6% growth on a local
currency basis However, revenue in Sterling was down 3% to
£2,632 miflion (2014/15 £2,709 nullion) predorminantly due to
the devaluation of the Norwegian Krone relative to Sterling

Like-for-like revenue was up 4% despite the challenging
commercial envircnment and some aggressive compettive
pncing The growth in ike-far-like revenue was dnven by white
goods, matxles and laptops, offsetting weakness in PCs and
tablets We have continued to focus on ensunng competitive
pncing aganst pure players, albest with some margin impact

In local currency, our Nordic business delvered record
earmings but, due to the adverse movement in foreign
exchange, both from translation of local currency results
into Stering, as well as margin pressure due to ncreased
buying costs, Nordic Headhne EBIT was £79 million
{2014/15 £86 milhon)

The Merger has contimued to benefit the Nordics with the
launch of Elljep Phonehouse stores in Norway, and the
integration of Phone House Sweden into ElGiganten The
extension of the Jonkoping warehouss to create Europe's
most advanced small products distnbution centre ts also
progressing well

In November 2015 InfoCare, a services and repair business, |
was acquired i order to further the Group's services strategy
This business has now been successtully integrated into the
wider Nordics business The Epoq kitchen business also
continues to deliver very encouraging results with strong
revenue growth dnving market share and appliance sales

Southermn Europe

Southem Europe had strong underymg results with ike-for-like
revenue up 4%, largely driven by the business in Greece which
continues to perform extremely well in the face of a challenging
environment The Greek business benefited from strong
growth in white goods and tablets, which more than offset
some weakness in TV and laptops following the end of a
govemment laptop promotion m the pnor year Whilst post-pay
volumes were down m Spain we continue to pivot the model in
Iine with the market to offer multi-play, sim-only and handset
only, whilst successfully retaiming our market share
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Performance review

Revenue on a local currency basis was down 5%, though

up tn Greece despite the Greek business reducing volumes

in the low margm wholesale business The Spanish business
continued to shift its stare mix to franchuss and away from
owned stores, with ownad stores down 52 to 249 but with an
ncrease in franchise stores from 198 to 249 Southem Europe
has reported a year-on-year 9% decline in Headlne revenue
to £550 milkon (2014/15 £606 millior) reflecting the factors
above and a weaker Euro for much of the financial year

Southem Europe Headiine EBIT was £17 million
(2014/15 £15 milkion), up 13%

Connected World Services

Connected World Services ('CWS? has continued to grow,
delivening revenue of £152 million, up from £121 milkon in the
prior year We are announcing new developments in three of
the distinct business areas within CWS — cornnected retarhng,
technology platform and support & services

In connected retarling, following the success of the tnal stores
we have agreed to roll out up to 500 stores with Spnint n the
US, including ¢ 150 in the year ahead Separately we continue
to expand on our consultancy agreement with Sprint and
deliver significant benefits 1o both parties, including operatng
27 of Spnnt's own stores in Miami and Dallas The joint venture
continues to go from strength to strength and we expect i to
contnbute $40 mullion - $50 mullon to the Group's annual EBIT
by 2019/20

Within our technology platform business, we have reached
agreement with Spnnit to roll out honeyBee across the entire
Sprint estate in the US

In support and services, we aim to be the UK'’s largest
third-party provider of mobile phone insurance We have
agreed a new third-party mobile insurance contract in the UK
with EE, we have extended an existing contract with RBS and
we have entered into a significant new distnbution agreement
with TalkTalk to support the sales and distnbution of mobile,
TV and broadband connectivity

Wa remain very excited about CWS's prospects and continue
to invest In bulding the team and infrastructure to support the
growth potential of this business CWS's result for the year of
£7 million (2014115 €7 mulhon) 1s after a €4 mulkon share of
losses from the joint venture ansing on the Sprnt venture and
15 a result that we consider satisfactory and in ine with
expectations

Net finance costs

Headiine net finance costs were £21 million (2014/15 £32
milion) The reduction in financing costs was pnmanly due to
the redemption of the bonds previously held by Dixons Retail
on 21 August 2014 and the Group’s new revolving credit
faciity smcumng a lower rate of interest

Tax

The Headline effective tax rate for the full year 1s 25%

{2014/15 23%) The rate s hugher than the UK statutory rate of
20% due manly to higher statutory rates in the Nordics, certain
non-deductible items mainty In the UK and a reduction in the

value of UK-related deferred tax assets due to the forthcoming
reductions in the UK statutory tax rates

Cash and movement on net tunds

The pror penad information provided below 15 0n 8 pro forma
basis and aggregates the net funds / (debt) and cash flows of
the Group and Dixons Retari, as though Dixons Retail had been
100% owned by the Group throughout the pror pencd, to
enable a complete understanding of cash flows

Free Cash Flow - pro forma basis

201310 201415
Emillion Emillion
Headline EBIT 468 413
Deprecration and amortisation 137 137
Waorking capital {76) (159)
Capital expenditure 221) (182)
Taxation (58) (62)
Interest (31) (46)
Other items 24 4
Free cash flow before restructuring
items -~ continuing cperations 245 105
Restructuring costs (43} (16)
Free Cash Flow 202 89

Free Cash Flow before restructunng was ar inflow of

£245 million (2014/15 £105 mullion), an ncrease of 133%

The Group expenenced a working capital outflow of £76 rmillion
(2014/15 £158 million), being an improvement on the previous
year which included a non-recurnng unwind of certain supplier
funding arrangements

Captal expenditure n the penod was £221 million

(2014/15 £182 million), lower than anticipated, reflecting tight
management of capex spend The year-on-year increase
reflected spend on Carphone Warehouse SWAS, tnvestment in
IT plattorms and continued development 1n both our retail and
Connected World Services businesses We continue 1o keep
tight management of our capex spend as well as other
integration activiies

The recduction in Interest reflects the pnor year including
interest paid on the bonds previously held by Dixons Retail
until August 2014 and the Group's new revolving credit facility
ncumng a lower inferest rate

Restructuring costs in both the current year and pror year
relate to Merger integration costs and prmanty reflect
employee severance and incentive costs, property costs
associated with the integration process and professional fees
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Funding - pro forma basis

201516 201415

Income statement - continuing operations

2015/16 2014415

Crmithon Conlbon Lmillion £mikon
Free Cash Flow - pro forma basis 202 89  Revenue 9,738 8,255
Dividends (106) (52) EBIT 304 324
Merger transaction costs - (90) Net finance costs (41) (A7)
Acquisitions and disposals (ncluding Profit before tax 263 287
discontinued operations 82) 2 Tax 84) (76)
Pension contnbutions {35) (28) Profit after tax 179 211
3‘“‘” "e":s T ks _ BascEPS 156p 220p
ovement in net funds ebt) -
pro forma basis 7 79 Diluted EPS 15.1p 2t 2p
Ogir;::g net funds / {debt) - pro forma (260) (181) Revenue increased 18% to £9,738 million reflecting the
nclusion of a full 12 months’ earmings from Dixons Retail in the
Closing net (debt) (267) (260}  cument year {pnor penod results from 6 August 2014 to 2 May

(1) Opening net debln the current penod reflects the consolidated
net debt of the Group at 2 May 2015 including net funds
recognised within assets held for sale of £53 mifion Opening net
debt in the comparative reflects nat debt for Carphone Warehouse
a1 29 March 2014 and for Dixons Retail at 30 Apnil 2014

At 30 Apnl 2016 the Group had net debt of £267 mition,
broadly flat year-on-year to net debt of £260 muthon in the
comparative period Free cash flow was an infiow of
£202 milkon (2014/15 £88 mithon) for the reasons
descnbed above

Mermger transaction costs in the previous year reflected
professional and banking fees, the cash cost of share aption
exercises as a result of the Merger and the cost of redeerming
the bonds previously held by Dixcns Retail Net cash outflows
from acquisitions and disposals in the current year were

£82 million pnmanly compns:ing the final deferred payment for
the CPW Europe Acquisition, the acquisitions of Simplifydigrtal
and InfoCare, and discontinued operations

The increase In pension contnbutions reflects the agreed
contnbution profile following the 2013 trienmal valuation

On 8 October 2015 the Group signed a new mutti-curency
revolving credit faciity for £800 million, which matures n
October 2020 and replaced the multi-currency term and
revolving credit facility which was previousty in place

Statutory results

The expianation of the Group's results presented above 1S on a
pro forma Headhine basis for the comparative period Group
results as reported in the financral information are prepared on
a statutory basis, with the comparative penod consolidating
the results of Oixons Retait from 6 August 2014 These resulls
are summansed below

2015) offset by the additional month trading for the Carphone
Warehouse businesses in the pnor perod

Profit before tax reduced from £287 mullion to £263 million in
the current penod, largely due to non-Headline costs incurred
in the current year in relation to the Merger and property
rattonalisation costs, which are explained later in this report

Net finance costs have increased due to the inclusion of a full
12 months of Dixons Retail, resulting in higher finance lease
and pension-related interest

The tax charge increased from £76 milhon to £84 millon
reflecting certain non-deductible non-Headhine items in the
current year

Basic EPS has reduced from 22 Op to 15 Bp for the penod due
to the lower profit after tax and the increase in the number of
shares of the Group as part of the Merger

Non-Headline tems

Statutory profit before tax of £263 million (2014/15 €287
million} includes Non-Headtine charges of £184 mullion
(2014715 £89 milllon) These charges are analysed below and
are reporied on a statutory basis with the Dixons Retail
business only conschdated from completion of the Merger on
6 August 2014

2016/118 201an$

Calitian Tmillion
Merger-related costs (52) 41
Amortisation of acquisitron intangibles {40) (35}
Property rationahisation costs {70) -
Acquisition-related costs (6) -
Net pension Interest (16) (13)
{184) {89)

Costs incurred in relation to the Merger reiate to integration
costs pnmanly being professionat fees, employee severance
and property costs associated with the integration process
{2014/15 £32 million) In addition, dunng 2014/15 transaction
costs of £9 milkon were mcurred, predominantly reflecting
banking and professional fees Merger-related costs also
includes the wnte-off of £4 million deferred facility fees which
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were meurred as a result of the Merger and the financing
required to faciitate the Merger at short notice

The charge for the amortisation of acquisiton intangibles was
£40 million (2014715 £35 mulion) with the current penod
including a full 12 months of amortisaton of ntang:ble assets
recogmised as a result of the Merger {2014/15 peniod from

6 August 2014 to 2 May 2015) The pnor penod charge also
includes amortisation for 13 months for those intangtbles
recogmsed as a result of the CPW Europe Acquistion whilst
the current penod reflects a 12 month penod

As explaned on page 25, the Group has iniated a
recrgarusation of us property portfolio to put it into s
long-term state The costs associated with this programme:
relate to carnmitted property exit costs, asset wnte-downs and
operational costs associated with the 3-n-1 store concept

roll out across the UK & lreland

Acquisiton-related costs n the pencd relate to professional
fees incurred in the current year as a result of the acquisition
of Simplifydigital in the UK and infoCare in the Nordics and the
revatuation of deferred consideration payable to the former
sharehoiders of the Epoq kitchen bustness in the Nordics
following a reassessment of the {ikely final payment 1o be
made on the back of recent tradng performance

Net pansion interest was £16 mullion reflecting the charge
meurred in refation (o the Dixons Retail UK pension scheme
The cumrent penod charge reflects a full 12 months whilst the
pnor penod charge related to that incurred from the date of
Merger to the 2 May 2015 penod end

Discontinued operations

As reported at 2 May 2015, Virgin Mobile France and the
Group's retatt operations in Germany, the Netherlands and
Portugal were treated as discontinued operations following the
decision to exit these businesses The assets and habilites
associated with Germany, the Netherlands and Portugal were
recognised as held for sale at 2 May 2015 The sale of
operations in Germany was completed on 5 May 215, the
Netherands on 30 June 2015 and Portugal on 31 August 2615
Virgin Mobule France was sald on 4 Decernber 2014 in the
previous financial year

A loss of £18 mullion {20145 £114 million) has been
recogrused dunng the year in relation to the disposal of these
operations

Balance sheet

2015/18 2014715

Emdlion £milkan
Goodwil 3,054 2,989
Other fixed assets 908 852
Working caprtal (361} (387}
Net debt {267) (313)
Tax, pension & other {a72) (378)

2,860 2,763

The movement in goodwill1s due to the acquisition of
Simplifydigial and (nfoCare, and the retranslation of currency
denominated balances largely n the Nordics Fixed assets

have increased, with the higher capital expenditure dunng the
year exceeding amortisation and depreciation Working capital
has stayed flat, whilst net debt has decreased with posttive
cash fliows dunng the year as descnbed below COther net
liabiities (tax, pension & other) have increased following the
disposal of assets held for sale (pnmanly in relaton to Phone
House Germany)

Cash flow statement
2015/16 201415
Emiltion Emiltion
EBIT 304 324
Depreciation and amortisation 177 149
Working capital (14) (377}
Other operating cash flows {73} (53)
Cash flows from operating activities 394 43
Acquisttions (59) 322
Capstal expenditure (221) (166}
Other investing cash flows 24 20
Cash flows from investing activities {256) 176
Dividends paid {106} (52)
Other hinancing cash flows (11) (290)
Cash flows from financing acivities {(117) {342)
Cash flows from continuing cpérations 21 (123)
Cash flows from discontinued
operations 32 3
53 (120)

The statutary EBIT for the Group has reduced for the reasons
explained above Deprecration and amortisation have
increased with the pnor period only including mine months

of Dixons Retall Working capital has stayed relatively flat
year-on-year whilst the outflow in the pnor penod was due to
timing 1ssues associated with the change of year end and the
day on which month end fell, as well as a permanent unwingd
of certain extended suppher payment tems

Acquisition cash inflows in the comparative penod reflects
cash acquired through the Dixons Retail Merger whilst
cash outflows in the current year compnse the final CPW
Europe Acquisition deferred payment and the acquistions
of Simplifydigital and InfoCare The ncrease in capital
expenditure reflects both a full 12 months of Dixons Retail
and an increase in underlying spend

The reduction in financng cutflows s due to the pnor penod
including the pay down of loans and borrowings of Dixons
Retal soon after the Merger whilst borrowings have remamed
relatively flat year-on-year in the cument penod Cash inflows
from discontinued operations largely relates to consideration
on the disposal of Phone House Germany
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Comprehensive income / changes in equity

Total equity of the Group has increased from £2,763 mulion to
£2.860 million pnmanly reflecting the total statutory profit of
£161 milhon, the gain on retranslation of overseas operations
of £66 million and the payment of dividends of £106 milion

Other matters

Pensions

The IAS 19 accounting deficit of the defined benefit section

of the UK pension scheme of Dixons Retall amounted to

£472 miliion a1 30 Apnl 2016 compared to £486 million at

2 May 2015 Contnbutions during the penod under the

terms of the deficit reduction plan amounted to £35 mullion
(2014/15 £28 million) The deficnt has decreased largely as a
result of the contnbutions made to the scheme dunng the year

Dvidends

The Board declared an intenm dividend of 3 25p per share, up
from 2 50p per share last year The mntenm dividend was paid
on 22 January 2016

We are proposing a final dwvidend of 6 50p per share, taking
the total dvidend for the year to 9 75p per share, a 15%
increase on the previous year (2014/15 8 50p) The final
dwidend 1s subject to shareholder approval at the Company’s
forthcoming Annual General Meeting The ex-dividend date 1s
25 August 2016, wath a record date of 26 August 2016 and an
intended final dvidend payment date of 23 September 2016

Going concern

A review of the Group's business activilies, together with the

factors hkely to affect ts future develepment, performance and

position, are set out within this Strategic Report, sncluding the
nsk management section The financial position of the Group,
its cash flows, hquichty position and borrowing faciliies are
shown in the batance sheet, cash flow statement and
accompanying notes 1o the Group financial statements

The directors have reviewed the future cash and profit
forecasts of the Group, which they conswder to be based on
prudent assumptions Based on these forecasts, the directors
consider that it 1s appropnate to prepare the Group financial
statements on the gong concem bas:s

Viabilty statement

In accordance with provision C 2 2 of the UK Corporate
Govemnance Code 2014, the Directors have assessed the
wviability of the Group over a pencd longer than the 12 months
covered by the going concem provision noted above

The Board concluded that a penod of three years was
appropnate for this assessment as it 15 consistent with the
penod of focus of the annual strateg:c plan and reflects a
penod of greater certainty over forecasting assumptions

In assessing the wability of the Group, the Directors have
considered the Group’s current position and prospects, nsk
appetite, and those principal nsks and mitigating actions as
descnbed on pages 20 10 23 of the Strateg:c Report

The strategic ptan considers the forecast revenue,

EBITDA, working capital, cash flows and funding requirements
on a business by business basis as well as the available
borrowing facilities to the Group over the assessment penod
and the financial covenants with which those facilities must
cemply The strategic plan has been subject ta robust stress
testing, modelling the impact of a combination of severe but
plausible adverse scenanos based on those pnncipal nsks
facing the Group

Based on the results of this analysis, the directors have an
expectation that the Company will be able to continue 1In
operation and meet its labilties as they fall due over the
threg-year panod of their assessment In doing 5o, iti1s
recogrsed that such future assessments are subject to

a level of uncertainty and as such, future cutcomes cannot
be guaranteed or predicted with certainty

Humphrey Singer
Group Finance Director
28 June 2016
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Corporate Responsibility

Dhxons Carphone 1s commutted to high standards of corparate and social responsibity (CSR’) across the Group The table below
provides an overview of our key corporate and social responsibity prmciples and their interaction with our business model

At Dixons Carphone we

+ Simplify the mobile, technology and electncal world
« Make the potential of connected technology accessible and affordable for everyone
+ Prowide unparalieled expertise and service to help nawigate the new digital era

Business Products Mult-channel Suppornt
model Work with supplers to showcase Provide customers with seamless Set the benchmark for support, ganing
the latest technology, connectivity | engagement and support, whether a significant competitive advantage n
and products online, in person or a combination meeting the needs
of the two of our customers

CSR ambitron Understand how technology can be used to tackle social 1ssues, then leverage our skills expenence and positon

Dehver transformative change
through innovation

driven by to support communitigs, connectad homes and the families within them, by helping o ensure occupants fael
nsights properly equipped, safe and confident 1o explore the connected warld
CSR model Innovate Collaborate Invest

Collaborate with stakeholders
as partners

[nvest in inihiatives directly or indirectly
which benefit the communites in

which we operate

CSR impacts People

Connected community Envircnment

Supply chain

employees to grow therr
careers, adopt healthter
litestyles and engage
wilh good causes

CSR Create a gregat place to Make a posttive impact as Strive for a sustanable Operate an eth:cal

principles work, attracting the best a valued member of the anvironment, mimimise business, valuing nghts
talent and ensunng communily while building wastage and optimise and prospenty across our
opportunities for brand loyalty and trust efficiency value chain

We are commutted 10 bulding a sustamabls, responsible
and ethical business We bsten to customers, shareholders,
empioyees and wider communities to understand therr
expectahons and ensure they are reflected in our business
decisions We belleve good sustainability practices make
sound business sense, not only to benefit the emvronment,
stakeholders and the commurities in which we operate,
but to achieve our strategic pnorities

Cur approach to corporate responsibility means taking
business decistons guided by our values and code of ethics

People

Cur people are our endunng advantage and we invest in
ensunng we attract the best talent, that they remain engaged,
high-performing and are able to deliver a great custormner
expenence at all mes We reman focused on embedding our
combined values through existing ways of working and in
2015/16 we introduced the You're Electnc recognition scheme
across the entire estate, using vanous channels to recogrise
great performance and behaviours akgned to our values

We continue to make good progress integrating our teams and
harmonising our tools and processes to create a consistent
expenence for every colleague while creating exciting
opportunities that encourage them to grow their careers with
us through different roles, brands and functions

Engaging our colleagues

We know an engaged workforce defivers a great customer
expenence, which supports strong financiat results This s why
our key aim is to communicate openly and honestly with
colleagues to give them a voice while cultivating pnde in
working for Dixons Carphone In 2015/16 we launched a
combined colleague engagement survey across the Group,
administered by an external prowider Colieagues use this
batanced scorecard to tell us haw they feel about working for
Dixons Carphone and therr feedback 1s used to develop
targeted imbatives to help us monitor performance, make

the nght decisions, recognise success and ensure our
company remains a great place to work New communication
platforms have been launched in the UK & Ireland to ensure we
provide modem tools with an emphasis on collaboration and
peer-to-peer communication Further roll-outs are planned tfor
2016/17 We will continue to produce Connected, a hard copy
magazine for cur 42,000 employees This communication
consistently receives positive feedhack from colleagues and in
September 2015 it received an industry award for Best New
Publication from the Institute of Internal Commurucahbons
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Investing in colleague expertise

To help our people grow thewr careers at Dixans Carphone and
develop the skilis needed to perform well in their role and help
to grow cur business, we provide formal training, on-the-job
expenence and management coaching We have a leaming
strategy to support our business strategy and all new
colleagues have a 90-cay plan to set them up for success in
therr role Colleagues have regular one-to-ones and a formal
review twice a year with therr manager to discuss therr curvent
performance and consider future development and career
plans Across Dixons Carphone over 200,000 teaming hours
were recorded last year with over 80% of this leaming
completed digitally All training is designed to support us N
becoming trusted experts for our customers We also run
talent and leadership development programmes to develop
high achievers and to improve leadership skills across our
management population

Employee benefits

Our employee benefits packages are regularly reviewed to
remain attractive and canducive to the recrutment and
retention of talented individuals Colleagues are encouraged to
participate in our SAYE scheme to build a personal stake in the
business We work to achieve high standards in employment
practices and have a comprehensive suite of employment
policies and procedures, which we regularty review These
policies include guidanice on being famuly-tnendly through to
colleague dispute management, ethicat conduct, diversity and
equal opportunities

Health and wellbeing

Through the promotion of employee wellbeing, we am to
create a truly happer, healthier and more productive
workforce, at the same time as reducing time 6ff through
sickness and ensunng optimum levels of energy and resilience

Healthy living 15 encouraged through a number of initiatives
and faciites On-site gyms are avallable m many of our main
support centres along with restaurants offenng a range of
foods, which are reviewed regularly to ensure they offer a
healthy, balanced menu Qur Employee Assistance
Programme, which 1s avallable 24/7 to all cur employees, offers
a range of inforration about 1ssues such as stress and
nutntion A number of products and services are also availlable
to support employees, such as private medical insurance,
dental insurance and a Health Cash Plan These products are
available at special corporate rates to employees and
subsidised rates for close family members

In 2016717 we are participating in Mercer's Bntain's Fritest
Workplace survey and will use the resulting data to spot wider
health nsks to our employees as well as identify actions to
recluce absence rates and increase employee engagement

Average to Awesome

This UK wellbeing initiative focused on transtorming 12
employees’ overall attitude 1o health and fitness With the
support of a specialised personal trainer, talored nutntion
plans and the latest fitness technology, we recorded thewr
combined weight loss at 78 3kg over the 12-week penod
They were each given a Fitbit Surge to record training
performance and overall activity levels and Fitbit Ana scales
to monitor weight, body fat and BM! between official
weigh-ns The participants developed a strong bond and
have continued positive changes to their hfestyle habits
Many now run regularly as part of theirr new healthy regme
and are talung on new personal challenges and events as
a chirect result of this inhative We are repeating this
programme In 2016 with a new intake of colleagues

Equal opportunities

We are committed to equalty of opportunity across all of our
employrment practices throughout the Group We stnve fo
prevent unlawful discnminaticn in the workplace on the
grounds of sex, race, disabilty, sexual onentation, relgion ar
relgious belief, age, mamage and ol partnership, gender
reassignment, pregnancy and matemity We promote an
henest and open environment and encourage colleagues with
cancemns to repor 1ssues to us either directly through tine
managers or via an independent, confidenbal integnity ine

Disability

We encourage applications from individuals with disabilies
who can do the job and candridates will be considered for each
role they apply for Every effort 1s made to retan disabled
colleagues in our employment, mcluding making any reasonabie
readjustments 10 their jobs, workplace or environment

Diversity

We value the benefits a diverse workplace brings, including,
but not restncted to, gender diversity and we recognise the
importance diversity plays in achieving the nght mix of skills,
knowledge and expenence our organisation needs to reach its
potential Statsstics for the UK, Ireland, Nordics, Greece and
Span are as follows

Al employees Senior managers Dvrectons

Number “ Number % Nurtiber %

Male 29,175 69 74 74 10 77
Fernale 12,802 3 26 26 3 23

Connected community

Every decision we make 1S daven by insights and our ambition
to provide unparalleled expertise and services to help
customers and businesses navigate the digital era, while
building brand loyalty ang trust

We aim to be a responsible member of every community we
do business n whether it's by match-funding employee
fundraising, community inutiatives or chanty partnerships, we
will implement new ideas to make a positive impact focaily
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Charity partnership

Wa set out to turther consol:date our Corporate Responsibilty
programme, as well as our local and in-store chantable
activities through the support of a single chanty partner

In Decemnber 2015, the fong-term charty partner of Carphone
Warehouse, Get Connected, merged with YouthNet to create
the UK’s largest support service for young people, The Mix
(registered chanty number 1048995) Just as Bxons Camhone
matches customers with the best equipment and services for
ther needs, The Mix supports the physical and mental
wellbeing of young people under 25 across the UK, whatever
therr 1ssue, through the technology of ther chowce

Our continuing support of The Mix played a significant role In
their merger, propeling us into a new era of the partnership,
helping to dnve the chanty forward so they can recruit
hundreds of new volunteers and provide thousands more
hours of support to young people through new channels

In 2015/16 we gave a total of £447,390 to this free, confidentral
support service, which offers young people help 24/7, 365
days a year through phone, text, web, social media and
counselling The Mix connects them with experts and peers

to talk about everything ncluding homeltessness, finding a job.,
money management, mental wellbeng, relationship 1ssues and
drug use

Dixons Carphone Race to the Stones

Our spansorship of the UK's biggest ultra-marathon received
a European Sponsorship Award for Employee Engagement
and won Best Endurance Event at The UK Runining Awards
On 11-12 July 2015 ever 2,000 public participanis ran,
trekked or walked 100km along the ancient Ridgeway Over
230 employees signed up to get fit, raising aver £69,000 for
Get Connecled (now The Mix) and promoting the work of our
chanty partner Overall, this event has raised over £500,000
for a vanety of good causes We continue our investment n
Race to the Stones in 2018

Royal support

In April 2016 we wera delighted to announce Pnnces Willkam,
Harry and The Duchess of Comwall chose to support our
chanty partner The Mix as part of therr ‘Heads Together'
campaign, which ams to raise awareness of, and change,
the negative perception of mental health conditions in the
UK In 2016717 we will work with the Royal Foundation to
promote this high profile campaign through in-store
activities and employee partcipation in events such

as the London Marathon

Techknowledge for Schools (T4S)

We continued our suppurt for this registered chanty, investing a
total of £207,000 to help fund the largest ndependent research
programme in the world into the use of one-to-one technology
to transform education In February 2016, the decision was
made to close T4S after trustees became canfident that major
issues around implementing technology into schools had been
defined, the real benefits had been dentified and valuable
insights into successfully deploying technology to transform
leaming outcomes were gained and made publically avalable
Dunng the two years the chanty was in aperation it worked with
over 45 UK secandary schools using one-to-one devices,
camed out comprehensive In-depth quattative research and
analysis, recorded 440 online interviews with teachers, hosted
40 focus groups with students, parents and teachers, filmed 60
heurs of ethnographic observation, and ntervigwed over 12,000
pupils onling and 40 teacher leaders face to face Our body of
research has been made avalable 1o relevant stakeholders
ncluding the House of Lords Digrtal Skills Select Committee to
suppart the case for better technology provision for all schools
across the country

As well as providing gifts-in-kind, office and helphne
accommadation for The Mix, our support has directly funded
wwestment in a new volunteenng programme called Digital
Connectors, enabling the chanty to recnut and train volunteers
remotely, substantially increasing the hours of support they are
able to giva, opening up ermployee volunteenng opportumties
as well as flexible opportunities for young people looking to
cevelop skills in 2015/16, The Mix trained 99 Digital
Connectors volunteers, who have already supported over
3,000 young pecple across the UK. The Mix will continue to
build cn this success, expand their volunteer programme and
help more young people in need

Our support has also enabled the devefopment and launch of
an online counseling service, which has to date provided over
1,000 hours of counseling to under 25s Feedback about how
the counselling has he!ped has been overwhelmingly positive

Project BluPoint

We are proud to be at the forefront of tech innovation,
wdentifying technology for good and being a catalyst for
transformative change In May 2016 we invested in a project
to progress findings from our work with Techknowledga for
Schools, which highlighted that schools need reliable, guick
and affordable access to trusted educational content
BluPomt i1s the name given to a solar-powered device which
transmis digital content to areas without rehable or
affordable connectivity, on any handset using Wi-Fi, FM
Radio or Bluetooth Between July and October 2016, ten
employees will visit Durban in South Afnca, where we operate
a contact centre, to tnal and evaluate BluPomt 1n resource-
starved schools thereby empowenng local communities with
free Intemet access to educational tocls and services Project
BluPaint 15 being run in collaboration wath its inventor,

Or Mike Santer, Technclogy Adwviser to the Bill Gates
Foundation, and his team
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The Dixons Carphone Foundation
{‘Foundation’)

This fundraising account was estabhshed under the Chanties
Aid Foundation (registered charty number 268369) for the
benefit of the chanity or chanties selected by Dixons Carphone
and approved by the Chanties Aid Foundation This account
was set up post-Merger to deliver our ambitron of improving
lives through technology and faciitales employee
match-funding applications and one-off donations to
emergencies and disaster funds

In July 2015, semor Dixons Carphone executives took to the
tennis courts for a charity tennis toumament at The Natonal
Tenrus Centre raising £62,781 for the Foundation The
Faundation 1s atso funded through cur handset recycling ‘zero
value' Take Back scheme In 2015/16 we donated £161,725
through the Chanties Aid Foundation to a vaniety of causes
including Techknowledge for Schools and Get Connected

The DSG internattonat Foundation 1s a chanty in 1ts own right,
registered with the Chanties Commussion Within 2015/16,
£75,000 was transacted through this Foundation as part of
our fundraising commitment to Chiidren in Need For 2016/17
we will contmue to operate chantable actwities through our
fundraising account established under the Charrties Ad
Foundation

Other chantable support

We support other chanties and local causes by match-fundng
the amount of money an employee rarses for ther chosen
chanty by up te £100 or £300 for a team fundraising for the
same event In addibion, many colleagues raised thousands of
pounds via a vanety of fundraising events such as the London
Marathon, football tourmnaments and fun days Dunng 2015/16
Dwons Carphone employees also donated £42,542 through
Give As You Eam, benefiting a wide range of local and
natronal causes

Qutside the UK, Elkjep continues to suppon the Red Cross
Water for Life (Vann for Livet} project and donated
NOK 287,000 (£23,528) to this chanty duning 2015/16

Environment

We are fully commutted to meeting our envirgnmental
responsibdities and hmiting the impact of our operattons in a
way that ts both practically and economically feasible We are
warking towards best practice sustanability with minemal
waste and optimal efficiency

Energy management

!n 2015/16 we combined the reporting ptatforms and energy
management processes of the legacy Dixaons Retal and
Carphone Warehouse businesses Qur energy consumption
momnitonng platform repoerts the hatf-hourly efectncity data for
all our stores in the UK This allows us to momitor our sites
accurately, minimise wastage and optimise our efficient use
of power Supporting contracts have also merged to ensure
our meter operator (MOP/DA/DC) and bureau services are
ahgned across both the Dixons Retall and Carphone |
Warehouse estates

Strategic Report

As with previous years, our energy efficiency programme
continues to utilhse intemal funding for energy efficiency
projects We continue to explore new technologies and
advanced strategies to assist in our programme of energy
reduction and through 2015/16 a further €1 3 million has
been invested in new energy efficiency inbatives

ILED lighting has featured heavily in our 2015/16 energy
efficiency programme and i1s delivenng excellent results
through energy savings and improvements to our shopping
environment 19 stores and offices in two distnbution centres
were converted to LED lighting dunng 2015/16 along with

our Retail Support Centre in Acton and one of two buldings
at our Newark Distnbution Centre LED highting 1 the standard
technology adopted in all new stores

Energy efficiency projects have been completed in an additional
12 stores to further optimise our energy usage which Include
fine adjustments to temperature set-points, tuned heating and
lighting strategres, and the installation of kighting controls

The resulting reduction in our energy consumption from the
above intiatives will be approximately 4,300 mWh per annum,
reducing our carbon emissions by over 2,200 tonnes of CO;
n the next year

In collaboration with our landlords, roof-mounted Solar
Photovoltaic (PV) instaliatvons have been successfully
compieted at two large retail locations in Coventry and
Southampton and our water leak detection programme
continues through consumption analysis to highhight
urequlanties and ensures optimum efficiency

Energy efficiency inthative

Dixons Carphone 1s delighted to have been once again
selected to participate in the Department of Energy & Climate
Change - EDR (Energy Demand Reduction} pilot scheme,
phase 2 Similar to phase 1, this inthative s tinked to the large
scale roll-out of energy-efficient LED lighting {0 our second
750,000 sq ft national distnbution centre building in Newark
and represents our largest investment in a single energy
efficiency project to date Completion 1s expeacted by
September 2016
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Carbon management and legislation

Dunng phase 2, year 2 of the Carbon Reduction Commitment
{'CRC") energy efficiency scheme, Dixons Carphone's
combined reported emissions have reduced over 15% against
the 2014/15 CRC year which represents a reduction In excess
of 20,000 tonnes of CO; emissions

Dixgns Carphone merged its reporting against the CRC,
energy efficiency scheme for the 2015/16 CRC year under
Dixons Carphone ple, registration number CRC6030144
The Dixons Retad plc CRC account, registration number
CRC8584817, was selected for and successfully passed
a comphance audit dunng 2015/16 pnor to closure of

this account

Carbon Disclosure Project {‘CDP’)

We plan to submit our response 1o the CDP Climate Change
Informatton Disclasure questionnaire for 2015/16 by the
30 June 2016 ceadline

EU Directive 2012/27/EU, Article 8 (Energy Efficiency)

This EU Directrve was transposed into UK & Insh legisiation as
the ‘Energy Savings Opportunity Scheme' and the ‘Energy
Audit Scheme' respectively Dixons Carphone complied with
the requirements of this new legislation in advance of the
December 2015 deadline

Mandatory Greenhouse Gas (‘GHG)
reporting

This section provides the emission data and supporting
information required by The Companies Act 2006 (Strategic
Report and Directors’ Report) Regulations 2013, Part 7
Disclosures Conceming Greenhouse Gas Emissions

This report covers the intemational operations of the Group,
including the UK & Ireland, the Nordics and Southem Europe
Operational control has been used to determine organisational
boundary All scope cne and two emissions are included
except where noted

2015/16 2014115 201415
Tonnaes of ncrease /.  Tonneso!  Tomnes of
Category / source of COyp  (decrease} CO COx
amisshons emittad"* 9% emitled'  amiteg'™
Emussions from
combustion of
fuel® 20,614 43% 19,760 21,077
Ermissions from
operation
of any facility™® 2,797 (23 6)% 3,661 3,680
Emissions from
purchase
of electricity 109,534 (14 2)% 127,607 130,819

132,945 (120)% 151,028 155,576

2015/18 201418 20415

Tonnes Tonnes Tonnes

of COx of COw of COe

emitted por  emittad par  emitted per

1.0005q 1t 10008QH Y000saft

of floar of ltoor of loor
areg”® argain2e arga™2

Dixons Retall ntensity
measure

Carphone Warehouse

576 573 573

intensity measure 1375 17 41 17 70
Dhixons Carphone intensity
measure 6 36 - -

(1a) Exclusions compnse franchises as they do not fall directly under
the Group’s cperational contrgl emissions from Carphone
Warehouse's divested retail operations in Germany and the
Netheriands The divested operations have been eéxcluded from
2015/16 GHG reparting numbers and a restated number (with the
same exclusions) has been prowided for 2014/15 for companson
on a ike-for-hke basis

(1b) Tonnes of COze emitted as reported n last year's (2014/15) report,
including Germany and the Natherands

(2} Owerall Noor area of the Dixons Carphone DUSINGSS 1S estimated to
be 20,888,357 sq ft This s spiit between the Dixons Retail
business which is estimated to be 19,304,134 sq # (20,659,929 sq
1 restated for 2014/15) and the overall floor area of the Carphone
Warehouse business 1s esimated to be 1,585 223 sq ft (2,106,753
sq ft estimated for 2014/15) The calculations use the
methodology set aut in Defra s updated greenhouse gas reporting
guidance Environmental Reporting Guidelines fref PB 13944),
1ssued n June 2013

(3) Refngerant data from the Wednesbury Carphans Warehouse site
was not included as the data was not avallable (although this 1S
esumated to be less than 1% of total emussions for the Group)

{4} The overall floor area of the Dixons Retail and the Carphone
Warehouse businesses as reported in 2014/15 was found to bemn
arror owing to 1ssues in data collection and data relability These
1ssues have been addressed and the intensity figures for 2014115
have been restated using the comected floor area

Ethica! sourcing

Many of our electrical products are sourced through major
international brands, which have therr own strong ethical and
environmental policies in place The Group operates its own
Ethical Sourcing Policy based on the Social Accountability
8000 and the FTSE4Good cntena and takes into account the
recent introduction of the Modem Slavery Act We work
closely with organisations such as the Suppter Ethicat Data
Exchange (‘Sedex’) and the Briish Retall Consortium to ensure
our policies and procedures remain relevant

We have our own soctal and ethical auditing team and audn
supphers of our own brand products, prior to selection, agarnst
stnct trading terms and operating procedures Included within
these terms are minimum standards in respect of health and
safety, wages, working hours, equal opportunities, freedom of
association, collective bargaming and disciphnary procedures
It 15 also against our terms of operation to employ any forced
or child tabour Once the audits are complete, supphers are
rated on a traffic ight basis Green status on an audit indicates
that a supplier meets or exceeds all of our standards Amber
status incicates that some of the standards required have not
been fully met Red status means that some significant falures
were dentified aganst our Ettucal Sourcing Policy standards
Suppliers are approved if they reach either green or amber

34 Olxona Carphone plc Annual Repont and Accounts 2015/16




status mour audits Once suppliers have been approved they
remain subject to regular checks and audits and therr status
may be adjusted accordingly These suppler audits are camed
out with a view to assisting them in improving therr working
practices and we work with factones where fallures have been
identified Wherever we can, we work with the suppher to make
wmprovements, where this 1s not possible or no iImprovements
are made, they will not be approved as a supplier, or will be
delisted as appropriate Dunng the year under review, 21
supphers were classified as red, faled to make improvements
and therefore the Group did not approve them to supply our
branded products or they were delisted

The results of ethical supply chain audis camed out dunng the
pericd under review are

Waste Electrical and Electronic
Equipment (‘WEEE’)

We provide access for chanties and re-use companies 10 our
16 customer service centre depots across the estate where
selected white goods units are picked for potential re-use

This year 67,000 units were re-used In the third sector,
providing local communities across the UK with affordable
products Alongside the socal benefit, this intuative saved
around 7,000 tonnes of CO2 For the 1 1 million unids that
cannot be re-used, which equates to around 55,000 tonnes,
these are recycled and sorted into the various grades of metal /
other matenals to be manufactured into new products

This Strategic Report was approved by the Board and signed

Delisted /
Total Not
Red Amber Green audis approved
Audt status 26 97 - 123 21 )

Waste and recycling

We strive to detiver continuous improvements to our recychng
and sustainabity programme All recyclate from our stores 1s
now backhauled to our national recycling faciity at Newark
Across our estate, our 18 customer service centre depots have
standardised equiprment to deliver consistent grades of
cardboard, plastic and expanded palystyrene to our recyclers
in order to ensure we wtilise the transport to a maximum and
obtain the best value wa can achieve for our matenal Our
volumes increased by 126 tonnes since 2014/15 Worlking with
our recyclers we have been able to deliver to the hwerarchy of
waste requrements to provide single stream matenals for
recycling, thus providing high-quaiity raw matenals into
manufactunng processes preventing the need for further virgin
matenals to be purchased

Y

on s behalf by
Humphrey Singer !

Sebastan James
Group Chigf Executive Group Finance Dwector
28 June 2016 28 June 2016
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Corporate Governance

Board of Directors

Sir Charles Dunstone
Chairman N

Sir Chartes Dunstone 15 the Chairman of Dixons Carphone and the
Nominabons Committee He 1s the founder of Carphone Warehouse
and was chasrman of Carphone Warehouse from 28 January 2010 He
was chief executva officer of Carphone Warehouse from 1989 to 2010
where he led its growth to beccms one of Europe's largest independent
telecommunications retalers Sir Charles was also appomted chamman
of TalkTalk plc in 2010 He was previously non-executive director of
Daity Mall and General Trust pic and \ndependent Media Drstnbution pic
{now Independent Media Distnbution Lmited) S Chares was
chairman of The Pnnce’s Trust from 2008 te 2015, having been a
member of its Council since 2000 Sy Charles 1s a partner in Freston
Read Investments LLP ang also chaimman of Royal Museums
Greenwich and BAR Racing

Scbastan James
Group Chief Executive

Sebastian James was apponted Group Chief Executive of Dixans
Carphone on 6 August 2014 following the merger of Dixons Retail with
Carphone Warehouse He joined Dixons in Apnl 2008 and held vanous
roles, ncluding group operations dwector, pnor 1o his appaintment as
group chief executive 1n February 2012 Before joining Dixons
Sebastian was chief executive officer of Synergy Insurance Services
Umted and was strategy director at Methercare pic He started his
career at The Boston Consulting Group Sebastian is also a non-
executive director of Direct Line Insurance Group plc and trusige of the
charibes Save the Chikdren and Techknowledge for Schools

Humphrey Singer
Group Finance Director

Humphrey Singer was appownted Group Finance Director of Dixons
Carphone on 6 August 2014 following the merger of Dixons Retail with
Carphone Warehouse He was appointed group finance director of
Dixans in September 2011, hawving joined its board in July 2011 Since
iciming Dixons in 2007, he has held a number of finance roles, namely
finance director of Currys group financial controller, and finance
director of the UK & Ireland dmsion Pnor 10 joning Dinons, he held a
number of finance roles at Cadbury Schweppes plc and Coca-Cola
Enterpnses UK Limited, including finance director at the latter
Humphrey 15 also a non executive director of Taylor wimpey plc

Kate Bickerstaffe
Chief Executive, UK & ireland

Kate Bickerstatfe was appointed an Executive Directar of Dixons
Carphone on 6 August 2014 followng the marger of Dixons Retail with
Carphone Warehouse She retained her rasponsibilities as Chuef
Executive of UK & Ireland for the Dixons business on merger and from
1 May 2015 assumed responsibility for the whola UK & lreland dvision
Katie joined the Dixons board on 20 February 2012 and was the chief
executive of UK & Irefand for Dixons She joined Dixons as dwector of
marketing people and property in June 2008 In addton to her
executive positon she 15 also non executive director of Scottish and
Southemn Energy plc Prewviously, Katie was managing director of Kwik
Save Limited and group retail director and group HR director at
Somerfield pic Her earfrer career ncluded roles at Dyson Limited,
PepsiCo Inc and Unilever PLC

Andrew Hamson
Deputy Chief Executive

Andrew Hamson was appointed Deputy Chief Executive of Dixons
Carphone on 6 August 2014 following the merger of Dixans Retall vath
Carphone Warehouse Before this, Andrew had been with Carphone
Warehouse since 1995 and became a pic board member in 2008, a role
he held until the formation of the joint venture with Best Buy in 2008
Andrew played key roles in establishing the TalkTalk business and In
expanding the Best Buy Mobile operation in the US Andrew also
retaned rasponsibility for both the Carphone Warehouse and Phone
House operations and n 2010 he was appomnted chief executive officer
of the Best Buy Europe jont venture Following the conclusion of the
joint venture in 2013, Andrew became group chief executive of
Carphone Warehouse Andrew is alsa a non-executive director of
Ocado Group PLC and a trustee of Techiknowledge for Schools

Key

A Audit Committee
N Nominations Committee
R Remuneration Comnuttee

Graham Stapleton
Chief Executive,
Connected World Services

Graham Stapleton was apponted an Executive Director of Dixons
Carphone on 6 August 2014 following the merger of Dixons Ratal with
Carphone Warehouse Graham is Chief Executive of Connected World
Services and manages its relatonship with Spnnt Corporatian He was
previously chief executive officer of UK & irefand for Carphong
Warehouse He joined Carphone Warehouse in 2005 and has held a
vanety of board positions 1n both the UK and Europe Graham is atso
a trustee at the children s chanty Make-A-Wish Praviously Graham
worked for Kingfisher pic and Marks and Spencer pi¢
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Lord Laingston of Parkhead
Deputy Chatrman N R

Lord Livingston of Parkhead joned the Board as Deputy Chawman and
Non-Executive Drrector on 16 December 2015 He 1s Chairman of the
Rermuneration Commitiee and a member of the Norunabons
Committee He previously held the position of chief executive officer at
BT Group plc from 2008 to 2013 pnor to that he was chief executive
officer of BT Reta!l and group chief financial officer of BT Meis a
Chartered Accountant and previously held the positton of chref financial
officer of Dixons between 1996 and 2002, having served in a number of
roles over more than a decade with the company Pror to that he heid
vanous rotes within 31 Group, Bank of Amenca and Arthur Andersen
From 2013 to 2015, Lord Langston was Menister of State for Trade

and Investment He was also non-executive director of Hilton Group ple
and Freesarve pic He 1s curently chawrman of Man Group plc, a
non-executive director of Celug plc and Belmand Lta, and a trustee

of fewish Care

Tany DeNunzio CBE
Semor Independent Diector N R

Tony DeNunzio CBE joined the Board as a Non-Executve Director on
16 December 2015 Tony s Semor Independent Director and a member
of both the Nominatons Committee and the Remuneration Committee
He held the position of president and chief executive officer of
Asda/Walmart UK from 2002 t¢c 2005 having previousty served as chaef
financial officer of Asda PLC He started his career In the fast-mowving
consumer goods sector with financial positions in Unilever plc, L'Oréal
and PepsiCo Inc He was also praviously nen-executive directar of
Albance Boots GmbH, chairman of Maxeda Retall Group BV, and
deputy ¢haiman and senior independent director of MF! Fumiture
Group pk (now Howden Joinery Group pic) He has afso been chaiman
of the adwvisory board of Manchester Business Schoo! and was awarded
a CBE for services to ratail in 2005 Tony 15 non-executive chairnan of
Pets at Home Group Pic, non-executive diregtor of PnmaPnx SL and
seniol adwiser at Kohlberg, Kravis, Robeits 8 Co LP

Andrea Gisle Joosen
Independent Non-Executiwe Drector M R

Ardrea Giste Joosen was appointed as a Non-Executive Director of
Dixons Carphane on 6 August 2014 following the merger of Dixons
Retad with Carphone Warehoyse Andrea jouied Dixons as a non-
executive director on 1 March 2013 She s cumrently chaiman of
Teknikmagasinet AB and a non-executive director of ICA Gruppen AB,
James Harde Industnas pic, Mr Green & Co AB and BillerugdKorsnas
AB Former roles in¢lude non-executive director of Lighthouse Group,
chief executive of Boxer TV Access AB in Sweden and managing
director (Nordic region) of Panasenic, Chantelte AB and Twenbeth
Century Fox Her early career involved several senior markeung roles
with Procter & Gamble and Johnson & Johnson

Tim How
Independent Non-Execulve Director R

Tim How was appomnted as a Non-Executive Director of Dixons
Carphone on 6 August 2014 following the merges of Dixons Retall with
Carphone Warehouse Tim joined Dixons as a non-executive director on

8 September 2009 and became senior independent director on 9 May
2012 He holds a vanety of extemal board pos:tions, including chairman
of Wobum Enterpnses Limited, senior independent director of
Henderson Group plc and the Norfolk and Norwich Umiversity Hospitals
NHS Foundation Trust, and chairman of Roys (Wroxham) Limited
Former roles include chairman of Rayner and Keeler Limited and Enotna
Wine Group Limited, ang non-executive director of Peabiody Capital

plc Tim served as chief executive of Majestic Wine pic, where he fed
the management buy-out of the business and subsequent Altemative
Investment Market (AlV) flotaton Pnor to this, he was managing
director of Bejam Group plc

Jock Lennox
Independent Non-Executive Director A

Jock Lennox was appointed as a Non-Executive Director of Dixons
Camphone on 6 August 2014 following the merger of Dixens Retal with
Carphene Warehouse and 18 Chairman of the Audit Committee Jock
pined Dixons Retal as a non-executive director on 10 January 2012
He 13 a Chartered Accountant and worked for over 30 years (20 years
as a partner} for EY {formerly Emst & Young) n the UK and globally He
retired from EY in 2009 and has subsequenily acled as a non-executive
director of a number of companies He was also a counct member of
the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Scotland He 13 currently
senior independent duector of Oxford Instruments ple and Hil & Smith
Holdings PLC, a non-executive director of Al Mucklow Group plc and
EnQuest plc and a trustee of the Tall Ships Youth Trust

Carporate Govermmance

Baroness Morgan of Huyton
Independent Non-Executive Director &

Baroness Morgan of Huyton 1s a Non-Execulive Drector of Dixons
Carphone and joined Carphone Warehouse as a non-executive director
on 28 January 2010 She was a non-executve drrector of Carphone
Warehouse from 2005 to 2610 pror to the dermerger with TalkTalk
From 2001 to 2005, she was director of governmant relatons at

10 Downing Streat Pnor to thrs Baroness Morgan was polibcal
secretary to the Pnma Minister from 1997 to 2001 and was appointed
Miruster for Women and Equalives »n 2001 In 2006, sha was appointed
as a board member of the Olympic Delivery Authonty She was
previousty chair of Ofsted and a member of the advisory committge of
Virgin Group Holdings Limited  She 1s currently an adwisor to the boand
of the chidren's chanty ARK and a non-executive director of
Countryside Propertes PLC

Gerry Murphy
Independent Non-Executive Drector A

Gerry Murphy 15 a2 Non Execulive Director of Dixons Carphone and
jeined Camphone Warehouse as a non-gxecutive director on 2 Apnl
2014 He s a former Detoitte LLP partner and was leader of its
Professional Practices Group with direct ndusiry expenence in
consumer business, retail and technolegy, media end
telecommunications He was a member of the Delodte board and
chairman of its audit commuttae for a number of years and also
chairman of the Audd & Assurance Faculty of the Institute of Chartered
Accountants in England and Wales Gery was appointed as a non-
executive board member of the Department of Health on 1 August 2014
and a non-executive director of Capital & Counties Propertes PLC on
1 March 2015
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Corparats Governance

Corporate Governance Report

Chairman'’s introduction

| have great pleasure in presenting my ntroducton 1o the
Corporate Govemance section of the Annual Report and
Accounts 2015/16 We are now well into the amalgamation

of our businesses and are fully aware of our responsibility in
ensunng our corporate governance practices and procedures
are 'fit for purpose' under the new structure | set out below
how the Company has embraced good corporate govemance
practice and how we wll use this to form a stable foundation
for the building of sharehoider value

Corporate govermnance

Good corporate govemance 1s at the heart of any well-run
business We have reviewed and updated our Group policies
and procedures to comply with best practice Our Board
policies, such as diversity, tme commitment, the role
descnptions of the Charman, Group Chief Executive and
Senior Independent Director, extemal appointments and
external advice are reviewed and refreshed annually The
Board has reviewed and adopted our practices aganst the
2014 UK Corporate Govemance Code (the '‘Code’), bnnging
the business’s policies and practices 1o ahignment

Changes to the Board

On 16 December 2015 Lord Livingston of Parkhead |oned the
Board as Deputy Chawman and Tony DeNunzio CBE as Senior
Independent Director Roger Taylor and John Gildersleeve
stepped down at the same time, and the Board would like to
take this opportunity to thank thern warmy for therr adwce and
service to the Board and the business as a whole Lord
Livingston and Tony DeNunzio possess considerable
experignce gained throughout their business careers and will
undoubtedly make valuable contnbutions

Role and composition of the Board

The members of the Board are as set out on pages 36 to 37
of this Report

The Nominations Committee reviews each year the
compositron of the Board, including the iIndependence and
commtment to the Company shown by the non-executive
directors dunng the year That review also includes gender,
professional and intemational diversity The Board has three
fernale directors, one of whorn 1s not based in the UK and who
provides strong support on matters relating to the European
business envirgnment

After this year's review 1t was agam concluded that the Board
possessed the necessary skills and expenence to discharge its
duties fully and to challenge management effectively

The Board and Committees Structure

As part of the annual rewiews, the non-executive direclors were
asked to confirm that they continue to have enough tme to
dedicate to Company business and all have formally done so
As a unitary Board the directors acknowledge therr joint
responsibility for the business's success We have clearty
differentiated the roles between executive management
runming the business and our non-executives, who provide the
appropnate level of scrutiny and oversight In this way, the
directors work together to challenge as well as support each
other, with the am being effective decision-making, leadership
and accountability for all aspects of the business

Induction

The directors have continued to widen their krowledge of the
business as a whole through formal presentations, visits to
stores and facilities, and informal discussions Lord Livingston
and Tony DeNunzio participated in talored induction
programmes upan joining the Board, including meetings with
key company executives

Board evaluation

In 2016 the tnennial extemal Board evaluation was camied out -
on behalf of the Company by NJMD Caorporate Services

Limited, an independent consultancy, which has no connecton

to Dixons Carphone The evaluation invotved an in-depth

review of the Board’s actvities, the directors’ interaction and

ther effectiveness in carrying out ther roles Further

information can be found on pages 43 and 56

Commuttee structure

The main committees of the Board are the Audit, Nominations
ang Remuneration committees €ach has a dedicated section
in this Report Beneath Board level there are further
management level commitiees which report back to the
Board as necessary

Conclusion

We possess a strong, balanced and diverse Board supported
by sound pokcies and procedures This prowdes us with a
good platform to grasp the opportunities that the future will
bnng My fellow directors and | fook forward to meeting you at
this year's Annual General Meeting in September

Sir Charles Ounstone
Chaiman
28 June 2016

r Dixons Carphone Board J

[

Audit Committee’ J [

Nominations Committee? I l

Remuneration Committee? I

1 Audit Commuttee pages 50 1o 54
@ 2 Normmnations Commuttee pages 55 to 56
& 3 Remuneration Committee pages 57 to 81
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Corporate Governance statement

The Board confirms that throughout the year ended 30 Apni
2016 and as at the date of this Annua! Report and Accounts,
the Company has, except to the extent stated below, been in
comphance with the Code

The Company did not have a Senior Independent Director
{'SID’) after the resignation of John Allan on 17 February 2015
The Board undertook a thorough selection and search process
for the mast appropnate candidate and the Company was fully
comphant following Tony DeNunzio's appointment as the SID
from 16 December 2015

This Report, together with the Directors' Report and the
reports from the Audit, Nominations and Remuneration
committees together provide details of how the Company has
applied the principles and complied with the prowisions of the
Code dunng the year The Code can be oblaned from the
Financial Reporting Council's website, www frc org uk

Board responsibilities

The ovemnding responsibibty of the Board 1s to prowide clear,
entrepreneunal and responsible leadership to the Group within
a framework of efficient and effective controls so as to allow
the key 1ssues and nsks facing the business to be assessed
and managed

Composition of the Board

As at 30 Apnl 2016 and as at the date of approval of this
Annual Report and Accounts, the Board compnses 13
members the Chairman, five executive directors and seven
non-executive directors, each of whom s determined by the
Board to be independent in character and judgement and who
provide effective challenge to the Board and the business
These directors are Tony DeNunzio, Andrea Gisle Joosen,
Tim How, Jock Lennox, Lard Livingston of Parkhead,
Baroness Morgan of Huyton and Gerry Murphy More than
haf the directors, excluding the Chaiman, are therefore
considered to be independent in accordance with the Code

The Board recogmises that since 2005 Baroness Morgan has
been a non-executive director of Carphone Warehouse
Accordingly her independent status was subjected to further
and specific scrutiny The Board does not believe her length of
tenure affects her independence, having evidenced her
commitment and independent stance throughout her dealings
with the business and her fellow directors

At last year's annual general meeting Gerry Murphy was
re-elected as director with less than 90% of the votes cast,
due, pnncipally, to a perceved lack of independence The
Board, whilst taking into account shareholders' concems,
considers that no ‘matenal business relationship’ existed
between Gerry Murphy and the Company from the date of tus
ceasing to be an audit partner 1o Carphone Warghouse in 2011
and accordingly, the Board continues to consider lim to be
independent

In accordance with the Code, each director will stand for
election or re-election at the Comparny's Annual General
Meeting Biographical information is shown on pages 36 to 37

The dvtsion of responsibility between the Chairman and the
Group Chief Executive is formally defined, set out inwnting
and 1s reviewed by the Board on an annual basis, as it was in
March 2016 The Charman s responsible for the overall
operation, leadership and govemance of the Board The Group
Chief Executive 15 responsible for the executive management
of the Group's business and for implementing the Group's
strategic and commercial objectives

The role of the SID s o support the Chairman and be available
to any sharehqlders who fee! they are unable to rarse 1ssues
with the Chairman directly With the addition of Tony DeNunzio
as SID, the Board has a strong complement of independent
non-executive directors avaitable for shareholders to contact
with any questions they may have Under the clearly-defined
role of the SID, set cut n wnbing and reviewed annually by the
Board, the SID also discusses, with the Chaiman, the results
of the latter’s performance review
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Corporate Governance

Corporate Governance Report

Board topics conswdered throughout the financial year 2015/16

2015

May

« Three-year plan

+ Budgetary approval

- Property rationahisation
- Banking faciities

- Appointment of Company Secretary

Intemal Board effectiveness review

« Corporate governance update

June

- Q4 trading statement

« Risk management review

« Spnnt partnership

« Competition law update

* Nordic strategy sesston

Juty

+ Final dwdend approval

+ Prelminary announcement and
Annual Report and Accounts
approval

» Group strategic iniatives

+ Banking facilities

« Group policies approval

« Corporate governance update

Reserved matters

There are documented schedules of matters reserved for the
Board and matters delegated to commuttees of the Board The

September

« Annual General Meeting

+ (1 trading statement

- Data Protection and Information
Secunty policies review

+ Ant-bnbery, Gifts and Hosptality,
and Health and Safety policies
approval

+ Fmnancial Conduct Authority ('FCA')
regulatory updates

« Brokers' update

October

= Banking and treasury matters

+ Board Schedule 2016

» UK & Ireland strategy session

December

- Interim chwvidend approval

- Interm announcement approval

« Appomtments of Deputy Chairman
and Senior Independent Director
and resignations of Non-Executive
Drrectors

+ Audit and Nominations committees
termns of reference

+ Cyber secunty and IT roadmap

+ FCA regulatory updates

« Treasury transactions

2016

January

+ Chnstmas trading update

+ Three-year plan

- Investor relations activities

+ Talent review and suCCession
planning update

- FCA regulatory updates

March

+ Shareholder communications

+ Risk management and nsk appetite
review

+ Insurance review

+ Financial Cnme Policy approval

+ Schedute of Matters reserved
for the Board

+ Remuneration Committee Terms
of Reference

- Treasury transactions

Chavman's responsibiirties

« manage the Board,

formal Schedule of Matters reserved for the Board was last + represent the interests of the shareholders,
+ approve Group strategy, its implementation and the

reviewed in March 2016 and includes

- approval of published financial staterments and

performance and profitability of the Group,

dividend policy, « seek new business development gpportunities,
« declaration of intenm and recommendation of + effectively char Board, Nominations Committee
final dwidends, and shareholder rmeetngs,
+ approval of budget and Group strategy and cbjectives, + ensure Board effectiveness in his role,
» appontment and remuneration of drectors, Company + ensure clear angd effective running of the commuttees,

Secretary and other senior executives,
=+ approval of major acquisitions and disposals,
- approval of authonty levels for expenditure,

+ approval of Group palicies,

+ approval of treasury / mtemal control and risk

management policies, and

+ approval of shareholder communications

+ promote, with the Company Secretary, the highest

directors,

standards of corporate govemance,

faciitate effective contnbutions of the non-executive

- ensure constructive relations between the executive

and rnon-executive directors, and

- oversee the process of nduction, development and
performance evaluation and succession planning of

the Board
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Group Chief Executive’s responsibilities

L]

formulate the Group strategy and duection (with the
Chayman} and develop Group objectives,

delver Group profitability,

provide leadership to the Group and senior management
and ensure effective performance and successton,

ensure Group policies and procedures conform to a high
standard,

review the effectiveness of the Group's organisational
structure,

identify acquisitton and disposal opportunities and other
opporturaties outside core activihes,

oversee management SUCCaSSIon,

manage Group nsk profile and ensure intemal controls
and nsk mitigation measures are In place,

represent the Company in the City, with govemment
departments, key stakeholders and any other retevant
institutions,

oversee the establishment of operational and support
functions incluchng finance, human resources, nsk
management and control functions, and

set standards of performance throughout the Group

Senior Independent Director’s ('SID') responsibirties

be available to communicate with shareholders,

appraise the performance of the Chairman annually
with the Board,

oversee an orderty succession for the position of
Chairman,

support the Chairman in the performance of his duties,
and

work with the Chairmman, other directors and
shareholders to resolve significant 1ssues and 1o maintain
Board and Company stability in penods of stress

Board attendance

The Board attended eight scheduled meetings as well as
two strategy sessions and two unscheduled meetings
dunng the penod under review The Board has met once
since the year end

Member Appointed Hesigned Attendance
Sir Charles Dunstone Bof8
Sebastian James 8ois
Katie Bickerstaffe BoiB
Tony DeNunzio CBE™ 16 Dec 2015 2012
Andrea Gisle Joosen Bofg
Andrew Harrison goig
Tim How Bof8
Jock Lennox 8o0f8
Lord Livingston of 16 Dec 2015 202
Parkhead®
Baroness Morgan Bof8
of Huyton
Gerry Murphy Bof8
Humphrey Singer Bof8
Graham Stapleton® 70f8
Foarmer Directors
John Gildersleeve™ 16 Dec 2015 6of B
Roger Taylor® 16 Dec 2015 Gof6

(1) Tony DeNunzic and Lord Livmingston attended both Board
meetings following ther appointments

(2) Graham Stapleton was unabie to attend one meeting due
to pnor busmess commitments in the US

{3} John Gildersleeve and Roger Tayfor attended all Board
meetings pnar to their resignations
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Committee members

There are three man Board committees Audit, Nominations and Remuneration The committees are provided with sufficient
resources via the Company Secretary and, where necessary, have dwrect access 10 mdependent professional adwisors to

undertake ther duties

Audn Nor F N
(pages S50to $4) (pages 55 1o 56) (pages 57 o B1)

Sir Charles Dunstone

Lord Livingston of Parkhead™
Tony DeNunzio CBE
Andrea Gisle Joosen

Tim How

Jock Lennox

Baroness Morgan of Huyton
Gerry Murphy

Former Directors

John Gildersleeve™

Roger Taylor

LT 20
2220

C - Chairman M - Member

{} Lord Livingston was appointed Chairman of the Remuneration Commitiee upon his appointment to the Board on 16 December 2015
(2) John Gidersleeve was Chairman of the Remuneration Commitiee unt! his resignation on 18 December 2015

Board governance matters

The Chairman 1s responsible for ensunng that all directors are
properly bnefed on issues ansing at Board meetings and that
they have full and timely access to relevant nformation The
Company uses an electronic board paper system which
enables the safe and secure dissemination of quality
information to tha Board All Board papers are sentoutona
timely basis with sufficient information for the directors to be
able to discharge therr duties The format, content and timely
production of Board papers 15 a continually evolving process to
ensure relevance and clanty of communicatien Formal
minutes of the Board and committee meetings are prepared by
the Company Secretary and approved by the Board and
commuttees at thew next meeting

The Chawman meets regulary with afl the non-executive
directors, usuaily on an evening prior to a Board meeting when
board dinners are held This provides the opportunity to
discuss, amongst other matters, corporate strategy and
business performance

The Board holds meetings at a vanety of the Group's locations,
including overseas, to assist all Board members inganing a
deeper understanding of the business This also provides
senior management across the Group with the opportunity to
meet the Board This year, Board meetings were hetd in
Newark in Nottinghamshire as well as n Norway and Greece
Visiting our vanous operational locations also enables the
Board to meet other members of the team, and to wisit stores
throughout the business's portfoho

New directars appointed to the Board receive a personal
induction programme, together with guidance and traning
appropriate to therr level of previous expenence Each diractor
15 given the opportunity to meet with senior management and
store colleagues and to visit the Group’s sites bothin the UK
and overseas This enables famibansation with the businesses,
operatons systems and markets in which the Group operates
New directors are also encouraged to meet with the Group’s
auditar and advisors As newly apponted Non-Executive
Directors, both Lord Livingston and Tony DeNunzio were given
indmidual induction programmes tailored to therr speciic roles,
as Deputy Charman and Senior independent Director
respectively, and also as members of the Nommnations and
Remuneration committees

The Board receves updates on corporate govemance best
prachce as appropnate throughout the year

42 Dinons Carphone pic Annuat Report and Accounts 2015/16




Succession planning

Last year succession planmng was identified as an area where
greater focus was required This was addressed by the
refreshing of the Board and appointment of two new members,
and planrung continues for the future In seeking an optimal
balance of skills, expenence, independence and knowledge
required at Board level, the directors endeavour to satisfy
themselves that adequate plans are in place to ensure an
orderly succession of appointments to the Board and senior
management The Board reviewed in detall succession plans
for semor management at the meeting in January 2016

Performance evaluation

The Code recommends that the performance of the Board be
reviewed externally every three years Last year the Company
Secretary facilitated an intenal evaluaton of Board
performance and that of the Audit, Nominations and
Remuneration committees NJMD Corporate Services Lirited
{NJMD") was engaged to canry out the external review exercise
which commenced in October 2015 NJMD has no other
connection with the Company

The review examined the level of skils, knowledge and
expenence of the Board which invoived all drectors
responding to self-evatuation questionnares NJMD prepared
a discussion guide which formed the basis tor open,
confidential and unattributable conversations with each of the
directors The results of both the self-evaluation questionnares
and discussions were collated into a comprehensve report
NJMD submitted the draft report to the Chaimman and the
Company Secretary which was then presented to the Board
for consideration at rts May 2016 meeting

The report addressed all matters relating to the performance of
the Board which included, but were not imited to, the roles of
the executive and non-executive directors, the Board, Board
committees, the Chairman, preparation for and perfformance at
meetings, the effectiveness of each director, leadership, culture
and corporate govemnance

Tony DeNunzio ted the Non-Executive Directors, in the
absence of the Charman, in therr annual appraisal of the
Chamman’s performance He then discussed the results of that
review with the Chaiman The Board 1s again of the opiron
that the Chairmnan had no other significant commitments
dunng the year that adversely affected his performance in his
role, his effectiveness in leading the Board was not imparred
and that he cultvated an atmosphere for positive, challenging
andd constructive debate

Following the results of the evaluation, the Board confinms that
all directors continue to be effective and demonstrate a
commitment to the role, including hawing tme to attend all
necessary meetings and to carry out other appropnate duties

The conglusion of the report was that noc major areas for action
were identified The man points were, that whilst there was

» evidence of a tugh degree of director satisfaction with the
effectiveness of the Board and with the Chairman, and

+ a sutable mix of skiils, Including FTSE 100 directonal
expenence, along with financsal, retal, operational
management and marketing shills,

the Board could modify some of is practices to increase their
effectiveness

Recommendations ncluded actively refreshing the Board's
govemance, compliance and company knowledge through
more frequent training sessons from extemal advisors and
in-house brefings from semor management The Board has set
aside time on the cumrent Board agenda as appropnate for
these training and bnefing sassions to occur [t was further
recommended that the Board mare regularly raviews the
longer-term optimal balance of the Board, including placing
even more emphasis on diversity, especially regarding age

and ethnicity

Capital and constitutional disclosures

Information on the Company’s share capital and canstitution
regquired to be included in this Corporate Govemance
statement s contained in the Directors’ Report on page 48
Such information i1s incorporated into this Corporate
Govemnance staterment by reference and 1s

deemed to be part of it
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Risk and internal controls

Committed to effective nsk management

The Board has overall responsibility for the Group's system of
mntemal contral and for reviewing 1ts effectiveness

Effective nsk management requires collective responsibility
and engagement across the entire business Dixons
Carphone's seror management team, operating through the
Group Risk & Compliance Committee, are accountable for

+ identifying, mitigating and managing nsk in therr areas of
responsibility, and

« implementing and monitoring controls which are designed
to mitigate the nsks to which their area of the business 1s
exposed The controls by their nature are designed to
manage rather than eliminate nsk and can only provide
reasonable but not absolute assurance agamst matenal
misstatement or loss

Systerm of nsk management and iternal control

The system 1s built on the pillars of effective govemance, nsk
management, ntemal control and assurance These are more
fully descnbed below

Govemance

» The Board and its vanous committees have defined financial
authorties and operational responsiilities, which are
designed 1o enable effective decision-making and
organisational contro!

The Beard has agreed a nsk appetite that prowides the
reference paint agamst which to benchmark nsk
managerment reviews and nsk mitigation activity within the
orgarusation The nsk appetite defines the boundanes within
which nsk-based decision-making can occur and outlines
the expectations for the operation of the control
envirenment

+ An organisation and management structure operates across
the business to enable the delivery of products and services
to our customers and operational control of business
actwities in accordance with the nsk appette

= Annual strateqic planning and budgeting processes

+ Defined delegation of authonties that cascades throughout
the Group

+ A Group policy framework contains the core compliance
policies which all employees are required to observe

» Compliance policy owners are responsible tor managing and
improving standards in their respective areas of
accountability across all our operations

= A systern of quarterly business reviews covenng financial
and operational reporting by each business urit which
nvolves companson of actual results with the onginal
budget and the updating of a full year forecast

= Annual objective setting and performance reviews

Risk management

= A nsk management policy and frarework outlines the
principles and approach to nsk management within the '
business

- The Group Director of Risk faciltates and manages the nisk
management policy and framework throughout the Group

« A formal sk identification process takes place to evaluate
and manage the significant nsks faced by the Group in
accordance with the requirements of the Code and Financial
Reporting Council Guidance on Risk Management and
Intemal Control Risk 1s broadly identified aganst strategic,
operational, technological, financial, people, regulatory and
hazard / external categones Details of the prncipal nsks
and examples of mitigating acthions can be found on pages
20 to 23 of the Strategic Report

« A Group nsk register, which ydentifies the risks faced by
each of the businesses, including regulated business, thew
potential impact and ikelihcod of occurrence (assessed ona
gross and net bass), together with an evaluation of the key
controls and management processes established to mitigate
these nsks Each of the Group’s business units also
maintaing a nsk register Action plans are determined to
enhance nsk mitigation if required

« The Group Risk & Compliance Committee reports to the
Audit Committee and meets quarterty to review the
management of nsk ansing out of the Group's activitres and
to monitor the status of key nsks and actions at Group and
business unit level

+ Each of the Group's business units has a nsk commitiee
which identifies risk in accordance with the Group Risk
Management Framework These commitiees meet to
consider nsk and intemal contral matters for their respective
areas of responsibility

Intemal cantrol

+ A mimmum control environment which defines detaled
financial, supplier funding, purchasing, payroll, capital
expenditure, treasury, B2B, information systemns, stock
management, merchandise revenue and service revenue
controls to be apphed by all business cperations

+ Each business unrt operates a control environment to satisfy
legal, regulatory, Group and customer requirements

* Processes exists that govem the way in which we
operate our retail, wholesale, logistics, distnbution and
service operations The operation of these processes
provides assurance on the standard of our customer and
service delivery
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Assurance Statement on nsk management and ntemal control

« Annual miremum control questionnarres, which require The system of nsk managernent and intemal contrel descnbed
attestation that controls are being operated, are completed n this Repon was in place and effective throughout the penod
by a!l Dixons Carphone operations under review and up to the date of approval of the Annwal

- Anongoing programme of control improvement 1s underway Report and Accounts 2015/16
n each business uni to enhance control operation as the The effectiveness of these systems is regularly momtored and
urit evolves reviewed by the Audit Commuttee and the systems refined as

« An intemal audit function provides the Audit Committee with  N€cessary {0 meet changes i the Group's business and
an independent assessment of the Group’s system of associated risks

intemal control, through reviewing how effectively key nsks The Audit Committee I1s supported by the intemal audit
are being managed, and assists management in the effective ¢ netion which provides an independent opinion on the
discharge of its responsibities by carrying out mdependent operation af contrals through the delivery of its audit
apprasals and making recommendations for improvement programme The system of nsk management and intemal

- Centain aspects of the Group’s actwities are also subject to  control can only provide reasonable and not absolute
regulatory controi by extemal bodses such as the FCA assurance against matenal errors, losses, fraud or breaches of

f
+ The operation of a 24/7 whistleblowing hotline to enable laws and reguiations

reporting of breaches of ethical or policy requrements The Board has camed out a robust assessment of the pnncipat
nsks facing the Company, including those that would threaten
its business model, future performance, solvency or iguidity A
descnption of these nsks, together with details of how they are
managed or mitigated, is set ouf on pages 20 t0 23 The Board
also monitored the Company’s system of nsk management
and intemal contro! and has, at least once a year, conducted a
review of therr effectiveness The review ¢covered all matenal
controls dunng the year and up to the date of the approval of
the Annual Report and Accounts 2015/16 which was approved
by the Aucit Committee and the Board

- Extermnal audit condlucts statutory audits acrass our
operations

Corpaorate Governanca

Board

= Responsible for nsk management and intemal cantrol

= Defines Dixons Carphone nsk appetite

= Reviews and approves the business nsk profile

Audit Committee Group Risk & Comphance Executive Commuttee
c - Reviews the effectiveness Commuittee « Accountable for the
o of nsk management and + Rewviews Group and business implementation of the nsk
“;" ntemal control unit nsk profiles management process and the
o » Approves the annual internal ] - Monitors the management ggf;zlm;‘ftthe intemal control
g' and external audit plans of key nsks
2 « Considers the intemal audit + Considers new and
© raviews across the Group emerging risks
3
7]
2]
<

4
Supported by
X
Group Drrector Business unit nsk committees
of Risk Internal audit and champions
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Risk appetite

Dxons Carphone faces a broad range of nsks refiecting the
business environment n which it operates and the risks ansing
from the Dixons Carphone business environment and
operating model can be significant Successful financial
performance for the business 1s achieved by managing these
nsks through intetligent decision-making and an effective
controt environment that detalls the processes and controls
required to mitigate nsk

Dixons Carphone’s general risk appetite 1s a balanced one
that allows taking measured nsk as it pursues its strategic
objectives whilst aiming to manage and minirmse nsk n s
operations Dixons Carphone recognises that it 1s not possible
or necessanly destrable to elminate all of the nsks inherent N
its activities Acceptance of some nsk 1s often necessary 10
foster innovation and growth within its business prachces

Internal audit

The Group has an intemal audit department which conducts
reviews of selected business processes each year The intemal
audit programme for 2015/16 consisted of reviews across a
range of areas documented and prontised in the Group's
intermal audit plan, which was prepared taking into account the
pnncipal nsks across the Group and approved with input from
management and the Audit Committee The plan 1s designed
each year to test the robustness of miigating controls and
ensure procedures are designed and operating effectively Part
of the approval process of this plan invoives the Audit
Committee’s consideration of alignment of the plan with the
principal nsks faced by the Group

The Audit Commitiee Chairman recewves and reviews all
reports from the ntemal audit departrnent detaling its matenal
findings from testing performed and any recommendations for
smprovement The Audit Committee receves a surnmary of
these reports at each meeting, with the full reports available to
all members on request The internal audit team track and
report on the progress and implementation of action plans
agreed with management, and follow-up procedures are
performed once these actions and addittonal controls have
been put in place to ensure that the new controls and / or
procedures have been implemented effectively

The Audit Commuittee considered the effectiveness of the
intemnal audit department through holding discussions with
management, considenng the quality of reports submitied, the
tmeliness of the clearance of action points and the perceved
impartiality of the audit team dself The Committee concluded
that the intemal audit department has in all respects been
effective dunng the pencd under review

Authorisation of conflicts of interest

The Company has procedures in place to dentify, authonse
and manage conflicts of interest, and these procedures have
operated effectively Potential conflicts are approved by the
Board, or by two independent directors sf authonsation 1s
needed quickly, and then reported to the main Board at its
next meeting A register of directors’ conflicts is mantained

Communication with investors

The Board supports the nihatives set out in the Code and the
Stewardship Code and actively encourages engagement with
mayor Institutional investors and other stakeholders |t believes
that it 1s mportant to explain business developments and
financial results to the Company's shareholders and to
understand shareholder concems The prncipal commurication
media used to impart information to shareholders are news
releases (including results announcements), nvestor
presentations and company publications

The Group Chief Executive has pnncipal responsibility tor
investor relatons He (s supported by a dedicated investor
relaticns department that, amongst other matters, organises
presentations for analysts and institutional investors There

15 a full programme of regular dialogue with major institutional
shareholders and potential shareholders as well as sell-side
analysts In March 2016, a capital markets day was held and
attended by analysts and instutional :nvestors that focused on
future plans for our consumer services offenngs to be tnalled n
summer 2016 In all such dialogue, care Is taken to ensure that
no pnce-sensitive information 1s refeased

The Chainman ensures that the Board recewes updates on
investor relations matters at each Board meeting The Board
also recewves penodic reports on investors’ views of the
performance of the Company The Chaimman and non-
executive directors are available to meet with major
shareholders if such meetings are required, and the Chairman
of the Remuneration Committee communicates with major
shareholders on matters of remuneration and has conducted
vanous remuneration consultatons More informaticn on the
rernuneraticn consultations can be found in the Remuneration
Report on pages 57 to 81

The Company is committed to fostenng effective
commurication with alt of its members, be they institutional
investors, pnvate or employee shareholders The Company
communicates forrally to its members when s full year and
half year results are published These results are posted on the
investor relations part of the corporate website, as are other
extemal announcements angd press releases

The annual general meeting 15 an mportant medwm by which
the Company communicates with shareholders, at which an
account of the progress of the business over the last year,
along with a review of current issues facing the business I1s
given Shareholders are encouraged to ask questions and

the directors, nctuding the Chairmen of the Board committees,
are 1n attendance {0 answer them In accordance with the
Code, format notification of the Company's annual general
meeting 15 sent to shareholders at least 20 working days in
advance of the meeting

Further financial and business information 1s availlable on the
Group's corporate website, www dixonscarphone com

Sir Charles Dunstone
Charman
28 June 2016
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Corporate Governance statement

As required by Rule 7 2 1 of the UK Listing Authonty's
Disclosure and Transparency Rules {'OTR's) the Corporate
Governance statement is set out on page 39 of this Annual
Report and Accounts All information detailed in the
Corporate Govemnance statement 1s incorporated by
reference nto thugs Directors’ Report and 15 deemed to form
part of this Directors' Report

Disclosure and Transparency Rules

For the purposes of DTR 4 1 5R(2) and DTR 4 1 8, this
Dwectors' Report and the Strategic Report on pages 2 to 35
compnse the management report

Employee involvement

The Group places significant emphasis on its employees’
nvolvement at all levets of the organisation Employees are
kept informed of 1ssues affecting the Group through formal
and inforrmal meetings and through the Group's intemal
publications The management team regularly communicates
matters of current interest and concem with employees
Further information on employee engagement 1s included

in the Corporate Responsibility report on pages 30 to 35
Details of the employees’ smvolvement in the Group’s share
plans are contaned in the Remuneration Report

Employment of disabled people

The business is committed to providing equal opportunities n
recruitment, raining and development, and promotion We
encourage applications from individuals with disabilitres who
can do the job effectively and candidates will be considered
for each role they apply for All efforts are made to retain
disabled colleagues in our employment including making any
reasonable readjustments to their rotes Every endeavour s
made to find sutable altemative employment and to retrain
any employee who becomes disabled while serving the Group

Information on greenhouse
gas emissions

The informaton on greenhouse gas emissions that the
Company s required to discliose is set out in the Corporate
Responsibility report on page 34 This mformation 1s
incorporated mto thus Directors’ Report by reference and

s deemed to fonm part of this report

Donations

No polibcal donations were made during the penod by
the Group

Directors

Lord Livingston of Parkhead and Tony DeNunzio CBE were
appointed directors on 16 December 2015 On the same
date, John Gildersleeve and Roger Taylor both resigned

as directors

The narmes, biographies and dates of appointment of the
current Board of directors are provided on pages 36 to 37

With regard to the appointment and replacement of directors,
the Company 15 govemed by 1its Articles of Association
{'Articles"), the UK Comporate Govemance Code (the ‘Code’),
the Companies Act 2006 ({the ‘Act’) and related legislation

The Articles themselves may be amended by special
resolution of the shareholders The Board has the power to
appomnt new directors to fill a vacancy as long as the total
number of directors shall not exceed the maxmum of 15 as
set out in the Articles Any director appointed by the Board
will be appointed until the next annual general meeting where
they shall stand for election by shareholders

In line with best practice and the Code, the Company has
deterruned that all directors will retire and offer themselves
for election or re-election at the 20116 Annual General
Meeting The Remuneration Report provides details of
applicable service agreements for executive directors and
terms of appomntment for non-executive directors All the
directors proposed by the Board for either etection or
re-electon are being unanimously recommended for thewr
skiits, expenence and contribution they can bnang to the
Board This recommendation follows an independent
performance evaluation of the Board as a whole and the
contnbution of ndwvidual directors

Dunng the year, no director had any matenal interest in any
contract of significance to the Group's business Their
interests, including those of any connected persons, in the
shares of the Company are outlined in the Remuneration

Report

Subject to the Company’s Articles, the Act and any directions
given by the Company by special resolution, the business of
the Company will be managed by the Board which may
exercise all the powers of the Company, whether relating to
the management of the business of the Company or not

The matters reserved for the Board are detailed in a specific
schedule, which 1s reviewed annually and details are prowided
in the Corporate Govemance Report
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Directors’ indemnities and insurance

The Company has made qualfying third party indemnnity
prowsions (as defined in the Act) for the benefit of s directors
dunng the year, these pravistons remain in force at the date of

this report

In accordance with the Articles, and to the extent permitted
by law, the Company may indemnify its directors out of its
own funds to cover habilites incurred as a result of therr
office The Group holds Directors’ and Officers’ Liabiity
Insurance cover for any claim brought against directors or
officers for wrongful acts in connection with ther positrons
The insurance provided does not extend to clams ansing
from fraud or dishonesty

Information required by Listing
Rule 9.8.4R

Details of long-term ncentive schemes as required by Listing
Rule 9 4 3R are located in the Directors’ Remuneration
Report on pages 57 to 81 Details of dividends waved by
shareholders are given on page 49 of this Drrectors’ Report
There 1s no further nformation required to be disclosed under
Listing Rule 9 8 4R

Directors’ responsibilities

The directors’ responsibilities for the financiat statements
contained within this Annual Repont and Accounts and the
directors’ confirmations required under DTR 4 1 12 are set
out on page B2

Capital structure

The Company’s only class of share is ordinary shares Details
of the movements in 1ssued share capial dunng the year are
provided In note 22 to the Group financial statements The
voting nghts of Dixons Carphone shares are identical, with
each share carrying the nght 1o one vate Dixons Carphone
holds no shares in treasury

Details of employee share schemes are provided i note 5 to
the Group financal statements On 30 April 2016 the
Camphone Warehouse Employee Share Ownership Trust
('ESQT") held 625,623 shares (2015 791,100 shares) and the
Dixons Retail plc ESOT held 123,451 shares (2015 151,829
shares) The Carphone Warehouse ESOT did not make any
market purchases of the Company's shares, and the Dixons
Retail pic ESOT made market purchases of 1,914,308 shares
dunng the year under review

Restrictions on transfer of securities
of the Company

There are no spectfic restnctions on the size of a holding nor
on the transfer of shares, which are both govemed by the
general provisions of the Articles and prevailing legrslation
The directors are not aware of any agreements between
halders of the Company's shares that may result in
restnctions on the transfer of secunties or on voting nghts

No person has any special nghts of control over the
Company's share capital and all issued shares are fully paid

Change of control - significant
agreements

All of the Company’s share incentive scheme rules contain
provisions which may cause options and awards granted
under these schemes to vest and become exercisable in the
event of a change of control

The Group's main committed borrowing facllity has a change
of control ctause whereby the participating banks can require
the Company to repay all outstanding amounts under the
facility agreement in the event of a change of control The
Company 1S not aware of any other significant agreements,
such as commercal contracts and property lease
amangements etc, to which 1t 1s party, that take effect, alter or
tenminate upon a change of control in the Company

Furthermore, the directors are not aware of any agreements
between the Company and ts directors or employees that
provide for compensation for loss of office or employment
that occurs in the event of a takeover bid

Significant shareholdings

At 30 Apnl 20186, pursuant to Chapter 5 of the Disclosure and
Transparency Rules of the Financial Conduct Authonty, the
shareholders with 3% or more In the voting nghts of the

Company are
Parcentags of
Nama Number of shares share capital
Standard Lite 67,016,585 5 82%
BiackRock 64,226,251 558%
Lansdowne Partners 57,675,527 501%
D P J Ross 55,738,699 484%
AXA Group 42,555,710 370%
Capual Group 41,116,000 357%
Legal & General 37,370,496 325%
Investment
Management

At 28 June 20186, na change in these sharsholdings had
been notfied

Directors' interests in the Company's shares and the
movements thereof are detailed in the Annual Remuneration
Report on pages 62 to 81
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Dividend

The Board has proposed a final dwdend for the year ended
30 Apnl 2016 Detatls of this and other divndends paid for the
year are as follows

Year ended Year ended

30 April 2016 2 May 2015

intenm dividend 3 25p 2 50p
Ftnal dnugend 6 50p 6 00p
Total dividends 975p 8 50p

The nght to receive any dividend has been waived by the
trustees of the Company's ESOTs over a comiuned hoiding of
749,074 shares

issue of shares

In accordance with section 551 of the Act, shareholders can
authonse the directors 1o allot shares in the Company up to
one third of the 1ssued share caprtal of the Company
Accordingly, at the 2015 annual general meeting shareholders
approved a resolution to give the directors authonty to allot
shares up to an aggregate nominal value of £383,820 The
directors have no present intention to issue ordinary shares,
othar than pursuant to abligations under employee share
schemes This resotution remains vald untl the conclusion of
this year's Annual General Meeting

Authonty was given by the shareholgers at the 2015 annual
general meeting to purchase a maxmum of 38,382,000
shares, such authonty remaining valid for 15 months ar until
the conclusion of the Company's Annual General Meeting in
2016 The authonty was not exercised dunng the penod or
pnor to the date of this Report The Company will seek the
usual renewal of this authonty at the forthcoming Annual
General Meeting but has no current intention to make

such purchases

Use of financial instruments

Information about the use of financial nstruments is given in
note 26 to the Group financal statements

Auditor

Each director at the date of approval of this Annual Report
and Accounts confirms that

- so far as the director 15 aware, there 1s no relevant audit
inforrmation of which the Company's auditor 1s unaware,
and

« the director has taken all the steps that he / she ought to
have taken as a director In order to make himself / hersetf
aware of any relevant audit information and to establish
that the Company’s auditor 1s aware of that information

This confirmation is given and should be nterpreted in
accordance with the provistons of secticn 418 of the Act

Deloitte LLP have expressed ther wilingness to continue in
office as auditor and a resolution to re-appoint them will be
proposed at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting

Certain information required to be included in this Directors’
Report may be found within the Strategic Report

By Order of the Board

wol i

Nigel Paterson \
Company Secreta,
28 June 2016
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Chairman’'s statement
Introduction

| am pleased to present the report of the Audit Committee for
the year ended 30 Apnl 2016 In this covenng letter | set out
our key areas of activity in delivering on our objective of
ensurmg that Dixons Carphone’s financial reporting and nsk
management systems of intemal control are etfectve and
appropnate

Bullding on the activity and reporting of the Merger in
2014/15, this year the Commuttee has focused on overseeng
the bedding-down of reporting in the complex regulatory
and govemance environment in which the Group operates
This has entailed ensunng that the assurance actraties
encompass, in proportionate measure, non-regulated and
regulated operations, the intermational footprint and the

nsk profile of the Group We have also considered the

terms of reference and workings of the Group Risk &
Comphance Cormnmittee

New reporting requirements

The Committee considered the Group's response to and
conformance with the new requirements of the 2014 UK
Corporate Governance Code (the ‘Code’) and the Financial
Reporting Council (FRC') Guidance on Risk Management,
Intemal Control and Related Financial and Business Reporting
In particutar s includes adopting the longer-tem viabilty
statement for the first time Management recommended a
three-year viabiity penod to align with the Group's strategic
planring and forecasting process together with sensitiviies
and assumptions based around the pnncipal nsks and related
mibgating actions The Committee concluded that the
approach was appropnate and recommended adoption of the
viabiity statement by the Board

Key activiies
The Committee’s work, camed out dunng the year, included

* fully considenng the requirements of the Code and s
apphcation to the Annual Report and Accounts 2015/18,
including complying with new provisions relating to the
robust assessment of nisks and the viabiiity statement,

« considenng significant accounting and reporting
judgements, ncluding the appropnateness of the Group’s
gomng concem position,

» considenng and recommending that the Annual Report and
Accounts 2015/16, when taken as a whole, are far,
balanced and understandable,

+ reviewing the effectiveness of the nsk management system
and intemal controls, operated by management,

- considenng and approving the wability statement, more
information en which can be found on page 29, and the
assessment and challenging of the analysis performed by
management to reach the conditions undermpmning i,

« receming presentations and subsequent updates from
management on such matters as succession planning and
talent management, businesses regulated by the Financial
Conduct Authonty {'FCA") and 1T strategy, and

« considering the robustness of the online services
information secunty environment, which was the subject of
a cyber-attack n August 2015 and the appropnateness of
the immediate actions taken to secure the impacted
systems and additional secunty measures put in place to
help prevent further attacks

Looking ahead

As the Group continues to develop new business areas in
tine with its strategy and business plans, we expect the
Committee to remain busy

The work programme wall be respansive to the changing
nsk profile, the developing business model, the regulatory
environment, and the changing shape of the systems
(ncluding [Ty architecture The nsk assessment has been
diligently prepared by the Group's management at all levels
We are mindful of the need to remain vigilant as we know
that not all nsks can be eliminated in the challenging
environment in which we operate

1 will be in attendance at the forthcoming Annual General
Meeting and will be available to talk to you then Inthe
meantime if you have any questions ptease do get in touch

Jock Lennox
Chairman of the Audit Committes
28 June 2016
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Members

In comphance with the Code, the Committee continues to
consist exclusively of ndependent non-executive directors,
who, along with therr attendance at scheduled meetings,
are set out in the table below Biographical detads on each
member ¢an be found on pages 36 to 37

Meetings

The Committee met four scheduled times dunng the penod
under review Since the year end there has been two further
meetings All ehgible members attended each of the
meetings duning which they were a member of the
Committee The Group Chief Executive, Group Finance
Director, Group Director of Intemal Audit, other semior
management and representatives of the Company's
extemal auditor (Deloitte LLP) attended the refevant
Committee meetings by mvitation

Schoduled
Current members Mpatings
Jock Lennox {Charman) dofa
Baroness Morgan of Huyton 4o0f4
Gerry Murphy 4014

The Board continues to be satisfied that the Chayman of the
Commiuttee, a member of the Institute of Chartered
Accountants of Scotland, meets the requirement for recent
and relevant financial expenence The Company Secretary
acts as Secretary to the Commuttee and attends ail meetings
The Committee's deliberations are reported by ts Chairman to
the following Board meeting and the minutes of each mesting
are circulated to all members of the Board following approval

In order to allow discussion of pnvate matters, which the
auditor may wish to raise, at each meeting, discussion may
be held between the Committee mermbers and the external
auditor without the presence of management If appropnate, a
discussion may be held between Committee members, the
extemnal auditor and the Group Director of Intemal Audit

In undertaking its duties the Committee has access to the
services of the Group Director of Internal Audit, the Group
Finance Oirector, the Company Secretary, and their respective
teams, as well as external professional advice as necessary In
additron the Chaimman meets with the external auditor outside
of formal meetings and without management present

External advice

The Board makes funds avalable to the Committee to enable
# to take independent legal, accounting or other advice when
the Commuttee believes it necessary to do so

Responsibilities

The Committee assists the Board in fulfilling its oversight
responsibilities by acting independently from the executive
dwectors There 1s an annual schedule of tems which are
shared out amongst the meetings dunng the year io ensure
the Comruttee covers fully those itermns within ds Terms of

Reference These items are supplemented throughout the
year as key matters anse

The Commuttee has the following pnncipal duties

» monitorng the integnty of the intenm statement and annual
report and accounts and any formal announcements
relating to the Group's financial performance,

- considenng recommendation of the external auditor's
appointment to the shareholders in general meeting and
approve ther remuneration,

+ reviewing the results and conclusions of work performed by
the external auditor;

- reviewing significant financial reporting judgements,
« reviewing the Group's financial controls and intemal control
and nsk management systems,

« monitonng and reviewing the effectiveness of the
Company's internal audit function,

+ reviewing and monitorning the relatonship with the external
auditor, including ther ndependence, objectmty,
effectiveness and terms of engagement,

- considenng whistleblowing arangements by which
employees may raise concems about possible
improprieties n matters of financial reporting or other
matters,

+ considenng the majer findings of intemal investigations,

advising the Board on whether, as a whole, the annual
report and accounts are far, balanced and understandable,

considenng the going concemn statement,

« consiklenng and reviewing the staternent of the Company's
viability over a specified penod,

- any specific topics as defined by the Board, and

« refemng matters to the Board which, i its opinion, should
be addressed at a meeting of the Board

The Termns of Reference of the Comnutiee were last reviewed
and adopted by the Board in June 2016 and are available on
the Group's corporate website, www dixonscarphone com

Key matters considered during
the year

Accounting and financial reporting matters

The Commuttee 1s responsible for monitonng the integnty of
the Intenm Statement and Annual Report and Accounts in
conunction with both senior management and the extemal
auditor Dunng the year ended 30 Apnl 2016, consideration
was given to the following matters

« the suitability and apphcauon of the Group’s accounting
polcies and practices,

+ areas where significant levels of judgement have been
applied or significant tems have been discussed with the
extemnat auditor,

« updated accounting and corporate govemance regulations,
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» Group nsk register management and nsk appetite,
+ intemal control effectiveness and control matunty,

» the wability staternent and its alignment with the
business strategy and long-termm plan,

« financial Integration and succession planning,
+ FCA and regulatory complance,
« data pratection and information secunty, and

whether the Annual Report and Accounts, taken as a
whole, are far, batanced and understandable and provide
sufficient information necessary for shareholders and other
users of the accounts 1o assess the Group's position and
performance, busmess model and strategy

To assist with discharging these responsibilities, the
Committee considers documents prepared by management
and mtemal audit and reports receved from the extemal
auditor on the outcomes of their annual audit and intenm
review procedures

The Committee received repors and recommendations from managernent and the extermal auditor setting out the significant
accounting issues and judgements applicable to the following key areas These were discussed and challenged, where
appropnate, by the Committee Following debate, the Committee concurred with management’s conclusions

Matters of significance and
areas of judgement

How the 1ssue was addressed by the Committee

Revenue recogrition

Revenue recognition is considered {0 be a cntical accounting policy and the jJudgements are set oul:n
note 1s) of the Annual Report and Accounts 2015/16 Key components of judgement are largely in
relation to the recogrition of network commuss:on recevable

The Committee reviewed management’s assessment of these policies with reference to contractual
terms, tha Group's histoncat expenence of customar behawvieur and mformation racewed from MNQs
Particular attention was paid to the consistency of application of the underlying assumptions used and
the sensitvity to the camying value of ongoing network receivables recogmised to changes n key
assumptions as presented i note 26 in the Group financial statements The camying value of ongoing
network commssion recevables al the balance sheet date was £904 milhon

Provisions

The Committee has considered the underlying judgements and estimates laken by management in the
recognition: and valuation of property rationalisation provisions as disclosed i note 20 in the Group
financial statements

In additon the Committee has continued 10 review the judgements taken in relabion 1o discontinued
operations of the Group, being the Phone House operations in Germarny, France, the Netherlands and
Portugal The Commuttee assessed the likelihood of remainng nsks matenalising and considered the
appropnateness of associated provisions

Supplier funding

A number of amangemants exist relabing to supplier funding across the Group, including promotional
support and volume rebates The Committee has continved to challenge ang debate with management is
approach to suppher funding, and s recognition and accounting treatment In addition the Committee
continues to monitor the effeciveness of the controls 1n place 10 mitigate the nsk of matenal misstatement
of supplier funding recognition, no mMajor 1ssues were noled Further information in relation to suppher
funding can be found in note 1s) » the Group financial statements

Inventory provisioning

inventory 15 a significant balance for the Group as set out in note 15} in the Group financial statements
and contains managenal judgement for such items as obsolescence and shnnkage As par of the
general Committee procedures managenal judgement was assessed and no Mz;or 1Issues noted

Impasrment testing of goodwill and
intangible assets

The Group has sigmificant goodwill of £3,054 malion and acquisition intangbles of £348 mallion, following
the Merger and the CPW Europe Acquisiion The Committee constdered the judgements made and the
methodology used (0 assessing the supportability of the year end balances and assessment for any
potential mparrment A sensitivity analysis was then reviewed regarding the impact of a reasonably
pessible change in the key assumptions These assumptions are set out n note 9 1n the Group

financial statements

Taxation

The Group operates across multiple tax junsdictions The compex nature of tax legisiation in certain
Junsdictions can necessitate the use of judgement In addition, management alsc uses assumphions and
judgements to assess the likelhoud of utilsation of avallable tax losses

The Committee reviewed the judgements and assurmptions conceming any significant provisions,
including progress made on matters being discussed with tax authornities and where apphicable advice
provided by extemal adwsors The lotal provisions recognised at the balance sheet date amounted to
£54 milon
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Matters of significance and
areas of judgement

How the issue was addressed by the Committee

Farr, balanced and understandable

In ensunng that the Group's reporting 15 farr, balanced and understandable the Committes reviewed the
classificaton of items between Headline and Non-Headling, including consideration of the £184 million
pre-tax Non-Headlne charges disclosed in note 4 in the Group financial statements This assessment
considered whether items fell within the Group’s definiion of Non-Headbine as well as the consistency of
treatment of such items year on year

In addition the Committes gave due consideration to the integnty and sufficiency of information disclosed
in the Annual Report and Accounts 2015/16 along with other relevant matters to ensure that it explains
the Group’s postion performance business model and strategy This included an assessment of
narrative reporting to ensure consistency with the financial reporting section and appropnate balance and
prominence of stalvtory and non-statutory performance measures The Cornmittee concurred that the
measures used and disclosures provided were appropnate to provide users of the Annual Report and
Accounts 201516 with a meaningful assessment of the performance of the underlying operations of the
Group and the Board was advised of this conclusion

Going concem

The Commuttee was presented by management with an assessment of the Group's future cash forecasts
and profit projections, available faciities facility headroom, banking covengnts and the results of a
sensitnaty anatysis The Commuttee discussed the assessment wath management and was satsfied that
the going concem basis of preparation contnues 1o be appropnate for the Group and advisett the Board
accordingly The going concem Statement 1s set out on page 29

Viabihity statement

In addition 1o those factors assessed by the Committee in consideration of the going concem

assessment discussed abova, the Committee also noted the new requirement to produce a wiability
statement in this year's Annual Report and Accounts Management presented a report that considered
the appropnateness of the three-year time perod under assessment noting the consistency between this
penod and the penod ef focus of the annual strategic planning process The report included stress
tesung of the stizlegic three-year plan with reference to those pnncipal nsks and mittigating actions as
descnbed on pages 20 1o 23 to the Annual Repert and Accounts 2015/16 The Committee cancurred
with management's conclusions that the wiability statement disclosed on page 29 of the Annual Report
and Accounts 2015/16 15 appropnate The Board was advised accordingly

Risk management and mtemal control

The Committee 1s responsible for reviewing the Group's
intemal control and nsk management systems in order to
discharge its responsibilities n this area the Committee
reviewed the following key rtems

« the assessment of the Group's response to Information
secunty and data protection nsks,

+ the Group's responsibilities relating to those aspects of the
Group that are reguiated,

+ the Group-developed financial and IT controls framework
and its subsequent assessment by intemal audit,

+ common control themes dentified throughout the business,
and where thernes were dentified, ensunng subsequent
action has been taken to minimuse the nsk,

the annual Audit Cormrmittee agenda, and

the new governance and nsk management framework,
including a definition of nsk appetite by risk category and
prnncipal nsk, put i place throughout the Group

intemal audit

Dunng the penod the following significant nsk areas of the
business were mcluded within intermnal audit reviews

= information secunty and data protection,

« regulatory comphance,

+ [T resilence, integnty and disaster recovery,
+ business continuity management, and

+ relationships with networks

In additon, as part of the three-year roling assurance
programme, audits were performed over the following financial
processes to provide assurance to the Committee that controls
were operating within these areas

» network revenue and commissions,
+ supplier funding,

+ treasury, and

« capital expenditure

Whilst considenng any significant issues ansing from the
results of the audits shown above, the Committee also formally
reviewed the effectiveness of mtemal audit and the adequacy
of s rescurces

External audst

The external auditor 1s appainted by shareholders to provide
an opinion on the Annual Report and Accounts and certain
disclosures prepared by Group management Deloitte LLP
acted as the extemnal auditor to the Group throughout the year
The Committee 15 responsible for oversight of the extermnal
auditor, Including approving the annual audit plan and all
associated audit fees

The key matters in relation to external audit that were
considered by the Committee were

« The annual audit plan including the appropnateness of the
key nsks dentified and matenality levels applied

+ The annual audit fee and fees for non-audit services which
are set out In note 3 to the Annual Report and Accounts
2015/16, with due regard to the balance between audit and
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non-audit fees and the policy for approval of non-audit fees
pad to the Group's auditor

+ The effectiveness of the extemal auditor Feedback on the
effectiveness of the audit process In addressing areas of
key audit risk was obtained from members of the Committee
and regular attendees, members of the finance team and
senior management within the businesses wvia a specifically
designed questionnare The responses were then
considered by the Committee in conjunction with the
outputs received and responsiveness of the auditor dunng
the audit process The results showed a positive view of the
audit process and of Deloitte LLP as the extemal auditor,
specifically in relaton to the igh qualty and integrity of the
team, the constructive relationship and the effectiveness
of the communicaton Following due consideration the
Committee continues to be satisfied with the quatity and
effectveness of the audi

» Significant issues and areas of judgement ansing from
reports from the extermal auditor These areas were set
out in the reports from the extemal auditor and discussed
with the Committee The Committee concluded that the
judgements taken and assumptions made by management
were all far and reasonable

Provision of non-audit services
provided by the external auditor

The Committee's adoption of a revised pelicy on auditor
independence last year had further restncted non-audit
services, and Iimited serices provided by the extemal auditor
to audi and certan specific audit-related services {pnmanly
those related to the role of reporting accountant and audit
reports on financial nformation provided by the Group) Al
non-audst fee proposals are subject to pre-approval and must
be submitted to the Group Financial Controller Where
assignments are expected lo generate fees of over £100,000,
pror appreval must be obtained from the Commitiee

Dunng the penod under review, the non-audtt services
perfarmed by the external auditor pnmarily arose frarn the
finalisation of tax services relating to discontinued operations,
intenm financial review procedures and the requirement in
Greek law for the external audior of the company to provide
non-audit services The Committee has reviewed the services
performed by the external auditor during the year and 18
satisfied that these services did not prejudice the extemal
auditor's independence and that it was appropnate for them
to perform these services

The level of non-audi fees paid to the extemal audior, which
was approved by the Committee 15 set out n note 3 of the
Group’s financial statements and amounted to £0 4 million
compared with £1 5 million of audit fees The non-audit fees
as a percentage of audtt fees was 28% This 1s considerably
lower than in 2014/15 as a result of one-off, Merger-related
fees last year and the new, more restncted policy goverming
the use of Delortte LLP for non-audit services

Consideration of auditor appointment
and independence

The Committee continues to consider the appropnateness of
the re-appointment of the extemal auditor, inclucing rotatton
of the audit pariner Deloitte LLP has been the Company's
external audttor since August 2002, pnor to Carphone
Warehouse's demerger from TalkTalk Deloitte LLP was also
the extemal auditor of Dixons Retal The lead audit partner,
John Adam, has now compieted his five-year term and must
be succeeded by a different partrer, i accordance with best
practice and the Auditing Practices Board Ethicat Standards
We would like to take this opportunity to thank John for his
valuable input and guidance and welcome Stephen Gnggs as
fus successor

The Company’s policy 1s to comply with the UK Corperate
Govermance Code, intreduced by the FRC, to put the extemal
audtt out to tender at least once every ten years In accordance
with the Competition and Markets Authonty {{CMA? Statutory
Audit Services Order, which is designed to align with
provisions of the EU Regulations on external audit tender and
rotabon, and cuent guidance the Company 1s reguired to
conduct a competitive aucit tender by June 2023 This will be
the latest period that Deloitte LLP may reman as auditor The
Commutiee will continue 1o evaluate annually the performance
of the auditar, in particular at each five-year rotation of the lead
audn partner, and wilt recommend a tender for this service sf
the circumstances so warrant

In accardance with International Standards on Auditing

{UK and Ireland) 260 and Ethical Standard 1 1ssued by the
Accounting Practices Board, and as a matter of best practice,
at year end Delotte LLP formally canfinmed to the Board its
independence as auditor of the Company

In determmming whether 10 recommend the auditor fer
re-appointment this year, the Committee considered the

firm's intemal contral procedures, the most recent audit
effectiveness review, the tenure of the lead audit partner and
the ngorous assessment of the replacement lead audst partner,
and thereby affirmed that the audit processes are effective and
that the appropnate iIndependence continues to be met
Accordingly, the Company confirms that it compled with the
provisions of the CMA Statutory Audit Services Order for the
financial year under review and the Committee concluded that
it was in the best interests of the Company's shareholders to
reappont Deloitte LLP as the independent auditor of the
Company The Committee’s recommendation, that a resolubon
1o re-appoint Delortte LLP be proposed at this year's Annual
General Meeting, was accepted and endorsed by the Board

Jack Lennox
Chaman of the Audd Committee
28 June 2016
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Chairman'’s overview

The Nomnations Commuttee has an important role in the
Dixans Carphone govemance structure, evaluating the skills
required to lead the business effectively and ensunng the nght
talent and expenence 1s available In order to ensure continuity
of purpose and effective leadership, it 15 important to ensure
successton planning obligations are met

The Committee regularly reviews its obligations under
govemance guidelinas, the last review was in March 2016,
which included an appraisal of Board experience and
composition, diversity, tirne commitments of each director,
director independence and a review of the Committee's Terms
of Reference

On 16 December 2015 the leadership of the business was
signrficantly strengthened by the appointment of Lord
Lvingston of Parkhead as Deputy Chawman and Tony
DeNunzio CBE as Senior Independent Director Lord
Lnngston and Tony DeNunzio are both members of the
Nominations ard Remuneration committees Lord Livingsion
also assumed the positon of Chairman of the Remuneration
Committee, on the same date John Gildarsieeve and Roger
Taylor resigned as directors of the Company

More information about the Nomnations Committee and its
position in the Company's governance framework is shown on
the nght

S Charles Dunstone
Chairman of the Nominations Commuttge
28 June 2016

Meetings

= The Nominations Committee meets as and when required
and at least twice a year

+ The Nominatons Committee met three tmes dunng the
penod under review

Commmttee membership and altendance

The members of the Nominations Commitiee are shown in
the table below along with their attendance at scheduled
meetings for the penod under review Brographical details
on each mermber can be found on pages 36 to 37

Scheduled
Current members Meslings
Sir Charles Dunstone (Chairman) 3of3
Lord Livingston of Parkhead® 1of1

Tony DeNunzic CBEM 1of1

Andrea Gisle Joosen® 20t3
Former member
John Gildersleeve®™ 20f2

(1} Lord Lvingston and Tony DeNunzio attended the one meeting
held following their appointment on 16 December 2015

(2} Andrea Gisle Joosen did not attend one meetingduetoa
scheduling conflict

(3} John Gildersleeve attended both meetings pnor to mis
resignation on 16 December 2015

The majonty of the members are ndependent NEDs as
required by the UK Comporate Governance Code (the
‘Code’) Other members of the Board or senior
management may be inwted to attend meetings at the
request of the Chairman

The Company Secretary acts as Secretary to the Committee
The Committee's deliberatians are reported by 1ts Chairman at
the following Boarg meeting and the minutes of each meeting
are circulated to all members of the Board following approval

Responsibilities
The pnncipat duties of the Nominations Commitiee are to

- review the structure, size and composiion of the Board, and
recommend changes as necessary,

- dentify, evaluate and nominate candidates to fill vacancies
on the Board,

+ review the leadership requirements with a view to ensunng
the continued ability of the orgarusation to compete
effectively and be responsible for succession planning,

+ cary out a format selection process of candidates,

« evaluate the skills, knowledge and expenence of the Board
including reviewing the results of any Board performance
evaluation,
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« consider other commitments of directors relatve to the tme
required for them to fulfil therr duties, and

« make recommendations to the Board regarding the
cantinuation In office of a director upon the expiry of any
specsied terns of appontment

The Committee's Terms of Reference are reviewed annually
The last review was n March 2016 and the Terms of Reference
were subsequently approved by the Board The Commuttee's
Terms of Reference are avalable on the Group's corporate
website, www chxonscarphone corn

Key matters considered

In addition to the pnncipal duties noted above, the Commitiee
also considered the appomtments of Lord Limingston and Tony
DeNunzio, and the resignations of John Gildersleeve and
Roger Taylor

The Committee alsc considers these matters penodically

« an evaluaton of the size, composition and structure of the
Board and its committees,

+ the Company's diversity policy,

+ time commitments of the directors,

- the extemal appointments policy,

- the Committee's performance and Tenms of Reference, and

« areview of the role descnptions of the Chairman, Senior
" Independent Director and the Group Chief Executive

Board evaluation

Dunng 2015/16 the tnenmal Board evaluation was undertaken
by an independent company, NJMD Corporate Services
Limited The review included the Board and the Audit,
Nomunations and Remuneration commitiees and examined all
aspects of the Board's procedures and activiies Further
details of the evatuation process can be found on page 43

Appointments to the Board

The Commuttee has a formal, ngorous and transparent
procedure for the appointment of new directors Appointments
are made to the Board based on objective critena and with due
regard to the benefits of diversity and the leadership needs of
the Company Extemal search consultancies are retaned when
recruiting non-executive directors

An independent global search fim, JCA Associates, was
appointed Candidate profiles were developed indicating the
skills, knowledge and expenence required for each role, taking
into account the Board's existing composiion and skill sets
The Committee, led by the Chairman, undertcok a thorough
search and selection process for the most appropnate
candidates A wide range of high calibre candidates was
considered for the roles of Deputy Chairman and Senior
Independent Director The Committee and Board confirmed
both Lord Livingston’s and Tony DelNunzio's independence
upon appoiniment and were unanmous in ther decisions {0
appoint them

Succession planning

The business requires a talented Board with appropriate
expenence and expertise This year, the Board has placed
further emphasis on succession planning with two new
appointments n December 2015 The Board constders no
additional appointment 1s necessary at this tme but s rmundful
of Baroness Morgan's tenure Board succession and
composition will remain a pnonty, as the Board i3 CONSCIOUS
that 1t must look further and wider for the leaders of the future
In secunng the long-term prosperity of the bustness, the Board
must look deeper into the pool of talent that currently exists
within the organisation, identifying new talent and casting the
net wider, with a tonger horizan, tor potential directors with the
appropnate skill-sets to meet the demands of an ever more
complex business environment

Diversity

The Board recognises the impartance of diversity in achieving
the nght mix of skills, knowledge and expenence to help the
organisation reach its full potential The Board acknowledges
the October 2015 Women on Boards Davies Review {'Review’}
which recommends a voluntary target of 33% to be achieved
by 2020 Currently 23% of the Board, and 17% of the Group
Executive team, are female

Whilst noting the recommendations of the Review, the Board
does not establish targets on gender balance as i believes that
candidates should be appointed on ment Our Board supports
the benefits of greater dversity, which 1s not just gender-
specific but also encompasses age, ethmaity, background and
diversity of thought The Board 1s conscious of the need to gve
weight to these factors in future appaintments More
nformation on employee diversity can be found on page 31

In performing 1ts annual review the Board also fooked at other
aspecits of diversity relevant to the Group With a large
proportion of the business v the Nordics, we have a Swedish
Non-Executive Director on the Board to provide knowledge of
these intemational markets

Re-election

All directors will present themselves for election or re-election
at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting Each of the
directors 15 being unanimously recommended by the other
rmembers of the Board due to ther expenence, knowledge and
wider management and industry expenence, continued
effectiveness and commitment to ther role
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Remuneration Report

Chairman’s statement

On behatf of the Board, | am pleased to present the 2015/16
Directors’ Remuneration Report which sets out our philosophy
and proposed future polcy for directors’ remuneration, together
with the actvities of the Committee for this inancial year ended
30 Apnl 2016

Policy review

The integration has gone well and the strong performance of thus
year valdates the bnnging together of the two businesses Qur
focus now on developing our Connected World Senices and
Knowhow businasses, complementing our core retaf and
services offenng, bnngs with it exciting opportunites, supporting
long-term eamings growth Aganst this background, over the last
few months, the Committee has been reviewing the Group's
approach to executive remuneration and following consultation
with our major sharehelders 15 proposing a new long term incentive
plan and will be seeking approval for this new plan from
shareholders at the AGM in September this year

The cument long term plan {he ‘Share Plan’) has been a key
element of the policy to date seeking to incentivise management
to deliver supenor shareholder returns through the Merger and
integration of our two businesses The performance of the Share
Plan will be measured in July 2017 when, subject to performance,
60% of the shares will vest, with the remairing 40% vesting

12 months later

The Committee had previously indicated that it would not seek to
erther make new awards under the Share Plan, or introduce a new
plan, untl awards under the current plan had fully vested in 2018
However, on taking over the role as Chairman of the Committee
we reviewed 1ssues around the recnntment and development of
management in our business and came to the clear view that
having no long term scheme in place that would follow on from the
existing scheme wou'd be detnmental to the business and our
shareholders We also lel that the Company had now reached the
stage that it was appropnate to move 10 a more standard
annuahsed! award of performance shares These will be based on
EPS growth and relative TSR and 1s a matena! change in the way
the Commuttee 15 seeking to operate directors' (and other senior
executives’) remuneration in tha Company

Woe have consulted with our major shareholders and reflected therr
feedback into the design of the proposed Remuneration Policy
The details of the new long term incentive plan are in the Policy
section of this Repor, but in summary are

+ an annual award of performance shares, with a nommal
maxsmurn grant of 275% of base salary, with the ability to make
awards of up to 375% of base salary in exceptional
circumstances, e g recnntment,

+ three-year vesting penod, with a subsequent two-year holding
panod of any net of tax vested shares for executive directors,

« tor 2016/17, performance measured equally against relative
TSR, using the FTSE 51-150 peer group and adjusted EPS
over the three year penad, and

= robust withholding and recovery provistons, as with the
Share Plan

Proposed award levels for executive directors are set out on
page 71 and will, subjact to sharehotder approval, be granted
shortly after the AGM in September 2016

The Commuttee recognises that proposing a common salary
multiple for the Jong tesmuncentive plan award to all executive
directors 1s relatively unusual but this s reflective of the close

working relationship and contnbutions of the executive director
team, which have been key to the success of the Group

Whilst relative TSR and adjusted EPS have been chosen as the
performance measures for the awards to be made in 2016/17, the
Commuttee will retain the discretion 1o introduce a thind measure in
future years if appropnate, to enhance focus on a particular aspect
of business performance In the event that the Commitiee decided
to do this maor shareholders would be consulted and also the
TSR component would not be weighted less than 409, to ensure
ongoeing focus on shareholder value creation

We have g1so been very nundful of the current environment in
executive remuneration, base pay increases {or 2016 being in line
with those for the wider workferce and no other changes are
proposed to the Remuneraton Policy other than

» the removal of the ability to pay a retention bonus to executive
directors under the loss of office provisions, and

- capping of any long term ingentive plan award on recruitment
to 375% of base salary, in line with exceptional awards under
the new long term plan

In conclusion, the Committee believes that the introduction of the
new long term incentive plan and its design are nght for the Group
as 1t moves into a post-Merger operating environment [t 1s aligned
to our overall am to have a remuneration pelicy which promotes
the long-term success of the business through the attraction and
retention of executives who have the ability, expenence and
dedication to deliver outstanding retums for our sharehcliders The
Commiftes 1s also very aware that much of the Group's success I1s
down to the dedication and hard wark of all our employees and we
are delighted with the ongomng success of the Dixons Carphone
Sharesave pkan, in which we now have 25% of our UK & Ireland
workferce particpating

The proposed new Remuneration Policy as set out in this
Annual Report and Accounts will be put to shareholders for
a incing vote at the AGM on 8 September 2016, where
sharehoiders will be asked to approve the policy for a period
of three years

Pay and performance for 2015/16

As set out In the Strategic Report this has been a year of strong
financial and operatonal performance Headhne pro forma EBIT
increased by 13%, average net debt was ahead of target and there
were mprovements in ROCE, customer net promoter and
employee engagement scores This must be considered a vary
strong performance in a difficult and competitve market The
Committee approved annuat bonus payments of 68 4% of base
salary (73 7% of maximum opportunity) for the executive directors,
which refiected the strong performance, but also the stretching
nature of the targets set by the Commuittee

Full details of the performance targets and actual performance
assessed are provided in the Annual Remuneration Report
on page 76

——_

lan Livingston
Chairman of the Remuneration Commitiee
28 June 2016
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Remuneration Report - Remuneration Policy

Introduction

The purpose of this Report 15 to inform shareholders of the
Company's directors' remuneration for the penod ended
30 Apni 2016 and the Remuneration Policy for subsequent
years This Report 1s divided into two sections

+ {he Remuneration Palicy, and
«+ the Annual Remuneration Report

The current remuneration policy was approved by shareholders
at the annual general meeting on 10 September 2015
Following several proposed changes to the Polcy, a new
authonty wil be sought from shareholders in a binding vote

at the Annual General Meeting on 8 September 2016 and the
new Policy will be effective from that date The Annual
Rermuneration Report will also be put to an advisory vote

at the Annual General Meeting

The role of the Remuneration Commuttee {the ‘Committee)
15 to determine on behalf of the Board a remuneration policy
for executive directors and senior management which
promotes the long-term success of the business through the
attraction and retention of executves who have the abiity,
expenience and dedication to deliver outstanding retums for
our shareholders

The Committee has adopted the panciples of good govemance
relating to directors’ remuneration as enshnned in section O of
the Corporate Govemance Code (the ‘Code’) and has complied
with those pnnciples in the year unger review

These reports have been prepared by the Committee on behalf
of the Board in accordance with the Compantes Act 2006,
Schedule B to the Large and Medium-sized Companies and
Groups (Accounts and Reports) Regulations 2008 (as
amended) and the Listing Rules of the Financial Conduct
Authonty The Remuneration Policy {which 1s not subject to
audit) details the role of the Committee, the pnnciples of
remuneration and other matters The Annua! Remuneration
Report (elements of which are audited) details the directors’
and former directors® fixed and vanable pay, share awards,
share options and pension arangements

Remuneration Policy -
unaudited information

Remuneraton Committee objectives

The Board has delegated to the Committee respansibility for
determining policy in relation to the remuneration packages
for executive directors and other senior management This
delegation inctudes ther terms and conditions of employment
i addition to the operation of the Group’s share-based
employee incentive schemes The Commuttee has clearly
defined Terms of Reference which are avallable on the
Company's corporate website

Remuneraton strategy

Put simply, our am 1$ to generate supenor retums for our
shareholders and the key to achieving this 15 our people
Our remuneraton strategy 1S therefore designed to motwate
tugh-performing people to deliver our business strategy

The objectives of our remuneration strategy are to

- attract, motrvate and retain high quality talent,

. be transparent and ahgn the interests of seniar management
and executive directors with those of shareholders, by
encouraging management to have a significant personal
stake in the long-term success of the business,

+ weight reruneration to vanable pay that incentivises

outperformance particularly over the long term whilst
discouraging tnappropriate risk-taking,

3

ensure that supencr rewards are only pad for exceptional
performance agamnst challenging targets.

- apply policies consistently across the Group to promote
alignment and teamwaork,

« recogmse the mportance of delivenng across a balanced set
of metncs to ensure the nght behaviours are adopted and
the fong-term health of the business 1s protected, and

- avoid rewarding failure
in developing its policy the Gommuttee has regard to

+ the performance, roles and responsibilities of each executve
director or member of senor management,

+ arrangements which apply below semor management lavels,
ncluding average base salary Increases across the
workforce,

+ information and surveys from internal and independent
SOurCes,

+ the economic environment and financial performance of the
Company, and

- good corporate governance practice
Guidelines an responssble investment disclosure

In line wath the Investment Association Guidetines on
responsible nvestment disclosure, the Committee 1s satisfied
that the Incentive structure and targets for executive directors
do not raise any environmental, social or govemance nsks by
inadvertenily motivating iresponsible or reckless behaviour
The Committee considers that no element of the remuneration
package will encourage inappropnate nsk-1aking by any
member of semor management
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Remuneration Policy table

The individual elements of the remuneration packages offered ta executive directors are summansed in the following table

Base salary {fixed pay)

+ Purpose and link to strategy

+ Operation

+ Maximum opporturity

» Performance assessment / largets

To aid the recruitment, retention and motivation of high-performing people

To reflect therr skills, experience and mmportance to the business

Normally reviewed annually

The review reflects a range of factors including ment levels, intemal relatiity, external
market data and cost Our overall policy, having due regard to the factors noted, 1s
normally to target salanes up to the mid-market level

Salaries for new appointments as executive directars will be setin accordance with the
Recruitment Pohcy set out on pages 65 to 66 of this Remuneration Policy

The Committee 1akes into consideration the impact of base salary increases on the
package as a whole, as other elements of pay (such as pension contnbutions) are
generally based on a percentage: of salary

Orchinanly, ncreases for executive directors will be in ne with increases across the
Group Increases beyond those granted across the Group may be awarded in certain
circumstances such as changes in responsibilties, progression in the role and significant
increases in the size, complexity or value of the Group

Salary levels for cument directors are shown in the Annual Remuneration Report
Salaries are normally reviewed annually by the Committee at the appropnate meeling

having due regard to the individual's expenence, performance and added value to
the business

Benefits (fixed pay)

» Purpose and lhink to strategy

» QOperation

+ Maximum opportunity

+ Performance assessment / targets

in ine with the Company’s strategy to keep remuneration weighted to vanable pay that
incentivises cutperformance, a modest range of benefits 1s provided

Benefits may vary based on the persaonal choices of the director

Prowision of relocation or other related assistance may be provided to support the
appointment or relocation of a director

Executve directors are entitied to a combimation of benefits which include, but are not
hmited $o

« car allowance,

« pnvate medical cover,

« long-term incapacuty cover,

+ life assurance,

» holiday and sick pay, and

+ arange of voluntary benefits ncluding the purchase of additional holidays

Executive directors will be eligible for other benefits which are introduced for the wider
workforce on broadly simitar terms

Any reasonable business-related expenses {including the tax thereon) can ba
reimbursed if determined to be a taxable benefit

Should an executive director be recruited from or be based in a non-UK location,
benefits may be determined by those typrcally provided in the normal country of
residence and / or reflect local market legislation

Relocation or other related assistance could include, but 1s not imited 1o, removal and
other relocation costs, tax equalisation, tax advice and accommodation costs

The cost to the Group of providing such benefits will vary from year to year n
accordance with the cost of providing such benefits, which 1s kept under regular review

Not applicable
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Pension (fixed pay)

+ Purpose and ink to strategy

« Operation

« Maximum opporturity

- Performance assessment / targets

A pension s provided wihich 1s consistent with that provided to managers across the
Group and in kine with our strategy to keep remuneration weighted to vanable pay that
incentivises outperformance

Defined contmbution plans are offered to all employees A defined benefit pension plan
continues n operation for Dixons’ longer-serving employees, which 1s now closed o
new partcipants and future accrual

Executive directors may choose to recelve a cash allowance in heu of pension
contributions

Normal company pension contnbution of up to 10% of base salary, which can be taken
in whole or m part as a cash allowance i lieu of pension However a greater contrbution
of up 10 20% may be made where necessary to recruit or retain an executive director

Not applicable

Annual performance bonus (vanable pay)

+ Purpose and link to strategy

« QOperation

+ Maximum opporturity

+ Performance assessment / targets

Annual performance bonuses are in place to ncentvise the delvery of stretching,
near-term business targets based on our business strategy

These bonuses provide a strong Iink between reward and performance and dnve the
creation of further shareholder value

The pnnciples and approach are consistently apphed across the Group ensuring
ahgnment to a commen vision and strategy

They are based on a balanced approach ensuring appropnate behawviours are adopted
and encouraging a longer-term focus

Bonus payments are determined after the year end and subject to a mnimum profit
threshold being achieved before payment i1s due

For threshold level of performance a bonus of up to 25% of base salary is payable A
sliding scale determines payment between the minimum and maximum bonus payable

The annual bonus 13 typically paid in July / August in cash and 1s non-pensionable,
based on the audited performance over the previous financial year

The annual bonus can instead be settled in shares or a mixture of cash and shares
which could be deferred, at the discretion of the Remuneration Commuttee

Performance 1s reviewed by the Committee using its judgement where necessary to
assess the achievement of targets The Committee retains the discretion to adjust
downwards bonus payments where achievement of targets would result in a payment
of a bonus at a level which would not be consistent with the interests of the Company
and its shareholders

Recovery and withholding provisions apply for matenal misstatement, miscencuct and
reputational damage enabling performance adjustments and / or recovery of sums
already paid These provisions will apply for up 10 three years after payment

Maximum annuat bonus potential for all executive directors 15 125% of base salary
No bonus 1s payable 1f the mimirmum profit thresheld is not achieved

All measures and targets are reviewed and set by the Committee at the beginning of
the financial year with a view to supporting the achievement of the Group strategy

The bonus scheme has targets based on a balanced scorecard The balanced
scorecard may include both financial and non-financial measures, such as employee,
customer and strategic measures The weighting of measures will be determined by the
Committee each year Financial measures (such as profit and cash) will represent the
majonty of the bonus oppartunity, with other measures representing the balance
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Long term incentive scheme (variable pay} Long Term Incentive Plan {‘LTIP?}

+ Pumpose and link o strategy

+ Operation

» Maximurm opporturity

» Performance assessment / targets

Long term incentive schemes are transparent and demonstrably aigned with the
interests of shareholders over the long tem

The LTIP 15 designed to reward and retain executives over the longer term whilst aligning
an indwidual’s interests with those of shareholders and in tum delvenng significant
sharehoider value

Discretionary awards of nil-preed options or conditional share awards are granted over
Dixons Carphone plc shares

Awards will be granted annually and will usually vest after three years subject to
continued service and the achievement of performance conditions

The leve! of vesting is dependent on achievement of performance targets, usually over
a three year penod

The post-iax number of share awards vesting will be subject to a further two year
holding penod, dunng which they cannat be sold, unless in exceptional circumstances
and with the Cormnuttee's penmission

Dwidend equivalents may be accrued on the shares eamed from any award

Awards will be subject to recovery and withholding provisions for matenal misstatement,
misconduct and reputational damage enabling performance adjustments and / or
recovery of sums already paid These provisions will apply for up to three years

after vesting

If employment ceases dunng the vesting penod, awards will ordinarily lapse in full,
unless the Committee exercises its discretion

The Committee has the discretion in certain circumstances to grant and / or setile
an award i cash For the executive directors this would only be used in exceptional
circumstances

In the: event of a change of control, any unvested awards will vest immediately, subject
1o satsfaction of perforrmance conditions and reduction on a tme-apportioned basis

Grants under the LTIP are subject to overall dilution hrits

Subject to approval at the forthcoming AGM, the nonmal maxsmum grant per participant
in any financial year will be a market value of 275% of base safary, with up to 375%
in exceptional circumstances, e g recrutment

More details on the proposed award levels for executive directors in 2016 are sst out
it the Annual Remuneration Report on page 71

Performance targets are reviewed by the Commutiee pror to each grant and are set
to reflect the key priorities of the business at that time

The Committee determines the metncs from a range of measures, including but not
imnted to, market-based performance measures such as TSR and the intemal financial
metrics such as EPS The Committee retains the flexibility to iIntroduce new measures in
the future f considered appropnate given the business context, although TSR will not be
weighted any less than 40% of the total award Matenal changes will De subject to
consultaticn with major shareholders

The proposed metncs for awards will be set out in the Annual Remuneration Report
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Ali employee share plans

« Purpose and link to strategy

+ QOperation

« Maximumn opportunity

- Performance assessment / targets

Encourages employees to make a long-term mvestment in the Company's shares and
therefore be aligned to the long-term success of the Company

Executive drectors are eligible to participate in any all employee share plans operated
by the Company which have been approved by shareholders on the same terms as
other eligible employees

Currently share options are granted under the Dixens Carphone HMRC approved SAYE
scheme, subject to three- or five-year vesting penods

Participants can save up o £500 per month for either three or five years, and in retum
recewve a share option granted at up to 20% discount to the market pnce at the time of
the inwvitation

The Committee reserves the nght to increase this savings hmit for future schemes in
accordance with the statutory limits in place from tme to time

The SAYE scheme is not subject to any performance conditions

Share ownership gudetines

« Purpose and link to strategy

+ Operation

+ Maximum opportunity

- Performance assessment / targets

Provides close alignment between the longer-term interests of executive directors
and shareholders in terrns of the Company’s long-1enm success

The Company requires executive directors 10 retain a certain percentage of base
salary in the Company's shares Executive directors have a five-year penod to reach
these lirmits

The shares which count towards this requirement are beneficially-owned shares {both
directly and indirectly)

Not applicable

The Company requires all executive directors to retan 200% of base salary in the
Company's shares

Details of the directors’ shareholdings are shown in the table on page 80
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Non-executive directors and Chawrman / Deputy Chairman fees

» Purpose and link to strategy

+ Operation

» Maximum opportunity

To provide a competitive fee for the perforrance of non-executive director duties,
sufficient to atiract lugh calibre Indiduals to the role

The fees are set to align with the duties undertaken, taking into account market rates,
and are nommally reviewed on an annual basis Factors taken into consxderation include
the expected time commitment and specific expenence

Addiional fees are payable for acting as the Senior Independent Director or for acting
as Charr of any Board comrttee, and for membership of a Board Committee

Non-executive directors do not participate in the annual performance bonus or the long
term incentive plans or pension arangements

Any reasonable business-related expenses {including the tax thereon) can be
reimbursed If determined to be a taxable benefit

For matenal, unexpected increases in ime cormmitments, the Board may pay extra fees
on a pro-rated bass to reflect additional workload

Aggregate annual irmit of €2,000,000 imposed by the Articles of Association for
directors® fees (not including fees in relation to any executive office or Charrman, Deputy
Chairman, Semor tndependent Director or Committee Charr fees)

- Performance assessment / targets  Not applicable

Notes

N

@

3

The following matenal changes have been made 1o the Remuneration Pelicy In order to ahign the pay of executive directors following a

raviaw of long term Incentives

no further awards to be made under the Share Plan descnbed in more detal on page 78

ntroduce a new Long Term incentive Plan with maximum award levels of 275% of salary n normal circumstances and 375% in exceptional
crcumstances, an additronal two-year holding pencd and the inclusion of dividend equivalents on vested long term incentive awards,
removal of the ablity to pay a retention bonus to executive directors under the loss of office provisions and

capping of any long term incentive plan award on recruitment 10 375% of base salary, in Iine with exceptional awards under the new Long
Term Incentive Plan

The Cornmuttee intends to honour all commitments previousty provided to executive directors and current employees, including the terms
and conditions of outstanding long term incentives such as those previously approved by shareholders under the Dixons Carphone Share
Plan or Share Option Plan Cetails of these awards for executive directors are set out on page 78

Market-pnced options will not be granted 1o executive directors
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lllustratton of Remuneration Policy
The Remuneration Policy scenario chart below illustrates the level and mix of potential total remuneration the current executive
directors could receve under the Remuneration Policy al three levels of performance: minimurm, target and maximum

Remuneration Policy scenarto chart

Notes
{1) Fixed pay 1s based on the basic salary payable as at the start of the current year, taxable benefits and pension contnbutions

{2) Annual vanable pay represents the annual bonus enttlement No bonus 1s assumed at the minwnum performance level Target performance

assumes a payment of 75% of salary (| e 60% ol maxmum) and maxumum performance a payment of 125% of base salary

(3) Long term incentives relata to the Long Term Incantive Ptan, In which 11 1s proposed the execulive diectors participate These are illustrative
h No awards vest at the mimmum performance level Target

amounts and the actual outcomes may difier depending on share prnce growt
performance assumes a vesting of 151% of salary i & 55% of maxmurm award) and maximum performance vesting of 275% of salary
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Remuneration Committee discretions

The Committee operates the annual benus plan, long term
incentive and all employee plans in accardance with thewr
respective rules, the Listing Rules and HMRC rules (or
overseas equivalent) where relevant The Committee retains
discretion, consistent with market practice, over a number of
areas relabing to the operation and admunistration of these
plans These include but are not imited to

« entittement to participate in the plan,
» when awards or payments are to be made,

« sze of award and / or payment {within the nules of the plans
and the approved policy),

determination of a good leaver for incentive plan purposes
and the appropriate treatment based on the rules of each
plan,

» discretion as to the measurement of performance condiions
and pro-rating in the event of a change of control,

+ any adjustment to awards or performance condibions for
significant events or exceptional circumstances, and

+ the application of recovery and withholding provisions

Shareholder and employee consultation

The Commuttee has a policy to consult with its major
shareholders when making any significant changes to the
Remuneration Policy of the Company Any feedback receved
15 taken into consideration when determining future pohicy For
example, in contemplation of a new long term ncentive policy
a consultation took place with major shareholders to explan
the Commuttee's proposed approach Following constructive
feedback, the Comrmuttee determined to put a cap on the level
of award under the Company's Long Term Incentve Plan in
exceptonal circumstances, such as recrutment

The Committee also takes into conskieration remuneration
gledance issued by large nvestor bodies in addition to the
prnciples of good govemance relating to directors’
remuneration as set out n the Code

Whilst employees are not formally consulted on executive
remuneration, a number of them are shareholders and as such
are able to exercise ther nfluence We also monitor our
employee discussion boards and employee forums to ensure
employee feedback in general is considered in all our strategy
execution The Company also conducts regular employee
surveys throughout the business The Commitiee 1s kept
informed of general employment conditions across the Group,
including the annual pay review outcomes

Remuneration policy for the wider workforce

Dixons Carphone employs a large number of people across
different countries Qur reward framework is structured around
a set of common pnnciples with adjustments made to st the
needs of the different businesses and employee groups
Reward packages differ for a vanety of reasons including the
rnpact on the business, local practice, custom and legislation

In deterrruiring salary increases to apply across the wider
workforce, the Company takes into consideration Company
perfonmance and other market metncs as necessary When
setting the poficy for executive directors the Committee takes

tnto consideration salary increases throughout the Company,
as a whole

Ciscretionary share plans are extended to both senior
rmanagement and other key members of the workforce,

as the Company feels that it 15 mportant to incentivise and
retain these employees over the tonger-term m order for the
Company to continue to grow

The Company encourages wide employee share ownership,
and as such the Group’s UK & Insh employees who meet the
ehgibihity cntena are also invited to join the Company's UK &
treland approved SAYE

Recrutment or promotion policy

On appointment or promotion, base salary levels will be set
taking into account a range of factors including market levels,
expenence, nternal relatwvities and cost i an ndividual 1s
appointed on a base satary below the desired market
postioning, the Committee retains the discretion to re-algn
base salary over one to three years, contingent on indvidual
performance, which may result in a higher rate of annuahsed
increase above ordinary levels If the Committee intends to
rely on this discretion, # will be noted in the first remuneration
report following an individual’s appointment Other elements
of annual remuneration will be in line with the policy set cut In
the Remuneration Policy table As such, vanable remuneration
will be capped as set cut in the Palicy table

The following exceptions will apply

« in the event that an intemnal appcintment 1s made or an
executve director joins as a result of a transfer of an
undertaking, merger, reconstruction or sirmlar
reorganisation, the Commuttee retains the discretion to
continue with existing remuneration provisions, including
pension contnbutions and the provision of benefits,

+ as deemed necessary and appropnate to secure an
appaintment, the Committee retains the discretion to
make additional payments linked to relocation (including
any tax thereon),

« for an overseas appontment, the Commuttee will have
discretion to offer cost-effective benefits and pension
provistons wiich reflect local market practice and
relevant legislation,

« the Committee may set attemative performance conditions
for the remainder of the intial annual bonus performance
penod, taking into account the circumstances and timing
of the appointment, and

-

the Comrittee retains the discretion to provide an
immediate interest n Company performance by making

a long term mcentive award on recrutment (or shortly
thereafter if in a prombited penod) in accordance with the
Policy Table under its existing long term ncentive schemes
or such future schemes as may be introduced by the
Company with the approval of ts shareholders The
Committee will determine the level of the award, the
performance conditions and time honzon that would apply
to such awards at the time of award, taking into account the
strategy and business circumstances of the Company
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Service contracts wili be entered into on terms similar to those
for the exsting executive directors, summansed in the
Recruitment table below However, the Comrmitiee may
authonse the payment of a relocation and / or repatnation
allowance, as well as other associated intemational mobihity
terms and benefits, Such as tax equalisation and tax advice

In addition to the annual remuneration elements noted above,
the Committee may consider buying out, on a ke-for-ike
basis, bonuses and / or incentive awards that an indnadual
forferts from a previous employer In accepting the
appontment The Committee will have the authonty to rely on
Listing Rule 9 4 2(2) or exceptional lmits of awards of up 10
375% of base safary within the Long Term Incentive Pian I
made, the Cormmittee will be informed by the structure, time
honzons, value and performance targets associated with any
forferted awards while retaining the discretion to make any
payment or award deemed necessary and appropnate The

Committee may also require the appointee to purchase shares
in the Company in accordance with its shareholding policy

With respect to the appontment of a new Chairman or
non-executive director, terms of appointment will be consistent
with those currently adopted Vanable pay will not be
considered and as such no maximum applies With respect to
non-executive directors, tees will be consistent with the policy
at the tme of appontment H necessary. to secure the
appointment of a new Chairman not based in the UK, payments
relating to relocation and / or housing may be considered

Elements of remuneraton on appontment are set out n
the Recrutment table below

A timely announcement with respect to any director’s
appointment and remuneration will be made to the
regulatory news services and posted on the Company's
corporate website

Recrutment table

Area Feature Policy

Service contract and  Notice penod - Up to 12 months from either side

mcentve plan Entitlements on tenmination = As summansed in the Policy on loss of office
provisions

Restnctive covenants

+ Prowisions for mitigation and payment in lieu of notice
Gardening teave provisions

Vanable elements

Non-compete, non-solicitation, non-dealing and confidentiality
BIOVISIONS

The Commuttee has the discretion to determine whether an individual
shall participate in any incentive in the year of appoiniment

The Comnuittee shall have the discretion to determine appropnate bonus
performance targets f participating in the year of appointment

Annual remuneration  Salary

Salary progresston

Benefits and allowances

To be determined on appointment, taking into account factors including
market levels, expenence, intemal relatities and cost

it appointed at below market levels, salary may be re-aligned over the
subsequent one to three years subject to performance in role Inthis
situation, the Cammitiee reserves the discretion 1o make increases
above ordinary levels

Tris tial market positioning and intention to increase pay above the
standard rate of increase in the Policy table {subject to performance} will
be disclosed in the first remuneration repart following appontment

The Committee retains the discretion to provide additonal benefits as
reasonably required These may include, but are not restncted to,
relocation payments, housing allowances and cost of Iving allowances
(including any tax thereon)
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Policy on loss of office
Service contracts contain neither a iquidated damages nor
a change of control ctause

The Company shall have a nght to make a payment in keu of
notice in respect of basic salary, benefits, including car
allowance ang pension contnbultions only tor the director’s
contractual penod of notice or, if temmination 1s part way
through tha nohce penod, the amount relating to any unexpired
notice to the date of termination There 1s an obligation on
directors to mutigate any loss which they may suffer  the
Company terminates therr service contract The Committee will
take such mibgation obhgation into account when determuning
the amount and timing of any compensation payable to any
departing director

A director shall also be entitled to a payment in respect of
accrued but untaken holiday and any statutory entitiements
on termination No compensation 1s paig for dismissal, save
for statutory entitlerments

A director shall be entitled to recewve a redundancy payment
in circumstances where in the judgernent of the Committee
they satisty the statutory tests governing redundancy
payments Any redundancy payment shall be calculated by
reference to the redundancy payment policy m force for all
employees In the relevant country at the time of the
redundancy and may include modest outplacement costs

If a director’'s employment terminates pror to the relevant
annual bonus payment date, ordinanly no bonus s payable
for that financial year The Committee shall retan discretion
to make a pro-rated bonus payment in circumstances where
1t would be appropnate to do so having regard to the
contnbution of the director dunng the financial year, the
circumstances of the departure and the best interests

of the Company

Any entitlements under long term incentive schemes operated
by the Company shall be determined based on the rules of the
relevant scheme The default position under the Dixons
Carphone Share Plan 1s that awards will lapse on the
termination of employment unless the Committee exercises the
discretion set out in the scheme rules The Committea retains
the discretion to prevent awards from lapsing depending on
the circumstances of the departure and the best interests of
the Company The default position of the Long Term Incentive
Plan 1s that awards will lapse on termination of employment,
except where certain good leaver circumstances exst (e g
death, ill-health, injury, disability, redundancy, transfer of an
undertaking outside of the Group or retirement or any other
circumstances at the Committee’s discretron) whereby the
awards may vest on cessation, or the normal vesting date,

in both cases subject to performance and time pro-rating,
although the Committee can decide not 1o pro-rate an award
{or pro-rate to a lesser extent) if it regards 1t as appropriate

to do so in the particular crcumstances

The Committee shall be entitled to exercise its judgement with
regard to settlement of potential claims, meluding but not
hrmited to wrongful disrmussal, unfar dismissal, breach of
contract and discnminaton, where it 1s appropnate to do so in
the interests of the Company and its shareholders

In the event that any payment 1s made in relation to termnination
for an executive director, this will be fully disclosed in the
following Annual Remuneration Report

A timely announcement with respect to the temmunation of any
director's appomtment will be made to the regulatory news
service and posted on the Company's corporate website

Service agreements

Service agreements for executive directors

Each of the executive directors' senice agreements
provides for

+ the reimbursement of expenses incurred by the executive
director in performance of therr duties,

+ 25 days’ pad holiday each year for Sebastian James,
Humphrey Singer and Katte Bickerstaffe (full ime
equivalent), 27 days for Andrew Hamson and Graham
Stapleton,

+ sick pay, and

+ notice penods whereby Sebastian James, Humphrey Singer
and Katie Bickerstaffe each have a notice penod of 12
months from the Company and six months from the director
Andrew Hamson has a notice penod of 12 months and
Graham Stapleton six months from either party

in situatilons where an executive director 1s dismissed, the
Committee reserves the right to make additonal exit payments
where such payments are rmade n good faith, such as

» In discharge of a legat obligaton, and

» by way of settlement or compromise of any claim ansing in
connection with the termmation of the director's office and
employment
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Remuneration Policy

Letters of appointment

Each of the non-executive directors has a letter of
appontment The Company has na age imit for directors
Non-executive directors denve no other benefit from their
office, except that the Commuttee retains the discretion to
continue with existing remuneration provisions, Including
pension contnbutions and the provision of benefits, where
an executive director becomes a non-executive director Itis
Company policy not to grant share options or share awards
to non-executive directors The Chairman, Deputy Chaiman
and the other non-executive directors have a notice penod
of three months from either party

Appointments are reviewed annually by the Nominations
Commuittee and recommendations made to the Board
accordingly

Extemal appointments

The Board supporis executive directors taking non-executive
directorships as a part of ther contnuing development, and
has agreed that the executive directors may retam their fees
trom one such appontment Further details on cument extemal
directorships and fees can be found in the Annual
Remuneration Report on page 70

Avarabdity for mspection

The sennce agreements for the executive directors and letters
of appointments for the non-executive directors are available
for inspection at the registered office of the Company, and at
the offices of the Company’s solicitors, Freshfields Bruckhaus
Dennger LLP, B5 Figet Street, Landon EC4Y 1HT, dunng usual
business hours on weekdays {excluding public holidays in
England and Wales) untl the date of the AGM They will also
be available for inspection at the AGM from 10 45am on the
day of the meeting until the conclusion of the meeting

Legacy armangements

For the avoidance of doubt, in approving the Remuneration
Policy. authonty 1s given to the Company to honour any
commutments previously entered mnto with the current

or former directors

Dilution Limits

All the Company’s equity-based incentive plans mcorporate
the current lnvestment Association Share Capital Management
Guidelines (‘Guidehnes’) on headroom which prowide that
overall dilution under all plans should not exceed 10% over a
ten-year penod n refation to the Company s ssued share
capital {or reissue of treasury shares) Inaddition, if approved
by shareholders, the Long Term Incentive Pian will operate
with a 5% in ten-year dilution hmut (exciuding histonc
discretionary awards) The Company regularly monitars the
position and pror to making any award the Company ensures
that it will remain within these hmits Any awards which will be
satsfied by market purchase shares are excluded from such
calculations As at 30 Aprd 2016, the Company's headrcom
position, which remains withun the current Guidelines,

was 4 9%
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Remuneration Report - Annual Remuneration Report

Introduction

This part of the report has been prepared in accordance with
Part 3 of Schedule 8 to the Large and Medium-Sized
Companies and Groups (Accounts and Reports) Regulations
2008 (as amended), and contain those elements required by
section 9 B 6R and stipulated in 9 8 8 of the Listing Rules Thus
Annual Remuneration Report will be put to an advisory vote at
the Company's 2016 AGM

The following sections set out how the Remuneration Policy
was Implemented dunng 2015/16 and how it will be
implemented for the following year

Service agreements

Service contracts

The following table summarises key terms of the service
contracts in place with the executive directors

Date of contract

Sebastian James 29 Mar 12
Andrew Harnson 29 0ct 13
Humphrey Singer 2 Sep 11
Katie Bickerstaffe 29 Mar 12
Graham Stapleton 50ct 11

With the exception of Andrew Hamson, all the above executive
directors were appointed to the Board on 6 August 2014

More detals are set out in the single figure of directors'
remuneration tables on pages 74 to 75

Letter of appomtment

Non-executive directors are normally appointed tor three year
terms, although appointments may vary depending on length
of service and succession planning considerations
Appointments are reviewed annually by the Nommations
Committee and recommendations made to the Board
accordingty The date of the letters of appointment and expiry
of current terms are shown below

Letiers af Expiy ot

appeniment curenl tem

Sir Charles Dunstone 17 Jun 14 16 Jun 17
Tony DeNunzio 16 Dec 15 16 Dec 18
Andrea Gisle Joosen 17 Jun 14 16 Jun 17
Tim How 17 Jun 14 16 Jun 17
Jock Lennox 17 Jun 14 16Jun 17
Lord Livingston of Parkhead 16 Dec 15 16 Dec 18
Baroness Morgan of Huyton 17 Jun 14 16 Jun 17
Gerry Murphy 17 Jun 14 16 Jun 17

Tony DeNunzic and Lord Livingston were appointed to the
Board on 16 December 2015 and on the same date both John
Gildersleeve and Roger Taylor stepped down from the Board
Mare detais are set out in the single figure of directors’
rernuneration tables on pages 74 to 75

Remuneration Commnttee membership and attendance

Members

Membership of the Commuttee compnses four
non-executive directors, ther names and attendance
record are set out In the table below and ther biographies
and qualfications are set cut on pages 36 to 37 The
Comrmittes's Terms of Reference are available on the
Company's corporate website

Meetings

The Remuneration Committee met four scheduted times
dunng the pencd under review with one further
unscheduled meeting Since the year end there have been a
further two meetings

Schedulad
meetings

Members during the year

Lord Livingston of Parkhead {Chasman)™ 1 of1

Tony DeNunzio™ 1of1

Andrea Gisle Joosen S50of5

Tim How S5of5

Former members

John Gildersieeve® 40t 4

Roger Taylor? 40f4

(1) Appointed to the Committee 16 December 2015
(@) Resigned 16 Decermber 2015

Only members of the Commuttee are entitted to attend
Committee meetings but the Group Chief Executive and
Group Finance Director (or other semor management) may
attend meetings by invitation and in an adwisory capacity
only Meetings are also regularly attended by the Company
Secretary (who acts as Committee secretary), Deputy
Company Secretary, Group Human Resources Director and
Group Reward Director

No director participates in discussions about therr own
remuneration

Responsibiiities

Responsibility for the establishment of an overall remuneration
pohey for the Group lies with the Board The Remuneration
Commuttee has the following pnncipal duties

« making recommendatons to the Board on the Company's
framework of executive remuneration,

+ determining the fees of the Chaiman and Deputy Chairman,

- considenng and making recommengations to the Board on
the remuneration of the executive directors and senior
management relative to performance and market data,

« approving contracts of employment which exceed defined
thresholds of total remuneration or have unusual terms or
termination penods,
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« considenng and agreeing changes to the Remuneration
Palicy or major changes to employee benefit structures, and

+ approving and operating employee share-based
incentive schemes and assocrated performance
conditions and targets

Activities dunng the year
The pnncipal activities of the Committee dunng 2015116
included

+ reviewed and approved the Directors’ Remuneration Report,

« approved share awards to seror management
appontments under the long term incentive plans,

+ approved the Sharesave grant,

« assessed the performance of executive directors against
pre-determined targets set for the 2014/15 annual bonus
and approved the payments,

- agreed design of 2015/16 annual bonus ncluding
performance measures and targets,

+ rewewed the current Share Plan and considered a new plan
design for 2016/17,

maoritored the developments in the corporate govemance
environment and iAvestor expectations, including post AGM
investor feedback, and

+ noted remuneration practices across the Group

Advice

The Commuttee appointed Aan Hewitt in Apnl 2016 as
independent adwisors, having used Towers Watson pnor to
this in 2015/16 Aon Hewitt (and previously Towers Watson)

1s engaged to provide advice to the Committee and to work
with the directors on matters relating to the Group's executive
remuneration and its long term incentives Aon Hewitt and
Towers Watson are members of the Remuneration Consultants
Group and operate under its code of conduct in relation to the
provision of executive remuneration advice in the UK Aon
Hewitt and Towers Watson have confirmed that they adhered
to the Code dunng the relevant penods of 2015/16 for all
remuneration senices provided to the Group Towers Watson
receved fees of £26,000 (2014/15 £62,000) in relation to the
prowision of those servces Towers Watson also provided
actuanal services on behalf of the defined benefit pensian
schema, however, the Committee has satisfied itself that
Towers Watson's advice was cbjective and mdependent

The Committee may also take extemal legal advice, where
required, to assist it m camying out its duties

External directorships

The policy relating to external directorstips 1s outiined in the
Remuneration Policy for 2015/16, the following extemal
directorships were undertaken and the fees retaingd by the
executive directors

« Andrew Hamson was apponted a non-executive director
of Ocado Group plc on 1 March 2016 and was paid a fee
of £8,000 from appontment to 30 Apnl 2016

- Sebastian James has been a non-executive director of
Direct Lne Insurance Group pic during 2015/16 and was
paid a fee of £85,000 for the penod to 30 Apnl 2016

-+ Katie Bickerstaffe has been a non-executive director of
Scottish and Southem Energy plc during 2015/16 and was
paid a fee of £70,000 tor the perod to 30 Apnl 2016

« Humphrey Singer was appanted a non-executive director
of Taylor Wimpey plc from 9 December 2015 and was patd
a fee of £22,000 from appointment to 30 Apnl 2016

How the Remuneration Policy will be apphed m 2016/17
Executive directors

i) Base Salary

Executive directors’ salanas were last rewiewed at the tme
of Merger The foliowing increases will be applied dunng the
2016/17 financial year

Satlary ot Increase in Safary gt
30 Aprit Salary In 1 August

201¢ 201817 2016

£'000 £ 000 £000
Current directors
Sebastian James 820 16 836
Andrew Hamson 550 11 561
Humphrey Singer 475 10 485
Katie Bickerstaffe 500 10 510
Graham Stapleton 460 9 469

1) Pension Contributions

Company pension contnbutions or allowance in eu will
continue n 2016417 at therr cumrent levels of 10% for Sebastian
James, Humphrey Singer and Katie Bickerstaffe and 5% for
Andrew Hamson and Graham Stapleton

) Annyal performance bonus

The maximum annual benus for 2016/17 will be 125% of base
salary and will operate on a simitar basis as in the previous
year The measures have been selected to refiect our key
objectives and are ahgned to our Group balanced scorecard,
with a mimmum profit gate that must be achieved before any
bonus is paid out The proposed target levels for the year have
been set to be challenging relative to the business plan The
Committee feels that specific targets relating to the 2016/17
bonus scheme are currently commercially sensitive and as
such will not be disclosed Retrospective disclosure of the
targets and performance against them will be provided in next
year's Remuneraion Report
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The performance metncs and ther weightings for 201617 are
shown i the table below

Waightng (a8 a percentage of

The relative TSR condition will be assessed over a three year
penaod, with vesting determined as follows

Rank of Company TSA egainst Comparator % ot TSR slement vesting

maxknum bonus Group TSR

il
- °°’°’;‘g;" Below Median 0%
Net Debt 10°/D Medan 25%

°° Between Median and Upper Pro rata between 25%
ROCE 10% Quartile and 100% on a straight
Customer net promoter score 10% line basis
Employee engagement 10%  Upper Quartile or above 100%

Recovery and withholding prowvisions apply for matenal
misstatement, misconduct and reputational damage enabling
performance adjustments and / or recovery of sums already
paid These prowisions will apply for up to three years

after payment

w) LTIP
Subject to shareholder approval at the AGM on 8 September
2016, the Committee intends to make an award of 275% of
salary to each of the executive directors i 2016/17, which

will vest atter three years based on continued service and the
achieverment of the performance measures noted below
These awards will be subject 10 a further two-year post vesting
hotding pened, during which the executve director is not
permiutted to sell any shares vesting, other than those required
to settle any tax obligattons

When setting the proposed award levels, the Commuttee took
account of a number of reference points, including the
potential total rermuneration against a number of scenanos of
performance The Committee believes that the greater
weighting of vanable pay towards long tenm incentives 1s better
afigned with the interests of shareholders and focuses on
sustamnable long-tem performance The common level of long
term incentive plan award to all executive directors 1s reflective
of the collegiate approach of the executive director team,
which was established through the Merger and has been

a key part of the success of the Group

For 2016/17 these awards will be subject to two equally
weighted performance conditions Halt of the awards will be
subject to the achievernent of a refative TSR performance
condition, measured aganst the compantes ranked FTSE
51-150 &t the start of the performance penod The remaining
half of the awards will be subject to the achievement of
adjusted EPS growth targets

EPS growth will be assessed over a three year penod Due to
current uncertainties in the market, the Committee 1s
deliberating further over the appropnate EPS targets for the
awards to be made in September 2016, subject to
shareholders approving the new LTIP  The EPS targets will be
published on the Company's website in sufficient tme befare
the AGM for shareholders to review them ahead of voting an
the new LTIP

Corporate Governance

When setting the EPS growth target range the Committee will
take into consideration a number of reference pomts including
the intemal business plan, external market consensus, the
strong growth in 2015/16, a broad view of the macroeconomic
enwironment and, to a lesser extent, growth targets in other
simiarly szed retallers The Commuttee will set a range of
targets straddling consensus, with consensus at or shghtly
below the middie of the range The target range proposed will
provide the correct balance between incentivisation and further
performance motivation, without creating any undue nsk

Calculations of the achievement against the targets will be
independently performed and approved by the Committee
The Committee will retain discretion to adjust for matenal
events which occur dunng the performance penod and will
make full and clear disclosure of any such adjustments in the
Drrectors' Remuneration Repert, together with details of the
achieved levels of performance, as determined by the above
defirutions at the end of the performance penoxt

Awards will be sutyect to recovery and withholding prowisions
for matenal misstatement, misconduct and reputational
damage enabling performance adstments and / or recovery
of sums already paxd These provisions will apply for up to
three years after vesting
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Remuneration details for 2015/16

Performance graph

The graph below shows the Group's performance measured
through TSA on a holding of £100 m the Company's shares,
compared with the FTSE 350 Index, since 28 March 2010
The FTSE 350 has been used as 1115 & broad market which
ncludes the Company and a number of s competitors

Total shareholdar returmn
Source Datasimam

Start date of the graph reflects date of adrmittance to the London
Stock Exchange of Dixons Garphone pic, previausly called
Carphone Warehouse plc

Group Chief Executive pay

The fallowing table shows, over the same six year penod as
the performance graph, the Group Chief Executive’s single
total figure of remuneration, the amount of bonus eamed as a
percentage of the maximum remuneration possible, and the
vesting of long term awards as a percentage of the maximum
number of shares that could have vested where applicable

Lang term
incentive
Annual vasting
bonus rates
CEOQ single poyout against
figure of against maztmum
refmuneration™ maximum opportunity
Year €'000 “% %
2015/16 Sebastian James 1,616 68% n/a
Sebastian James 1,687 100% n/a
Andrew Harnson 420 100% na

2014/15 Total 2,107
Andrew Hamson 679 54% n/a
Roger Taylor 159 n/a n/a

2013/14 Total 838
2012/13 Roger Taylor 958 55% n‘a
2011/12 Roger Taytor 474 0% n/a
2010/11 Roger Taylor 1,193 82% n/a

{1) Excludes remuneration recewved from long term incentive schiemes

estabished by Old Carphone Warehouse pror to the demerger
from TalkTalk because that company 1s not parnt of the curent
Group Details of remuneration associated with Ol Carphone
Warehouss incentive schemes were provided 1n that company’s
annual report for the year ended 31 March 2012 Future reports
will nclude long term incentives operated by the current Group
when they have vested

(2) Roger Taylor waived a bonus of 25% maximum patential and
instead chose for it to be paid directly to chanty
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Percentage change in remuneration

The table below provides the percentage change in remuneration for the Group Chief Executive and the percentage change for
all UK head office based employees as this group provides the best hke-for-ike comparison Changes in satary relating to
changes in rofes and / or responsibibties have been excluded from the increase presented for the wader group

Group Chief UK::ﬂ:d

L ]
?ocuuvo smployees
Salary and fees 2% 2%
Taxable benefits® 0% 0%
Annual bonuses (32)% {26)%

{1) The percentage change in taxable benefits 15 considered to be 0% since there have been ne matenal changes in Group benefits

Relative )/mpontance of spend on pay
The following table sets out both the total cost of remuneration for the Group compared with pro forma Headline EBIT and
profits distnbuted for 2015/16 and the prior year

2015/18 2014/15

£million Emillion Change %
Dividends paid™ 106 52 104%
Headline EBIT 468 413 13%
Total staff costs - continuing operations? 1,061 900 18%

Numbar Number Change %
Average employee numbers - continuing operations® % 41,847 32,834 27%

(1) Extracted from note 23 to the Group financial statements

(2) Extracted from nota 5 10 the Group financial statements

(3) The average number of employees for 2014/15 15 made up of legacy Carphone Warehouse employees for the full 13 month pernod and
legacy Dixons Retal employees for tha penod post Merger
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Audted informahon

Single figure of directors’ remuneration for the year ended 30 Apnl 2016

2018718
Basic
salory and Pension Annual Taxable Tota) iTiP Total
taas  coninbutions™ bonus beanefits'® ermoluments payments™ rernunsration
€000 £ 000 £ 000 000 £ 000 £ 000 £'000
Executive
Current directors
Sebastian James 820 82 701 13 1,616 - 1,616
Andrew Hamson 550 28 470 1 1,059 - 1,059
Humphrey Singer 475 48 406 13 942 - 942
Katie Bickerstaffe® 490 50 428 11 ar9 - 9719
Graham Stapleton® 460 23 393 892 1,768 - 1,768
2,795 231 2,398 940 6,364 - 6,364
Non-executive
Current directors
Sir Charles Dunstoneg 280 - - - 280 - 280
Tony DeNunzio™ 34 - - - 34 - 34
Andrea Gisle Joosen 70 - - - 70 - 70
Tim How 65 — - - 65 - 65
Jock Lennox 75 - - - 75 - 75
Lord Livingston of Parkhead™ 54 - - - 54 - 54
Baroness Morgan of Huylon 65 - - - 65 - 65
Gerry Murphy 65 - - - 65 - 65
Former directors
John Gildersleeve™ 53 - - - 53 - 53
Roger Taylor"® 97 - - 1 98 - o8
858 - - 1 859 - 859
3,653 231 2,398 a1 7,223 - 7,223

4

@
<

@)
&)

®

G
®

Remuneration 18 shown for the penod served on the Board Tony DeNunzio and Lord Livingston were appointed to the Board on

16 December 2015 and the fees shown were from appointment to 30 Apnl 2016 John Gudersleeve and Roger Taylor resigned from the
Board on 16 December 2015 and fees are from 3 May 2015 to date o! leaving

Katie Bickerstaffe purchased annual leave under the Group's holiday purchase scheme, reducing her salary by £10,000 n 201516
Pension contnbutions compnse the Company's contnbution or allowance in ey together with tha salary supplement which is based on ihe
difference batween basic salary and the schame eamings cap set by the Company The contnbution amount was 10% of salary for
Sebastian James, Humphrey Singer and Katie Bickerstafie and 5% tor Andrew Hamsoen and Graharn Siapleton

Taxable benefits include prvate medical insurance and car aliowances

The taxable benefits of Graham Stapleion ncludes the waver of a loan together with accrued intarest of £880,268 relating 1o a long term
Incentive scheme of Carphone Warehouse that he took parl in prior to him becoming a director of the Company The scheme vastad
following the sale of the Best Buy Europe business and awards became exercisable dunng 2013, but all shares awarded were subject to a
sales restnction untd 2015 At the time of exercise Graham Stapleton, along with the ather participants, was provided with a company loan
to be used to settle the outstanding tax habiihes that were created at the point of exercise Dunng 2015, the sales restnctions elapsed and
at that time the Company confimned the wnting off of the outstanding loan This decision reflected the treatment afforded to other
participants of this plan and the past practice used by Carphone Warehouse This1sa legacy pre-Merger abhgation made before Graham
Stapleton was appointed 1o the Board

LTIP payments would compnse amounts under the Share Plan, however the performance penod ends i July 2017

Roger Taylor continued to receive private medical insurance benefits unti 16 December 2015 when he stepped down from the Board

No payments were made to former directors and no payment for loss of office was made dunng the year

Lord Livingston has a daferred pension in the Dixons Retirement and Emplayee Secunty Scheme

-y
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Singte figure of directors’ remuneration for the penod ended 2 May 2015

201an5
Basic satary Pension Anmal Taxable Total LTIP Total
and fess Contnbutigns® ponus® benafits™ amgiumants paymenis® remunaration
£ 000 £ 000 £ 000 £ 000 €000 £ 000 £ 000
Executive
Current directors
Sebastian James™ 580 59 1,025 13 1,687 - 1,687
Andrew Harnsen 570 28 745 14 1,357 - 1,357
Humphrey Singert™ 342 34 594 13 883 - 983
Katie Bickerstaffe!¥ 360 36 625 12 1,033 — 1,033
Graham Stapleton® 343 17 623 10 Q93 — 993
Former directors
iigel Langstaff? 1178 6 -~ 4 127 - 127
2,322 180 3,612 66 6,180 - 6,180
Non-executive
Current directors
Sir Charles Dunstone 290 — - - 290 - 290
Roger Taytor 179 - - 17 180 - 180
Andrea Gisle Joosen™ 50 - - - 50 - 50
John Gildersleeve 87 — - - a7 - 87
Tirn How'* 47 - - - 47 - 47
Baroness Morgan of Huyton 70 - - - 70 - 70
Jock Lennox! 54 — - - 54 - 54
Gerry Murphy 67 - - - 67 — 67
Former directors
John Allan" 75 — — - 75 - 75
John Allwood™ 28 — - - 28 - 28
947 — — 1 948 — 948
3,269 180 3,612 67 7,128 - 7,128

Q)

2

)]

]

(5)
(1]

Remuneration 1s shown for the penod served on the Board The following directors were appointed on B August 2014 Sebastan James,
Humphrey Singer Kate Bickerstaffe, Graham Staplaton, Andrea Gisle Joosen, Tim How and Jock Lennox Remuneration / fees for

these direclors 5 shown from apportment to 2 May 2015 John Allan was appointed o the Board on 6 August 2014 and rasigned on

17 February 2015 and the fees shown are for this penod Nigel Langstaff and John Allwood resigned from the Board on 6 August 2014

and remuneration / fees are from 1 Apnl 2014 o date of leaving

Pension contributions compnise the Company's contnbution or aiowance i heu together with the salary supplement whsch s based on the
difierence between basc salary and the scheme earmings cap set by the Company This addional amount was 10% for Sebastan James,
Humphrey Singer and Katie Bickersiaffe and 5% for Andrew Hamson Nigel Langstaft and Graham Stapleton

Annuat bonus for Graham Stapleton and base salary and annual bonus for Andrew Harnsor represents the amount eamed over 13 months
foliowing the alignment of the financial year end Annual bonuses for Sebastian James Humphrey Singer and Katie Bickerstaffe reprasent
the amount earned over the 12 months to 2 May 2015 which includes the penod pnor to the Merger All bonuses are calcutated based on
the directors’ annwal salary as al 2 May 2015

Taxable benefits include pnvate medical nsurance car allowance and Sharesave gains of £4,000 for Sebastian James, Humphrey Singer
and Kaue Bickerstatfe in respect of options granted on 26 February 2015 as set out in the table on page 79

LTIP payments would compnse amounts under the Share Plan, however, the performance penod ends in July 2017

In addition to the above remurieration and subsequent to resigning from the Board on 6 August 2014, Nigel Langstaft received a
redundancy payment of £247,000 upon leaving the business in December 2014 Nigel also receved £350,000 as a payment in lieu of notice
n respect of basic salary, £19,700 1n respect of benefits (ncluding car affowance, permanent health insurance and bfe cover) and £17,500 in
respect of pension contnbutions There was no payment for accrued hobiday untaken These amounts were in ine with cantractual
enttiements and the Group's redundancy payments policy and no discretion was apphed in therr determination The Commuttee determined
to apply discretion to pay a bonus of £437,500 1n respect of the penod of service in the 2014715 financial year and in respect of engoing
support up to the announcement of the prehminary resuits for 2014/15

Roger Taylor continued 1o receve private medical insurance benefits
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Long term incentive plans (LTIP}
The Share Pian awards made dunng 2014/15 vest m July 2017 {§0%) and July 201 8 (4090}

Details of the awards made and the toans granted to the directors to enable thern to subscnbe for shares under the Share Plan
are detailed later in this report

No LTIPs have vested dunng the year for the directors whilst serving on the Board

Annual bonus for 2015/16
The maximum bonus opportunty for ail executive directors 1S 125% of base salary based on performance in the 12-month

penod to the end of the financial year

The Comrittee determined at the beginning of the year that the disclosure of performance targets were commercially sensitive
and therefore these were not disclosed This was because targets were set within the context of a longer term business plan and
this disclosure could give information to competitors to the detriment of busingss performance The Committee has however
disclosed in the table below the targets on a refrospective basts and the actual performance against these

The maximurn annual bonus of 125% of base salary I1s payable at the maximum level of performance, 25% of base salary on
achievement of threshold performance and 75% of base salary on achievement of target performance

As p percantage of
maximum bonus

Measure opportunity Threshold Target Maximum Actual Payout
Pro forma Headline EBIT 60% ©450 milion £475 milion €500 mithon  £468 million 29%
Pro forma average net

(debt) / funds - vanance vs budget 10% £(50) million Budget £50 millon  £54 million 10%
Return on Capital Employed 10% 201% 20 6% 211% 21 0% 9%
Customer net promoter score 10% Worse Target Better Better 10%
Employee engagement score 10% Woaorse Target Better Better 10%

It should be noted that customer net promoter and employee engagement score targets were set in the context of a high base
pont The mprovement in actual performance was therefore considered an excellent result The actual scores for these
measures are still considered to be commercially sensitive and therefore cannot be disclosed in full

Overall bonus payments will be at target levels and will be paid i cash at 68 4% of base salary The Commuittes 1s comfortable
that the result is an appropnate reflection of overall performance dunng the year under review The bonus amounts to be pad to
the executive directors in respect of 2015/16 are set out n the single figure of directors’ remuneration table on page 74
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Non-executive directors' and Chairman's fees

The fees for the independent non-executive directors, including the Deputy Chaiman, are determined by the Board (excluding
non-executive directors) after considenng extemal market research and are reviewed on an annuat basis Factors taken into
constdleration include the required bme commitment, specific expenence and / or qualfications A base fee 15 payable and
additional fees are paid for chainng and membership of commuttees The Chawman 1s not involved in the setting of his own salary
which 15 dealt with by the Remuneration Committee annually Non-executive directors receive no vanable pay and receive no
addmonal benefits, except in situations where an executive director becomes & non-executive director and benefit and pension
arrangernents continue

The Chairman, Deputy Chaiman and Senior Independent Director receive all inclusive fees refiecting ther duties Other
independent non-executive directors receved a basic fee of £60,000 (2014/15 £60,000) and additional fees as set out in the
table below for chainng or membership of commuttees Fees will remain unchanged for 2016/17

2015718 2014115

£'000 £ 000
Chairman®™ 280 280
Deputy Chairman® 140 140™
Senior Independent Directort 90 N/AS
Charr of Audit Commuittee 15 15
Member of Audit Commuttee 5 5
Member of Nominations Commuttee 5 5
Member of Remuneration Committee 5 5

(1) The Chairman’s fee includes Chawmanship of the Nominations Committee

(2) The Deputy Chairman s fee includes Charrmanship of the Remuneration Committee and membership of the Nomnations Committee
(3) Fees for previous Deputy Chairman

(4) The Senior independent Director s fee includes membership of the Norminations and Remuneration committees

(5) The Semor independant Drector dunng 2014/15 was also Deputy Charman, and recewed no addittonal fee for this
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Directors’ interests in the Share Plan

The executive directors previously participated in the Dixens Carphone (formerly Carphone Warehouse Group plc) Share Plan
approved by Carphone Warehouse shareholders Participants acquired at market value participation shares In a subsidiary
company that holds the Company's interests in the Group's main operating businesses The Group granted loans to participants
at a commercial rate of interest o acauire the shares Loans are ordinarily repayable in full if performance conditions are met

The performance of the plan will ordinanly be rneasured at the end of the performance penad (in or around July 2017 for the
current participants), when 60% of the shares vest, with 40% deferred for a further year When the awards vest, the value of the
shares held by participants will be based on the incremental value (if any) of Dixons Carphone pic in excess of the opening
valuation together with the rinimum retum on invested capital These shares will then be purchased by the Company for cash
and / or the Company's ordinary shares

The total pool for distribution to participants 1s subject to a cap of 4% of the tolal issued share capilal of the Company on the
measurement date Under the Share Plan there are now two pools, one for the onginal grant In December 2013 and cne for the
second grant in October 2014, each being subyect to a cap of 2% of the total 1ssued share capital of the Company

The Share Plan 1s designed to share 10% of the neremental value created in Dixons Carphone in excess of an operung valuaton
{assessed over an appropnate penod) and beyond an annual rate of retum of 7% oninvested capitat The plan s also
undeminned by a minimum annual compound TSR growth of 5% and outperformance of the median TSR of the FTSE 250

The tahile below shows the allocation to the executive directors of participation shares in the subsidary, New CPW Limited, in
relation to the Share Plan, together with detals of the loans issued to enable the directors to subscnbe for the participation shares

AQrdinary 8 Orginary A Ordinary B Ordinary
shares in sharas in chares in sharas in

subsiciary  subsidlary  subsldiary ¥ A v All i Loan Losn
L d flocated d of A pooil ©of B poot ot A poo? of Bpool outslgnding outstanding
as al as el as at as at as at as at as at as at as af s at
2 May 2 May 30 Apnl 30 Apnl 2 May 2 May 30 Apnl 30 April 2 May 30 Apnit
2015 20154 2016t 20162 2015% 20159 2016™ 20162 2015 2016
Number Number Numbar Number % 9% % % £ 000 £ 000

Current directors
Sebastian James - 1,100 - 1,100 - 11% - 11% 2,239 2,306
Andrew Hamson 700 200 700 200 7% 2% 7% 2% 810 834
Humphrey Singer - 700 —_ 700 - 7% - 7% 1,425 1,487
Katie Bickerstaffe - 700 - 700 - 7% - 7% 1,425 1,467
Graham Stapleton 600 100 600 100 6% 1% 6% 1% 549 565

(1) Allocation relates to the pra-Merger pool In respect of A ordinary shares Face value is not included as due to the structure of the Share Plan
it 15 not considered a reprasentativa figure

{2} Allocation retates to the post Merger poal in respect of B ordinary shares Face valua 1s not ncluded as due to the structure of the Share
Plan it1s not considered a representative figure
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Directors’ share options
As part of the Merger, participants of the Dixons Retail Sharesave Plan were offered the opportunity to roll over their Sharesave

awards into options over Dixons Carphone plc Those awards rolled aver by the directors, m addition o other options owned by
the directors over the Company, are shown in the table below

Lopsed or
At Awarded  fortoried At
Exerciso 3IMay inthe intha Exercised® 30 April Dato from which Expery of tha
Date of grant price {p) xS porioa™ ponod in period 2018 first exercisable anercise pariod
Sebastian James
Sharesave 23 Jul 2013 20935 601 - - - 60t 10ct2016 31 Mar 2017
26 Feb 2015 34400 4,866 - - - 4866 1Apr2018 30 Sep 2018
5,467 - - - 5,467
Andrew Hamson
Sharesave 10Jan 2014 22400 4,017 - - — 4,017 1Mar2017 31 Aug 2017
4,007 - - - 4,017
Humphrey Singer
Sharesave 23 Jul 2012 9148 1.377 - - (1,377 —  10ct2015 31 Mar 2016
23 Jut 2013 209 35 601 - - - 601 10ct2016 31 Mar 2017
26 Feb 2015 34400 4,500 - - - 4,500 1 Apr2018 30 Sep 2018
25Feb 2016 377060 - 334 - - 334 1 Apr2019 30 Sep 2019
6,478 334 — 1,37 5435
Katie Bickerstatfe
Sharesave 23 Jul 2012 91 48 1,377 - - (1,370 =  10ct2015 31 Mar2016
23 Jul 2013 209 35 601 - - - 601 10ct2016 31 Mar 2017
26 Feb 2015 34400 4,500 - - - 4,500 1 Apr2018 30 Sep 2018
25 Feb 2016 37700 - 334 - - 334 1 Apr 2019 30 Sep 2019
6,478 334 - (1.377) 5435

{1) Share options that were granted under the Dixons Retail Sharesave Plan and rolled over inte options over Dixons Carphone plc shares
The exercisa phce shown s the roll over prnce over Dixons Carphane pic shares
(2) The options exercised by Kate Bickerstatfe and Humphrey Singer on 1 Cctober 2015 had a market pnce of £4 25 on the date of exercise
{3) The face valua of awards granted on 25 February 2016 for the executive directors was £1,460 for Humphrey Singer and Katie Bickerstaffe
The exercise price was set at a 20% discount 1o the mid-market closing share price at 27 January 2016 of £4 11
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Directors’ shareholding
Details of dwectors’ interests in shares of the Company are shown in the following table

Boneficially owned Rastricted interests 1n share plans
Total Total
benaficial benaficlal
interosts share
under sham interests
Share Plan® Share Plan®®  Sharesave ownership a5 a
as at as &t as at guidelines % of salary®  Exarcised
30 Apnl 30 Apnl 30 April 30 Apnl 30 Aprit 30 Apnl dunng
20167 2 May 20150 2018 2018 2016 2018 2018 2015/16
Executive directors
Current directors
Sebastian James 908,234 908,234 - 1,100 5,467 908,234 467% -
Andrew Hammson 5,000,000 5,000,000 700 260 4,017 5,000,000 3,835% -
Humphrey Singer 619,147 617,770 - 700 5435 619,147 550% 1,377
Katie Bickerstafte® 408,967 657,590 - 700 5,435 408,967 345% 1,377
Graham Stapleton® 490,034 880,034 600 100 - 490,034 449% -
Non-executive directors
Current directors
Sir Charles Dunstone 134,758,481 134,758,481 - - - - - -
Tony DeNunzio 50,000 - —- — - - - —
Andrea Gesle Joosen 6,076 6,076 - - - - - -
Tim How 12,400 12,400 - - - - - -
Jock Lennox 11,625 11,625 - - - - - -
Lord Livingston of Parkhead - - - - — — - -
Baroness Morgan of Huyton 991 991 - - — - - -
Gerry Murphy 20,000 20,000 - - — - - -
Former directors
John Gilderslegve 122,568 122,568 - - —_ N/A N/A -
Roger Taylor 9,808,554 9,808,554 - - - N/A N/A -

(1) Date of appointment, if later

(2] The shares listed here ara in A orc¢inary shares of New CPW Unmited as part of the shares purchased in relatron to the Share Plan These
have been subscnbed for by the Directors A ordinary shares have a ditferent opening valuation to B ordinary shares as descnbed in note

{3), reflecting the value of the Company at appropnate times pnor 1o the grants

(3} The shares listed here are in B ordinary shares of New CPW Limited as part of the shares purchased In refation ta the Share Plan These
have been subscritied for by the Directors B ordinary shares have a different opening valuaton 1o A ordinary shares, as descnbed in note

{2), reflecting the value of the Company at appropnate times pnor 1o the grants

{4} The percentage excludes the Share Plan participabon shares and Sharesave optons and 15 based on bas«c salary as at 30 Apnl 2016
an average share pnce over the month to 30 Aprl 2016 of €4 218

(5) On 18 August 2015 Katie Bickerstaffe sold 105,796 shares at £4 419 on 21 August 2015, she sold 109,034 shares at £4 338 and on
24 August 2015, she sold a further 35,170 shares al £4 084

(6) 'On 18 August 2015, Graham Stapleton sold 165 060 shares al £4 419, on 21 August 2015, he sald 170,10 shares at £4 338 and on
24 August 2015, he sold a further 54,830 shares at £4 084

{7 Date of resignation, «f earher

and

There were no changes n the directors’ restncted or unrestncted share interests between 30 Apnl 2016 and the date of this report
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Statement of voting at shareholder meetings {not audited)

The Company 1s committed to ongomg shareholder dialogue in respect of directors’ remuneration, and takes an active interest
tn voting outcomes and in particular we have consulted with our shareholders on the Remungration Policy being put to the vote
at the AGM Where there are substantal votes agamnst resolutions, explanatory reasons will be sought, and any actions in
response will be communicated to shareholders

The following tables set out the vohing results in relation to the resclutions put to the 2015 annual general meeting

Aasolution Voles for % Votes agalnst % Withheld
Approval of Remuneration Policy 771,709,963 94 09 48,431,387 59 88,989,962
Approval of Annual Remuneration Report 621,991,756 7295 230,588,119 2705 56,551,437

As the annual remuneration report received signficant shareholder votes aganst it at the annual general meeting in 2015 (see
table above for voting autcomes at the previous annual general meeting), dunng the recent consultation process, the Company
encouraged feedback from s key shareholders to understand the reasons behind the dissent We are aware of shareholders’
concems regarding the transparency and communication of the Company's Remuneration Report and have focused on
providing clearer reporting on past remuneration

Complance
As required by the Regulations, a resolution to approve this Remuneration Report will be proposed at the AGM to be held on

8 September 2016

ian Livingsten
Charman of the Remuneraticn Commitiee
248 June 2016
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Statement of Directors’ responsibilities

The directors are responsible for prepanng the annual report and the financiat statements mn accordance with applicable law
and requlations

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financral year Under that law the directors are
required to prepare the consolidated financial statements in acecordance with IFRS as adopted by the European Union and
Article 4 of the I1AS Regulation and have elected to prepare the Company financial statements in accordance with Financial
Reporting Standard 101 Reduced Disclosure Framework Under company 'aw the directors must not approve the accounts
unless they are satisfied that they give a true and farr view of the state of affairs of the Company and the Group and of the profit
or loss of the Company and the Group for that penod

In prepanng the Company financial statements, the directors are required to

+ select sutable accounting policies and then apply them consistently,

+ make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent,

+ state whether Financial Reporting Standard 101 Reduced Disclosure Framework has been followed, subject to any matenal
departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements, and

prepare the financial statements on the gaing concem basis unless it Is inappropnate to presume that the Company will
continue In business

In prepanng the consolidated financial statements, 1AS 1 ‘Presentation of Financial Statements’ requires that directors

+ properly select and apply accounting policies,

« present information, ncluding accounting policies, n a manner that provides relevant, rehable, comparable and
understandable nformation,

- prowvda additional disclosures when compliance with the specific requirements in IFRS are insufficient to enable users to
understand the impact of paricular transactions, other events and condittons on the Group's financial position and financial
performance, and

« make an assessment of the Group's ability to continue as a going concem

The directors are responsible for keeping adeguate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the Company’s
transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial pesition of the Company and the Group and enable
them to ensure that the financial statements comply witn the Companies Act 2006 They are also respansible for safeguarding
the assets of the Company and the Group and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and
other rregulanties

The directors are responsible for the maintenance and integnty of the corporate and financial information included on the

Group's websie Legistation in the United Kingdom goverming the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may
differ from legisiation in other junsdictions

Responsibility statement
Wa confirm that to the best of our knowledge

. the financial staternents, prepared m accordance with the relevant financral reporting framework, give a true and fair view of
the assets, habikties, financial posttion and profit or loss of the Company and the undertakings included in the consolidation
taken as a whote,

+ the Strategic Report ncludes a far review of the development and performance of the business and the position of the
Company and the undertakings included n the consolidation taken as a whole, together with a descripticn of the pnncipal
nisks and uncertainties that they face, and

+ the annual report and financial statements, taken as a whole, are far, balanced and understandable and provide the
nformation necessary for shareholders to assess the Group and the Company's performance, business model and strategy

By Order of the Board

Sebastan James Humphrey Singer
Group Chief Executive Group Finance Cirector
28 June 2016 28 June 2016
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Independent Auditor’s report

Opirion on the financtal statements of Dixons Carphone plc
In our opinien,

« the financial statements give a true and far view of the state of the Group’s and of the parent company's affars as at 30 Apnl
2016 and of the Group's profit for the year then ended,

+ the Group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRSs} as adopted hy the European Union,

+ the parent company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally
Accepted Accounting Practice, including FRS 101 ‘Reduced Disclosure Framework’, and

+ the financial statements have been prepared n accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 and, as regards
the Group financial statements, Article 4 of the IAS Regulation

The financial statements compnse the Consolidated income statement, the Consolidated statement of comprehensive income,
the Consolidated balance sheet, the Consohidated statement of changes in equity, the Consolidated cash flow statement, the
Company balance sheet, the Company statement of changes in equity, and the related nates 1 to 31 and C1 10 C10 The
financial reporting framework that has been applted in the preparation of the Group financial statements 1s applicable law and
IFASs as adapted by the European Union The financial reporting framework that has been appled in the preparation of the
parent compary financral statements is applicable law and Uruted Kingdom Accounting Standards {United Kingdom Generally
Accepted Accounting Practice), including FRS 101 ‘Reduced Disclosure Framework!

Separate opinion in relation to IFASSs as issued by the IASB

As explained in note 1a) to the Greup financial statements, n addition to complying with its legal obligation to apply IFRSs
as adopted by the European Union, the Group has also applied FRSs as issued by the International Accounting Standlards
Board ({ASB)

In our opinion the Group financial statements comply with IFRSs as issued by the IASB
Going concem

As required by the Listing Rules we have reviewed the directors’ staternent regarding the appropriateness of the going concem
basis of accounting contained within nate 1a} to the financial statements and the directors' staternent on the longer-term viability
of the group cantained within the strategic report

We have nothing matenal to add or draw attention o in relation to

- the directors' confirmation on page 45 that they have camed out a robust assessment of the pnncipal nisks facing the Group,
mcluding those that would threaten its business model, future performance, solvency or hquidity,

« the disclosures on pages 20 to 23 that descnbe those nsks and explain how they are being managed or mitigated,

+ the directors’ staternent 1 note 1a) to the financial statements about whether they considered 1t appropnate to adopt the gong
concem basis of accounting in prepanng them and thetr identfication of any matenal uncertainties to the Group's ability to
continue to do so over a penad of at least 12 months from the date of approval of the financial statements,

- the directars’ explanation on page 29 as to how they have assessed the prospects of the Group, over what penod they have
done so and why they consider that penod to be appropnate, and their statement as to whether they have a reasonable
expectation that the group will be able to continue in operation and meet s habiibes as they falt due over the penod of thewr
assessment, including any related disclosures drawing attenton to any necessary qualfications or assumptions

We agreed with the directors’ adoption of the going concemn basis of accounting and we did not identify any such matenal
uncertainties However, because not all future events or conditions can be predicted, thes statement 1s not a guarantee as
to the Group's ability to cantinue as a gomng concem

Independence

We are required to comply with the Financial Reporting Council’s Ethical Standards for Auditors and we confirm that we are
independent of the Group and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibiities in accordance with those standards We also
confirm we have not provided any of the prohibrted non-audit services referred to in those standards
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Independent Auditor’s report

Our assessment of nsks and matenal misstatement

The assessed nsks of matenal misstatement described below are those that had the greatest effect on our audit strategy,
the allocation of resources In the audit and directing the efforts of the engagement team The key nsks we identified are

+ Impaiment of goodwill and other ntangible assets
» Revenue recagnition — UK network commissions

» UK suppher funding

« Inventory prowvisioning (Dixons)

+ Property rattonalisation provisioning

Risk

How the scope of our audit responded to the nsk

Imparment of goodwill and other intangible assets

The Group has significant acquisition related
intangible assets, including goodwill, (£3,402 million
at 30 Apnl 2016 including £3,054 million of goodwill
and £348 mithon of acquisition intangibles) prmarnly
related to the CPW Europe and Dixons Retail pic
acquisitions in previous years The Group's
assessment of mpairment of acquisition related
intangible assets 1s a judgemental process which
requres estimates conceming the future cash flows
and associated discount rates and growth rates
based on management’s projections of future
business performance and prospects The key
judgernents and estimates involved are descnbed
in more detail in notes 1)), 1k} and 1s) to the Group
financial statements

We assessed the assumptions used by management in the
impaiment models for goodwill and acquisition related intangible
assets, including specifically the cash flow projections, discount rates
{utiksing the assistance of our valuation specialists), and long-term
growth rates used against tustoncal performance, our understanding
of the future prospects of the business and companson aganst
market rates and the prevailing Group cost of capital at the year end
We have audited the mechanics of the impament models prepared
by management

Revenue recognition — UK network commissions

The monetary value of commission recevable on
sales, beng commission for which there s a
contractual entitiement based on mobile phone
connections already made, and for which there are
no ongong performance obligations, 13 dependent
on customer behaviour beyond the point of sale
Management 1s therefore required to exercise
judgement in respect of the level of customer default
within the contract penod, expected levels of
custormer spend and customer behaviour beyond
the inthial contract penod The key judgements
and estimates involved are descnbed in more
detail in notes 1dj, 1s) and 26h) to the Group
financial statements

We evaluated the design and implementation of both the relevant
manual and automated controls over the revenue recogmition process
in respect of commissions recevable, utiising IT specialists to assist
with testing of automated controls In addition we tested that these
controls were operating effectively throughout the penod

We have tested the valuation of revenue recognised through review
of the Group's contractual amangements, substantve testing of
management assumptions including tenure, line rental, and churn
to data received from networks and testing of cash receipts

We have also assessed any changes in estmate in comparnson to the
prior year and reviewed year on year movement in key assumptions

UK suppler funding

The Group holds a number of significant funding
arrangements with supphers Agreements in relatton
to supplier funding are based predorminantly on
volume related targets, for both purchases and sales,
and are most commonty agreed as a fixed
percentage of targets up front These targets are
generally a mix of quarterly and annual targets The
timing of recogmition of this income 15 sometimes
Judgemental, n partrcular where the target period for
measunng achievements spans the year end and it1s
necessary to ensura there 1s sufficient evidence
justifying recogmition The key judgements and
estimates involved are descnbed In maore detail in
note 1s) to the Group financial statements

We updated our understanding of the key supplier funding
arrangements across the Group As part of this, we met with the key
commercial and finance process owners, we tested the design and
implementation of the Group’s key controls in operatian, principally
focused on those that detemmine the appropnate tirming of recognition
for supplier funding balances, and we performed an analytical
assessment of movements i supplier funding throughout the cumrent
year to histoncal trends

To ensure there 1s sufficient evidence o support the recognibon of
suppler funding, we substantively tested and recalculated a sample of
amounts with reference to signed supplier contracts We also obtained
confimnations following circulansation of a sample of supphers
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Risk

How the scope of our audit responded to the nsk

inventory provisioning (Dixons)

inventory 1s a significant balance for the Group
(€958 milton at 30 Apni 2016} and there are a number
of judgemental areas including obsolescence and
shnnkage provisionig This nsk has a significant
effect on cur auch strategy, the altocation of
resources in the audit and directing the efforts of the
engagement team in the legacy Dixons side of the
business only, given the nature and relatve
significance of the inventory balances within each
part of the Group Further information in relation to
this area 1s discussed In notes 10) and 1s) to the
Group financial statements

We have performed testing of the operating effectiveness of controls
around the inventory business cycle and attended a sample of
inventory counts at 34 stores and the distnbution centres across the
Dixons UK and Nordics businesses, including visiting the Group's
man distnbution centre in Newark on four separate occasions, which
enables us to assess management's processes for monitonng
inventory We performed audit tests to assess whether inventory 15
valued at the lower of cost and net reahisable value We reviewed,
recalculated and assessed the inventory prowvisioning for
reasonableness, ncluding challenging the appropnateness of
provisioning with reference to inventory ageing, both histoncal and
post year end performance and a review of the provision as a
percentage of gross stock year on year We have also considered the
impact of range changes and other specific known areas of overstock
on the required provision calculation

Property rationalisation provisioning

The Group has recorded a charge of £70 million in
relation to restructunng of the property porticlio n the
UK business The magndude of the associated
restructunng provision involves the use of estmales
and judgement, particularly with regard 1o property
exit and onerous lease costs Further information 1s
included in notes 1r}, 1s} and 4ni) to the Group
financial statements

We have obtaned an understanding of the process undertaken by
management to quantify the expected costs ansing from the
rationalisation of the property portfolio and have evaluated the design
and implementation of the associated controls We have assessed the
appropnateness of the provisions to ensure they meet the relevant
critena for recognition in accordance with the accountng standard
We have reviewed a sample of contractual lease agreements and
assessed management’s judgerments in relation to sublet income,
rent free penods and dilapidations against past evidence available
for similar properties We have substantively tested a sample of the
costs incurred dunng the penod to supporting documentation

Last year our report Included three other nsks which are not included n our report this year acquisition accounting (there have
been no significant acquisitions dunng the year followng the acquisition of Dixons Retail plc last year), assets held for sale,
discontinued operations and disposal accounting (as the accounting for the disposals was largely completed last year), and
taxation (there have been no significant changes noted in the current year and it 1s no longer an area which has a significant
effect on our audit strategy and the efforts of the engagement team) In the current penod, we have included an additional nsk
In relation to property rationalisation provisioning, reflecting the announcement of the restructunng of the property portfolio

made by the Group dunng the year

The descnption of nsks above should be read in comunction with the significant issues considered by the Audit Committee

discussed on pages 52 to 53

These matters were addressed in the context of our audr of the financial statements as a whole, and (n forming our opimion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opimon on these malters

Qur application of matenaiity

We define matenality as the magnitucie of misstatement in the financial statements that makes it probable that the economic

decisions of a reasonably knowledgeable person would be changed or influenced We use matenality both in planning the scope
of our audit work and in evaluating the results of our wark

We determined matenality for the group to be €17 5 milhon (2014/15 £14 0 million), which s below 5% (2014/15 5%} of
adjusted Headitne profit before tax, ang below 1% (2014/15 1%) of equity In using adjusted Headline profit before tax, we have
foliowed the Group’s defimition of Headline resulis in note 1a) and adjusted this to include the impact of the amortisation of
acquisition intangibles and pension finance costs due to ther recumng nature This is the same basis on which we calculated
matenality tn the pror year and the mcrease in matenality in the current year s due to the increase in the Group’s Headline profit
before tax We have assessed the use of a Headline measure to be appropnate as this continues to be a key dniver of business
value, 1s a cntical compenent of the financial statements and the main measure which management uses to monitor the
performance of the business and communicate this to shareholders

We agreed with the Audit Committee that we would report to the Committee all audit differences in excess of £600,000
{2014/15 £500,000), as well as differences below that threshold that, in our view, warranted reporting on qualitative grounds
We also report to the Audit Committee on disclosure matters that we entfied when assessing the overall presentation of the
financial staterments
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Independent Auditor’s report

An overview of the scope of our audit

We have reassessed our Group audit scope foliowing the completion of the disposal of certain European operations dunng the
year and accordingly have not performed a full scope audi :n Spain or an audit of specified account batances i Greece, both
of which we did in the prior year, although these components are both stifl subject to local statutory audits and are subject to
analytical procedures as part of work performed at the parent entity leve!

Our Group audit was scoped by obtaming an understanding of the Group and is enviranment, mcluding Group-wide controls,
and assessing the risks of matenal misstatement at the Group level Based on that assessment, we focused our Group audt
scope pnmanly on the audit work of the retail operations in the UK and the Nordics Each of these components requires a local
statutory audit

These locations represent the principal business untts and account for approximately 94% of the Group's revenue from
contmuing operations (2014/15 93%) and 84% of the Group’s Headlne profit before tax Each location was seiected to provide
an approprate bass for undertaking audit work to address the nsks of matenal misstatement identfied above Our audrt work at
these locations was executed at levels of matenality apphicable to each indvidual entity which were lower than Group matenahty
and ranged from £3 mulkion to £10 million (2014/15 £3 milien to £8 millon}

At the Dixons Carphone plc parent entity level we also tested the consolidation process and camed out analyhical procedures
to confirm our conclusion that there were no significant nsks of matenal misstatement of the aggregated financial information
of the remaining companents not subject to audit or audit of specified account balances

The Group audit team 15 closely Involved in the audit of the UK companents, being the largest part of the Group, throughout the year
incluchng attendance at key audr planmng and closing meetings In addition, the Group audit team continued to follow a programme
of planned wvisits to overseas components that has been designed sa that a senior member of the Group audn team visis the most
signficant locations where the Group audit scope was focused at least once each year For the year ended 30 Apnl 2016, senior
members of the Group audit team visted Norway, where the Nordics head office 1s located, on two oocasions

Opinton on other matters prescnbed by the Compantes Act 2006
In our opnon

- the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited has been properly prepared in accordance with the Companes
Act 2006, and

+ the information given in the Strategic Report and the Directors’ Report for the financial year for which the financiat statements
are prepared 1s consistent with the financial statements

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

Adequacy of explanations received and accounting records
Under the Gompanies Act 2006 we are required to report to you #, 10 our opINIoN

+ we have nol recewved all the mformation and explanations we require for our audit, or

+ adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent company, or retums adequate for our audit have not been
received from branches not visited by us, or

« the parent company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and retums
We have nothing to report in respect of these matters

Directors’ remuneration

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are also required 1o report if in OUr piNion certain disclosures of directors' remuneration
have not been made or the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited 1s not In agreement with the accounting
records and retums We have nothing to report ansing from these matters

Corporate Governance staternent
Under the Listing Rules we are also reguired to review part of the Corporate Governance Statement relating to the Company’s
compliance with certain provisions of the UK Corporate Govemance Code We have nothing to report ansing from our review

Our duty to read other information in the Annual Report and Accounts
Under Intemational Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland), we are required to report to you if, 1n our opmton, (nformation in the
Annual Report and Accounts IS

- matenally nconsistent with the information in the audited financial statements, or

« apparently matenally ncaorrect based on, or malenally nconsistent with, our knowledge of the Group acquired In the course of
performing our audt, or

+ otherwise misleading
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In particular, we are required to consider whether we have identfied any inconsistencies between our knowledge acquired
dunng the audit and the directors’ statement that they consider the annual report is farr, balanced and understandable
and whether the annual report appropnately discloses those matters that we communicated to the Audit Committee
which we consider should have been disclosed We confirm that we have not identfied any such inconsistencies or
misteading statements

Respectiva responsibiliies of directors and auditor

As explained more fully in the Statement of Directors’ responsibilities, the directors are responsible for the preparation of the
financiai statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view Our responsibility 1S to audit and express an
opinion on the financial statements n accordance with applicable law and Intemational Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland)
We also comply with Inlemational Standard on Quahty Control 1 {UK and Ireland) Qur audit methodology and tocls am to
ensure that our quality control procedures are effective, understood and applied Our quality controls and systems include our
dedicated professional standards review team and independent partner reviews

This report 1s made solely to the Company's members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Comparnies Act
2006 Our audit work has been underiaken so that we might state to the Campany's members those matters we are reguired to
slate to them in an auditor's report and for no other purpose To the fullest extent perrrutted by law, we do not accept or assume
responsibility to anycne other than the Company and the Company's members as a body, for our audrt work, for this repent, or
for the opinions we have formed

Scope of the audrt of the financial staternents

An audi!t involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements sufficient to gve reasonable
assurance that the financial statements are free from matenal risstatement, whether caused by fraud or error This includas an
assessment of whether the accounting policies are appropnate to the Group’s and the parent company's circumstances and
have been consistently applied and adequately disciosed, the reasonableness of significant accounting eshmates made by the
directors, and the overall presentation of the financial statements In addition, we read all the financial and non-financial
information in the annual report to identity matenal nconsistencies with the audited financial statements and to identify any
nformation that 1s apparently matenally incorrect based on, or matenally inconsistent with, the knowledge acquired by us in the
course of performing the audit If we become aware of any apparent matenal misstatements or nconsistencies we consider the
imphcations for our report

Go e A

John Adam {Semor Statdory Auditor)

for and on behalf of Delottte LLP

Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors
Longon United Kingdom

28 June 2016
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Consolidated income statement

Year ended 30 Apni 2018 13 months endad 2 May 2015
Non Non
Hoadline® Headline Total Heading Headhne Total
Note Emitiien Tmifon Cmillien Ll lon Emiliion £rndiicn
Continuing operations
Revenue 2 9,738 - 9,738 8,255 - 8,255
Profit / (loss) from operations before share of
results of joint ventures 2 472 (164} 308 400 {76) 324
Share of results of joint ventures 12 (4) - (4} - - -
Profit / {loss) before interest and tax 23 468 (164) 304 400 {76) 324
Finance income 17 - 17 15 - 15
Finance costs (38) (20) (58} (39) (13) (52)
Net finance costs 8 21) (20) 41) (24) (13) 37)
Profit / {loss) before tax 447 {184) 263 376 (89} 287
Income 1ax (expense) / credit 7 (110} 26 (B4) (91) 15 (76)
Profit / (loss) after tax = continuing operations 337 (158) 179 285 (74) 21
Loss after tax - discontinued operations 25 - (18) {18} - {114} (114)
Profit / (loss) after tax for the penod 337 (176) 161 285 (188} g7
Earnings per share {pence) 8
Basic - continuing operations 20 3p 15 6p 297p 220p
Diluted - continuing operations 28 4p 15 1p 28 7p 212p
Basic - total 14 Op 10 1p
Dhluted - total 13 6p 98p

*  Headline results exclude amortisation of acquisition intangibles, Merger integration and transachion costs, property rationalisaion costs,
acquisition related costs, nel inerest on defined benefit pension schemes and discontinued operations {compnsing Virgin Mokbate France
and Phone House operations in Germany, the Netherlands and Portugal) Such excluded stems are described as *Non-Headline' For further
datals ses notes 4 and 25 to the financial staterments
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Consolidated statement of comprehensive income

13 months
Year ended arcied
30 Apnd 2 May
2018 2015
Cmilion Cmilion
Profit after tax for the penod 161 97
items that may be reclassified to the income statement in subsequent years
Cash flow hedges
Fair value remeasurement losses {12) (14)
Gains transferred to camrying amount of inventories - 4
Exchange differences ansing on transiation of foreign operations 66 (107)
Other foreign exchange differences 2 3
56 (114)
items that will not be reclassified to the income statement in subsequent years
Actuanal (losses) / gains on defined benelit pension schemes - UK {5) (72)
- Overseas 2 1)
Taxation on defined benefit pension schemes 9} 15
Foreign exchange movements - (1)
12) (59)
Other comprehensive income / (expense) for the penod {taken to equity) 44 (173)
Total comprehensive income / (expense) for the penod 205 {76)
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Consolidated balance sheet

30 Agnl 2 May
2018 2015
Note Erilhion frndlion
Non-current assets
Goodwil 9 3,054 2,989
Intangible assets 10 540 525
Property, plant & equipment " 366 327
Interests in joint ventures 12 5 -
Trade and other recevables 14 408 318
Deferred tax assets 7 234 263
4,607 4,422
Current assets
nventory 13 958 920
Trade and other recevables 14 1,131 807
Cash and cash equivalents 15 233 163
2322 1,980
Assets held for sale 25 - 137
Total assets 6,929 6,549
Current llabiities
Trade and other payables 16 (2,310)  {1,961)
Deferred and contingent consideration 17 (12) (25)
Income tax payable {89 (89)
Loans and other borrowings 18 - (55)
Finance lease obligations 19 (2 @
Provisions 20 {78} {&4)
{2,491) (2,186)
Labilities associated with assets held for sale 25 - (68)
(2,491) (2,254)
Non-current habhlities
Trade and other payables 16 {423) {496)
Deferred and contingent consideration 17 {21) (6)
Loans and other borrowings 18 (409) (330)
Fmance lease obligations 19 (89) {89)
Retirement benefit obligations 21 (474} {489}
Deferred tax habiities 7 (115) (101)
Frovisions 20 47) 21)
(1,578) (1,532}
Total hatylities (4,069) (3,786)
Net assets 2,860 2,763
Capital and reserves
Share capital 22 1 1
Share premium reserve 2,256 2,256
Accumulated profits 1,398 1,369
Translation reserve (45) {113
Demerger reserve {750) {750)
Equity attnbutable to equity holders of the parent company 2,860 2,763

The financial statements were approved by the directors on 28 June 2016 and signed on therr behalf by

/

Sebashan James, Humphrey Singer,
Group Finance Cirector

Group Chiaf Executive
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity

Sha
Share pmmlu: Accumuiated Transiation  Demarger Totel
capiat esarve profits reserve reserve aguity
Note Emillion Emulion Erlion Lrnilhon £ruliion Lmillion
At 29 March 2014 1 283 1,355 {9) (750) 880
Profit for the period - - a7 - - a7
Other comprehensive iIncome and expense
recogrused directly in equity — - (69) (104) - (173)
Total comprehensive iIncome and expense
tor the penod - - 28 (104) - (76)
Ordmary shares issued - 1,873 - - - 1,973
Equity dividends 23 - - (52) — - (52)
Net movement in relation to share schemes - - 21 - - 21
Tax on items recognised directly in reserves - - 17 — - 17
At 2 May 2015 1 2,256 1,369 {113) (750} 2,763
Profit for the penod - - 161 - - 161
Other comprehensive income and expense
recogrused directly in equity - - (24) 68 - 44
Total comprehensive iIncome and expense
for the period - - 137 68 - 205
Net purchase of own shares 5 - - (5) - - (5}
Equity dividends 23 - - (106) - - {1086)
Net movement in relation to share schemes - - 10 - - 10
Tax on items recognised directly in reserves — - n - - N
At 30 Apnl 2016 1 2,256 1,398 45) {(750) 2,860
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Consolidated cash flow statement

13 montha
Year onded ended
30 Apnl 2 May
Note i‘.rmzu‘l’;: Emm
Operating activities — continuing operations
Cash generated from operations 2r 485 110
Specral contnbutions to defined benefit pension scheme (35) (28)
Income tax pad 156) (39)
Net cash flows from operating activittes 394 43
Investing activities - contuing operations
interest receved - 1
Cash acquired on the Merger - 347
Net cash outflow ansing from acquisition of subsidianes (50} (25)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant & equipment 24 11
Proceeds on sale of business and short term investments - 8
Acquisition of property, plant & equipment and other ntangibles {221) (1686)
Investment in joint ventures 9) -
Net cash fiows from investing activities (256) 176
Financing activities — continuing operations
Interest paid 20 (30)
Repayment of obligations under finance leases ) (N
Net purchase of own shares {5) -
Equity dmidends paid {106) 52)
Increase / {decrease) in borrowings 25 (211}
Bond redemption premium - 38
Faciity arrangement fees pad (5) (4}
Net cash flows from financing activities {117} {342)
Increase / {decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Continuing operations 21 (123)
Discontinued operations 25 32 3
53 (120}
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the penod 163 283
Currency translation differences 17 -
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the penod 27 233 163
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Notes to the Group financial statements

1 Accounting policies
a) Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
a going concern basis in accordance with IFRS as adopted
by the EU, IFRS issued by the Intemational Accounting
Standards Board, those parts of the Companies Act 2006
applicable to those companies reportting under IFRS and
Article 4 of the |AS Regulaton

The financial statements have been presented in UK Stering,
the functional currency of the Company, and on the histoncal
cost basts except for the revaluation of certain financial
instruments, as explained below All amounts have been
rounded to the nearest £1 million, unless otherwise stated
The prncipal accounting policies adopted are set out below

On 6 August 2014, the Group completed the merger of Dixons
and Carphone (the 'Merger"), which was implemented by way
of a scheme of arrangement of Dixons

Histoncally, the Group prepared its financial statements to the
Saturday closest to its accounting reference date of 31 March
Following the Merger, the Group changed its accounting
reference date to 30 Apnl which was the accounting reference
date of Dixons, but continues to draw up accounts to the
nearest Saturday Accordingly the comparative financial penod
15 for the 13 months ended 2 May 2015

The Group's income statement and segmenta! analysis idenlify
separately Headline performance angd Non-Headline tems
Headline performance measures reflect adjustments to total
performance measures The dwectors consider ‘Headline’
performance measures to be a more accurate reflection of the
ongoing trading performance of the Group and believe that
these measures provide additranal useful information for
shareholders on the Group's performance and are consistent
with how business performance 1s measured intemnally

Headbne results are stated before the results of discontinued
operations or exited / to be exited businesses, amortisation of
acquisiton intangibles, acquisiion related costs, any
exceptional items considered so one-off and matenal that they
distort undertying performance (such as reorganisation costs,
impaiment charges, property rationahisation costs and other
non-recurnng charges} and net pension interest costs
Businesses exiled or to be axited are those which the Group
has exited or committed to or commenced to exit through
disposal or closure but do not meet the defirtion of
discontinued operations as stipulated by IFRS and are matenal
to the resulis and operations of the Group

Non-Headline #ems in the current and prior penod compnse
amortisation of acquisiion intangibles, Merger integration and
transaction costs, property ratronalisation costs, acquisitron
related costs, net interest on defined benefit pension schemes
and discontinued operations (compnsing Virgin Motile France
and Phone House cperations in Germany, the Netherands and
Portugal} A reconcibation of Headline profit and tosses to total
profits and losses 1s shown in note 2 ltems excluded from
Headline results can evolve from one financial year to the next
dependmg on the nature of exceptional items or one-off type
activities descnbed above

Headline performance measures and Non-Headline
performance measures may not be directly comparable with
other similarty titled measures or ‘adjusted’ revenue or profit
measures used by other comparies

Gains on disposal of non-core businesses in Southem Europe
in the pnor penod have been included in Headine results net of
restructunng costs The net impact of these activities totalied
£5 midlion

Going concem

The Group's funding arrangements and processes for
managing its exposure to hquicity nsk are set out in notes
18 and 26

In thewr consideration of going cancem, the directors have
reviewed the Group's future cash forecasts and profit
projections, which are based on market data and past
expenence The directors are of the opimion that the Group's
forecasts and projections, which take into account reasonably
possile changes in trading performance, show that the Group
15 able to aperate within its current facilties and comply with iis
banking covenants for the foreseeable future In amving at ther
conclusion that the Group has adequate financial resources,
the directors were mindiul of the level of borrowings and
faciiies as set out in note 18 to the Group financial statements
and that the Group has a robust policy towards iquidity and
cash flow management

Accordingly the directors have a reasonable expectation that
the Company and the Group have adequate resources to
continue in operation for the foreseeable fture and
consequently the directors continue to apply the going
concem basis in the preparation of the financial statements

The pnncipal accounting policies are set out below
b} Accounting convention and basis of consohkdation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statemnents of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company (its subsidianes) Control is achieved where the
Company has the power over the investee, 1s exposed, or has
nghts, to vanable retum from its involvement with the investee,
and has the abity to use its power to affect its retums

The results of subsidianes and joint ventures acquired or sold
duning the year are included in the consotidated income
statement from the effective date of acquisition or up to the
effective date of disposal as appropnate, which 1s the date
from which the power to control passes Where necessary,
adjustments are made to the financial statements of
subsidianes to bnng the accounting polictes used into ine with
those used by the Group All Intercompany transactions and
balances are elrminated on consolkiation
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Notes to the Group financial statements

c¢) Foreign currency translation and transactions

Matenal transactions in foreign currencies are hedged using
forward purchases or sales of the relevant currencies and are
recogmsed in the financial statements at the exchange rates
thus obtained Unhedged transactions are recorded at the
exchange rate on the date of the transaction Matenal
manetary assets and habiittes denorminated in foreign
currencies are hedged, mainly using forward foreign exchange
contracts 10 create matching ligbiliies and assets, and are
retranslated at each balance sheet date Hedge accounting
as defined by IAS 39 ‘Financial Instruments Recogrition

and Measurement' has been applied by marking to market
the relevant financial instruments at the balance sheet date
and recognising the gawn or loss in reserves in respect of
cash flow hedges, and through profit or loss in respect of far
value hedges

The results of overseas operations are transiated at the
average foreign exchange rates for the year, and therr balance
sheets are translated at the rates prevailing at the balance
sheet date Goodwill and acquisition intangible assets are held
in the currency of the operation to which they relate Exchange
differences ansing on the translation of net assets, goodwill
and results of overseas operations are recognised in the
translation reserve Al other exchange differences are ncluded
n profit or loss it the year in which they anse except where the
Group designates financial instruments held for the purpose of
hedging the foreign currency exposures that result from
matenal transactions undertaken in foreign currencies as cash
fiow hedges, hedge accounting as defined by IAS 39 ‘Financial
Instruments Recognition and Measurement’ 15 applied The
effective portion of changes n the farr value of financial
instruments that are designated as cash flow hedges 1s
recognised in other comprehensive income The gan or loss
relatng to the ineffective portion 1S recogrused in profit or loss
Amounts previously recogrised 1n equity are reclassified to
profit or loss in the pencds when the hedged item s
recogrised i profit or loss

Where a foreign operation 1s disposed of, the gain or less on
disposal recognised m profit o loss 1s determined after taking
nto account the cumulative currency translation differences
that are attnbutable to the operation The pnncipal exchange
rates against UK Stering used in these financial statements are
as follows

Average Closing

2018 2015 2018 2015

Euro 136 128 128 135
Norwegian Krone 1251 10 86 177 115
Swedish Krona 1265 11 85 1174 1272

d) Revenue

Revenue compnses sales of goods and services excluding
sales taxes The following accounting polictes are apphed to
the principal revenue generating activities iIn which the Group
15 engaged

+ revenue from the sale of goods is recognised at the pont
of sale or, where later, upon delivery to the customer and
15 stated net of retums,

+ revenue eamed from the sale of customer support
agreements 1s recognised over the tem of the contracts
when the Group obtains the nght to consideration as a resuit
of performance of its contractual obligations Revenue in any
one year 15 recognised by reference to the stage of
comptetion of the contractual terms at the balance sheet
date The stage of completron s estimated with reference to
the preportion of the expected costs of fulfiling the Group's
total obhgations under the agreements, deterrmined by
reference to extenswve historical ctaims data Reliance on
historical data assumes that current and future expenence
will follow past trends The directors consider that the
quantity and quahty of data avartable provides an appropnate
proxy for current trends,

+ revenue ansing on services (including delivery and
nstallation, product repairs and product support), s
recogrised when the relevant services are provided,

commission recevable on sales, beng commission which 1S
contractually committed, and for which there are no engong
performance obhgations, is recognised when the sales to
which the commission relates are made, net of any provision
for promotiona! offers and netwerk operator performance
penatties Comrussion ncludes a share of consumer artime
spend, to the extent that it can be reliably measured and
there are no ongoing service obkgations Where the time
value of money has a matenal impact, an appropnate
discount 1s applied such that revenue (s recogrised at an
amount equal to the present value of the future
consideration to be recewed,

- other ongoing revenue s recogrised as 1t 15 eamed over the
lives of the relevan! customers,

. volume bonuses receivable from network operators are
recogrised when the conditions on which they are eamed
have been met,

.« insurance revenue relates to the sale of third party insurance
products Sales commussion recewved from third parties 1S
recogmsed when the insurance policies to which i relates
are sold, to the extent that it can be reliably measured and
there are no ongong service obhigations Revenue from the
provision of insurance administration services 1S recognised
over the life of the relevant policies,
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For MVNO operations where the Group 1s the pnncipal,
revenue Is recognised in the penod in which the
telecommunication service, such as artime or data, i1s
provided,

+ revenue from the sale of prepard credits is deferred until the
customer uses the airime or the credit expires, and

revenue generated fromn the proviston of fixed and mobile
network services is recogrised as it 1s eamed over the ives
of the relevant customers

e) Discontinued operations and assets and habilties
held for sale

A discontinued operation i1s a component of the Group which
represents a significant separate ine of business, either
through its activity or geographical area of operation, which
has been sold, is held for sale or has been closed

Where the sale of a component of the Group 1s considered
highly probable and the business is available for immediate
sale in its present condition, it 1s classified as held for sale
Such classification assumes the expectation that the sale will
complete within one year from the date of classification Assets
and habiities held for sale are measured at the lower of
carrying amount and far value tess costs to sell Once
classified as held for sale, intangible assets and property, plant
& equipment are no longer amortised or depreciated

f) Share-based payments

Equity seftled share-based payments are measured at far
value at the date of grant, and expensed on a straght ine
basis over the vesting penod, based on an estimate of the
number of shares that will eventually vest

Where share-based payments are subject only to service
conditions or sntemal performance cntena (such as EPS
targets), far value 1s measured using either a Binomial model
or a Black Scholes mode! Where share-based payments have
external performance ¢ntena (such as TSR targets) a Monte
Carlo model 1s used to measure far value

For all schernes, the number of options expected to vest s
recalcutated at each balance sheet date, based on
expectations of ieavers pror to vesting For schemes with
intema! performance cntena, the number of options expeacted
to vest is also adjusted based on expectations of performance
against target No adjustment 1s made for expected
performance against extemnal performance cntena The
movement in cumulative expense since the previous balance
sheet date 15 recogrused in the incame statement, with a
comesponding entry in reserves

Charges also anse on loans that are provided to employees
to fund the purchase of shares as part of long term incentive
plans To the extent to which the loans are not, in certain
circumstances, repayable, the cost of the relevant part of
such loans 1s expensed over the course of the relevant
mneentive plans

g) Retirement benefit obligations

Company contnbutions to defined contnbution pension
schemes and contnbutions made to state pension schemes for
certain overseas employees are charged to the ncome
statement on an accruals basis when employees have
rendered sennce entithing them 1o the contnbutions

For defined benefit pension schemes, the difference between
the market value of the assets and the present value of the
accrued pension habdities s shown as an asset or lability in the
consolidated balance sheet The calgulation of the present
value 1s determined using the projected unit credit method

Actuanal gamns and losses ansing from changes m actuanal
assumptions together with expenence adjustments and actual
returmn on assets are recognised in the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income and expense as they anse Such
amounts are not reclassified to the iIncome statement in
subsequent years

Defined benefit costs recogrused in the ncome statement
compnse mainly net interest expense or ncome with such
nterest being recognised within finance costs Net interest s
calculated by applying the discount rate to the net defined
benefit habrlity or asset taking into account any changes in the
net defined benefit obligation dunng the year as a result of
contnbution or benefit payments

h) Leases

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of
the lease transfer substantially all the nsks and rewards of
ownership to the lessee The determination of the classification
of property leases 1s made by reference to the land and
buildings elements separately All leases not classified as
finance leases are classified as operating leases

The Group as a lessor

Rental mcome from operating leases 1s recognised on a
straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease Imitsal
direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an cperating
lease are added to the carying amount of the leased asset and
recognised on a straight-lne basis over the lease term

The Group as a lessee

Finance leases

Assets held under finance leases are capitalised at their fair
value on acquisition or, If lower, at the present value of the
minimum lease payments, each determined at the nception of
the lease and depreciated over ther estmated useful lives or
the lease term f shorter The corresponding cbligation to the
lessor 1s ncluded in the balance sheet as a hability Lease
payments are apportioned between finance charges and
reduction of the lease gbligation Finance charges are charged
to the iIncome statement gver the term of the lease n
proportion to the capital element cutstanding

Operating leases

Rental payments under operating leases are charged to the
income statement on a straight-lne basis over the penod of
the lease Contingent rentals ansing under operating leases
are recogrised as an expense in the penod in which they
are incurred
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Benefits receved and recewable as an incentive to enter into
operating leases are amortised through the income statement
over the penod of the lease

i} Taxation

Current tax

Current tax, 1s provided at amounts expected to be pad
or recovered using the prevaling tax rates and laws that
have been enacted or substantially enacted by the balance
sheet date and adjusted for any tax payable in respect of
previous years

Deferred lax

Deferred tax iabilties are recognised for all ternporary
differences between the carrying amount of an asset or kability
i the balance sheet ard the tax base value and represent tax
payable n future penods Deferred tax assets are recognised
1o the extent that it 15 probable that taxable profits will be
available against which deductible temporary differences

can be utlised

Deferred tax habilities are recogrnised for taxable temporary
differences arising on mvestments in subsichanes, except
where the Group 1s able to control the reversal of the
temporary difference and it 15 probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future No
prowston 1s made for tax which would have been payable on
the distnbustion of retained profits of overseas subsidianes or
associated undertakings where it has been determined that
these profits will not be distnbuted in the foreseeable future

A deferred tax asset 1s recogmised only to the extent that it 1s
probable that future taxable profits will be available against
whigh the asset can be ublised Current and deferred tax s
recognised in the ncome statement except where it relates to
an rtern recognised directly in reserves, in which case it1s
recogrused directly In reserves

Deferred tax ts measured at the average tax rates that are
expected to apply in the years in which the trming differences
are expected to reverse, based on tax rates and laws that
have been enacted, or substantially enacted by the balance
sheet date

Deferred tax assets and hablities are offset aganst each other
when they relate to income taxes levied by the same tax
junsdiction and when the Group intends to settle its cument
tax assets and llabilities on a net basis Deferred tax balances
are not discounted

i) Goodwall

On acquisition of a subsidiary or associate, the fair value of the
consideration is allocated between the dentifiable net tangible
and intangible assets and habilities on a farr value basis, with
any excess consideration representing goodwill At the
acquisiion date, goodwill 1s allocated to each Cash Generating
Unit (CGU) expected te benefit from the combination and held
in the currency of the operations to which the goodwill relates

Goodwill 1s not amortised, but 15 reviewed annually for
impairment, or more frequently where there 1s an inchcation
that goodwill may be imparred Impainment 1S assessed by
measuring the future cash flows of the CGUs to which the
goodwill relates Where the future discounted cash flows are
tess than the canying value of goodwill, an impairment charge
1s recogrused i the income staternent

On disposal of subsidiary undertakings and businesses, the
relevam goodwill 1s included in the calculation of the profit or
loss on disposal

k) Intangible assets

Acquisition intangibles

Acquisiion inlangibles compnse brand names and customer
relatonships purchased as part of acquisitions of businesses
and are capitalised and amortised over their useful economic
lives on a straight ine basis These intangible assets are stated
at cost less accumulated amertisation and, where appropnate,
provision for impairment in value or estimated loss on disposal

Amortisation ts provided ta write off the cost of assets on a
straight line basis on the following bases

7% 1o 20% per annum
13% to 50% per annum

Brands

Customer relationships

Software and heences

Software and hcences include costs incummed to acquire the
assets as weli as intemal infrastructure and design costs
incurred in the development of software in orgder to bnng the
assets into use

Intemally generated software s recognised as an intangible
asset only if it can be separately identified, it 1s probable that
the asset will generate future economic benefits which exceed
one year, and the development cost ¢an be measured relably
Where these conditions are not met, development expenditure
1s recognised as an expense n the year n which it 15 incurred
Costs associated with developing or maintaining computer
software are recogmsed as an expense as Incurred unless they
increase the future economc benefits of the asset, in which
case they are capitalised

The expenditure captalised ncludes the cost of matenails,
direct labour and an appropnate proportion of overheads
Subsequent expenditure s capialised only when it increases
the future econormic benefits embodied in the specific asset
to which it relates

Software 15 staled at cost less accumulated amortisation and,
where appropnate, prowston for impaimertt i value or
estimated loss on disposal Amortisation is provided to wnte
off the cost of assets on a straight Iine basts between three
and eight years
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1) Property, plant & equipment

Property, plant & equipment are slated at cost less
accumnulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment
losses

With the exception of land, depreciation 1s provided to write off
the cost of the assets over their expected useful Iives from the
date the asset was brought into use or capable of being used

Rates applied to different ciasses of property, plant &
equipment are as follows

1%4% — 4% per annum
10 - 33%% per annum

Land and buildings
Fixtures, fitings and equipment

Assets capitalised as finance leases are depreciated over the
term of the lease

Property, plant & equipment are assessed on an ongong

basis to determine whether circumstances exist that could lead
to the conclusion that the net book value is not suppartable
Where assets are to be taken out of use, an imparment

charge 1s levied Where the property, plant & equipment form
part of a separate CGLU, such as a store or group of stores, and
business inchcators extst which could tead to the conclusions
that the net book value 1s not supportable, the recoverable
amount of the CGU 1s deterrmined by caiculating its value in
use The value in use 1s calculated by applying discounted
cash flow modelling to management's projection of future
profitability and any impaiment 1s determined by companng
the net book value with the value in use

my} Financial assets and investments

The Group's financial assets compnse cash and cash
equivalents, and those recevables which involve a contractual
nght to receve cash from extemal parties Financial assets
comprise all tems shown in notes 14 and 15 with the
exception of prepaymentis Under the classifications stipulated
by IAS 39, cash and cash equivalents and denvatve financial
instruments, which are further descnbed in notes 1p) and 26,
are classified as "loans and recevables’ and *held for trading
unless designated in a hedge relationship’, respectively Trade
and other receivables (excluding denvative financial assets) are
classified as ‘loans and recevables’

n) Interests in jomnt ventures

Joint ventures are joint arangements whereby the parties that
have joint control of the arangement have nghts to the net
assets of the arrangement These consalidated financial
staternents include the Group's share of the total recognised
gans and losses of jont ventures using the equity method less
any impaimment losses When the Group’s interest in a joint
venture has been reduced to nil because the Group’s share of
losses exceeds its interest in the joint venture, the Group only
provides for additional iosses to the extent that it has incurmed
legal or constructive obligations to fund such losses, or where
the Group has made payments on behalf of the joint venture
Any associated goodwill 1s included within the carmying value
of the investment and 15 assessed for mpairment as part of
that investment

o) Inventones

Inventaries are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value Cost compnses direct purchase cost and those
overheads that have been incurred in bringing the inventones
to thexr present location and condition less any atinbutable
discounts and bonuses received from suppliers in respect of
that inventory Net realisable value 1s based on estimated
seling pnce, less further costs expected to be incurred to
disposal Provision is made for obsolete, slow moving or
defective items where appropnate

p) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents compnse cash at bank and in
hand, bank overdrafts and short term highly ligud deposts
which are subject to an insignificant nsk of changes in value
Bark overdrafts, which form part of cash and cash equivalents
for the purpose of the cash flow statement, are shown under
current habities

q} Borrowings and other financial kabiites

The Group's financial habwities are those which involve a
contractual cbkgation to deliver cash to extemal parties at a
future date Fmancial habiities compnse all tems shown in
notes 16 to 19 with the exception of deferred income and other
non-financial creditors

Borrowings

Borrowings in the Group's balance sheet represent committed
and uncommitted bank loans Borrowings are initally recorded
at the consideration received less directly attnbutable
transaction cosis Transaction fees such as bank fees and
legal costs associated with the secunng of financing are
capitalised and amortised through the income statement over
the term of the relevant faciiity All other borrowing costs are
recognised in the incorme statement in the penod in which they
are incurmed

Under the classifications stipulated by IAS 39, borrowngs,
finance lease cbligations and trade and other payables
{excluding denvative financial habiibes) are classified as
financial habiihies measured at amortised cost' Denvative
financial instruments, which are descnbed further in note 26,
are classified as ‘held for trading unless designated na
hedge relationship’

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables (excluding denvative financial
liabilities} are recordled at cost Denvative financial instruments,
are inthally recorded at far value and then subsequentiy
remeasured to fair value at each balance sheet date and

are held within assets or habilities as appropnate Gains and
losses ansing from revaluation at the balance sheet date are
recognised in the income statement unless the dernvatives

are designated as hedges and such hedges are proved to

be effective
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r) Provisions

Prowvisions are recognised when a legal or constructive
obligation exssts as a result of past events and 1t 15 probable
that an outfiow of resources will be required to seftle the
obligation and a rehable estimate can be made of the amount
of the obiigation Provisions are discounted where the tme
value of money 1s consdered 1o be matenal

All provisions are assessed by reference to the best avalable
information at the balance sheet date

s) Critical accounting judgements and kay sources of
estimation uncertainty

Cntical accounting judgements and estimates used n the
preparabon of the financial statements are continually reviewed
and revised as necessary

Whilst every effort 1s made to ensure that such Judgements and
estimates are reasonable, by therr nature they are uncertamn,
and as such changes may have a matenal impact The
pnncipal iterns subject to such judgements and estimates are
as follows

Revenue recognition

For certain transactions with MNOs, commuission recevable on
mobile phone sales depends on customer behaviour after the
point of sale The method of measunng the far value of the
revenue and associated receivables at the date of sale is to
estimate all future cash flows that will be receved from the
network and then discount these based on ther timing of
receipt The associated recewvables are subsequently
measured al amortised cost with remeasurements due to
changes in custorner behaviour recognised 1n the Income
statement Assumptions are therefore required, particulary in
redation to levels of customer default within the contract penod,
expected levels of customer spend, and customer behaviour
beyond the initial contract penod  Further details of estimates
used to value commission receivable, cammying amounts at the
balzance sheet date, effects on the current year income
statement of changes in estimates and sensitivity analysis of
the camying value can be found in note 26

Income recewved from suppliers such as volume rebates

The Group has provided enhanced disclasure on suppher
tunding following guidance issued by the Financial Reporting
Council n Decermber 2014 This disclosure 1s amed at assisting
the users of the financial statements in understanding the
judgements and estimates made in the recogruton of supplier
funding in the Group's financial statements

The Group's agreements with suppliers contan a price for untts
purchased as well as other rebates and discounts which are
summansed below

Volume Rebates This income 15 inked to purchases mads from
suppliers and 1s recogrised as a reduction to cost of goods sold
as inventory is sold Uneamed rebales that relate to nventory
not sold are recognised within the value of inventory at the
pencd end Where an agreement spans penod ends, judgement
1s required regarding amounts 1o be recognised Forecasts are
used as well as hustoncal data in the estimatien of the level of
income recogrised Amounts are only recogrised where the
Group has a clear entitlement 1o the recerpt of the rebate and a
reliable estmate can be made

Discounts This Income 1s received from supphers on a pnce per
unit basis The level of estimation 1s minimal as amounts are
recognised as a reduction to cost of goods sold based on the
agreement lemms and only once the tern 1s sold

Marketing income  This ncome s received N relation to
marketing activiies that are performed on behalf of supplers
Judgement 1s required to ensure that income 1S only recogrised
when all perforrmance obligations withun the contract have been
fulfilled and the ncome 1s expected to be collected

Suppher funding amounts that have been recognised and
not invoiced are shown within accrued income on the
balance sheet

inventory valuation

inventones are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable
value Cost compnses drect purchase cost and those
overheads that have been incurred in bnnging the inventones
to their present focation and conditton Net realisable value
represents the estimated selling price less all estmated and
directly attnbutable costs of completion and costs to be
incurred m marketing, seling and distnbution Net realisable
value includes, where necessary, provisions for slow moving
and damaged inventory The provision represents the
difference between the cost of stock and its estimated net
realisable value, based on ageing and other tactors
Calculation of these prowvisions requires judgements to be
made which include forecast consumer demand, the
promotional, competitive and economic environment and
inventory loss trends

Recoverable amount of non-current assels

All non-current assets, including goodwill and other intangible
assets, are reviewed for potential impamment using estmates
of the future economic benefits attinbutable to them Any
estimates of future economic benefits made in relation to non-
cumrent assets may differ from the benefits that ulhmately anse
and matenally affect tite recoverable value of the assat The
methodology and key assumptions used in assessing the
carrying value of goodwill 15 set out in note 9 and i respect of
intangible assets and property, plant & equipment in note 1k)
and 10}

Trade and other recevables

Provisions for irecoverable recevables are based on extensive
hustoncal evidence and the best available information in
relation to specific 1ssues, but are unavoidably dependent

on future evenlis
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Taxathon

Tax laws that apply to the Group's businesses may be
amended by the relevant authonties, for example as a result of
changes in fiscal circumstances or prionties Such potential
amendments and their application to the Group are morutored
regularly and the requirement for recognition of any habilities
assessed where necessary The Group s subject to Income
taxes in a number of different jJunsdictions and judgement Is
required n determnining the appropnate provision for
transactions where the ultmate tax determination s uncertain
In such circumstances, the Group recognises liabilities for
anticipated taxes due based on best information available and
where the anticipaled hability 1s probable and estmable Where
the fina! outcome of such matters differs from the amounts
intally recorded, any differences will impac! the income tax
and deferred tax provisions in the year to which such
detenmination 1 made Where the potential iapihities are not
constdered probable, the amount at nsk 1s disclosed unless an
adverse outcome is considered remote The Group has
recognised pravisions in refation to uncertain tax positions of
£54 mullion at 30 April 2016 (2015 £41 milion}

Deferred tax s recogrused on taxable losses based on the
expected ability to utiise such losses This ability takes
account of the business plans for the relevant companies,
potential uncertainties around the longer term aspects of these
busness plans, any expiry of taxable benefits and potential
future volatiity in the local tax regimes

Prowisions

The Group's provisions are based on the best informatwon
avalable to management at the balance sheet date
Judgement is required to assess the bkelhood of success of
any claim made against the Group and if any iability will anse
The most sigruficant provision currently 1s 1n relatian to the
store reorganisation programme descnbed in note 4 The costs
and tming of cash flows are dependent on exiting the property
lease contracts or subletting the property Significant
assumphons are used in estimating the ultmate cost to the
Group including the nature, tirring and cost of exiting a lease
and the level of sublease ncome The future costs assumed
are inevitably only estimatas, which may differ from those
ultimatety incurred Refer to note 20 for further mformation

Defined benefit pension schemes

The surplus or deficit in the UK defined benefit pension
scheme that 1s recogrised through the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income and expense 1S subject to a number
of assumptions and uncertanties The calculated habihities of
the scheme are based on assumptions regarding salary
increases, inflation rates, discount rates and member longevity
Such assumptons are based on actuanat advice and are
benchmarked aganst similar pension schemes Refer to note
21 for further infonmation

Acquisttion accounting

Accounting for the Merger involved the use of assumptions in
relation to the future cash flows associated with acquisition
intangibles, and the use of valuation techmques in order to
amve at the far value of the other non-current assets and
habilities acquired The assumpticns apphed were based on
the best information avaidable to management and valuation
techmgues were supported by third party valuation experts
Nevertheless, the actual performance of these assets and
habities may differ from the valuations denved through this
exercise Judgement was required in identifying the acquirer
in accordance with the cntena detaled in IFRS 3 ‘Busmness
Combinations' The factors considered when identifying the
acquirer included i} the entity which 1ssued equity to effect the
transaction and the terms on which equity interests were
exchanged ii) the relative voting rights of the entities i) the
compos:tion of the board and seror management post
transaction w) the existence of any significant minonty
interests, and v) the relative size of the entities On the basis of
this anatysis we concluded that Carphone Warehouse Group
plc was the acquirer
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t) Recent accounting developments

There were no new IFRSS or IFRIC interpretations that had to
be implermented dunng the year that sigmificantly affect these
financia! staternents

The following new standards, which are applicable to the
Group, have been published but are not yet eftective and have
not yet been adopted by the EU

« IFRS 9 ‘Financtal instrurnents’ This standard is the first step
i the process to replace AS 38 ‘Financal Instruments
Recogrition and Measurement’ IFRS 9 introduces new
requirements for classifying and measunng financial assets
and affects the accounting for financial assets - IFRS 915
applicable for penods beginning on or after 1 January 2018

«+ IFRS 15 'Revenue from Contracts with Customers' provides
guidance on the recogrition, timing and measurement of
revenue IFRS 151s applicable {or penods beginning on or
after 1 January 2018

- IFRS 16 'Leases’ establishes pnnciples for the recognition,
measurement, presentation and disclosure of leases —
IFRS 16 is applicable for penods begmning on or after
1 January 2019

it is not practicable to provide a reasonable estimate of the
effect of the adoption of the above standards until a detaled
review has been complete, howaver, iIFRS 16 will require the
Group to recognise a lease hability and a nght-of-use asset for
most of those leases previously treated as operatng [eases
This will affect both non-current and current hiabilibes, fixed
assets and the measurement and disclosure of expense
associated with the leases which under the new standard will
be treated as depreciation and financing expense which were
previously recogrsed as operating expeses over the term of
the lease

Certain other new accounting standards, amendments to
existing accounting standards and interpretations which are in
issue but not yet effective, either do not apply to the Group or
are not expected to have any matenal impact on the Group's
net results or net assets

2 Segmental analysis

The Group's operating segments reflect the segments routinely
reviewed by the Board and which are used to manage
performance and allocate resources This information 1s
predorminantly based on geographical areas which are either
managed separately or have simiar trading charactenstcs
such that they can be aggregated together into one segment

As explamed in note 265, Virgin Mobile France, the Phone
House operations n Gemnany, the Netherards and Portugal
have been treated as discontmued operations and are
therefore excluded from this segmental analysis

The Group's reportable segments have been identified
as follows

+ UK & Ireland compnses operations in the UK and lreland
as well as operations m arports in the UK and Ireland

Nordics operates in Norway, Sweden, Finland, Denmark
and Iceland

+ Southemn Europe compnses operations m Spain and Greece

« Connected World Services 1s the Group's B2B operation
which leverages the specialist skills, operating processes
and technology of the Group to provide managed services
to third parties looking to develop ther awn connected
world solutions

UK & Ireland, Nordics and Southem Europe are involved in the
sale of consumer electronics and mobile technology products
and services, pnmanly through stores or oniine channels

Transactions between segments are on an arm's length basts
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2 Segmental analysis continued
{a) Segmental results

Year andad 30 Apnl 2018
Connected
uxa Southem Warld
reland Nordics Eusope Sarvices Eliminations Total
Cmillion Smullion £milion Cmillion £rullion Emillion
Headline external revenue 6,404 2,632 550 152 - 9,738
Inter-segmental revenue 60 - - - {60) -
Total Headhine revenue 6,464 2,632 550 152 {60) 9,738
Headline EBIT before share of results of
joint ventures 365 79 17 1" - 472
Share of Headkne resulis of joint ventures B - - - 4 — {4)
Headlne EBIT 365 79 17 7 - 468
Reconciation of Headline profit to total profit before tax
Year ended 30 Apni 2018
Amoriisation
Headlino of Dixons Property Pension Totat
profit / acquisdion Retad rat It s schama profit /
{loss) intanglbles Merger costs tolated Interast floss)
£mllion Cmillion Lruliton Emillion £million Ermilhon Emiltlon
UK & Ireland 365 (24) (37) {70} {1) - 233
Nerdics 79 (13) (5) - (S) - 56
Southern Europe 17 @ - - - - 15
Connected World Services 11 {1) ©6) - - - 4
EBIT before share of results of joint ventures 472 (40} {48) 7o) (6) - 308
Share of results of jont veniures (4} - - - - - (4}
EBIT 468 (40) (48) (70} (6) - 304
Finance income 17 - - - - - 17
Finance costs (38) - (4) - - {16} (58}
Profit / (loss) before tax 447 40) (52) {70) {6) 18) 263
b
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2 Segmentat analysts continued
{a) Segmental results continued

13 months anded 2 May 2015

Connected
UK & Southe n Waorld
treland Nordics Euwrope Serwces  Elimlnations Total
Ereutbon Cmillion Collson Tmillion Cmitlion Emitkon
Headline external revenue 5,506 2,055 564 130 - 8,255
Inter-segmental revenue 64 - - — (64) -
Total Headline revenue 5,570 2,055 564 130 (64) 8,255
Headline EBIT before share of results of
joint ventures 313 g0 20 7 - 400
Share of Headline results of joint ventures - - - - - -
Headline EBIT 313 60 20 7 - 400
Reconcitation of Headhne profit to total profit before tax
13 months ended 2 May 2015
Haagune Amortisabon Dixons Pension Totat
proft/  of acqusition Aetai schema profit /
{loss} intangibles. Mergear interest floss)
tmilion Emithon £mdlion tmilhon Emiflian
UK & Ireland 313 (22) {13) - 278
Nordics &0 (1Q) (4) — 46
Southern Europe 20 () - - 18
Connected World Services 7 {1) — - 6
Unaltocated — - {24) - (24)
EBIT before share of results of jont ventures 400 (35) (41) — 324
Share of results of joint ventures - - - - -
EBIT 400 {3%) {41) - 324
Finance ncome 15 - - — 15
Finance costs (39) - — (13) (52}
Profit / {loss) before tax a76 {35) a1 (13) 287

Unallocated Merger related costs compnse those that are not directly attnbutable to a specific segment
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2 Segmental analysis continued
b) Geographical information

Revenues are allocated to countnies according to the entity's country of domicile Revenue by destination is not matenally

different to that shown by dormicile
c) Other information

Non-current assets Capttal expanditure  Oepreciaton/Amorisation

13 months 13 months 13months

Year anded ended Year endad anded Yeur ended endad

30 Apnl 2 May 30 April 2 Mey 30 Apd) 2 May

2018 2015 2018 2005 2018 2015

£million Emition £rmiltion Cmilllon Smithon Emikion

UK & ireland 3,086 2,916 152 127 129 106
Nordics 1,208 1,152 57 30 40 32
Southem Europe 62 86 5 4 6 9
Connected World Services 17 5 7 5 2 2
4,368 4,159 221 166 177 149

"Non-current assets above exclude deferred tax assets and assets related to discontinued operations

3 Revenue and profit / {loss) before interest, taxation and share of results of joint ventures

Year anded 30 Apnl 2018

13 monns 2 May 2015

Non Non-
Headiine Headline Total Headhne Haadline Total
! £miliion £million Emltion £million £rmion £million
Revenue 9,738 - 9,738 8,255 - 8,255
Cost of sales {7,5653) — (7,553) (6,118) - (6,118)
Gross profit 2,185 - 2,185 2,137 - 2,137
Operating expenses {1,713) {164} (1,877) (1,737 {(76) (1,813}
Profit / (loss} before interest, taxation and share
of results of joint ventures 472 {164} 308 400 {76} 324

Revenue can be further analysed as follows

Yo endad 30 April 2018

13 months ended 2 May 2015

Non- Nor-
Haadkne Headline Torad Headlne Headhing Touwl
Emillion Emillion Emitlion Crmekon Emillon Cmullion
Sale of goods 7,018 - 7,018 5,641 - 5,641
Ravenue from services 2,720 - 2,720 2,614 - 2,614
9,738 - 9,738 8,255 - 8,255

Revenue from services predorminantly compnses those relating to commussions from MNOs, insurance, customer support

agreements, delivery and installation, product repairs and product support
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3 Revenue and profit / {loss) before interest, taxation and share of results of joint ventures continued
Profit / (loss) before interest and taxatwon for continuing operations 1S stated after charging / {crediting) the following

13 months
Year ended snded
30 Apn) 2 May
2018 2ms
Ermullion £milfion
Depreciation of property, plant & equipment 88 83
Amortisation of acquisition intangibles 40 a5
Amortsation of other intangibles 39 31
Impairment of trade recewvables 1 8
Impasrment of inventory 55 68
Loss on disposal of property, plant & equipment 1 5
Cost of nventory recogrused as an expense 7,343 6,069
Rentals paid under operating leases
Nen-contingent rent 340 304
Contingent rent 17 22
Rentals recewed under operating leases - subleases 5) 3
Investment property rental income (n (n
Net foreign exchange losses 2 1
Share-based payments expense 10 10
Other employee costs (see note 5) 1,051 8a0
Auditor's remuneration compnses the following
13 months
Year ended anded
s 30 April 2 May
2016 2018
£rmlilion fmilion
Fees payable to the Company’s auditor for the audit of the Company's annual accounts 01 g1
Fees payable to the Company’s auditor and its associates for thew audit of the
Company's subsidianes 14 19
Total audit fees 15 20
Tax advisory services —_ 02
Tax complance services 02 02
Other assurance services 02 13
Other services - 02
19 39

In addition to the above fees, £0 1m (2014/15 £0 1m) of non-audit fees were paid to the auditor in respect of tax comphance and
tax advisory senvices to discontinued operations  Other assurance services in the pnor penod related prnmanly to the Merger in
respect of which the extemal auditor acted as reporting accountant
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4 Non-Headline items

13 months
Year ended enced
34 Aprit 2 May

2016 2015
Note Emillion tmilion

Inctuded in profit / (loss) before interest and tax

Amortisation of acquisttion intangibles o] {40} (35)
Exceptional tems- Dixons Retait Merger ® {48) (41)
- Property rationalisation costs (] {70) -
- Acquisition related ) 5) -
{164) (76}

Included in net finance costs

Net non-cash finance costs on defined benefit pension schemes ] {16} {13)

Exceptional tems - Dixons Retall Merger Iy (4) _
Total impact on profit / {loss) before tax (184) {89)
Tax on Non-Headline items 26 15
Total impact on profit / (loss) after tax {158) (74)

Non-Headlne items also include discontinued operations, which compnse the results of Virgin Mobile France and the Phone
House operations in Germany, the Netherlands, and Portugal The post-tax results of these businesses have been reported
separately and are further descnbed in note 25

(i} Armortisation of acquisiion intangibles

A charge of £40 million arose dunng the year in relation to acquisition intangibles arnsing on the CPW Europe Acquisitton and
the Dixons Retail Merger (2014/15 £35 mullon}

Dwxons Carphone plkc Annual Report and Accounts 2015/18 105

Financial statements




Financial statsments

Notes to the Group financial statements

4 Non-Headline tems continued

1

Exceptional tems - Dixons Retail Merger

12 months

Year ended endod

30 April 2 May

2016 2015

Emilign Emillion

Merger transaction costs - 9
Merger integration costs (48) {32}
Revolving Credit Facility fee wnte off (4) -
(52) (a1)

(i)

V)

)

The Dixons Retal Merger 1s descnbed further n notes 1 and 24 The Merger has given nse to the following costs which have
been treated as exceptonal items

« Merger transaction costs compnse banking and prolessional fees i retation to the transaction

- Merger integration costs relate to the reorganisation of the Group following the Merger and compnse the rationalisation
of certan operational and support functions These costs mainly compnse professional fees, employee severance and
property costs associated with the integration process

- Revolving Credit Facility fee wnte off relates to the deferred facility fees wntten off following the recent refinancing
The fees incurred were a result of the Merger and the financing required to faciitate the Merger at short notice

Property ratwonalisation costs

Following the Merger it was announced that the Group would launch a major roll aut of its fully refurbsshed 3-in1 store
concept in the UK & Ireland  This involves merging the remaining PC World and Currys stares and inserting a Carphone
Warehouse, reducing the overall store portfalio by 134 The costs associated with this mihative, bemng early lease termination
premiums, onerous lease provisions, diapidations and fixed asset impaiments, have been treated as exceptional tems In
addition a further 50 stores have been exited in the year 1n the normal course of business and ther exit costs have not been
ncluded n the above item

Acquisition related

Acquisition related compnses an increase in the deferred consideration payable on a business acquired by Dixons in the
Nordics in 2011712 following better than expected actual and forecast trading (€5 mullton), and current year costs ncurred
in the acquisition of Simplifydigital and Infocare (£1 mithon) (note 24)

Net non-cash financing costs on defined benefit pension schemes

Under 1AS 19 'Employee Benefits’, the net interest charge on defined benefit pension schemes 1s calculated by applying the
carporate bond yield rates applicable on the last day of the previous financial year to the net defined benefit obligation
Corporate bond vield rates vary over time which in tum creates volatility in the income statement and balance sheet and
results In a non-cash remeasurement cost which can be volatile due to corporate bond yield rates prevailmg on a parbcutar
day and is also unrepresentative of the actual mvestment gains or losses made or the habiities pad and payable Consistent
with a number of other companes, the accounting effects of these non-cash revaluations of net defined benefit pension
liabilitres have been excluded from Headline earmings

108

Dinons Carphone pic Annual Report and Accounts 2015/16




5 Employee costs and share-hased payments
a) Employee costs

The aggregate remuneration recognised in the income statement for continuing operat:ions 1§ as follows

13 months

Yeoar onded ended

30 Apnt 2 May

2016 2015

Lrmithon Tmilion

Salanes and performance bonuses 921 78
Social secunty ¢osts 107 89
Gther pension costs 23 20
1,051 830

Share-based payments 10 10
1,061 900

Aggregate remuneration for discontinued operations are salanes and performance bonuses of £6 million (2014/15 £46 mutlion),

socal securtty costs of €1 milion (2014/15 £8 millon) and other pension costs of £nil (2014/15 £1 millien)

The average number of employees for continuing operations 15

13 months
Year ended snded
30 Apnl 2 May
2018 2015
Number Number
UK & Ireland 27,608 23,582
Nordics 10,283 6,492
Southern Europe 3,764 2,675
Connected World Services 192 85
- 41,847 32,834
The average number of employees for discontinued operations is 341 (2014715 2,127)

Compensation eamed by key management, compnsing the Board of directors and senior executives, 15 as follows
13 mantha
Year ended enged
30 April 2 May
2018 2015
Lrmllion £milion
Short-term employee benefits 12 15
Termination benefits - 1
Share-based payments 2 1
14 17

Dunng the 13 months ended 2 May 2015 and year ended 29 March 2014 loans were advanced t¢ members of key management
in relation to the Carphone Warehouse Share Plan At 30 Apnl 2016, loans to key management in relation to these schemes

totalled €10 mullion (2015 €16 million) Interest 1s charged on loans at market rates and interest of £0 3 million has been

recognised dunng the penod (2014/15 £0 4 million)

Further mformatien about indvidual directors’ remuneration, share interests, share options, pensions and other entitlements,

which form pan of these financial statements, 1S provided in the Remuneration Report
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5 Employee costs and share-based payments continued

b} Share-based payments

i) Share Plan

Duning the year ended 29 March 2014, the Group introduced the Share Pian which allows participants to share 10% of the
neremental value created in the Group in excess of an opening value {assessed on the value of CPW over a three-month penod
pror to approval of the plan by shareholders in Jung 2013 and, for new entrants dunng the 13 months ended 2 May 201 5,
assessed on the aggregated value of CPW and Dixons Retail over a one-month period pnor to the announcement of pretiminary
merger discussions in February 2014} and beyond an annual rate of return of 7% on invested capital The plan 1s underpinned
by a mimimurmn annual compound TSR growth of 5% and outperformance of the median TSR of the FTSE 250

Participants acquired, at market value, participation shares n a subsidiary company that hoids the Group's interests in CPW
Europe and, snce the Merger, Dixons Retal The Group granted loans to parbcipants at a comrmercial rate of interest to acquire
the shares Loans are ordinanly repayabie in full f performance condiions are met

The perfarmance of the scheme waill ordinanily be measured on or around June 2017, when 60% of the shares vest, with 40%
defermed for a further year When the awards vest, the value of the shares held by participants will be based on the incremental
value (if any) of Dixons Carphone in excess of the opening valuation together with the mnimum return on invested capital These
shares will then be purchased by the Company for cash and / or the Company's ordinary shares

A ‘bad leaver’ will be required to transfer the participation shares to such party as the Company designates for an amount equal
to the total amount outstanding under the loan If the market value of the shares 1s less than the amount of the outstanding loan
{and any accnued interest) then the participant may be required to repay up to 20% of the shortfall out of theirr own resources

A participant shall be a ‘good leaver' at the sole discretion of the Remuneration Comrmitiee and may be pemmnitted to retam an
award notwithstanding the termination of thew employment

The mecharucs of the plan may be vaned by the Remuneration Commitiee i necessary o ensure that participants are neither
advantaged nor disadvantaged by a vanation of the share capital of the Company, bona fide merger, reconstructon or similar
reorgamsation

1} Share option schemes

Ounng the year ended 29 March 2014, the Group Introduced a share option scheme which allows nil-pnced options to be
offered to senior employees who are not participants in the Share Plan

Options were first granted under the scheme n January 2014 The options are subject te continuing employrment and are subject
to performance conditions based on a combination of absolute TSR performance and relative TSR performance against the
FTSE 250 or FTSE 350

Following the Merger with Dixons Retail plc on 6 August 2014, the Company assumed the obligaton to satsfy outstanding
Dixans share options awarded under the Dixons Retail Employee Share Optron Scheme and Executive Share Option Plan, with
employees eligible to acquire 0 155 Dixons Carphone shares for each Dixons aption held All outstanding Dixons awards had
vested before the Merger, and were exercisable within six months post-Merger
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5 Employee costs and share-based payments continued
b) Share-based payments continued

1) Share option schemes continued

The fallowing table summanses the number and weighted average exercise pnce of share options for these schemes

Outstanding at the beginning ot the pernod

Dixons options assumed on Merger
Granted during the perod

Lapsed dunng the perod

Exercised dunng the period

Outstanding at the end of the penod
Exercisable at the end of the period

Weighted average market price of options exercised n the period
Weighted average remaining contractual ife of awards outstanding
Exercise price for options outstanding

Yeur anded 13 months ended

30 Apnl 2016 2 May 2015
Numbar WAEP Number WAEP
milion £ radlllon £
17 — 9 —
—_ — 1 —

1 - 1 -

(4) - &) -

— — {1) -
14 - 17 —

13 monihs

Year ended ended

30 April 2 May

2018 205

- £4 18

B3yrs 91yrs

€l il

) SAYE scheme

The Group has SAYE schemes which allow participants to save up to £500 per month for ether three or five years At the end

of the savings penod, participants can purchase shares in the Company based on a discounted share pnce determined at the
commencement of the schemea Participants in the Dixons Retall plc SAYE scheme had the opportunity to roll over therr awards
into options over shares in the merged entity, Dixons Carphone, on completion of the Merger Employees who chose to roll over
receved O 155 options in ixons Carphone in exchange for each Dixons option held The savings penod and exercise date of
these options reman unchanged Iif employees chose not to roll over therr options, they could exercise the value saved within
six months of the Merger in return for 0 155 Dixons Carphone shares for each Dixons option held

The following table summanses the number and WAEP of share options for these schemes

Year ended 13 months ended

30 Apn) 2018 2 May 2015

Number WAEP Number WAEP

milhon £ midlion £

QOutstanding at the beginning of the period 13 271 3 224
Dixons options assumed on Merger - - <] 120
Granted dunng the penod 4 377 7 344
Exercised dunng the period 2) 103 (2} 224
Lapsed dunng penod (2) 3.13 {1) 176
Qutstanding at the end of the penod 13 3.22 13 27
Exercisable at the end of the penod - -— - -
13 months

Year ended ended

30 April 2 May

2016 2015

Woeighted average market price of oplions exercised in the period £4.38 £3 82
Weighted average remaning contractual Iife of awards outstanding 26yrs 28yrs
£209- €092-

Range of exercise prices for options outstanding £3.77 £3 a4
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5 Employee costs and share-based payments contrnued
b) Share-based payments continued

) Fair value model

The farr value of optons was estrated at the date of grant using a Monte Cario model The modet combines the market pnce
of a share at the date of grant with the probabiiity of meeting performance cntena, based on the histoncal performance of
Carphone Warehouse and, for options 1ssued subsequent to the Merger on 6 August 2014, the historical performance of Dixans

The weighted average far value of cphons granted dunng the penod was £0 74 (201 4/15 £1 34) The following table hsts the

nputs to the model
13 months
Year anded ended
30 Apr 2 May
20168 2ns
£ml- £l -
Exercise pnce £33 77 £3 44
Dividend yreld 23% 22%
27% - 3% -
Historical and expected volatlity 28% 5%
4 4-
Expected option life 10 yrs 10 yrs
£4 35 £4 14

Weighted average share price

v) Charge o the income statemment and entnies in reserves

During the year ended 30 Apnl 2018, the Group recognised a non-cash accounting charge to profit and loss of £10 milion
(13 months ended 2 May 2015 £10 million} in respect of equity settled share-based payments, with a coresponding credit

through reserves
<) Employee Share Ownership Trust (ESOT)
30 April 2018 2 May 2015
Markot Nomiinal Market Nommnal
value value Number valus valug Numbaer
Emiitien emilfion milhon £millon Tmifion million
Investment in own shares 3 - 07 4 - 09
Maximum number of shares held dunng the penod 10 - 22 18 - 52

The Group has two ESOTSs for the purposes of sabsfying potential awards to employees under the Group's share plans The
number of shares held by the trusts, which are shown n the table above, remain held for potential awards under outstanding
plans The costs of funding and administenng the ESOTs are charged to the ncome statemnent in the year to which they relate

Shareholders® funds are reduced by the net book value of shares held in the ESOTs

Dunng the year, 1 9 millon shares were purchased by the Dixons Retail plc ESOT for net cash consideration {after the receipt

of the exercise prnce from employees) of £5 milion
The ESOTSs have waived ther rights to receve dvidends and the shares have not been allocated to specific schemes
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6 Net finance costs

13 montrs
Year endad endsg

30 Apni 2 May

2018 2015

Emillion Ceniltion

Unwind of discounts on trade receivables 17 15
Finance income t7 15
Interest on bank overdrafts and loans (16) (17}
Finance lease interest payable 6) {4)
Net interest on defined benefit pension obhgationst! (16) {13)
Unwind of discounts on lhabilities (10) {11}
Armortisation of facility fees 2) (3)
Revolving credit facility fee write off P 4) -
Other nterest expense (4) (4)
Finance costs (58) (52)
Total net finance costs 41) 3N
Headline total net finance costs (21) {24)

) Headiine finance costs exclude net interest on defined benefit pension obligations and the wnte off of revolving cred!t facility fees (see note 4)
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7 Tax
a) Tax expense

The corparation tax charge compnses

13 montng
Yeor enced anded
30 Apnl! 2 May
018 2015
Emdlon £rmilion
Current tax
UK corparation tax at 20% (2014/15 20 92%") - Headline 4l 61
- Non-Headline * {15) (12)
Overseas tax - Headhne 23 25
- Non-Headhne * 2) 3}
77 7
Adjustments made in respect of prior years
UK Corporation tax -~ Headline n 6
- Non-Headline ‘ (6} -
Overseas tax - Headline (] 2
(12) 4
Total current tax 65 75
Deferred tax
UK tax - Headlne 19 10
- Non-Headhne * - 2
Overseas tax - Headhne 2 (2}
- Non-Headline * (3) (3)
18 7
Adjustments in respect of pnor years
UK Corporation tax - Headline 2 8)
- Non-Headhne * - 1
Overseas tax - Headline {1) 1
1 6)
Total deferred tax 19 1
Total tax charge B4 76
Headline tax charge™ 110 9

{) The UK corporation tax rate for the 12 months ended 30 Apni 2016 was 20% (13 months enced 2 May 2015 was 21% for the 12 months to
31 Mareh 2015 and 209 thereafter}
M The Headine tax charge excludes those items marked *

Tax related to discontinued operations 1s included in the figures set out in note 25
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7 Tax continued

b) Reconciiation of nottona) to actual (effective) tax rate

The pnncipal differences between the total tax charge shown above and the amount calculated by applying the standard rate
of UK corporation tax to profit / {loss) before taxation are as follows

Yaar ended 30 Aprl 2019

13 menths ended 2 May 2015

Hoadline Hu:l?:; Statutory Headline Hu:n Statutary

Lmilson Lrmullion Cmillion CeniBon Emllkon Ormiion
Profit / (loss) before taxation 447 {184) 263 376 {89) 287
Tax at UK statutory rate of 20% {2014/15 21%) 89 {37 52 79 (19) 60
Differences in effective overseas tax rates 5 - S 7 )] 6
Adjustments in respect of prior years 5) {6) (11) (2} - {2}
ltems attracting no tax rehef or abilty 15 16 3 1 5 16
Movement in unprovided deferred tax 2 1 3 5) - {5}
Effect of change in statutory tax rate 3 - 3 - - -
Cther differences 1 - 1 1 — 1
Total tax charge / (credit) 110 (26) 84 91 (15) 76

The effective tax rate on Headline earnings of 25% (2014/15 249%) has increased compared to the pnor year due to the change
in statutory tax rate and certain non-deductible items manly in the UK

Although a further reduction in the UK corporation tax rate to 17% from 1 Apnl 2020 has been announced by the UK
Government, this bas not been substantively enacted by the balance sheet date and so has not been used in the recognition

of deferred tax balances

ttems attracting no tax refief or hability relate pnmanty to nan-deductible lease exit costs and capital expenditure upon which no
tax deductions are available in respect of capital allowances {2014/15 related pnmanly to non-deductible lease exit costs}

c) Deferred tax
Acceiersted Retirement LOSseS Oiher
capital benafit camed  temporary
allowancas obligations torward diffarences Total
£million Lmilhon Lrullion Ermillion Cmilion
At 20 March 2014 21 - 3 12 36
Dixons Retail Merger (41) 83 - 58 100
Credited / (charged) directly to ncome statement 3 — 1 5} 1
Credited to eguity - 15 — 12 27
Al 2 May 2015 (17) 98 4 77 162
Charged directly to :ncome statement (1] —_ (1) ") (19}
Charged to equity - (13) - 1) (24)
Reclassification - 1)) - 1 -
At 30 Apnl 2016 (24) B4 3 56 119
Deferred tax compnses the foliowing balances
30 April 2 Msy
2018 2015
Lrmtiion £miion
Deferred tax assets 34 263
Deferred tax habiities {118) {101)
119 162
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7 Tax continued

Analysts of deferred tax relating to items (charged) / credited {0 equity m the penod
Yoar ended 13 months
30 Apnl 2 May
2018 a5
Cmilion milEon
Defined benefit pension schemes (13) 15
Share-based payments ) 12
Other temporary differences (4) -
{24) 27

The Group has total unrecognised deferred tax assets refatng to tax losses of £1,414 million (2014/15 £1,444 milhon) No
deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of the losses due to the lack of certainty regarding the avallatalty of future

taxable profits The unrecognised tax losses may be camed forward indefinitely

There were no temporary differences associated with undistnbutable eamings of subsidianes for which deferred tax liabiities

had not been recognised at the end of either year
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8 Earmungs per share

13 months
Yaar ended anded
30 April 2 May
2018 2015
£milkon £mBhon
Headline earrungs
Continuing operations 337 285
Total earmings / (loss)
Continuing operations 179 211
Discontinued operations (18) {114)
Total 161 97
Milion Mitiion
Weighted average number of shares
Average shares in 1ssue 1,151 964
Less average holding by Group ESOT {1) (3}
For basic eamings per share 1,150 961
Dilutive effect of share options and other incentive schemes 38 32
For diluted earnings per share 1,188 983
Pance Pence
Basic eamings per share
Total (continuing and discontinued operations) 140 101
Adjustment in respect of discontinued operations 16 19
Continuing operations 156 220
Adjustments for Non-Headline - contmuing operatians {net of taxation) 137 77
Headline basic eamings per share 293 297
Dituted earnings per share
Total {continuing and discontinued operations) 136 98
Adjustment in respect of discontinued operations 15 114
Continung operations 151 212
Adjustments for Non-Headline - cantinuing eperations (net of taxation} 133 75
Headhine ciluted earmings per share 28 4 287

Basic and diluted eamings per share are based on the profit for the penod attnbutable to equity shareholders Headline eamings
per share 15 presented in order to show the underlying performance of the Group Adustments used to detenmine Headime

earmings are descnbed further int note 4
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9 Goodwiil

30 April 2 May

2018 2015

Ermtlion Ermilion
At beginming of period 2,939 481
Addittons {note 24) 28 -
Dixons Retail Merger - 2,629
Impairment - {35)
Foreign exchange 39 (86)
At end of period 3,054 2,989
Cost 3,054 2,989
Accumulated impairment - -

3,054 2,989
a) Carrymng value of goodwill
The components of goodwill compnse the following businesses

30 Apnl 2 May

2018 2015

Lmiliion E£mithon
UK & Ireland — Dixons 1,634 1,633
UK - Carphone Warehouse 405 405
Ireland - Carphone Warehouse 7 7
Nordics 959 916
Spamn 30 28
Simplifychgital 19 -

3,054 2,989
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9 Goecdwill continued
b) Goodwill impairment testing

As required by I1AS 36, goodwill 1s subject to annual imparment reviews These reviews are camed out using the
followang cntena

business acquisitions generate an atinbuted amount of goodwll,

the manner n which these businesses are run and managed 15 used to determine the CGU grouping as defined n IAS 38
‘Impamment of Assets’,

+ the recoverable amount of each CGU group i1s determined based on calculating its value in use (VIU),

«+ the VIU s calculated by applying discounted cash flow modelling to management's own projections covenng a five-year
penod,

« cash flows beyond the five-year penod are extrapolated using a leng-term growth rate equivalent to long-term forecasts
of Gross Domestic Product (GDFP) growth rates for the relevant market, and

+ the VIU s then compared to the carrying amount in order 1o determine whether impaimment has occured

The key assumptions used in calculating value in use are
+ management’s projections,

- the growih rate beyond five years, and

+ the pre-tax discount rate

The long tenm projections, which have been approved by management, have been prepared using three-year strategic plans as
a base extrapolated to five years and which have regard 1o the relative performance of competitors and knowledge of the current
market together with management’s wiews on the future achievable growth in rmarket share and impact of the committed
imtiatives  The cash flows which denve from these five-year projections include ongoing capital expenditure required to develop
and upgrade the store network in order to maintain and operate the businesses and to compete in their markets In forming the
five-year projections, managerment draws on past expenence as a measure to forecast future performance

Key assumptions used in determining the five year projections compnse the growth in sales and costs over this period The
compound annual growth rate in sales and costs can nse as well as fall year-on-year depending not only on the year five targets,
but also on the current financial year base These targets, when combined, accordingly drive the resutting profit margins and the
profit in year five of the projections which is in tum used to calculate the terminal value in the VIU calcutation Histoncal amounts
for the businesses under impairment review as well as from other parts of the Group are used to generate the values atinbuted

to these assumptions
The value attnbuted to these assumptions for the most significant components of goodwill are as follows

30 April 2016 2 May 2015
Compound  Compound Compound Compound

annual annuat  Growth mte Pre tax annual annual  Growth rate
growth growth beyond discount grawth growth beyond Pre tax
In sales in coRts five years rale in sales in costs flve years  discount rate
UK - Carphone Warehouse 28% 26% 21% 8 8% 32% 25% 29% 95%
UK & Ireland - Dixons 23% 21% 21% 88% 23% 20% 29% 95%
Nordics 44% 43% 20% 8.1% 4 9% 48% 22% 85%

Growth rates used were determined based on third party long-term growth rate forecasts and are based on the GDP growth rate
for the terntones in which the businesses operate The pre-tax discount rates apphied to the forecast cash flows reflect current
market assessments of the ime value of money and the nsks specrfic to the CGUs

¢) Goodwill impairment sensitivity analysis

A sensitivity analysis has been performed on each of the base case assumptions used for assessing the goodwili with other
vanables held constant Consideration of sensitivities to key assumphons can evolve from one financial year to the next

The directors have concluded that there are no reasonably possible changes in key assumptions which would cause the camying
amount of goodwill to exceed s value in use
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10 Intangible assets
Acquisrion intangiblas
Software
Customer and
Brands ratationships Sub-totgl licences Total
€million Emslhion Crullion Emillien £million
Balance at 3 May 2015 336 26 362 163 525
Acquired on acquisition of subsidiary (note 24) - 20 20 3 23
Additons - - - 63 63
Amortisation (26} (14) (40) (29 (79)
Foreign exchange 7 {1} 6 2 8
Balance at 30 Apn) 2016 7 31 348 192 540
Cost 364 73 437 277 714
Accumulated amortisation and impairment losses (47) (42) {89) (B5) {174)
Balance at 30 Apr 2016 317 31 348 192 540
Acquestion Intangibles
Software
Cusipmer and
Brangs  relatonships Sub total licences Total
£miion Lmitton {mitilon £mmon CmiMon
Balance at 30 March 2014 B 42 50 86 136
Dixons Retall Merger 365 8 373 30 403
Additions - 2 2 86 88
Amortisation {21) (17) {38) (32) {70}
tmpairment (1 {6) o )] (10}
Disposal of business - (1) (1) - 1
Reclassification to held for sale - - - ] @
Foreign exchange (15) 2) (17 2) (19)
Balance at 2 May 2015 336 26 362 163 525
Cost 357 54 411 209 620
Accumulated amorhisation and impairment losses (21} (28) {49 {46) 95)
Balance at 2 May 2015 336 26 362 163 525

Software and licences include assets with a cost of £17 milhion (2015 £35 million) on whieh amortisation has not been charged

as the assets have not yet been brought into use

Indnadually matenal intangible assets

Customer relationships and brands include ntangible assets which are considered individually matenal 1o the financeal

statements The pnmary intangible assets, therr net book values and remaining amortisaticn penods are as follows

Remainng

Net book  amortsation

value penod

Emildon Yaars

CurrysPCWeorld 151 14
Elgiganten 66 14
Elkjep 49 14
Giganth 31 14
Simphiydigital 20 5
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11 Property, plant & equipment

Fixtures,
fittings and
Land and othar
buldings  eguipment Total
£million £rmilion Emillion
Balance at 3 May 2015 93 234 327
Acquisition of subsidiary (note 24} - 1 1
Additions 33 124 157
Depreciation (&) (92) (98)
Disposals (20) )] (23)
Impairment (note 4} - () )
Foreign exchange - 6 6
Balance as at 30 Apni 2016 100 266 366
Cost 117 451 568
Accumulated depreciation | 17 (185) (202)
Balance as at 30 Apnl 2016 100 266 366
Included in net bock value as at 30 Apnl 2016
Land not depreciated 8 - 8
Asgsets in the course of construction - 40 40
Assets held under finance leases 57 - 57
Fixtures
fittngs and
Land and othar
Pinaren  non __trilon
Balance at 30 March 2014 40 50 90
Dixons Retail Merger 70 196 266
Additions 4 81 85
Depreciation (8) {75) 83)
Disposals 9 (5} (14)
Transferred to assets held for sale (2) (@) {4}
impairment (1) (2) (3)
Foreign exchange {1} 9) {10)
Balance as at 2 May 2015 93 234 327
Cost - 104 319 423
Accumulated depreciation (11} (85) (96)
Balance as at 2 May 2015 93 234 327
Included in net book value as at 2 May 2015
Land not depreciated 3 - 8
Assets in the course of construction — 16 186
Assets held under finance leases &5 2 67

Freehold land and buildings include the Group's investment property The far value of investment property was determined by
an extemal, independent property valuation expert as €14 milion (2015 £14 milkon} The valuation expert has appropnate
recognised professional qualfications as well as recent expenence in the location and category of the propertres being valued
Tha valuation of properties was performed by reference to appropnate yield rates and market evidence of recent transactions
Future mimimum lease income in respect of the Group's investment properties 1s set out in note 30
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12 Interests in joint ventures
The prncipal interests in joint ventures are as follows

30 April 2 May

2018 2015

Nama Country of incorporation or reg:stration Nature of DUsIness Interest Interest

Sprint Connect LLC Urnited States of Amernica Distnbution 50 0% nfa
The Group's interests in joint ventures are analysed as follows

30 Apnl 2 May

20168 2015

Eruliion Ernilllon

Opening balance - -

Additions 9 -

Share of results ) -

5 p—

Closing balance

The share of results recogrised all refate to continuing operaticns There were no tems of other comprehensive mcome in the
penod and therefere the share of results represents the Group's share of tatal comprehensive income The Group has entered

Into a jotnt venture with Spnnt Corporation to manage Spnnt branded stores In the US The Group has commutted to investing up

to $32 milion 1o fund the roll-out and operation of up to 500 stores

13 Inventory
30 Apni 2 May
2018 2015
Lrlion £midkon
Firushed goods and goods for resale 958 920
14 Trade and other receivables
30 Apnl 2 May
2016 2015
Emillion £mihon
Trade receivables 1,304 1,010
Less proviston for bad and doubtful debts {20} (20)
1,284 990
Prepayments 100 124
Other recevables 115 74
Accrued income 22 22
Dervative financial assets 18 15
1,539 1,225
Non-current 408 318
Current 1,131 907
1,539 1,225

The majonty of trade and other recewvables are non-interest beanng Non-current recewvables mainly compnse COmmission
receivable on sales Where the effect 1s matenal, trade and other recevables are discounted using discount rates which reflect

the relevant costs of financing The carying amount of trade and other recewvables approximates far valve
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14 Trade and other recewables continued

30 Apni 2016 2 May 2015
Gross trade Neottrade Gross trade Net rade
recewvables Provision recewadbles recewablas Provision  recelvablas
£miflion £milion Emillian Tmilion £rnuiion Lmiion
Ageing of gross trade recevables and provisions
Not yet due 1,186 N 1,179 848 3] 842
Past due:
Under two months 57 {1) 56 52 (5) 47
Two to four months 14 (Y 13 17 - 17
Qver four months 47 {1%) 36 93 9 84
118 {13} 105 162 (14 148
1,304 (20) 1,284 1,010 (20) 990
Maovements in the provision for impaimment of trade receivables 1s as follows
30 April 2 May
2018 2015
Emiflion £mifhon
Opening balance (20 (20}
Dixons Retall Merger - {19)
Charged ta the iIncome statement (11) 8)
Recewables written off as irrecoverable 1" 16
Disposals - 2
Transferred to assels held for sale - 8
Foreign exchange - 1
Closing balance {20) 20)

The Group’s trade recewvables included the following amounts which were past due, but for which the Group has made no

provision based on histoncal rates of recoverability

30 April 2 May
018 2005
£million Emillion
Under two months 56 47
Two to four months 13 17
Qver four months 36 84
105 148

15 Cash and cash equivalents
30 April 2 May
2018 2015
Emillion Cmition
Cash at bank and on deposit 233 163

Cash at bank and on deposit includes short term bank deposits which are availlable on demand Within cash and cash

equivalents, £67 million (2015 £82 milhion) 1s restncted and predominantly compnses funds held under trust to fund potential
customer support agreement habilities as well as by the Group's msurance businesses to cover regulatory reserve requirements

These funds are not avarable to offset the Group's borrowings

Dixons Carphone pic Annual Report and Accounts 2015/16 121

Financlal statements




Financial statements

Notes to the Group financial statements

16 Trade and other payables
30 Apni 2016 2 May 2015
Non- Nan-
Current cumrgnt Current current
Emilon Comihion Ermiblhon Crutiion
Trade payables 1,373 - 1,097 -
Other taxes and social secunty 271 - 205 -
Denvative financial instruments 42 - 26 -
Other creditors 108 206 103 277
Accruals 360 60 384 72
Deferred income 156 157 146 147
2,310 423 1,961 496

Non-current other creditors relate pnncrpally to property leases that are deemed to be over-rented These liabiies are unwound
over the penod of the relevant lease, of up to 21 years The carying amount of trade and other payables approximates thewr

far value
17 Deferred and contingent consideration
30 Apri 2018 2 May 2015
Non- Non
Current curment Cument curent
Lmillion Lrmillton Lmitkon Tmillion
Deferred consideration 12 21 25 6
30 Apni 2 May
16 2015
Emlllion Cmiien
Opening balance 31 50
Dixons Retail Merger - [
Recognised on acquisition of subsidiary {note 24) 23 -
Settlements {26) (25)
Change in valuation {note 4) 5 -
Closing balance 33 a1

Eam-out considaration of up to £23 million is payable n cash and 15 contingent on the performance of Simphfydigttal and
the Epoq kitchen business against eamings growth targets over a penod of up to five years The far value of contingent
consideraton arrangemants has been estimated by applying the income approach A reduction In growth assumphons
used in the far value methodology would result in a reduction in the amount of contingent consideration payable
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18 Loans and other borrowings

20 Apn) 2 May
2018 2ms
Lmillion £milion
Current habiitties

Bank overdrafts - 55
- 55

Non-current llabilities
Loans and other borrowings 409 330
409 330

Committed faciities

On 8 October 2015 the Group signed a new muth-currency revolving credit faciity for €860 mulion, which matures in October
2020 and replaced the multi-currency term and revolving credrt faciity which was previously in place The rate of interest payable
on borrowings 1s a margin of 1 35% per annum over the applicable reference rate

The facilities require guarantees 1o be provided by certain Group entities under the faciitres

Bank overdraft and other uncommitted faciities

The Group has overdraft and uncommitted money market facilities totaling approximately £128 million (2015 £157 mullion)

19 Finance lease obligations

30 Apnil 2019 2 May 2015

FPresent Present

value of vatue of

Mintmum minimum Mirmum minimum
loase lease lease lgase

payments paymants payments payments

Lrmiian Lmution Tmution

£mition

Amounts cue

Within one year 9 8 8 a8

In more than one year and not more than five years as 29 33 26

In more than five years 111 54 114 57
155 91 155 1

Less future finance charges (64) - (64) -
Present value of lease obligations 91 91 =] a1
Less amounts due within one year 2) {2) (2) @
Amounts due after more than one year 89 89 89 89

The majonty of finance leases relate to properties in the UK where obligations are denominated in Stering and remaining lease
terms vary between 9 and 20 years The effective bomowing rate on indmidual leases ranged between 551% and 8 67% (2015
551% and B 15%) Interast rates are fixed at the contract date All leases are on a fixed repayment basis and no amangements

have been entered into for contingent rental payments

The far value of the Group's lease obligations approximates their camrying amount
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20 Provisions

0 Aprit 2016 2 May 2015
Reorg- Reorg-
anisation Sakes Proparty Other Toral ANSALON Sales Property Qther Total
Emillion Emiillion Emilion £rmullion Emillron Cmdion Erilion Tmilion Crruli on fmitkon
At beginning of
perod 23 6 25 21 75 22 10 - 18 50
Dixons Retall Merger - - - - - 31 - 27 - 58
Addtions 15 42 71 4 132 39 2 1 6 48
Released i the
penod - - - M (1 (4) - - - @
Utihsed in the period (26) (40} (6) 9) (81) (63) (5 3) {1) (72)
Reclassification to
held for sa'e - - - - - m - - M 2
O:sposal of business - - - - - - - - W) 4]
Foreign exchange - - - — - m (1 - - 2)
At end of penod 12 8 90 15 125 23 6 25 21 75
Analysed as
Current 12 7 44 15 78 20 6 7 21 54
Nen-current - 1 46 —_ 47 3 - 18 - 21
12 8 90 15 125 23 <] 25 21 75

Reorganisation provisions relate pnncipally to Merger related costs and redundancy costs and other onerous contracts ansing
as a result of reorganisation, and are only recogmsed where plans are demonstrably committed and where approprate
communication to those affected has been undertaken at the balance sheet date

Sales provisions relate to 'cash-back’ and similar promotions, product warranties, product returns, and network operator
performance penalties The anticipated costs of thess itarns are assessed by reference to histoncal trends and any other
nformation that 1s considered to be relevant

Property provisions relate mainly to costs associated with operating lease early exist premiums, onerous leases and provisions
for dilapidations Additions dunng the year ended 30 April 2016 relate pnncipally to praperty rationalisation costs as descnbed
inncte 4

Other provisions relate 10 warranties provided in relation to business disposals and prowvisions In respect of the expected costs
of insurance claims, contingent habilittes recogmised through business combinations, and other onerous contracts

Non-current provisions are expected to be utlised overa perod up to ten years
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21 Retirement and other post-employmaent benefit obligations

30 Apnil 2 May

2018 2015

Emillion Tmitkon

Retirement benefit obligations — UK 472 486
-~ Nordics 2 3

474 489

The Group operates a defined benefit and a number of defined contnbution schemes The principal scheme which operates in
the UK includes a funded defined benefit section whose assets are held in a separate trustee administered fund The scheme s
valued by a qualified actuary at least every three years and contnbutions are assessed in accordance with the actuary's advice
Since 1 September 2002, the defined benefit section of the scheme has been closed to new entrants and on 30 Apnl 2010 was
closed to future accrual with automatic entry into the defined contnibution section being offered to those active members of the
defined benefit section at that time Membership of the defined contnbution section 1s offered to eligible employees

In the Nordics dwision, the Group operates small funded secured defined benefit pension schemes, which are also closed
to new entrants, with assets held by a Ife insurance company as well as an unsecured penston arrangement In addition,
contnbutions are made to state pension schemes with defined benefit charactenstrcs

The defined benefit pension schemes expose the Group to actuanal nsks such as longer than expected longewity of members,
lower than expected retum on investments and higher than expected inflation, which may increase the liabilities or reduce the
value of assets of the plans P

a) Defined contnbution pension schemes
The pensian charge in respect of defined contnbution schemes was £23 million (2014/15 €20 million)
b) UK Befined benefit pension scheme - actuanal valuation and assumphons

A full actuanal valuation of the scheme was fast camed out as at 31 March 2013 and showed a shortfall of assets compared
with habilities of £373 millon A ‘recovery plan' based on this valuation was agreed with the Trustee post the Dixons Retall
Merger such that contnbutions in respect of the scheme year end of 31 March of £35 million were made in 2015/186, nsing to
£36 milhon for 2016/17 Contnbutions rise to £47 milion by 2024/25 The next tnennial valuation has commenced and will be
as at 31 March 2016

The prncipal actuanal assumptions as at 31 March 2013 were

Rata per annum

Discount rate for accrued benefitst - Growth portfolio 59%

- Matching portfolio 38%
Rate of increase 1o pensions 0% -3 8%
Inflation 34%

+ The discount rate 1s based on a lnear de-nsking methodology which assumes the Scheme's investmant strategy swiiches investments from
growth azsets (such as equiies) to matchng assets (such as bonds) over a pencd of 20 years from 2013 to 2043 so that in 30 years' tme
the asset portfolio 1s projected to be 80% invested in matching assets

At 31 March 2013, the market value of the scheme's investments was £812 milllon and, based on the above assumptions,
the value of the assets was sufficient to cover 63% of the benefits accrued to members with the habilires amounting to
£1,185 milion
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21 Retirement and other post-employment benefit cbliigations continued
€) UK Defined benefit pension scheme - IAS 19

The following summanses the components of net defined benefit expense recogmsed i the consolidated mcome statement,

the funded status and amounts recogmised in the consohdated balance sheet and other amounts recognised In the statement
of comprehensive mcome The methodologies set out In IAS 19 are different from those used by the scheme actuanes in

determinung funding amangements

@ Pnncipal assumptions adopted

The assumphions used in calculating the expenses and cbligations are set by the directors after consuitatian with the
independent actuanes

30 Apnit 2May
2016 2015
Emillion Emudhon

Rates per annum
Discount rate 35% 35%
Rate of increase in pensions in payment / 29%/ 29%/
deferred pensions (pre / post Apni 2006 accrual) 21% 19%
Inflation 295% 31%

The Group uses demographic assumptions underlying the last formal actuanal valuation of the scheme as at 31 March 2013

In particular, post retrement mortality has been assumed to follow the standard mortality tables 'S1’ All Pensioners tables
published by the GMI, based on the experience of Self-Administered Pension Schemes (SAPS) with muttiphers of 105% for
males and 110% for femates In addition, an allowance has been made for future improvements n longevity from 2003 by using
the new CMI 2013 Core projections with a long term rate of improvement of 1 5% per annurr for men and 1 25% per annum for
women Applying such tables results in an averags expected longewvity of between 87 2 years and 88 9 years for men and
between 88 9 years and 90 3 years for women for those reaching 65 over the next 15 years

fi) Amounts recognised in consohdated income statemerit

13 months
Year andad ended
30 Agril 2 May
2098 2018
Emilllon Cmdlion
Net interest expense on defined benefit obligation 16 13
(i} Amounts recogmsed in the consohdated statement of comprehensive income
13 menths
Year anded ended
30 Aprd 2 May
2016 2015
Srmullson Ermitlion
Remeasurement of defined benefit ocbligation - actuanal gains / (losses} ansing from
Changes in finangial assumptions 25 (168)
Expenence adjustments 27 19
Change in demographic assumptions - o))
Remeasurement of scheme assets
Actual retum on plan assets (exctuding amounts included in net interest expense)} (57 86
Cumulative actuanal loss (5) (72)
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21 Retirement and other post-employmem benefit obligations continued
fv) Amounts recogmised in the consolidated balance sheet

30 Apnl 2 May
2016 2015
Emiltion Emition
Present value of defined benefit obligations {1,395) (1,431}
Fair value of plan assets §23 945
Net obligation {472} {488)
Changes in the present value of the defined benefit obligation
30 Apni 2 May
2016 2018
E£miltion Cmitlion
Opening obligation at 3 May 2015 1,431 -
Dixons Retall Merger - 1,259
Interest cost 49 38
Remeasurements in other comprehensive sncome - actuarial losses / (gains} ansing from changes in
Financial assumptions {25) 168
Expenence {27 {19)
Demographic assumptions - 9
Benefits paid (33) (24)
Closing obligation 1,395 1,431
The weighted average matunty profile of the defined benefit obligation at the end of the year 15 21 years
Changes in the fair value of the scheme assets
30 Apn! 2 May
2018 2015
Emillion Emillon
Opening farr value at 3 May 2015 945 -
Dixons Retail Merger - 830
Interest income 33 25
Employer special contnbutions 35 28
Remeasurements in other comprehensive income
Actual return on plan assets (excluding interest income} (E14) 86
Benefits paid (33) (24)
Closing fair value 923 945
Dixons Carphone pic Annual Raport and Accounts 2015/16 127

Financial statemants




Financlal statemonts

Notes to the Group financial statements

21 Retrement and other post-employment benefit obligations continued

Analysis of scheme assets
30 Apnt 2 May
2018 2015
£mitllon Cmillon
QOverseas and global equities - bisted 277 286
Dwversihed growth - Listed 170 182
= Unhsted 1 10
Mult-agset credit funds -~ Listed 28 29
- Unilisted 24 23
Emerging market mulh asset funds - Listed 45 49
-~ Unhsted 3 3
Private equity ~ Unlisted 37 a7
Property ~ Unhisted 13 15
Index-linked giits - Listed 102 101
Corporate bonds - Listed 80 79
Lability driven investments {LDI} ~ Lusted 112 68
Cash and cash instruments - Unhsted 20 51
Other - Unhsted 1 1
923 945

The tnvestment strategy of the scheme s determined by the independent Trustee through agvice prowided by an independent
nvestment consultant The scheme invests in a derse range of asset classes as set out above with malching assets pnmanly
compnsing holdings in inflation inked gilts and cerporate bonds

Actuai retum on the scheme assets was a loss of £24 milhon (2014/15 gan of £111 mllion)

{v) Sensitivitres

The value of the UK defined benefit penston scheme assets are sensitive {0 market conditions, particularly equity vatues which
eompnse approximately 64% of the scheme's assets Changes in assumptions used for detenmining retirement benefit costs
and labilbes may have a matenal impact on the 2015/16 income staternent and the balance sheet The main assumplions are
the discount rate, the rate of inflation and the assumed mortality rate The following table prowides an estimate of the potential
impacts of each of these vanables if applied to the cumrent year consolidated income statement and balance sheet

Mot finance ¢osts Net deficht
Yaar 13 months
30 Apni 2 May 30 Apnl 2 May
2018 2018 2018 2018
Lrriion Tmilson Emitlion Tmiltion
Posstive / (negative) effect
Discount rate 0 25% increase 2 2 75 73
Inflation rate O 25% increase! {2) 2) {52) (57
Mortality rate 1 year increase (2) ] @1) {42)

+ Thencrease in scheme benefits provided 1o members on retrement 15 subject to an inflation cap

The sensitivity analysis presented above may not be representative of the actual change in the defined benefit oblgation as it 1s
unhikely that the changes in assumptions would occur insolation of one another as some of the assumptions may be comelated
d) Other post-employment benefits - IAS 19

The Group offers other post-employment benefits to employees In overseas temtones, m particutar n Greece These benefits are
unfunded At 30 Apnl 2016 the net obligation in relaton to these penefits was €3 milhon (2015 £3 rmilion)
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22 Share capital, retained earmings and reserves

a) Share captal
30 Apnil 2 May 30 Apni) 2 May
2018 2015 2018 2018
mallicn mihon Cmillon Lrnilion
Authonsed, allotted, called-up and fully paid ordinary shares of 0 1p each 1,151 1,151 1 1
30 Apnl 2 may 30 Apni 2 May
2014 2015 2018 2015
million mikon Lmillion Trnilion
Qrdinary shares of 0 tp each in issue at the beginning of the penod 1,151 576 1 1
Issued as consideration to Dixons shareholders 0] - 575 - -
Ordinary shares of 0 1p each tn 1ssue at the end of the period 1,151 1,151 1 1

(% Asparl of the Dixons Retail Merger, 574 7 million shares with a mid-market pnce of £3 432 were 1ssued as part of the all-share merger with

Dixons as descnbed in note 24

b) Retained eamings and reserves

Movement in retained eamings and reserves dunng the reported periods are presented in the consolidated statement of changes

n equity

Retained eamings at 30 Apni 2016 includes £18 milion (2015 £6 rillion) of losses associated with dervatives which were

designated and effective as cash flow hedges and interest rate hedges Own shares held by the Group's ESQOTs are recognised
in retained eamings — refer to note 5 for further information The demerger reserve arose as part of the demerger of the Group

from TalkTatk in 2010

23 Equrty dvidends
30 April 2 May
2016 2015
Emillion Triflion
Amounts recogrised as distnbutions to equity shareholders in the penod
— on ordinary shares of 0 1p each
Final dividend for the year ended 29 March 2014 of 4 Q0p per ordinary share - 23
Intenim dividend for the 13 months ended 2 May 2015 of 2 50p per ordinary share - 29
Final dwidend for the 13 months ended 2 May 2015 of 6 00p per ordinary share 69 —
Interim dividend for the year ended 30 April 2016 of 3 25p per ordinary share 37 -
106 82

The following distnbution 15 proposed but had not been effected at 30 Apnl 2016 and 1s subject to shareholders' approval at the

forthcorming Annual General Meeting

mificn
Final dividend for the year ended 30 Apnl 2016 of 6 50p per ordinary share 75
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24 Acquistions and Merger
2015716 Acquisttion of infocare Workshop and Simpldy Digral Limited

On 30 November 2015 the Group acquired 100% of the 1ssued share capral of Infocare Workshop Infocare Workshop s a
service and repair company In the Nordics region and was acquired to strengthen the Group's strategy of owring the complete
end-to-end customer service journey in that region

On 31 March 2016 the Group acquired 100% of the issued share capital of Simplity Digital Limsted  Simphty Digital Limited 15 the
UK’s largest and fastest growing mutti-channel switching platform, offenng consumers an Ofcom accredited pnce comparnson

and switching service for broadband, digital TV and fixed line telephone contracts The company was acqured to further the
Group's position as the best place for customers to receive independent advice across alf ther technology, connectvity, media

conitent and service needs
a) Fair value of assets and habilites

The combined farr values of identifiable assets and hiabiities of Infocare Workshop and Simphfy Digtal Limited as at the
acquisiton date were as follows
Note £mithon

Assets

Intangible assets 23
Property, plant & equipment 1
Trade and other receivables [} 10
Cash and cash equivalents 1
Total assets 45
Liabilities

Trade and other payables (13)
Total hahihties {13)
Total farr value of identifiable net assets acquired 32
Prowisional goodwill i i 26
Total consideration 0] 58

@) The far value of trade and other receivables represents trade recevables, accrued income and prepayments whose gross contractual value
and far valye are deemed to be £10 million

(v The finaksation of the far value of the acquired assets and habihes of Simplify Digital Limited will be completed within 12 months of the
acquisiton and therefore remains provisional until 31 March 2017 owing to the proximity of acawisition 1o the batance sheet date I11s
therefors possible that adjustments to goodwill could anse up until 31 March 2017

(1) The goodwill ansing on the acquisiions 15 not deductible for Income tax purposes and consists largely of the synergies and economies
of scale expected from combining the operations

{iv) Total consideraton includes the farr value of contingent consideration arrangements of €13 milion which 15 payable subject! to the
achievement of certan earings growth targets The tolal maximum payable under these amangernents s £13 milion The far value of
contingent consideraton arangements has been estimated by applying the income approach (nete 16) Total consideraton also includes
deferred consideration of £10 millon payable within one year
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24 Acquisitions and Merger continued
b) Other :nformation

Acguisiion related costs (included within non-headline expenses) amount to £1 million (note 4) The contnbution to revenue and
operating profit of acquisiions completed in the year was not matenal

2014/15 All-share merger of Dixons and Carphone

Om & August 2014, the Group completed an all-share merger of Dixons and Carphone after which the shareholders of Dixons
and Carphone each held 50% of Dixons Carphone on a fully diluted basis taking into account existing share options and award
schemes for both companies

Under the terms of the Merger, Dixons shareholders received 0 155 of a new Dixons Carphone Share in exchange for each
Dixons share In accordance with the cntena In IFRS 3 *Business Combinations’ i has been determined that Carphone
acquired Dixons

The provisional far values of dentifiable assets and habilities of Dixons as at the acquisiion date were reported in the annual
report for the penod ended 2 May 2015 in finalising the farr value of identifiable assets and hatilities, no changes have been
rmade o the provisional far values

25 Discontinued operatrons and assets held for sale

As reported at 2 May 2015, Virgin Mobie France and the Group's retail operations in Germany, the Netherlands and Portugal
were treated as discontinued operations following the decision to exit these businesses The assets and llabilties associated
with Germany, the Netherlands and Portugal were recogrised as held for sale at 2 May 2015 The sale of cperations in Gemmany
was completed on 5 May 2015, the Netheriands on 30 June 2015 and Portugal on 31 August 2015, whilst Virgin Mobile France
was sold on 4 December 2014

a) Loss after tax - chiscontinued operations

The results of discontinued operations are compnsed as follows

Yaar ended 30 April 2018

Phone Phone Phone
House Housa House
Germany Netherlands Portugal Total
Emition Emulkon £mitkon Crruthon
Revenue - 19 13 az2
Expenses - (20} (16) (36)
Loss before tax - {1) 3) (4)
income tax - - - -
- 1) (3) #
{Loss) / profit on disposal (10) (5) 2 {14}
(10) 7} (1) {18}

The net loss on disposal recognised 10 the current year pnmarily relates to working capital adjustments agreed with acquirers,
adjustments to net assets disposed, the recycling of foreign currency transtation reserves of discontinued operations and other
costs associated with the exits
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25 Discontinued operations and assets held for sale continued

13 months endsd 2 May 2015

virgn Pnone Phaone Phone
Moble House House House
France Germany  Neiherliands Purtugal Totat
Cmithon Cmilbon Crrullion Cmition Cmilion
Revenue - 323 159 47 529
Expenses - (364) (239) (55) (658)
Loss before tax - {41} (80} {8) {129}
tncome tax — — - - -
- (41 (80} )] (129)
Profit on disposal 87 - - - 87
Impairment losses recognised on classification as
held for sale - (16) {43} (13} 72)
87 (57) (123) 21 (114)
b) Assets held for sale
The Group's assets held for sale and associated liabiiies are analysed as follows
30 Aapn! 2 May
2018 2015
Emillion £milion
Inventory - 16
Recevables - 66
Cash and ¢ash equivalents - 55
Assets held for sale - 137
Liabilities associated with assets held for sale - current habihties - (68)
Net assets held for sale - 69
¢} Cash flows from chscontinued operations
13 months
Year andod ended
3¢ Apnl 2 May
2016 205
Emilton Lrmillion
Operating actwvities 2 {78)
Investing activities 30 81
a2 3
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26 Financial nsk management and denvative financial instruments
Financial instruments that are measured at fair value i the financial statements require disclosure of far value measurements
by leve! based on the following far value measurement hierarchy

+ Level 1 - quoted prces (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets and kabiities,

+ Level 2 - inputs cther than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or iability either directly
(that 1s, as pnces) or indirectly {that is, denved from pnces), and

» Level 3 - inputs for the asset or habiity that are not based on observable market data (that 15, unobservable inputs)

Network commission recesvables are classified as loans and recervables as defined in IAS 39 and are therefore accounted for at
amortised cost As the measurement of certain network commission recervables is a key source of estmation uncertamnty, an
explanation of the valuation methodology and an anatys:s of the sensitivity of the camying value of receivables to the methods,
assumptions and estimates of this methodology has been provided below in note 26(h} The carying value of such ongoing
network commission receivables 1s £304 miilion (2015 £62¢ million) which s approximately equal to therr fair value If measured
at far value these recewvables would be categonsed as level 3 1n the farr value hierarchy as the valuation requires the use of
signficant unobservable inputs

An explanation of the valuation methodologies and the inputs to the models are provided below for network comirmission

Contingent consideration is categonsed as fevel 3 n the fair value hierarchy as the valuation requires the use of significant
unobservable inputs An explanation of the valuation methodolegies and the inputs to the valuation model 1s provided in note 17

The significant inputs required to fair value the Group's other financial instruments that are measured at far value on the balance
sheet, pnmanly compnsing currency contracts and interest rate swaps, are observable and are classified as level 2 in the far
value hierarchy There have also been no transfers of assets or habilites between levels of the far value hrerarchy

Far values have been amved at by discounting future cash flows (where the impact of discounting 15 matenal}, assuming no eary
redemption, or by revaluing forward currency contracts and interest rate swaps to penod end market rates as appropnate to the
instrument

The directors consider that the book value of financial assets and fiabilities recorded at amortised cost and therr far value are
approximately equal

The book value and farr value of the Group's financial assets, habilihies and denvative financial instruments are as follows

30 Aprit 2 May
2018 2015

Emillion Emillion

Cash and cash equivalents 233 163
Trade and other recevables excluding denvative financial assets 1,421 1,086
Net derwative financial habsities (24) (11)
Trade and other payables 2,378) (1,933
Finance leases {91) {91)
Deferred and contingent consideration {33) {31)
Loans and other borrowings (409) {385)

a} Finangial nsk management policies

The Group's activities expose it ta certain financial nsks including market nsk (such as foreign exchange nsk and interest rate
nsk), credit nsk and hquidity nsk The Group's treasury function, which operates under treasury policies approved by the Board,
usas cenan financral instruments to mitigate potentially adverse effects on the Group's financial performance from these nsks
These financial Instruments consist of bank loans and deposits, spot and forward foreign exchange contracts, fore:gn exchange
swaps and interest rate swaps

Throughout the penod under review, in accordance with Group policy, no specutative use of denvatives, foreign exchange or
other instruments was permitted  No contracts with embedded denvatives have been wentified and, accordingly, no such
denvatives have been accounted for separately
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26 Financial nsk management and denvative financial instruments continued
b) Forergn exchange nsk

The Group undertakes cenain transachons that are denominated in foregn currencies and as a consequence has exposure to
exchange rate fluctuabons These exposures pnmanly anse from inventory purchases, with most of the Group's exposure being
to Euro, Norwegian Krone and US Dollar fluctuatons The Group uses spot and forward currency contracts to miigate these
exposures, with such contracts designed to cover exposures ranging from one month to one year

The translation nsk on converting overseas currency profits or losses 1s not hedged and such profits or losses are converted into
Steriing at average exchange rates throughout the year The Group’s pancipal translation curency exposures are the Euro and
Norwegan Krone

At 30 Apnl 2016, the total notional pnncipal amount of outstanding currency contracts was £2,856 milion (2015 £1,540 mithon)
and had a fair value of £23 million (2014/15 €11 milkon) Monetary assets and liabiities and foreign exchange contracts are
sensitive to movements in foreign exchange rates This sensitvity can be analysed in companson to year-end rates (assuming all
other vanables remain constant) as follows

Year andad 13 months snded
30 Apnl 2018 2 May 2015

Eftect on Effec! on

Headline Headling
profit EMHact on profit EMact on
bafore tax  total equity beforg tax 1oVl equity
Emiltion Lmitllon Lrrlllon £milion
10% movement in the US dollar exchange rate - 5 - 5
10% movement n the Euro exchange rate - 58 - 57
10% movement in the Swedish Krona exchange rate - 2 - 4
10% movement in the Damish Krone exchange rate - 2 - 3
6 - 3

10% movement in the Norwegian Krone exchange rate -

¢) Interest rate nsk

The Group's nterest rate nsk anses pnmanly on cash, cash equivalents and loans and cther borrowings, all of which are at
floating rates of interest and which therefore expose the Group to cash flow interest rate nsk These floating rates are hnked to
LIBOR and other inferest rate bases as appropriate to the instrument and cumency Future cash flows ansing from these financial
instruments depend on nterest rates and penods agreed at the ime of roliover Group policy permits the use of long term
interest rate denvatves in managing the nsks associated with movements in interest rates

The effect on the income statement and equity of 1% movements » the interest rate tor the cumencies in which most Group
cash, cash equivalents, loans and other borrowings are denominated and on which the valuation of most denvative financial
instruments 15 based s as follows, assumung that the year-end posiions prevas throughout the year

Year ended 13 months anded
30 April 2016 2 May 2015
Effect on Etlect an
Headiine Head ina
profit Effect on profit EHect on
potfore tax  tolal equity  beforetax  tolal equaty
merease!  increase / increase / increase /
{decrease) [decresse}  {(decreass)  (decreass)
Lmiliion Cenillton Emitlon Emillion
1% increase in the Stering interest rate - 1 — 4
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26 Finanoial nsk management and denvative financial instruments continued
d) Liquidty nsk

Liquichty nsk is the nsk that the Group will encounter difficulty in meeting the obligations associated with its financial habiltres
that are settled by delivening cash or another financial asset The Group manages its exposure to bquidity nsk by reviewing
regularly the long term and short term cash flow projections for the business against the resources avalable 10 1t

In order to ensure that sutficient funds are avarlable for ongoing and future developments, the Group has committed bank
facilities, excluding overdrafis repayable on demand, totaling £800 milion (2015 £875 millon} Further details of committed
boarrowing faciities are shown in note 18

The table below analyses the Group’s financial habiities and denvative assets and liabilities inio relevant matunty groupings
The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows, including both pnncipal and interest flows,
assuming that interest rates remain constant and that borowings are paid in full in the year of matunty

In mare
than one
yaar but
nat more In more
Within thon five than five
one year years yoars Yol
Emillion Crullion Lmillon Cenillien
30 April 2016
Finance leases 9) (35) {111) {155}
Dernvative financial instruments - payable
Forward foreign exchange contracts (2,856) - - {2.856}
Interest rate swaps {1) (1) - 2)
Derivative financial instruments - recewable
Forward foreign exchange contracts 2,832 - - 2,832
Loans and other borrowings 1) (441) - (448)
Deferred consideration 12} {19) {2) (33)
Trade and other payables 2,112) (266) - (2,378)
In moe
than one
year but
not moms In more
‘Within than five than five
one year yaars years Total
Crmullion Lmdlicn Emitlon Trulon
2 May 2015
Finance leases (8 (33} (114) (155)
Derwatwe financial instruments - payable
Forward foreign exchange contracts (1,540) - - {1,540)
Interest rate swaps (2) (23 - {4)
Dervative financial instruments - recevable
Forward foreign exchange contracts 1,530 - - 1,530
Loans and other borrowings (64) (337) - {401}
Deferred consideration 25) ®) - (31)
Trade and other payables (1,584) (349) - (1,933)
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26 Financial nsk management and denvative financial instruments continued
€) Credit nsk

Credi nsk s the nsk of financial loss to the Group If a counterparty fails to meet s contractual obligations, and anses principally
from the Group's receivables from consumers The Group’s exposure to credit nsk 15 regulary monitored and the Group's policy
1s updated as appropnate

The majonty of the Group’s trade recevables are balances due from MNOs, which are generally major muiti-national enterpnses
with whom the Group has well-estabhshed relatonships and are consequently not considered to add significantly to the Group's
credit nsk exposure In addition credit nsk s also nherently associated with the MNO end consumers Detauls of the sensitivity
analysis of a change n credit nsk associated with the MNO consumer 1s detailed below {consumer default rates} Exposure to
credit nsk associated wath the MNO consumer 1s managed through extensive consumer credd checking process prior to
connection with the network  The large volume of MNO consumers reduces the Group's exposure to concentration of credit nsk

The Group's trade receivables alsc include balances due from equipment manufacturers, dealers and Connected World Services
consumers, business to business consumers and consumer credit recevables Where it 1s conswdered appropnate, the Group
obtams credit Insurance on accounts recevable Provision 1s made for any recevables that are considered to be irecoverable
Details of trade recevables which are past due but not:impared are provided in note 14

The credit nsks on cash and cash equivalents and denvative financial iInstruments are closely monitored and crecit ratings are
used In determining maximum counterparty credit nsk

The Group’s funding 1s rehiant on its £800 million bank faciliies, which are provided by nine banks, these insttutions are
considerad 1o be adequately capitalised to continue to meet their obligations under the facility

The carrying amount of financial assets recorded 1n the financial statements, which 1s net of impairment losses, represents the
Group's maximum exposure to credit nsk

f) Capital nsk

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities withuin the Group will be able to continue as going concems, whlst
maximising the retum to shareholders through a surtable mix of debt and equity The capital structure of the Group consists of
cash and cash equwvalents, loans and other bomowings and equity attnbutable to equity helders of the Company, compnsing
issued capital, reserves and accumulated profits Except in relation to muimimum capdal requirements in its Insurance business,
the Group 1s not subject to any extermally mposed capital requirermnents The Group monitors its capital structure on an ongoing
basis, mcluding assessing the nsks associated with each class of capital

g) Denvatives

Dervative financial instruments compnse forward foreign exchange contracts, foreign exchange swaps and interest rate swaps
The Group has designated financial instruments under IAS 39 as follows

Cash flow hedges

At 30 April 2016 the Group had forward and swap foreign exchange contracts in place with a notional value of £1,909 million
(2015 £1,487 milhon) and a far value of £17 milkon {2014/15 £6 milllon) that were designated and effective as cash flow hediges
These contracts are expected to cover exposures ranging from one month to one year The farr value of denvative foreign
exchange contracts and foreign exchange swaps not designated as cash flow hedges was £6 million (2014/15 Enif)

Interest rate swaps

The Group held Interest rate swaps with a notional value of £255 rmillion (2015 £280 milhon} and a fair value of €1 milion
{2014/15 Enil} whereby the Group recewves a fioating rate of nterest based on LIBOR and pays a fixed interest rate This contract
matures in Apnl 2017
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26 Financial nsk management and denvative financial instruments continued
h) Network commussion recevables consumer behaviour nsk

Under certain arrangements with MNOs, the commission revenue on mobie phone sales depends on consumer behaviour after
the point of sale A discounted cash flow methodology is used to measure the far value of the revenue and associated
recewvables at the point of sale, by estimating afl future cash flows that will be recewed from the MNO and discounting these
based on their iming of recaipt Subsequently network commission recevabiles are measured at the present value of the
estimated future cash flows discounied at the effective interest rate determined at the date of sale

The key inputs to the model are

revenue share percentage ~ the percentage of the consumer's spend (to the MNO) to which the Group 1s entitled,

minimum contract penod - the kength of contract entered into by the consumer;

out-of-bundle spend — additonal spend by the consumer measured as a percentage of total spend,

consumer default rate — rate at which consumers disconnect from the MNO,

spend beyond the initial contract penod - penod of tme the consumer remains connetted to the MNO after the initial
contract term, and

upgrade propensity - the percentage of consumers initially connected by the Group estmated to be subsequently upgraded
by an MNO

The last four inputs are based on extensive histoncal evidence obtained from the networks, and prowvision 1s made for the nsk of
potential changes In consumer behavicur Rehance on histoncal data assumes that current and future expenence will follow past
trends, there 15 therefore a nsk that changes in consumer behaviour reduce the total cash flows ultirately realised over the
forecast penod, however, the directors consider that the quantity and quality of data available provides an appropnate proxy for
current trends

The table below provides the sensitivity of the cartying value of the network commission receivables to a reasonably possible
change in nput to the discounted cash flow model

Sonsitvity™
Relationship of unobsarvabla (nputs to Favourable Unfavourable
Unabservabie inpuls rameasuremant of carrying valuo ECmitlion Cmiiton Range®™
Out-of-bundle spend The hugher the spend, the higher 47 47) 756%-259%
the carrying value
Consumer default rate The higher the default rate, the 13 {13) 12%-182%
lower the carrying value
Spend afler the iniial contract term The higher the spend, the mgher 30 {30) 10months-55
the carrying value months
Upgrade propensity The higher the propensity, the 10 {10y 169% -249%

higher the carrying value

{1) The sensamty represents the favourable and unfavourable efect on the income statemant of remeasunng the camying value for a reasonably possitle
change i the vatue of the input used Whilst the nature of inputs 15 consistent across all MNOs the value applied differs on a MNO by MNO basis The
senstivity analysis performed has applied a reasonably possible change on an input by input and MNO by MNO basis The amounts shown above are
the cumulative sensiivibies for each input across all MNQS

2} The reasonably possible range disclosed represent the hgh and low range of each unobservable Input, across all MNOs over the previous three years
The sensiivities whiuch fall within this range  have bean apphied to the unobservable wnputs on @ MNO by MNG basis

The signficant unobservable inputs in determining the amortised cost carying values used m the table above are the same
significant unobservable inputs that would be required if the network commission recevable was measured at far value on
the balance sheet In addition, the farr value would be impacted by changes 1n interest rates and counterparty credit nsk

In addition to those sensitvities disclosed above, changes to revenue may be made, where for example, more recent information
1s avallable, and any such changes are required to be recogmsed in the income statement Changes in relation to network
commission receivable for sales onginating in previous years totalled £26 milion (2014/15 £33 milkon)
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27 Notes to the cash flow statement

a) Reconcihiabion of operating profit to net cash inflow from operating activities

13 months
Year andod ended
a0 April 2May
2018 2015
Emillion £miiion
Profit before mterest and tax — continuing operations 304 324
Depreciation and amortisation 177 149
Share-based payment charge 10 10
Share of results of joint ventures 4 -
Impairments and other non-cash items 4 4
Operating cash flows before movements in working capital 499 487
Movements in working capial
{Increase) / decrease (n inventory (18) 6
(Increase) n recevables (247 (89)
Increase / {decrease) in payables 168 (289)
Increase / {decrease) In provisions 83 {5)
(14) {377)
Cash generated from operations - continuing operations 485 110
b} Analysis of net debt
Other
2 May aon-cash Currency 30 April
2015  Cashflow movernarts  translation 2018
Lmibilon Crilhon fmifiron Emillkan £milllon
Cash and ¢ash equivalents 163 53 - 17 233
163 53 - 17 233
Borrowings due within one year {55} 55 - - -
Borrowings due after more than one year {330) (80} - 1 (409)
Obhgations under finance leases {91) 6 {6) —_ 91
(476} (19} {6) 1 (500)
Net (debt) / funds (313) 34 {6) 18 (267)
Owner
29 March non-cash Currancy 2 May
2014 Cashflow Acquisinens movements  translation 2015
Smulion Cenillion £rnilon £mil:on Tmilion £milon
Cash and cash equivalents 283 {120) - - - 163
Borrowings due within one year - {55} - - - (59)
Bomrowings due after more than one year (290} 249 {289) - - (330)
Obhgations under finance leases (1) 7 {93) (4) - (91)
{291) 201 (382) {4) — (476)
Net funds / (debt) (8) 81 382) {4) - (313)
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28 Related party transactions

Transactions between the Group's subsichary undertakings, which are related parties, have been efiminated on consolidation and
accordingly are not disclosed See note 5a for detalls of related party transachons with key management persocnnel

The Group had the following transactons and balances with its associates

3¢ Apnl 2 May
2018 2015
Cmillion Lrmliton
Revenue for services provided 24 8
Amounts owed to the Group 2 -
All transactions entered into with related parties were completed on an arm's length basis
29 Capntal commtments
30 Apnl 2 May
2018 2015
£milbon Emilion
Contracted for but not provided for in the accounts 39 55
30 Operating lease amrangements
a) The Group as a lessee
Total unchscounted future committed payments due for continuing operations are as follows
30 April 2 May
2016 2015
Land and Other Lana ang Othar
buildmgs assats bulldings assets
£milhon Ermull:on £mduon Tmilhon
Total undiscounted future committed payments due
Within one year 350 7 361 7
Between two and five years 1,126 10 1,227 14
After five years 785 - 1,001 1
2,261 LI 2,589 22

Operating lease commiiments represent rentals payable for retail, distribution and office properbes, as well as vehicles,

equipment and office equipment Contingent rentals are payable on certain retal store leases based on store revenues and

figures shown include only the minimum rental component

The above figures include committed payments under onerous lease contracts for which provisiens or accruals exist on the

balance sheet, including those for businesses exited

The future rinimum sub-lease payments expected to be received under non-cancellable sub-leases s £21 milion

(2015 £42 milcn)
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30 Operating lease arrangements continued

b) The Group as a lessor
The Group has invesiment properties which are let to third parties on long term leases for which the mivimum future income
15 as follows
30 Apnl 2 May
2018 2015
£milllon fmilton
Total undiscounted future mummum lease income recevable
Within one year 1 1
Between two to five years 5 5
After five years 5 6
11 12
31 Contingent habilies
30 April 2 May
2016 2015
Emullion Cmithon
- 3

in addition to the figures shown in the table above, contingent labiities also exsst 1 respect of lease covenants relating to

premses assigned to third parties

In recent years the Group has entered into agreements o dispose of certan operations As part of these disposal agreements,
the Group has provided the acquirer with general and tax related waranties At the date of signing these financial statements,

some of these warranties remain open and it 1s possible that clams could anse under these warranties
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Company balance sheet

30 Apri 2 May
2018 2015
Notes fmullion Emildon
Fixed assets
Investments in subsidianies ca 2,678 2,678
Current assets
Cash and cash equwalents 32 666
Debtors due within one year Cc5 1,941 223
1,973 889
Creditors amounts falling due within one year cs  {1,198) {160)
Net current assets 775 729
Total assets tess current habiires 3,453 3,407
Provisions c? (1} @
Loans payable cs {409) {330}
Net assets 3,043 3,075
Capital and reserves
Share capital co 1 1
Share premium reserve co 2,256 2,256
Profit and loss account 786 818
3,043 3,075

The financial statements of the Company {registered number 07105905) were approved by the Board on 28 June 2016 and

signed on its behalf by

Sebastan James, Humphrey Singer,
Group Chret Executive Group Finance Director
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Company statement of changes in equity

Share  Profit and
premium loss Total
Share capita¥ resarve account aquity
£mdlion Emilbon Emillion Emillion
At 28 March 2014 1 283 795 1,079
Net profit for the period — - 64 64
Other comprehensive income and expense recognised directly
In equty - - 3) 3)
Total comprehensive income and expense for the penod - - 81 61
Issue of shares - 1,973 - 1,973
Equity dwidends - - (52) (52)
Net movement in relation to share schemes - — 14 14
At 2 May 2015 1 2,256 818 3,075
Profit for the year - - 75 75
Other comprehensive income and expense recognised directly
In equity - - (1) {1)
Total comprehensive income and expense for the year - - 74 74
Equity dividends - - (106}  (106)
At 30 Apnl 2016 1 2,256 786 3,043
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Notes to the Company financial statements

C1 Accounting policies
8asis of preparation

The Company 1s incorperated n the United Kingdem The financial statements have been prepared on a going concem basis
{see note 1 to the Group financial statements)

The separate financial staternents of the Company are presented as required by the Companies Act 2006 The Company meets
the definiion of a qualifying entity under FRS 100 (Financial Reportmg Standard 100) 1ssued by the Financial Reporting Council
Accordingly, in the panod ended 30 Aprd 2016 the Company has decided to adopt FRS 101 and has undergone transition from
reportng under apphcable United Kingdom accounting standards to FRS 101 as issued by the Financial Reporting Council
Accordingly, the financial statements have therefore been prepared in accordance with FRS 101 (Financial Reporting Standard
101) Reduced Disclosure Framework' as 1ssued by the Financial Reporting Couneil, incorporating the Amendments to FRS 101
issued by the Financial Reporting Council :n July 2015 other than those relating to legal changes and has not applied the
amendments to Company law made by The Comparnes, Partnerships and Groups {Accounts and Reports) Regulations 2015
that are effective for accounting penods beginrung cn or after 1 January 2016

Thus transitian 1s not considered to have had a matenal effect on the financial statements

As permitted by FRS 101, the Company has taken advantage of the disclosure exemptions avaiable under that standard in
relation to share-based payments, financiat Instruments, capital management, presentatton of comparative information in respect
of certain assets, presentation of a cash flow statement and certain related party transactions

\Where required, equivalent disclosures are given in the consolidated financial statements

The financial statements have been prepared on the histonical cost basis except for the re measurement of certain financial
nstruments to far value The principal accounting policies adopted are the same as those set out in note 1 to the Group financial
statements except as noted below

Investments in subsidianes are stated at cost less, where appropnate, provisions for impasment

Prior to the Dixons Retail Merger, the Company prepared its financial statements to the Saturday closest to its accounting
reference date of 31 March Foltowing the Merger, which 1s descnbed further in note 24 to the Group financial statements,

the Company changed its accounting reference date to 30 April which was the accounting reference date of Dixons Retail plc,
but continues to draw up accounts to the nearest Saturday and accordingly the comparative financ:al period 1s for the

13 months ended 2 May 2015

C2 Profit and loss account

in accordance with the exemption permitted by section 408 of the Companies Act 2006, the profit and foss account
of the Company 15 not presented separately The profit recognised for the year ended 30 Apnl 2016 was £75 milion
{2014/15 £64 mulion) Information regarding the audit fees for the Group s prowided In note 3 to the Group

financial statements

C3 Equrty dividends
Detads of amounts recogmsed as distnbutions to shareholders in the penod and those proposed are detalled in note 23
of the Group financtal statements
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C4 Fixed asset investments

30 Apni 2 May

2018 2015

Lrmifkon Sruthon

Opening balance 2,678 753
Additions - 3,965
Disposals - (2,040}
Closing batance 2,678 2,678
Cost 2,776 2,778
Accumulated mpaiments {98} {98)
Net carrying amount 2,678 2678

Fixed asset investments compnse nvestments In subsidary undertakings and other munonty investments Details of the
Company’s investments in subsidiary undertakings are provided i note C10

201415

On 6 August 2014, the Group completed an all-share merger of Dixons and Carphone after which the shareholders of Dixons
and Carphone each held 50% of Dixons Carphone on a fully diluted basts taking it account existing share options and award

schemes for both companies

Under the terms of the Merger, Dixons shareholders receved 0 155 of a new Dixons Carphone Share in exchange for each
Dixons share In accordance with the cntena in IFRS 3 ‘Business Combinations’ it has been determined that Carphone acquired
Dixons and accounts for the majonty of the addiions listed Immediately following the Merger, the shareholding in Oixens was
transferred to the Company's immediate subsidiary, New CPW Limited, and this transaction accounts for the majorty of the

disposals
C5 Debtors: amounts falling due within one year
30 Apnl 2 May
2018 2015
fmithon Dmilion
Amounts owed by Group undertakings 1,908 184
Derivative assets 18 17
Deferred tax asset 2 3
Prepaymemts 5 5
Other debtors 3] 4
1,941 223

Amounts owed by Group undertakings are repayable within 12 months of the balance sheet date
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€6 Credrtors Amounts falling due withuin one year

30 April 2 May
2018 2018

Crruilion Emilon
Amounts owed 1o Group undertalungs 1,061 119
Other creditors 1 5
Denvative habilittes 41 26
Overdrafts 84 -
Corporation tax 5 -
Accruals and deferred income 6 10

1,198 160
C7 Provisions

30 Aprii 2 May

2018 2015

£rrullion £miliion
Opening balance 2 2
Utiised ()] —
Closing balance 1 2
C8 Loans payable
Detalls of loans payabie are provided in note 18 to the Group financial statements
C9 Share capnal and share premium
Detalls of movemenis in share capital and share prermium are disclosed in note 22 to the Group financial statements
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C10 Subsidiary undertalungs
a) Pnncipal subsidianes as at 30 Apnf 2016

The Company has investments in the following principal subsichiary undertakings All holdings are in equity share capital and give
the Group an effective holding of 100% on consohdation

Country of
Name incorporation of registration Share Class(es) Mokl 9 Hald Business Activity
Carphone Warehouse Europe Limited England & Wales A & B Ordinary 100 Holding Company
Dixons Retail pic! England & Wales Ordinary and Deferred 100 Heolding Company
Dixons South East Europe AEVE Greece Ordinary 100 Retail
DSG International Holdings Limited England & Wales Ordinary 100  Holding Company
DSG Retail Ireland Limited Ireland Ordinary 100 Retail
Irredeemable Cumulative
DSG Retal Limited England & Wales Preference Shares 100 Retail
and Qrdinary Shares

Elgiganten Aktrebolag Sweden Crdinary 100 Retail
ElGiganten A/S Denmark Ordinary 100 Retail
Elkjop Nordic AS Norway Ordinary 100 Retail
GEAB The Phone House Aktiebolag Sweden Ordinary 100 Distnibuton
Gigantt Oy Finland Ordmary 100 Retail
ISE-NET Solutions Limited England & Wales Ordinary 100 IT

Ordinary 1007

Deferred 1002
New CPW Limited England & Wales Holding company

A Ordinary 37

B Ordinary 35
New Technology insurance Ireland Qrdnary 100 tnsurance
The Carphone Warehouse Limited England & Wales Ordinary 100 Distribution
The Carphone Warehouse Limited Ireland Qrdinary 100 Distnbution
The Phone House Span S LU Spain A & B Shares 100 Distribution

1 Dixons Retall pic became a private imited company called Dixons Retail Group Limied after year end

2 Interest heid directly by Dixons Carphone plc

3 Thisis the only interest of Dixons Carmphone pic, directly or ndirectly n this class of shares
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C10 Subsidiary undertakings continued
b) Other subsidiary undertakings

The following are the other subsidiary undertakings of the Group, all of which are whaolly owned unless otherwise indicated All
these companies are either holding companies or provide general support to the pnncipal subsidianes histed on the previcus page

Countey of

Nams incorporation or registration Sharg Class(es) Held % Held
Adiumentumn Oy Finland Qrdinary 100
Carphone Warehouse lreland Mobile Limited Ireland Qrdinary 100
Charterhouse Management Limited Iste of Man Ordinary 100
Codic GmirH {in liquidation) Germany Ordinary 100
Connected World Services Distributions Limited England & Wales Ordinary 100
Connected Word Servicas Eurcpe S L Spain QOrdinary 100
Connected World Services LLC USA Ordinary 100
Connected World Services Netherlands BV Netherlands QOrdinary 100
Connected World Services SAS France Ordinary 100
CPW Acton Five Limited England & Wales Ordinary 100
CPW Acton One Limited Isle of Man Crdinary 1002
CPW Brands 2 Limited England & Wales Ordinary 1002
CPW Consultancy Limited England & Wales Ordinary 1002
CPW CP Limited England & Wales Ordinary 100
CPW Distribution Limited England & Wales Qrdmary 100
CPW GC Holdings 8V Netherlands Ordmary 1002
CPW irlam Linited England & Wales Ordinary 1002
CPW Tutketh Mill Lirmited England & Wales Ordinary 1002
Currys Group Limited England & Wales Ordinary 100
CWIAB Limited England & Wales Ordinary 100
DISL 2 Limited Iste of Man Ordinary 100
DISL Limited Iste of Man A, B, C & D Preference 100
and Ordinary B
DISL UK Limited England & Wales Ordnary 100
Dixons Group Limited England & Wales Ordinary 100
Dixons Retall SSC sro Czech Republic Business Shares 100
Dixons Sourcing Limited Hong Kong Ordinary 100
Dixons Storas Group Retall Norway AS Norway Ordinary 100
Dixons Travel sr Italy Ordinary 100
DSG Boxmogr Limited England & Wales Ordinary 100
DSG Card Handiing Services bimited England & Wales Cumulatve C&D 100
Preference and Ordinary
DSG Corporate Services Limited England & Wales Ordinary 100
DSG European Investments Limited England & Wales Ordinary 100
DSG Fleet Management Limited England & Wales Ordinary 100
DSG Hong Kong Sourcing Limited Hong Kong Ordinary 100
DSG Intematwonal Belgum BVEBA Belgium Ordinary 100
DSG International Retall Properties Limited England & Wales Orcinary 100
DSG International Treasury Management Limited England & Wales Ordinary 100
DSG Ireland Limited England & Wales Ordinary 100
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C10 Substdiary undertatungs continued
b) Other subsiciary undertakings

Nama ingomoravon or rgg".:fr‘g:r: Share Class{es) Hetd % Held
DSG KHI Limted England & Wales Ordinary 100
DSG Overseas Investments Limited England & Wales  Preference, B Preference 100
and Ordinary
DSG Retail Ireland Pension Trust Lirmited Ireland Ordinary 100
El-Giganten Logistik AB Sweden Ordinary 100
Ellqop Klewerenga AS Norway Ordinary 100
Elkjep Norge AS Norway Ordinary 100
Epoq Holding AB Sweden Ordinary 100
Epoq Logistic DC k s Czech Republic Ordinary 100
1D Mobile Limited England & Wales Ordmary 100
InfoCare CS AB Sweden Orcinary 100
InfoCare Workshop AS Norway Ordinary 100
InfoCare Workshop Holding AS Norway Ordinary 100
infoCare Workshop Oy Finland Ordmnary 100
Kereru Limited England & Wales Ordinary 100
Lefdal Elektromarked AS Norway Ordinary 100
Leverstock Investments Limited England & Wales Ordinary 100
Markan talo Oy Fnland Ordinary 100
Mastercare Service and Distnibution Lim#ted England & Wales Ordinary 100
Mohua Limited Engtand & Wales Ordmnary 100
MSG The Phone House AB Sweden Ordinary 100
MTIS Limited Ireland Ordinary 100
NSS Financials A/S Denmark Ordinary 100
OSAA - Sociedade Gestora De Participagoes Portugal Ordnary 100
Sociais, Lda
Osfone Comercio de Aparelhos de Portugal Ordinary 100
Telecomunicagdes, Lda
Osfone Negbcios - Comercio de Aparelhos Portugal Crdinary 100
de TelecomunicagBes, Lda
RC City (France) SNC France Partnership 100
PC City Norge AS Norway Ordinary 100
PC City Spain SA Spain Ordmary 100
Petham Limited Isle of Man Ordinary 100
Petrus Insurance Company Limited Gibraltar Ordinary 100
Phone House intemational AB Sweden Ordinary 100
Simpldy Digital Limuted England & Wales Ordinary 100
Simplity Digital Systems Limited Engtand & Wales A Ordinary 100
TalkM Limited England & Wales Ordinary 100
The Carphone Warehouse (Digital) Limited England & Wales Orchnary 1002
The Carphone Warehouse Resources Limited Iste of Man Ordinary 1002
The Carphone Warehouse UK Limited England & Wales Ordinary 100
The Phone House Holdings (UK) Lirnited England & Wales Ordmary 100

1 Dixons Retall plc became a pnvate imited company called Dixons Retail Group Lirmted after year end

2  Interest held directly by Dixons Carphone plc

3 This 1s the only nterest of Dixons Carphone ple directly or indirectly, in this clags of shares
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C10 Subsidiary undertakings continued

c) Subsidiary undertakings exempt from audit

The following subsicianes, all of which are incorporated in England & Wales and are all included »n section b) on pages
147 to 148, are exempt from the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 relating to the audit of indwidual accounts by

virtue of section 479A of that Act

Name

Company regrstralion number

CPW Acton Five Limited

CPW Brands 2 Limited

CPW Consultancy Limited

CPW CP iLimited

CPW Irtam Limried

CPW Tulketh Mill Limited

CWIAB Limited

DSG Boxmoaor Limited

DSG Card Handling Services Limred

DSG International Retail Properties Limited
DSG Ireland Lirmted

The Carphene Warehouse (Digital) Limited
The Carphone Warehouse UK Limited
The Phone House Holdings (UK) Limited

05738735
07135355
07881879
06585457
05825842
06585719
02441554
05430014
04185110
00476440
00240621
03966947
03827277
03663563
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{nvestor information

Five year record (unaudited)

Headhne results - continuing operations™

201518 201415 201314 201213 20112
£miltion Erullion Emilban Emillion Ermmon

Stotutory
Revenue 9,738 8,265 1,843 11 6
Profit after tax - wholly owned operations 341 285 100 4 3
Share of results of joint ventures and associates (after tax) (4 - 3 48 46
Net profit after tax 337 285 103 52 49
Eamings per share
- Basic 29 3p 29 7p 18 6p 10 9p 10 7p
- Diluted 28 4p 287p 183p 108p 102p
Pro forma Headhne results®
Revenue 9,738 9,750 9,752 9,517 8,820
EBIT 468 413 359 310 277
Interest {21) (32) (43) (33) {39)
Profit before taxation 447 aat 316 277 238

{1} Headime results — continuing operations reflect the statutory resutts of the Group exciuding items ¢lassified as non-Headling

{2} Proforma results are presented as though the Dixons Retal Merger and the CPW Europe Acquisitian had occurred at the beginhing of the
five-year penod This financial information has been prepared by aggregaling the five year records presented by Carphone Warehouse inits
2013/14 annual report and accounts on page 97 and by Dixons Retail in its 2013/14 annual report and accounts on page 127, and adjusting
for discontinued operations
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Pro forma information (unaudited)

Basis of preparabon

The basis of preparation of Headline pro forma information 15 descnbed in the Performance Review on page 24 Following the
Merger, the Group changed its year end to be the Saturday closest to 30 Apnl The 2014/15 financial year as disclosed in the
2014/15 annual report and accounts therefore compnsed the 13 months to 2 May 2015 for the Carphone Warehouse business
So as to enable a befter year-on-year companson, the pro forma pnor penod results of the Carphone Warehouse business have
been restated to exclude the results of the additional five weeks tracing

2014/15 Pro forma income statement reconciiation

Restated
Camphona  Proforma
Statutary Non headine Dixons Retad Pro forma~—  Warehouss basis -
basis - Totaf” erms@ Marger® Headimne™  Aprdl 2014™  Headline™
fmiltion £mifion £millkon Emution £milion £mililen
UK and lreland 5,506 - 945 6,451 (137) 6,314
Nordics 2,055 - 663 2,718 {9y 2,709
Southern Europe 564 - 73 637 (31) 606
Connected World Services 130 - - 130 9) 121
Revenue 8,255 — 1,681 9,936 {186) 9,750
UK and Ireland 278 as {7) 306 {1) 305
Nordics 46 14 26 86 - 86
Southern Europe 18 2 {8) 14 1 15
Connected World Services 6 1 1 8 m 7
Unaflocated (24) 24 - - - -
EBIT 324 76 14 414 ()] 413
Interest 37 13 (9) {33) 1 {32)
Profit before tax 287 838 5 381 - 381
Tax {76) {15) 3 (88) — {88)
Profit after tax 211 74 8 293 - 293
Discontnued operations (114} 114 - - — -
Profit after tax 97 188 8 293 - 293
Basic earmings per share (pence)™® 101 188 {4 2 255 - 255

(1) Total statutory results as ceported on pages 88 and 102 in the Group s 2015/16 financial statements

{2) Non-Headline items as descnbed in notes 4 and 25 to the Group's financial statements are excluded from pro forma Headlne results

{3) Consolidated results of Dixons Retall pic for the pencd pnor to 6 August 2014 have been éxtracted without matenal adjustment frorm the
consolidation schedules which support the Group's 2014/15 financial statements and are ncluded in pro forma Headline results

{8) Proforma Headiine ncome statement as reported on page 24 in the 2014/15 annual report and accounts

{5) Results for the 5 weeks ta 3 May 2014 for the Carphone Warehouse business have been extracted without matenal adjustment from the
consohdation schedules which support the Group's 2014/15 financial statements and are excluded from the restated pro forma Headline
results

{8} Proforma Headling income statement as reported on page 24

{7} Proforma eamings per share has been calculated assuming the number of shares on issue at 2 May 2015, adjusted for the number of
shares held by the Group's ESOTS, apply from the start of the current and comparatve penods The effect of this adjustment to average
numbaer of shares has been mcluded as part of the 'Oixons Retal Merger’ adjusiments
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tnvestar Information

Pro forma information (unaudited)

2014/15 Pro forma cash flow statement reconcihiation

Nei funds Non Dixgns Carphone Ragtated

Statutory {debl) neading Retal  Pra Forma  Warghouse  Pro Forma
baswtt basis® Items™ Merger* bas™  April 20t4™ basig™

£mllion Lerulhon Ermiltion fmTlon Emulbren Emillion Emilion

EBIT 324 - 76 14 414 N 413

Depreciation and amortisation 149 - (35) 27 141 {4) 137
Working capital (377} - (16) 27 (366) 207 (159)
Capial expenditure {166} - - (20) (186) 4 {182)
Taxaton (39) - - (28) {65) K] (62)
Interest (36) - - i (47} 1 {46)

Other items - Free cash flows 25 - - (12) 13 )] 4

Free cash flow before restructuring items —

continuing operations {120) — 25 {1) (96) 201 105
Restructuning cosls - - (16) — (16) - (16)
Free Cash Flow {120) - 9 () (112) 201 89
Owidends 52} - - - (52) - {52}
Merger transaction costs 42) - (9) (39} (20 - {90)

Acquisions, disposals, discontinued operations 333 — - {374) (41) 43 2
Pension contributions (28) - - — (28) - (28)

{Decrease) / increase In borrowings 211) 211 - — - - -

Other items - - — — - - -
Movement in net furnds / (debt) {120) 21 — (414} (323) 244 {79)
Opening net funds 283 (291) — 71 63 (244) (181)
Closing net (debt) / funds 163 (80) - (343 (260) - (260)

{1} Total statutory cash flows as reported on pages 92 and 138 using the presentation prewided (n the performance review an pages 26 to 27

Cash flows from the statutery cash flow statement have been aggregated as described below
+ Intarest compnses interest receved, interest pad and repayment of obligations under finance leases
+ Ofther tems — Free cash flows compnse Share tased payment charge non-tash movements an joint ventures, imparment and other
non-cash items and proceeds from disposal of property, plant & equipment
+ Acquisitons, disposals, discontinued operations compnse net cash outflow ansing from CPW Europe Acquisiton, cash acquired on the
Merger, proceeds on sale of business and short tenm investments and discomtinued operalions
= Mergar transaction costs compnse bond redemption premium and facihty arrangement fees paid
+ Opening, closing and movement in net funds {debt) refate to the opening closing and movement in cash and cash equivalents
{2) Adstment to present the cash fiows on the bas:s of net funds {debt} rather than cash and cash equivalents consistent with the
performance review on page 25 of the 2014/15 annyal report and accounts
(3) Non-Headiine cash flows as descnbed in notes 4 and 24 to the Group 5 2014715 financial statements are excluded irom pro forma free
cash flows
{4) Consolidated cash flows of Dixons Retail pic for the penod pnor to 6 August 2014 have been extracted without matenal adjustment from
consolidation schedules which support the Group s 201415 financial statements and are included in pro forma cash flows
(5) Pro forma cash flow statement as reported on page 25 of the 2014715 annual repont and accoun's
(6) Cash flows for the five weeks 1o 3 May 2014 for the Carphone Warehouse business have been extracted without matenal adjustment
trom the consolidation schedules which support the Group’s 2014/15 financial statements and are excluded from the restated pro forma
cash flows
{N Proforma cash flow statement as reported in the Performance Review on pages 26to 27

the
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Shareholder and corporate information

Dixons Carphone plc 1s isted on the main market of the
Landon Stock £xchange {stock symbol DC)and s a
constituent of the FTSE 100

Registrars

Equinit

Aspect House
Spencer Road
Lancing

West Sussex
BN93 6DA
United Kingdom

0371 384 20889 (UK only)
+44 (0)121 415 7047 (from outside the UK}

Lines are open & 30am to 5 30pm Monday to Frday
{UK bme), excluding public holidays in England & Wales

You can manage your shareholdings via an electronic
communications service called Shareview,

www shareview co uk To register, you will need your
shareholder reference number, which can be found on
your share certificate, dividend tax voucher or proxy card
Regstration and use of the servica is free

Financial calendar
Ex-dwvidend date (final dwvidend 2015/16) 25 Aug 2016

Record date (final dvidend 2015/16} 26 Aug 2016
Annual General Meeting 8 Sep 2016
Intended dividend payment date (final 23 Sep 2016

dwvidend 2015/16)

American Depositary Receipts (‘ADR’s)

Dixons Carpheone plc has established a sponsored Level 1
ADR program and has appointed Deutsche Bank Trust
Company Americas (‘Deutsche Bank’) as the depostary
bank The ADRs trade on the US over-the-counter {OTC)
market under the symbot DXCPY (they are not listed ona
US stock exchange) Each ADR represents two ordinary
shares in Dixons Carphone plc

Contact details for ADR investors and brokers

Deutsche Bank ADR broker services desks
New York +1 212 2509100
London +44 {0}207 547 6500

Contact details for registered ADR holders

Deutsche Bank Shareholder Services
Amencan Stock Transfer & Trust Company
Cperations Center

6201 15th Avenue

Brooktyn, NY 11219

United States

Email DB@amstock com
Tall free number (from within the US) (B66) 249 25383
Direct Dhal (from outside the US) +1 718 921 8124

Registered office / Head office

1 Portal Way

London

W3 6RS

United Kingdom

+44 (01208 617 6002

www dixonscarphone com

Company registration number
(7105905

Company Secretary

Enguines should be directed to

Nigel Paterson
General Counsel and Company Secretary
cosec@dixonscarphane com

Investor relations
Enqguines should be directed to

Kate Ferry, IR, PR and Corporate Affars Director
Mark Reynolds, Head of Investor Relations
Ir@dixonscarphone com

Adwvisors

Audrtor

Deloitte LLP

2 New Street Square
L.onden

EC4A 3BZ

www deloifte com

Joint Stockbrokers
Deutsche Bank AG

1 Great Winchester Street
Londan

EC2ZN 2DB

www db com

Citigroup Global Markets Limited
33 Canada Square

Canary Wharf

E14 5LB

www citigroup com
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Invastar information

Glossary and definitions

The following definihons apply throughout this Annual Report and Accounts unless the context otherwise requires

Acquisthon intangibles Acquired intangible assels such as customer bases, brands and other ntangible assets
acquired through a business combination capitaised separately from goodwill

ARPU Average revenue per user

B28 Business to business

Best Buy Best Buy Co, Inc {incorporated i the United States) and its subsidianes and interests
in joint ventures and associates

Best Buy Europe Best Buy Europe Distnbutions Limited and 1ts subsidianes and interests In joint ventures
and associates (incorporated in England & Wales)

Board The Board of directors of the Company

Carphone, Carphone Warehouse The Company or Group pnor to the Merger on 6 August 2014

or Carphone Group

CcGU Cash Generating Unit

Company or the Company Dixons Carphene ple (incorporated in England & Wales under the Act, with registered
number 07105905), whose registered office 1s at 1 Portal Way, London W3 6RS

CPW The continuing business of the Carphone Group

CPW Eurcpe Best Buy Europe's core continuing operations

CPW Europe Acquisition The Company's acquisition of Best Buy's interest in CPW Europe, which completed
on 26 June 2013

CWS The Connected World Services dwsion of the Company

Dixons or Dixans Retall

Dixons Retail ple and its subsidiary comparies

Dixons Carphone or Group

The Company, its subsidianes, interests in joint ventures and other Investments

Dixans Retall Merger or Merger

The all share merger of Dixons Retail plc and Carphone Warehouse ple which ocgurred
on 6 August 2014

Eamings Profit or loss after taxation, unless the context otherwise requires

EBIT Eamings before interest and taxation

EBITDA Eamings before interest, taxation, depreciation and amortisation

EPS Eamings per share {Dasic unless otherwise indicated)

ESOT Employee share ownership trust

Free Cash Flow Free Cash Flow compnses cash generated from / (utihsed by} continuing operations

before special pension contnbutions, less net finance expense, less income tax pad
and net capital expenditure The directors consider that ‘Free Cash Flow’ provides
additional useful information to shareholders in respect of cash generation and 1s
consistent with how business performance 1s measured intemally
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Headline results Results before Non-Headline results The phrases ‘Headline eamings’, ‘Headline EBIT,
‘Headline EBITDA' and ‘Headiine EPS’ should be interpreted in the same way

HMRC Her Majesty's Revenue and Customs
IFRS {ntermational Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Urion
Like-for-like revenue Like-for-like revenue 1s calculated based on Headline store and internet revenue using

constant exchange rates New stores are included where they have been open for a full
finangial year both at the beginning and end of the financial pencd Revenue from
franchise stores are excluded and closed stores are excluded for any penod of closure
dunng either penod Customer support agreement, insurance and wholesale revenues
along wrth revenue from Connected World Services and other non-retaill businesses are
excluded from like-for-like calculations Revenue from Carphane Warehouse SWAS are
included in ike-for-like  Like-for-like revenue reflects the 12 months to 30 Apr! 2016
compared to the 12 months to 2 May 2015

Market posrtion Ranking aganst competitors in the electncal and mobtle retail market, measured by
market share Market share 1s measured for each of the Group's markets by comparing
data for revenue or volume of units sold relative to similar metrics for competitors in the

same market
MNO Mobile network operator
MVNO Mobile virtual network operator
New CPW New CPW Limited {(incorporated in England & Wales)
Non-Headline results Non-Headline resuits compnse the results of discontinued operations or exited / to be

exited businesses, amorhsation of acquisihon intangibles, any exceptional tems
considered so one-off and materal that they distort underlying performance {such as
reorganisation costs, impamment charges and other non-recuming charges) and net
pension interest costs Businesses exited or to be exited are those which the Group
has exited or committed to or commenced to exit through disposal or closure but do
not meet the definition of discontinued operations as stipulated by IFRS and are
matenal to the results and operations of the Group

NPS Net promoter score, a rating used by the Group to measure customers' ikelihood to
recarnmend is operations

Qld Carphone Warehouse TalkTalk Tetecom Holdings Lirmited (formerly ‘The Carphone Warehouse Group PLC")
{incorporated in England & Wales}

PAT Profit after taxation

PBT Profit before taxation

Pro forma Results incorporating Dixons Retail ple as if it had been owned by the Group

tor the entire previous reporting penod In addition the 2014/15 pro forrma results
of the Carphone Warehouse business have been restated to exclude the results
of the additonal five weeks trading to ensure an equal length penod for
comparative purposes
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investor Information

Glossary and definitions

Retum on capital employed Calculated on a pre-tax and lease adjusted basis The

ROCE
retumn 1s based on Headline EBIT, adjusted to add back the nterest component
assocated with capitalising operating lease costs Capital employed 1s based on net
assels including capitahsed leases, but excluding goodwill, cash, tax and the defined
benefit pension obligations The calculaton s performed on a moving annuat tota! n
order 1o best match the retum on assets in a year with the assets in use dunng the year
to generate the return

RCF Revolving credit facility

Sharesave or SAYE Save as you earn share scheme

SWAS Stores-within-a-store

TalkTalk or TalkTalk Group

TalkTalk Telecom Groug PLC and it subsichanes and other investments

TSR Total shareholder retum

UK GAAP Unned Kingdom Accounting Standards and applicable law

Virgin Mobite France Omer Telecom Limited (incorporated n England 8 Wales) and its subsichanes,
operating an MVNQ in France as a joint venture between the Company, Bluebottle UK
Limited and Financom S.A §

WAEP Weighted average exercise pnce
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